# ACCELERATED CARBONATION OF WASTES AND MINERALS

# PARIS-KAVALAN ARAIZI

A thesis submitted in partial fulfilment of the requirements of the University of Greenwich for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy.

**June 2015** 

### DECLARATION

I certify that this work has not been accepted in substance for any degree, and is not concurrently being submitted for any degree other than that of Doctor of Philosophy, being studied at the University of Greenwich. I also declare that this work is the result of my own investigations, except where otherwise identified by references, and that I have not plagiarised another's work.

Date.....

Supervisor	(Prof C.D. Hills)

Date.....

Supervisor	(Prof D S	Wray)
Super v1801	(1101 D.S.	wiay)

Date.....

#### ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

Grateful thanks to: Prof Colin Hills, for his continuous help and support; Prof Alan Maries for his advice and guidance; Prof Babur Chowdhry for helping me to submit all the required university forms and reports; Dr Nimisha Tripathi for her useful advice; Dr Peter Gunning for our "endless" discussions on technical and academic matters; Dr Ian Slipper for his analytical equipment skills; Atiya Raza for providing me with all the necessary equipment;

Many thanks to my lovely colleagues in the CCLR lab: Giorgia, Daniele, Gabor Robert and Roberta.

Love to my family: Vladimiros Araizi, Clairi Kanouta and George Araizi.

#### ABSRACT

Accelerated carbonation technology (ACT) could be used for the stabilisation of hazardous wastes, remediation of contaminated soils and re-use/recycling of various waste streams. ACT has also potential for storing anthropogenic  $CO_2$  emissions into mineral silicates and alkaline waste residues via mineral or waste carbonation. Compared to ocean and geological storage, mineral and waste carbonation offer several advantages such as long-term storage and low monitoring requirements.

Currently, the biggest challenge of mineral carbonation is the low conversion rate of calcium and magnesium-based minerals into thermodynamically stable carbonates under ambient temperature and pressure. Also, literature offers little information about physical techniques or chemical substances that could enhance the efficacy of accelerated carbonation of alkaline wastes.

In this study, various carbonation techniques were applied for increasing the carbonation reactivity of magnesium hydroxide. The experiments were conducted under low temperature and pressure, while the maximum reaction time was 24 hours. Under these conditions the associated costs are kept to a minimum. The possibility of producing monolithic products with value-added was investigated by using blended mixtures of magnesium and calcium hydroxide. These mixtures were cured in carbon dioxide for 7 and 28 days and their physical properties were measured and compared with the properties for normal and lightweight concrete.

Moreover, several alkaline residues were carbonated with the aid of ultrasound and four candidate catalysts (acetic acid, ethanol, sodium hypochlorite and sodium nitrite) and their  $CO_2$  uptake was measured. During sonication the variables: ultrasonic frequency, water content and treatment time were examined, while the applied chemicals were added at three different molarities (0.1 M, 0.5M and 2.5M).

Throughout this work a number of analytical techniques were used for the characterisation of the raw and carbonated materials. These techniques included X-Ray fluorescence, X-ray diffraction, wet laser analysis, total organic carbon analysis and scanning electron microscopy.

The results showed that the  $CO_2$ -reactivity of  $Mg(OH)_2$  was low due to thermodynamic constraints that inhibited the rapid diffusion of  $CO_2$  into the system. The mixtures composed of pure Mg showed improved compressive strength and bulk density. In addition, sonication at low water content was weak, as there was lack of enough water to facilitate cavitation. On the other hand, at high water content the achieved  $CO_2$  uptake of the products increased by up to four times, as the wet conditions enhanced the cavitation of the solid particles. Finally, it was found that ethanol and acetic acid promoted the hydration rate of  $CO_2$  during accelerated carbonation, while minerals phase analysis did not reveal the formation of toxic byproducts.

In conclusion, the findings of this study proved that sonication depends highly on water content and is favoured at wet conditions. Furthermore, acetic acid and ethanol are two chemicals with potential to ameliorate the accelerated carbonation of various industrial wastes without the formation of un-desired or toxic compounds.

# Contents

LI	ST OI	FFIC	GURES	ix
LI	ST OI	F TA	BLES	xi
1	INT	ROI	DUCTION	1
	1.1	Bac	kground	1
	1.2	Ain	ns	3
	1.3	Stru	acture of thesis	3
2	LIT	ERA	ATURE REVIEW	6
	2.1	Intr	oduction	6
	2.2	Acc	elerated Carbonation Technology	7
	2.2.	1	Carbonation Background	7
	2.2.	2	Carbonation Mechanism	8
	2.2.	3	Carbonation Variables	9
	2.2.	4	Microstructural Changes	13
	2.3	Che	emical and Physical Accelerators	15
	2.3.	1	Chemical Accelerators	15
	2.3.	2	Ultrasonic Irradiation	16
	2.4	Car	bon Capture and Storage (CCS)	19
	2.5	Mir	neral Carbonation Technology (MCT)	21
	2.5.	1	Mineral Carbonation Background	21
	2.5.	2	Carbonation of Mineral Residues	22
	2.5.	3	Routes for Mineral Carbonation	24
	2.5.	4	Magnesium Silicates	26
	2.6	Wa	ste Carbonation Technology (WCT)	29
	2.6.	1	Bauxite Residues (Red Mud)	30
	2.6.	2	Cement Kiln Dusts	30
	2.6.	3	Coal Fly Ash	31
	2.6.	4	MSWI Bottom Ash and APCr	32
	2.6.	5	Steelmaking Slags	33
	2.6.	6	Waste Concrete	34
	2.7	Cor	nmercial Applications	36
	2.8	Cor	clusions	39

3	MA	ATE	RIALS AND METHODS	42
	3.1	Inti	roduction	42
	3.2	Ma	terials	42
	3.3	Me	thods	44
	3.3	.1	Carbonation Techniques	44
	3.3	.2	X-Ray Fluorescence	44
	3.3	.3	X-Ray Diffraction	45
	3.3	.4	Total Organic Carbon Analysis	46
	3.3	.5	Particles Size Distribution	47
	3.3	.6	Scanning Electron Microscopy	48
	3.3	.7	Variability and experimental error	48
4	AC	CEL	ERATED CARBONATION OF MAGNESIUM HYDROXIDE	50
	4.1	Inti	roduction	50
	4.2	Ma	terials and Methods	51
	4.2	.1	Materials	51
	4.2	.2	Methods	51
	4.3	Res	sults	58
	4.3	.1	Elemental Analysis	58
	4.3	.2	Carbonation under Ambient Conditions	58
	4.3	.3	Carbonation with Ultrasound	60
	4.3	.4	Pressurised Carbonation	61
	4.3	.5	Water Vapour Carbonation	63
	4.3	.6	Product Development	64
	4.3	.7	Mineral Phase Analysis	66
	4.3	.8	Compressive Strength	67
	4.3	.9	Bulk Density	69
	4.3	.10	Water Absorption	69
	4.4	Dis	cussion	71
	4.4	.1	Reactivity of Magnesium Hydroxide	71
	4.4	.2	Product development	74
	4.5	Co	nclusions	77
5	AC	CEL	ERATED CARBONATION OF WASTE RESIDUES	79
	5.1	Inti	oduction	79
	5.2	Ma	terials and Methods	80

	5.2	.1	Materials	
	5.2	.2	Methods	80
4	5.3	Res	ults	
	5.3	.1	Chemical Characterisation	
	5.3	.2	Mineral Composition	
	5.3	.3	Carbon Dioxide Uptake Measurement	
	5.3	.4	Theoretical CO <sub>2</sub> Uptake	
4	5.4	Dis	cussion	
	5.4	.1	Elemental Analysis and Mineral Composition	
	5.4	.2	Experimental CO <sub>2</sub> uptake	91
	5.4	.3	Theoretical CO <sub>2</sub> Uptake	95
	5.4	.4	Reactivity	96
4	5.5	Cor	clusions	97
6	CA	RBO	NATION OF WASTES AIDED BY ULTRASOUND	
6	5.1	Intr	oduction	
(	5.2	Mat	terials and Methods	
	6.2	.1	Materials	
	6.2	.2	Methods	
6	5.3	Res	ults	
	6.3	.1	Apparatus Testing	
	6.3	.2	Sonication at 35 kHz	
	6.3	.3	Effect of Sonication Time at 35 kHz	
	6.3	.4	Sonication at 46 kHz	
	6.3	.5	Analysis by X-Ray Diffraction	111
	6.3	.6	Particles Size Distribution	111
	6.3	.7	Scanning Electron Microscopy	
(	6.4	Dis	cussion	114
	6.4	.1	Apparatus Testing	114
	6.4	.2	Effect of Sonication on CO <sub>2</sub> Uptake	115
	6.4	.3	Effect of Sonication Time on CO <sub>2</sub> Uptake	116
	6.4	.4	Mineral Phases Analysis	117
	6.4	.5	Particles Size Distribution	119
(	5.5	Cor	clusions	
7	СН	EMI	CAL ACCELERATORS	

	7.1	Intr	oduction	. 122
	7.2	Mat	terials and Methods	. 123
	7.2.	1	Materials	. 123
	7.2.	2	Methods	. 124
	7.3	Res	sults	. 127
	7.3.	1	Carbonation under Dry Conditions	. 127
	7.3.	2	Phase Analysis of Dry Samples	. 130
	7.3.	3	Carbonation under Wet Conditions	. 130
	7.3.	4	Phase Analysis of Wet Samples	. 134
	7.4	Dis	cussion	. 136
	7.4.	1	Health, Safety and Environmental Issues	. 136
	7.4.	2	Carbonation under Dry Conditions	. 137
	7.4.	3	Carbonation under Wet Conditions	. 139
	7.4.	4	Mineral Phases Analysis	. 141
	7.5	Cor	nclusions	. 143
8	SUI	MM	ARY AND FUTURE WORK	. 145
	8.1	Sun	nmary	. 145
	8.2	Fut	ure Work	. 149
R	EFERENCES			. 151
P	UBLIS	HEI	O PAPERS	. 178

# **LIST OF FIGURES**

Figure 2.1: Categories of carbonation variables	10
Figure 2.2: Carbonation zones according to local pH value	14
Figure 2.3: Sequestration concept of steelmaking slags	33
Figure 2.4: CCS of a power plant using cement waste as feedstock (Yamasaki e	et al.,
2006 )	34
Figure 4.1: Schematic diagram and image of ambient /ultrasonic carbonation	52
Figure 4.2: Schematic diagram of pressurised carbonation	53
Figure 4.3: Schematic diagram and image of water vapour carbonation	54
Figure 4.4: Schematic diagram of product curing	55
Figure 4.5: Image of ultrasonic bath	59
Figure 4.6: CO <sub>2</sub> uptake for Mg(OH) <sub>2</sub> under ambient carbonation	59
Figure 4.7: CO <sub>2</sub> uptake for Ca(OH) <sub>2</sub> under ambient carbonation	60
Figure 4.8: CO <sub>2</sub> uptake for Mg(OH) <sub>2</sub> under carbonation with ultrasound	61
Figure 4.9: CO <sub>2</sub> uptake for Ca(OH) <sub>2</sub> under carbonation with ultrasound	61
Figure 4.10: CO <sub>2</sub> uptake for Mg(OH) <sub>2</sub> under pressurised carbonation	62
Figure 4.11: CO <sub>2</sub> uptake for Ca(OH) <sub>2</sub> under pressurised carbonation	63
Figure 4.12: Apparatus for pressurised carbonation	63
Figure 4.13: CO <sub>2</sub> uptakes of Mg(OH) <sub>2</sub> and Ca(OH) <sub>2</sub> in water vapour	64
Figure 4.14: Image of cured cylinders	65
Figure 4.15: CO <sub>2</sub> uptake of cylinders after 7 days of curing	65
Figure 4.16: CO <sub>2</sub> uptake of cylinders after 28 days of curing	66
Figure 4.17: Compressive strength after 7 days of curing	68
Figure 4.18: Compressive strength after 28 days of curing	68
Figure 4.19: Bulk density after 7 days of curing	69
Figure 4.20: Bulk density after 28 days of curing	70
Figure 4.21: Water absorption (% w/w) after 7 days of curing	70
Figure 4.22: Water absorption (% w/w) after 28 days of curing	71
Figure 5.1: CO <sub>2</sub> uptake for APCr at various w/s ratios	84
Figure 5.2: CO <sub>2</sub> uptake for CBD at various w/s ratios	85
Figure 5.3: CO <sub>2</sub> uptake for CEM 1 at various w/s ratios	85
Figure 5.4: CO <sub>2</sub> uptake for CFA at various w/s ratios	86
Figure 5.5: CO <sub>2</sub> uptake for bottom ashes at various w/s ratios	86

Figure 5.6: CO <sub>2</sub> uptake for steel slag at various w/s ratios	37
Figure 5.7: CO <sub>2</sub> uptake for wollastonite at various w/s ratios	37
Figure 5.8: Theoretical against actual CO <sub>2</sub> uptakes	39
Figure 6.1: Testing of equal CO <sub>2</sub> distribution into the system	)2
Figure 6.2: The attenuation of sound waves at w/s=0.4	)2
Figure 6.3: The attenuation of sound waves at w/s=110	)3
Figure 6.4: The of attenuation of sound waves at w/s=100 10	)3
Figure 6.5: CO <sub>2</sub> uptake for APCr after 1 hour of sonication at various w/s ratios 10	)4
Figure 6.6: CO <sub>2</sub> uptake for CBD after 1 hour of sonication at various w/s ratios 10	)4
Figure 6.7: CO <sub>2</sub> uptake for CEM 1 after 1 hour of sonication at various w/s ratios 10	)5
Figure 6.8: CO <sub>2</sub> uptake for steel slag after 1 hour of sonication at various w/s ratio	os
	)5
Figure 6.9: CO <sub>2</sub> uptake for APCr after 8 hours of sonication at w/s=0.4 10	)6
Figure 6.10: CO <sub>2</sub> uptake for CBD after 8 hours of sonication at w/s=0.6 10	)7
Figure 6.11: CO <sub>2</sub> uptake for CEM 1 after 8 hours of sonication at w/s=0.410	)7
Figure 6.12: CO <sub>2</sub> uptake for steel slag after 8 hours of sonication at $w/s=0.2$ 10	)8
Figure 6.13: CO <sub>2</sub> uptake for APCr after 8 hours of sonication at w/s=100 10	)8
Figure 6.14: CO <sub>2</sub> uptake for CBD after 8 hours of sonication at w/s=100 10	)9
Figure 6.15: CO <sub>2</sub> uptake for CEM 1 after 8 hours of sonication at w/s=10010	)9
Figure 6.16: CO <sub>2</sub> uptake for steel slag after 8 hours of sonication at w/s=50 11	0
Figure 6.17: Recorded yield for CEM 1 at 35 kHz and 46 kHz-half/ full wave 11 $$	1
Figure 6.18: Particles size d(0.5) for un-treated and sonicated samples11	3
Figure 6.19: SEM imaging for A: non-sonicated and B: sonicated materials 11	.4
Figure 7.1: CO <sub>2</sub> uptake for APCr at w/s=0.4	28
Figure 7.2: CO <sub>2</sub> uptake for CBD at w/s=0.6 12	28
Figure 7.3: CO <sub>2</sub> uptake for CEM 1 at w/s=0.412	29
Figure 7.4: CO <sub>2</sub> uptake for steel-making slag at w/s=0.2 12	29
Figure 7.5: CO <sub>2</sub> uptake for APCr at w/s=10013	32
Figure 7.6: CO <sub>2</sub> uptake for CBD at w/s=100	32
Figure 7.7: CO <sub>2</sub> uptake for CEM 1 at w/s=100	33
Figure 7.8: CO <sub>2</sub> uptake for steel-making slag at w/s=50 13	33

# LIST OF TABLES

Table 2.1: Detailed description of accelerated carbonation mechanism	9
Table 2.2: Variables and optimum values of accelerated carbonation	12
Table 2.3: Effects of carbonation upon cementitious systems	15
Table 2.4: Previous studies on sonication of calcium-rich materials	18
Table 2.5: Overview of CCS technologies	20
Table 2.6: Optimum conditions and relevant costs for various minerals	23
Table 2.7: Routes for direct and indirect carbonation	25
Table 2.8: Previous studies on carbonation of brucite	28
Table 2.9: Characterisation of wastes according to Directive 2000/532/EC	29
Table 2.10: Alkaline residues suitable for waste carbonation	35
Table 2.11: Summary of ventures applying mineral and waste carbonation	37
Table 3.1: Input wastes, minerals and reference materials used in this study	43
Table 3.2: Summary of carbonation techniques used in this study	44
Table 4.1: Major oxides composition (% w/w)	58
Table 4.2: Key mineral phases identified by XRD	67
Table 4.3: Physical properties of the cured cylinders	76
Table 5.1: Major oxides composition (% w/w)	82
Table 5.2: Key mineral phases of the un-treated materials identified by XRD	83
Table 5.3: CO <sub>2</sub> uptakes after 1 hour of carbonation at ambient conditions	88
Table 5.4: Difference between actual and theoretical CO <sub>2</sub> uptakes	95
Table 6.1: Key mineral phases identified by XRD	112
Table 6.2: CO2 uptake increase (%) after ultrasonic carbonation	116
Table 6.3: Theoretical and actual carbonation yields	117
Table 7.1: Chemical formula and general applications of the applied chemicals	123
Table 7.2: Volume and mass of each chemical at 0.1M, 0.5M and 2.5M	126
Table 7.3: Key mineral phases identified by XRD at wet conditions	135

# **ABBREVIATIONS**

ACT	Accelerated Carbonation Technology	
APCr	Air Pollution Control Residues	
BR	Bauxite Residues	
C <sub>3</sub> A	Tricalcium Aluminate	
CBD	Cement Bypass Dust	
CCS	Carbon Capture and Storage	
CEM1	Ordinary Portland Cement Type 1	
CFA	Coal Fly Ash	
CKD	Cement Kiln Dust	
C-S-H	Calcium Silicate Hydrate	
D	Bulk Density (in kg/m <sup>3</sup> )	
EU	European Union	
F:	Fracture Load (in N)	
f <sub>c</sub> :	Compressive strength (in MPa)	
IPCC	Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change	
LOI	Loss on Ignition	
MCT	Mineral Carbonation Technology	
MPa	Megapascals	
MSWI-BA	Municipal Solid Waste Incineration Bottom Ash	
MSWI-FA	Municipal Solid Waste Incineration Fly Ash	
р	Pressure (in MPa)	
PSD	Particle Size Distribution	
SEM	Scanning Electron Microscopy	
SS	Steel-making Slag	
TOC	Total Organic Carbon	
WCT	Waste Carbonation Technology	
W/S	Water/Solid Ratio	
XRF	X-Ray Fluorescence	
XRD	X-Ray Diffraction	
$WA_{24}$	Water absorption after immersion for 24 hours (% of the dry mass)	

## **1 INTRODUCTION**

#### 1.1 Background

The adverse impact of human activity on global climate is now beyond doubt (Parmesan et al., 2013). In addition to the increase of  $CO_2$  concentration in the atmosphere, the reliance on the disposal of high volumes of hazardous wastes to landfill also presents serious implications for human health and the environment (Nabhani et al., 2013).

Strategies to control anthropogenic CO<sub>2</sub> emissions involve meeting national-term targets, improvement in energy efficiency, alternative fuels, 'greener' industrial processes and the adoption of targeted tax schemes and integrated environmental policies, such as IPPC (IPCC, 2005, IPCC, 2011, IPCC, 2013).

By way of example of tax-based initiatives, the local government of Alberta, Canada, introduced a carbon offset tax where large emitters are charged CAD15 (USD13) per tonne of  $CO_2$  with proposals to increase this tax to CAD40 (USD35), in order to generate more revenue (Gunning et al., 2014).

The progress towards a "green" society is slow, mainly due to government inertia and the investment required for energy efficiency, coupled with the slow integration of renewables into the energy supply mix. In addition, the disaster in Fukushima in 2011 has raised serious concerns over the future of nuclear energy for electricity generation (Stohl et al., 2012).

Recently, the method of Carbon Capture and Storage (CCS) has considered beneficial for tackling the  $CO_2$  release into the atmosphere from large emitting points such as coal and power stations, and industrial plants. The routes to CCS involve the capture, transportation and subsequent storage of  $CO_2$  in appropriate geological and ocean sites, or the storage as carbonates/bicarbonates via mineral carbonation technology (MCT) (Sanna et al., 2013). The biggest "issue" of mineral carbonation is the low conversion rate of minerals into stable carbonates under ambient temperature and pressure or at rapid

reaction time due to thermodynamic constraints, and thus, the associated costs of this method are high.

However, it is not widely recognised that high volume alkaline waste streams can sequester  $CO_2$ , via a process known as waste carbonation technology (WCT). The similarity of wastes to natural silicates is often overlooked and if waste carbonation can be widely achieved, then there is potential to manage significant amounts of  $CO_2$  by this method (Renforth et al., 2011).

Except for immediate measures for CO<sub>2</sub> mitigation/utilisation, the necessity of handling the disposal of wastes is also becoming urgent, since higher landfill taxes and stricter regulations imposed by national governments. In the EU, the disposal of wastes is regulated by the European Commission, through the directive 2000/532/EC. This lists the hazardous wastes affecting humans' health and the environment. Landfill taxes have been introduced by the majority of European Governments and range from  $\in$ 17 (USD21) to  $\in$ 130 (USD160) per tonne, depending on the type of waste and national legislation (CEWEP, 2011). In China and the US similar measures are expected in the near future.

An effective technique for combining carbon emissions with minerals or waste residues is accelerated carbonation technology (ACT), which in the past has been successfully applied for contaminated land remediation, stabilisation of hazardous wastes and reuse/recycling of industrial waste-streams (Fernández Bertos et al., 2004). Although the topic of accelerated carbonation is well studied, literature offers little knowledge about physical and chemical accelerators that could potentially enhance the reaction and increase the final yield.

The primary aim of this study was the development of more effective carbonation systems, systems with increased yield, under moderate temperature and pressure and quicker reaction time. Under these conditions the associated costs are kept to a minimum and thus, the processing of large amounts of minerals or wastes is cost-effective. For this purpose, various carbonation techniques and candidate catalysts were applied, following selection based on the literature. Another aim was to explore the possibility of producing monolithic products with added-value from magnesium-based materials. The physical

properties of the newly formed products were measured and compared with the properties for normal and lightweight concrete.

## **1.2** Aims

The overall hypothesis of this study was the enhancement of accelerated carbonation of wastes and minerals by using physical and chemical techniques. In this section, a description of the key aims of this study is presented:

- Economic assessment of mineral and waste carbonation.
- Estimation of carbon sequestration potential of seven "common" alkaline residues.
- Increase the conversion rate of Mg(OH)<sub>2</sub> into MgCO<sub>3</sub> by testing various carbonation techniques at moderate reaction conditions.
- Possibility of producing monolithic products with value-added from magnesiumrich materials.
- Estimation of physical properties of the newly-formed monolithic products and comparison with the properties for normal and lightweight concrete.
- Accelerated carbonation of "reactive" waste residues under ambient temperature and pressure. Comparison between experimental and theoretical CO<sub>2</sub> uptakes.
- Enhancement of accelerated carbonation by using ultrasound.
- Effect of ultrasound on mineral composition, morphology and particles size
- Effect of sonication time on the CO<sub>2</sub> uptake.
- Enhancement of accelerated carbonation by using chemical accelerators.
- Identification of toxic by-products after chemical acceleration.

## 1.3 Structure of thesis

The structure of this thesis was divided into 8 chapters describing the methods, input materials, experimental results, and discussion of the main findings formed as a summary of conclusions.

In Chapter 2, key previous studies on accelerated carbonation were critically reviewed. The work was mainly focused on the carbonation background and mechanism, variables affecting  $CO_2$  diffusivity and reactivity, and microstructural changes after treatment. Also, the techniques of mineral and waste carbonation were evaluated by comparing their potential with other sequestration methods (geological and ocean storage) in terms of costs and processing routes. In addition, the annual production and maximum sequestration capacity of seven alkaline wastes was estimated. Finally, an appraisal of companies specialising in  $CO_2$  utilisation and production of carbonated/valorised products with added-value was made via an analysis of their process routes.

The materials, analytical methods and a summary of carbonation methods used in this study are presented in chapter 3.

Experiments on mineral carbonation were conducted in chapter 4. Pure  $Mg(OH)_2$  was carbonated via ambient, ultrasonic, pressurised and water vapour carbonation and the  $CO_2$  uptakes were measured and compared with those of  $Ca(OH)_2$ . Also, a product development study was made in order to explore the possibility of producing monolithic products with added-value from magnesium based materials.

In chapter 5 seven alkaline wastes and wollastonite were carbonated under ambient temperature and pressure and at various water concentrations. The experimental  $CO_2$  uptakes were compared with the theoretical uptakes derived from the Steinour formula. The elemental and mineral composition of the input and materials was analysed by X-ray fluorescence and X-ray diffraction respectively.

The effect of sonication on CO<sub>2</sub> uptake is described in chapter 6. The most reactive materials found in chapter 4 were carbonated again but in the presence of an ultrasonic field (35 KHz) for 1 hour. Further sonication experiments lasting up to 8 hours were conducted to assess the effect of sonication time on the recorded yield. The difference in mineralogy amongst the un-treated, non-sonicated and sonicated samples was studied by qualitative/semi-quantitative X-ray diffraction and the morphology of the sonicated samples was analysed by scanning electron microscopy. Finally, the change in particles size during sonication was estimated by wet laser analysis.

In chapter 7 the effect of four chemical accelerators on  $CO_2$  uptake was studied. For the same reactive wastes identified in chapter 5, carbonation with acetic acid, ethanol, sodium hypochlorite and sodium nitrite was conducted. The samples that showed that highest  $CO_2$  uptake were analysed by X-ray diffraction in an attempt to identify any toxic by-products.

In the final chapter (chapter 8) a discussion of the results, the main conclusions and suggestions for future work are presented.

Included in the appendices are the published papers produced by this research.

## 2 LITERATURE REVIEW

#### 2.1 Introduction

This chapter examines the relevant literature surrounding the background of accelerated carbonation, the reaction mechanism, important variables affecting the  $CO_2$  diffusivity and reactivity and microstructural changes observed for the carbonated products.

Also, the basic principal and effects of ultrasound during the sonication of calcium-rich materials are presented by summarising relevant works and identifying important parameters such as ultrasonic power, amplitude and sonication time.

Previous studies suggested that the rate and extent of accelerated carbonation could be increased by enhancing the hydration rate of  $CO_2$ . The latter can be achieved by applying organic or in-organic chemical substances that catalyse the reaction. In this chapter, a number of relatively cheap and non-toxic "candidate" catalysts are proposed.

In addition, an economic assessment of mineral and waste carbonation was done by reviewing appropriate metrics (sequestration capacities, costs etc.), and the sequestration potential of seven "common" alkaline residues was estimated. Finally, an appraisal of commercially active or close to commercialisation companies, specialising in CO<sub>2</sub> utilisation and formation of valorised/carbonated products was done by comparing their processing routes and technology.

#### 2.2 Accelerated Carbonation Technology

#### 2.2.1 Carbonation Background

Natural carbonation is known to have detrimental effects on cementitious systems and occurs when atmospheric carbon dioxide reacts with alkaline ions found on the systems surface (Van Ginneken et al., 2004). Due to the low partial pressure of atmospheric  $CO_2$  (0.03%), the gas diffusion is slow and for that reason the process typically lasts from months to years (Bukowski and Berger, 1979).

Concrete is the most common building material composed primarily of aggregate, ordinary Portland cement and water. It is extremely strong in compression pressure but relatively weak in tension. Thus, the construction industry replaced concrete with reinforced concrete, which contains steel bars and various fibres in its mixture (Katzer and Domski, 2012). In reinforced concrete the containing cement forms a protective alkaline layer (at pH at least 10.5), mainly portlandite, protecting the steel from corrosion. Natural carbonation causes durability issues, since atmospheric carbon reacts with reinforced concrete and destroys this layer by lowering the pH value. (Roy et al., 1999).

Despite the negative effects of carbonation on concrete structures, the same method could have beneficial effects regarding the utilisation of wastes or minerals comprising calcium, magnesium and ferrite ions. The reaction can be accelerated by increasing the partial pressure of CO<sub>2</sub>, and it is completed within hours or even minutes (Johnson et al., 2003).

This accelerated version of carbonation is known as accelerated carbonation technology (ACT) and it offers economically attractive solutions for the stabilisation of hazardous wastes, remediation of contaminated soils, and re- use /recycling of various waste streams (Tarabadkar and Melton, 2006, Liu et al., 2006, Barnard et al., 2005). Informative studies have also been done in heavy metals leaching reduction techniques, focusing on the reduction and removal of heavy metal traces prior to landfilling and according to environmental regulations (Van Gerven et al., 2005, Sicong et al., 2011, Gunning, 2010, Garrabrants et al., 2006, Etoh et al., 2006).

#### 2.2.2 Carbonation Mechanism

The reaction mechanism of accelerated carbonation involves three main steps: the hydration of carbon dioxide, the ionisation of carbonic acid and the precipitation of calcium carbonate (Li et al., 2007). The relevant reactions are shown in equations (2.1)-(2.3).

$$H_2O + CO_2 \to H_2CO_3 \tag{2.1}$$

$$H_2CO_3 \to H^+ + HCO_3^- \to 2H^+ + CO_3^{2-}$$
(2.2)

$$Ca^{2+} + CO_3^{2-} \to CaCO_3 \tag{2.3}$$

In a previous study (Maries, 2008) the reaction mechanism was considered as a cyclic process with 9 subsequent steps through all the physical states (gas, aqueous, solid). A description of these steps and their physical state are shown in Table 2.1.

The overall carbonation rate depends on the solvation and hydration of  $CO_2$ , the two slowest steps of the process. If any of the nine steps is blocked then the whole reaction stops and no gas diffusion is taken place. During secondary carbonation some calcium silicate hydrates (C-S-H) are decalcified slowly to calcium carbonate. Secondary carbonation is as important as the primary, since the reaction of calcium silicate hydrate increases the concentration of CaCO<sub>3</sub>.

Step	Name	State	Description
1	Diffusion of CO <sub>2</sub>	gas	Amount of carbon dioxide is diffused
			into the air.
2	Permeation of CO <sub>2</sub>	gas	Carbon dioxide passes through the
			cementitious surface.
3	Solvation of CO <sub>2</sub>	gas/aqueous	Solvation of CO <sub>2</sub> in the aqueous pores
			of the system. High internal surface
			area favours the reaction.
4	Hydration of CO <sub>2</sub>	aqueous	Carbon dioxide reacts slowly with
			water and forms carbonic acid.
5	Ionisation of carbonic acid	aqueous	The formed carbonic acid ionised
			instantaneously into H+, $HCO_3^-$ , $CO_3^=$ .
6	Dissolution of C-S-H phases	aqueous	All the calcium silicates phases
			dissolve rapidly and extensively.
7	Nucleation of CaCO <sub>3</sub>	aqueous /solid	Formation of calcium carbonate
8	Precipitation of CaCO <sub>3</sub>	solid	Initially, all the three polymorphs of
			calcium carbonate are present, until
			due to the T and humidity only calcite
			is formed.
9	Secondary carbonation	solid/gas	Some calcium silicates may be
			produced during step 4 and decalcified
			later than primary carbonation.

Table 2.1: Detailed description of accelerated carbonation mechanism (Maries,2008)

#### 2.2.3 Carbonation Variables

The efficiency of accelerated carbonation depends on the  $CO_2$  diffusivity and reactivity. Both are determined by variables that eventually indicate the final yield. The latter is quantified by the amount of  $CO_2$  that is bound into the carbonated products, also known as  $CO_2$  uptake. The theoretical maximum  $CO_2$  uptake can be estimated by the Steinour formula (Fernández Bertos et al., 2004), which is a function of calcium oxide, sulphur trioxide, sodium oxide and potassium oxide.

$$CO_{2}\% = 0.785(CaO - 0.7SO_{3}) + 1.09Na_{2}O + 0.93K_{2}O$$
(2.4)

On the other hand, the experimental or actual  $CO_2$  % uptake is a function of the initial and final  $CO_2$ % and can be measured by calcimetric or thermo-gravimetric analyses according to equation 2.5 (Baciocchi et al., 2009a).

$$CO_{2UPTAKE} \% = \frac{CO_{2FINAL} \% - CO_{2INITIAL} \%}{100 - CO_{2FINAL} \%} *100$$
(2.5)

In Figure 2.1 all the variables influencing  $CO_2$  reactivity and diffusivity are presented, while Table 2.2 summarises their optimum values found in previous studies focusing on the carbonation of concrete and ordinary Portland cement.



Figure 2.1: Categories of carbonation variables

#### Mineralogy

The presence of calcium and aluminium is crucial in order to achieve effective carbonation (Balayssac et al., 1995), while high concentration of calcium oxide promotes the reactivity and diffusivity of  $CO_2$  (Johnson, 2000). Also, the precipitation of calcium carbonate is favoured by the presence of Cu, Ni, Pb, Zn, Cd, Fe and tricalcium aluminate (C<sub>3</sub>A) (Lange et al., 1996a). On the other hand, the existence of specific organics and anions may retard the reaction as they inhibit the diffusion of  $CO_2$  into the system (Lange et al., 1996b). Finally, calcium to silicon ratio is another important factor of the reaction and the optimum value was estimated between 1.33 and 1.50 (Black et al., 2008).

#### **Binders**

Binders are optionally used in materials to increase their calcium content. Portland cement is a common binder due to its relatively low cost and high calcium concentration. For cost-effectiveness binders should not exceed 20% of the total mixture (Barnard et al., 2006).

#### Water Content

 $CO_2$  penetrates the system when there is enough water on the pores surface to promote the gas diffusion. Completely dry pores prevent  $CO_2$  from entering the system (Criado et al., 2005), whereas excess water blocks the pores and hinders the reaction (Soroushian et al., 2004).

#### Water-to-solid ratio

Water to solid ratio (w/s ratio) expresses the weight of solid compared to liquid (usually water) in a particular mixture. It is known that accelerated carbonation is favoured at dry conditions and the optimum w/s ratio ranges between 0.1 and 0.3 (Fernández Bertos et al., 2004). At higher w/s ratios the CO<sub>2</sub> penetration is restricted by the low permeability of the mixture and often unstable products are formed (Johnson, 2000, Barnard et al., 2005, Liu et al., 2001).

#### CO<sub>2</sub> partial pressure

The concentration of carbon dioxide ( $CO_2\%$ ) is an important variable affecting the final  $CO_2$  uptake. During the reaction, the concentration of  $CO_2$  may take values from 0.03% (atmospheric) up to 100% (Jerga, 2004, Cultrone et al., 2005, El-Turki et al., 2007) and thus, the value 50% can be chosen as the lower benchmark. However, a previous study on treatment of incineration bottom ashes showed that effective carbonation of these ashes can be achieved at 10% and 20% (Van Gerven et al., 2005).

#### CO<sub>2</sub> pressure

Increased carbon dioxide pressure results in better  $CO_2$  diffusivity and thus more successful carbonation (Anthony et al., 2000). A previous literature finding suggested that under slightly elevated pressure (0.2 MPa) the reaction yield increased considerably (Barnard et al., 2005). When supercritical carbon dioxide is used (between 5 MPa and 20 MPa), the achieved  $CO_2$  uptake increases significantly, while the precipitation of calcium carbonate is improved (Domingo et al., 2006, Hidalgo et al., 2006). However, carbonation under supercritical pressure requires special equipment and thus, the associated costs are higher.

Variables	Category	Optimum	Description
Mineralogy	Mineralogy	1.33-1.50	Apart from Ca/Si ratio, the overall mineralogy of the waste form affects the carbonation rate. The presence of heavy metals and aluminate substances enhances the rate of CaCO <sub>3</sub> precipitation. On the other hand, the reaction is inhibited by organics and anions (Lange et al., 1996b, Lange et al., 1996a, Johnson, 2000, Black et al., 2008).
Binders	Binders	up to 20%	Binders are mixed with wastes that do not contain high amounts of calcium, in order to accelerate the reaction and increase the total $CO_2$ uptake (Barnard et al., 2006).
Water content	Pore system	n/a	CO <sub>2</sub> penetrates the system when there is enough water on its surface. Excess water results in slower gas diffusion (Soroushian et al., 2004, Criado et al., 2005).
Water-to-solid ratio	Pore System	0.1-0.3	For every carbonated waste system a different ratio is optimum. Previous studies indicate that the optimum w/s ratio ranges between 0.1 and 0.3 (Johnson, 2000, Liu et al., 2001, Fernández Bertos et al., 2004, Barnard et al., 2005).
Relative humidity	Reaction conditions	50-70%	RH% can be considered as a measure of water content. Typically, relative humidity should not exceed 80% because the pores are blocked and $CO_2$ diffusion decreases (Criado et al., 2005, Hills et al., 1999, Russell et al., 2001, Sanjuán and del Olmo, 2001).
CO <sub>2</sub> concentration	Reaction conditions	>50%	Better gas diffusivity is achieved by higher $CO_2$ concentration (Cultrone et al., 2005, El-Turki et al., 2007, Jerga, 2004, Van Gerven et al., 2005).
Temperature	Reaction conditions	up to 333 K	The reaction rate increases with temperature increase. The upper temperature limit is 333 K, where physical limitations decrease the penetration ability of $CO_2$ (Liu et al., 2001, Maries, 2008).
Reaction time	Reaction conditions	24 hours	Normally, accelerated carbonation is completed within a couple of hours. After 24 hours the reaction can be considered complete (Marina Sanchez and Miranta Martinez, 2010).
CO2 partial pressure	Reaction conditions	0.2 MPa	Partial pressure is an important variable during carbonation. The $CO_2$ uptake is proportional to pressure however, higher pressure results in higher costs (Anthony et al., 2000, Barnard et al., 2005, Domingo et al., 2006, Hidalgo et al., 2006).

 Table 2.2: Variables and optimum values of accelerated carbonation

#### Temperature

Accelerated carbonation is an exothermic process and during the initial stages of the reaction there is an instant temperature rise of approximately 293 K (Maries, 2008). The reaction rate increases with temperature up to 333 K, where the rate decreases due to physical limitations of  $CO_2$  diffusion and  $CO_2$  solubility in water at elevated temperatures (Liu et al., 2001).

#### Relative Humidity

Relative humidity (RH %) is determined by the water content and it usually varies between 50% and 70% (Hills et al., 1999, Russell et al., 2001, Sanjuán and del Olmo, 2001). At RH over 80% the pores are blocked and  $CO_2$  permeability decreases. At RH% less than 25%,  $CO_2$  cannot react with the system, as there is not enough water to promote the reaction (Criado et al., 2005).

#### Reaction Time

Under ideal conditions accelerated carbonation proceeds rapidly and the treated materials can be fully carbonated within hours or even minutes. Thus, it can be assumed that after 24 hours of treatment almost all the reactants are fully carbonated (Marina Sanchez and Miranta Martinez, 2010).

#### 2.2.4 Microstructural Changes

Accelerated carbonation alters the microstructure of the carbonated materials by changing their physical and chemical characteristics. The majority of scientific works that refer to these changes were based on carbonation of concrete in building structures. Table 2.3 summarises all the known effects, their type and their trend of change, while Figure 2.2 depicts the carbonation zones according to their local pH value.

#### Physical

A common physical effect is the decrease of macro-porosity due to the formation of CaCO<sub>3</sub> molecules, which fill the pores of the system and reduces its overall free space (Ngala and Page, 1997, Hyvert et al., 2010, Bouchaala et al., 2011, Tong et al., 2012). The reduction of macro-porosity results in permeability reduction up to five orders of

magnitude (Sanjuán and del Olmo, 2001, Borges et al., 2010), and the final product shows improved weight, strength and bulk density, the extent of which depends on its physical characteristics.

#### Microstructure

In contrast to macro-porosity that is reduced after the reaction, the micro-porosity of the system increases as the calcification of the feedstock promotes the formation of additional nano-pores (Anstice et al., 2005, Castellote and Andrade, 2008, Dias, 2000, Lawrence et al., 2007, Rostami et al., 2012). The amount of additional nano-pores depends on the variables of the reaction and the physical properties of the reactant. Another microstructural change is the modification of the pores size, which can be observed clearly by scanning electron microscopy and other analytical techniques.

#### Chemical

A notable chemical effect of carbonation is the pH reduction up to 4 values (Dinakar et al., 2007, Khaitan et al., 2010, McPolin et al., 2007). According to shrinking core model of wet particle carbonation, carbon dioxide penetrates the materials surface and tends to create a carbonated thick layer around the unreacted core, altering the local pH. The reaction can be described by three distinguishable zones found in the carbonated structure (Figure 2.2): fully carbonated with pH < 9, partly carbonated zone: with 9>pH>11.5 and un-carbonated zone where the pH > 11.5 (Chang and Chen, 2006).



Figure 2.2: Carbonation zones according to local pH value

Effect	Туре	Trend	
Bulk density	Physical	Increase depends on the desired product	
Macro-porosity	Physical	Decrease up to 15%	
Micro-porosity	Micro-structural	Increase	
Permeability	Physical	Decrease up to 5 orders of magnitude	
Pore size distribution	Micro-structural	Modified	
рН	Chemical	Decrease up to 4 units	
Strength	Physical	Increase depends on the desired product	
Weight	Physical	Increase depends on the desired product	

 Table 2.3: Effects of carbonation upon cementitious systems

#### 2.3 Chemical and Physical Accelerators

The rate and extent of accelerated carbonation can be increased by enhancing the hydration rate of carbon dioxide or the precipitation rate of calcium carbonate. The former can be achieved by chemical compounds and the latter by physical means such as ultrasound.

#### 2.3.1 Chemical Accelerators

The hydration of carbon dioxide proceeds in two stages, following the reactions below:

$$CO_2 + H_2O \Leftrightarrow H_2CO_3^- \Leftrightarrow H^+ + HCO_3^-$$
(2.6)

$$CO_2 + OH^- \Leftrightarrow H_2 CO_3^-$$
 (2.7)

Below pH 8 the effect of the second reaction is negligible compared to the first one. Between pH 9 and 10 the effect of both reactions is equivalent, while at pH above 10 the overall rate of hydration is controlled by the second reaction (Roughton and Booth, 1938).

At large scale, candidate catalysts for the acceleration of  $CO_2$  hydration should have high capacity of  $CO_2$  uptake, regeneration capability and high absorption rate (Sharma and Danckwerts, 1963). Effective chemical accelerators can be divided into two main categories. The first category includes oxyanions in the metal state, which contain oxygen

atoms without proton removal, while the second involves oxyanions in non-metal state containing at least a lone pair of electrons (Dennard and Williams, 1966).

Previous workers studied the effect of various inorganic compounds and found that in an alkaline environment (pH>8) hypobromous acid, chlorine, hypochlorous acid, sulphite and selenite increased the rate of carbon dioxide hydration. However, the majority of those catalysts raise environmental concerns due to their toxicity, and their high cost prevents potential application in large scale (Kiese and Hastings, 1940).

Sodium hypochlorite and sodium sulphite, two relatively cheap and nontoxic chemical substances, were found to increase the degree of hydration, the percentage of  $CO_2$  uptake and eventually the rate of accelerated carbonation. The increase was favoured at relatively dry conditions (w/s=0.25) and sodium sulphite was proved more effective than sodium hypochlorite (Gunning, 2010).

In another study, several organic and in-organic chemical substances were tested as potential catalysts for the hydration of  $CO_2$  during the carbonation of cement. The  $CO_2$  uptake was continuously recorded as the experiments conducted inside a "eudiometer". The results suggested that the additives: nitrite, acetate, hypochlorite and ethanol increased the  $CO_2$  uptake of cement and further research will prove whether these chemicals could catalyse the accelerated carbonation of wastes and minerals (Maries and Hills, 2013).

#### 2.3.2 Ultrasonic Irradiation

Except for chemical accelerators, the reaction yield could be increased by applying physical techniques such as ultrasonic irradiation also known as sonication. The basic principal of sonication is cavitation.

Cavitation refers to the formation, development and collapse of small bubbles (cavitation bubbles) in liquids, resulting in high pressures and temperatures. Sonication decreases particle size and increases the dissolution ability of the sonicated solids especially for particles with high surface area (Lu et al., 2002). The process requires an aqueous medium, in order to allow energy to be transmitted properly between the device and the

treated solid (Rao et al., 2007). Ultrasonic waves can be generated by ultrasonic baths or ultrasonic probes.

Ultrasound is known to affect the precipitation rate of CaCO<sub>3</sub> and the overall rate of carbonation. Under ideal ultrasonic conditions the formation of CaCO<sub>3</sub> increases (Nishida, 2004), while sonication at high values of amplitude (Watt/density) showed significant particles size reduction (Kojima et al., 2010).

Precipitated calcium carbonate (PCC) is a product with added-value as it is widely used in detergents, paint, plastics, pulp paper and textile industries (López-Periago et al., 2010). The three crystal polymorphs of CaCO<sub>3</sub> are calcite, aragonite and vaterite. At ambient conditions the most thermodynamically stable polymorph is calcite, which consists of rhombohedra crystals, while aragonite crystals are found in orthorhombic formation. Aragonite is favoured under elevated temperatures and pressures and is converted naturally to calcite after thousands of years. Vaterite is the least thermodynamically stable polymorph of CaCO<sub>3</sub>, with hexagonal crystals, and is transformed instantaneously into either calcite or aragonite (Price et al., 2010).

A previous study suggested that the ultrasonic treatment of calcium-rich materials in magnesium chloride solutions resulted in the precipitation of aragonite close to absolute purity (99.6%) even under ambient temperature and pressure (Santos et al., 2012). Table 2.4 summarises key works on sonication of calcium-rich materials.

Materials	Frequency	T (°C)	Р	Time	Major Findings
	(kHz)		(MPa)	(min)	
Alumina and silica particles	20	20	0.1	0-60	The particle size of alumina and silica particles decreased, and particle surfaces were smoothed. The dissolution of particles was 7-20 times higher compared to non-sonicated solutions (Lu et al., 2002).
FBC ashes <sup>a</sup>	N/a	20-80	0.1	5-60	Ultrasound found to promote carbonation, to allow access to un-reacted calcium oxide and to reduce the particle size of the products (Rao et al., 2007).
CaCl <sub>2</sub> , NaHCO3	24	30	0.1	0-30	Ultrasonic treatment accelerated the precipitation of calcium carbonate. However, neither the morphology nor the sizes of calcium carbonate crystals were affected (Nishida, 2004).
CaCl <sub>2</sub> , (NH <sub>4</sub> ) <sub>2</sub> CO <sub>3</sub>	20,40	-	0.1	5	Treatment decreased the size of vaterite crystals and narrowed the width of particle size distribution (Kojima et al., 2010).
(Ca(OH) <sub>2</sub> )	42	40	13	10-60	Outstanding conversion of calcium hydroxide to calcite, increase of carbonation rate (up to 89%), and no important morphological changes (López-Periago et al., 2010).
Steelmaking slags	24	50	0.1	0-240	The $CO_2$ uptake of steel slags increased, the particle size decreased, and sonicated particles showed eroded morphology (Santos et al., 2010).
kaolinite	20	20	0.1	600- 4500	Particle-size reduction can be controlled by sonication power, time of treatment, and w/s ratio. Ultrasound increased the structural disorder and surface area of the particles (Franco et al., 2004).
Aluminium oxide particle	24	10-50	0.1	0-10	Higher breakage of particles. Breakage rate was higher during the initial stages of sonication (Raman and Abbas, 2008).
(Ca(OH) <sub>2</sub> ), CaO	42	40	13	20, 60	Ultrasound ameliorated the carbonation kinetics and increased the yield of calcium carbonate (López-Periago et al., 2011).
CaCl <sub>2</sub> , NaHCO <sub>3</sub>	20	10-30	0.1	19-76	Sonication enhanced the formation of calcite, and changes on the morphology of calcite were recorded (Price et al., 2010).
(Ca(OH) <sub>2</sub> ), MgCl <sub>2</sub> •6H <sub>2</sub> O	24	24-70	0.1	30-120	Ultrasound along with magnesium chloride ions found to enhance the formation of pure aragonite crystals at ambient conditions (Santos et al., 2012).
CaCl <sub>2</sub> •H <sub>2</sub> O, NaHCO <sub>3</sub>	20	70	0.1	20-120	Remarkable effects on aragonite morphology (Zhou et al., 2004).
CaCl <sub>2</sub> , Na <sub>2</sub> CO <sub>3</sub>	40	30	0.1	10	Sonication resulted in bigger crystals of calcite and vaterite, while their morphological variety was large: from rhombohedral to spherical and flower-like crystals (Stoica-Guzun et al., 2012).

Table 2.4: Previous studies on sonication of calcium-rich materials

There are also various studies referring to more effective carbonation in the presence of ultrasonic fields. Sonication found to ameliorate the dissolution rate of  $CO_2$  in water

(López-Periago et al., 2010), and the CO<sub>2</sub> uptake of steel-making slags increased by 2.8% to 8.1% (Santos et al., 2010).

Important parameters of sonication are: time of treatment, weight of sample, power and temperature (Franco et al., 2004). Improved ultrasonic power is known to enhance the particles breakage by creating a better cavitation environment and longer sonication times result in higher levels of breakage at temperature range between 298 K and 310 K (Raman and Abbas, 2008).

#### 2.4 Carbon Capture and Storage (CCS)

Carbon capture and storage is projected to utilise up to 60% of overall anthropogenic carbon emissions (Dooley et al., 2009). The process of CCS involves three steps (Praetorius and Schumacher, 2009):

1) The removal and capture of  $CO_2$  from specific locations.

2) Transportation to proper storage sites.

3)  $CO_2$  long term storage.

Large quantities of carbon are emitted by coal and gas plants, where three capture technologies are used: Post-combustion capture, Pre-combustion capture and Oxy-combustion capture (Gibbins and Chalmers, 2008). The transportation of carbon dioxide can be achieved onshore or offshore by pipelines, water carriers or a combination of these. After transportation the captured CO<sub>2</sub> can be stored in appropriate geological and ocean sites (Svensson et al., 2004). The overall cost of carbon capture and compression is USD20-95/tonne, while the costs for geological and ocean storage are USD5-10/tonne and USD5-30/tonne respectively (Adams and Caldeira, 2008).

In Europe, a large-scale demonstration of CCS centred upon the Drax coal-fired power station in the UK has been given the go-ahead. This 'White Rose' CCS project will see  $CO_2$  transported in a pipeline for permanent storage in the North Sea in depleted oil wells

(About the White Rose CCS Project, 2014). Alternatively to geo- and ocean storage, mineral carbonation involves the production and disposal of environmentally benign minerals that are stable over geological timescales. Potential feedstock for MCT involves minerals comprising calcium and magnesium ions such as wollastonite, basalt, olivine and serpentine. The reaction is thermodynamically favourable and the final products are stable. The potential storage capacity exceeds 10,000 Gtonnes at an average cost of USD100-120/tonne CO<sub>2</sub> (Goldberg et al., 2001, Lackner, 2002, Lackner, 2003).

Table 2.5 overviews the available carbon capture and storage technologies, their advantages/disadvantages, estimated capacity and likely costs.

Technology	Advantages	Disadvantages	Capacity <sup>a</sup> (Gtones)	Cost <sup>b</sup> (USD)	Ref
Geological storage	<ol> <li>Established technique</li> <li>Low storage cost</li> <li>Positive/indifferent public perception</li> <li>More eco-friendly than ocean storage</li> </ol>	<ol> <li>High risk of CO<sub>2</sub> leakage from the aquifers</li> <li>Requires continuous monitoring, increasing the long term cost</li> <li>Many countries lack appropriate storage sites</li> </ol>	1800	5	(Harvey et al., 2012, Shukla et al., 2010)
Ocean storage	<ol> <li>High capacity</li> <li>Global availability of oceans, seas, deep lakes</li> <li>No monitoring requirements</li> </ol>	<ol> <li>High environmental risk</li> <li>Higher cost than geo-storage</li> <li>Negative/hostile public perception</li> </ol>	10000	18	(Adams and Caldeira, 2008)
Mineral carbonation	<ol> <li>Environmentally benign long term storage</li> <li>Exothermal reactions</li> <li>Wide availability of natural feedstocks</li> </ol>	<ol> <li>High sequestration and transportation costs</li> <li>Pre-treatment of silicates</li> <li>Unsecure future potential</li> </ol>	>10000	120	(Goldberg et al., 2001, Lackner, 2002, Lackner, 2003)

Table 2.5: Overview of CCS technologies

a: maximum estimated capacity

b: average sequestration cost

#### 2.5 Mineral Carbonation Technology (MCT)

#### 2.5.1 Mineral Carbonation Background

Despite the controversy regarding the high associated costs and energy requirements, mineral carbonation is considered a promising sequestration method in countries lacking depleted oil and gas fields or countries with large availability of natural silicates such as Finland, USA and Australia.

Mineral carbonation involves the formation of stable carbonates and bicarbonates which are chemically equivalent to calcite, magnesite and dolomite (Olajire, 2013). Natural abundant silicates such as: peridotite, serpentine, olivine, wollastonite, gabbro and basalt, are used as feed stocks and can be found in rocks and mining ores. After appropriate treatment the carbonated products may be used as paper fillers and coating materials (Sanna et al., 2012b, Teir et al., 2010). The carbonation reactions (2.8-2.12) of calcium and magnesium oxides, wollastonite, olivine and serpentine are shown below (Huijgen and Comans, 2003).

$CaO + CO_2 \rightarrow CaCO_2$	$\Delta H=-179 kJ/mol$	(2.8)
	$\Delta \Pi = \Pi / J K J / \Pi K J$	(4.0)

$MgO + CO_2 \rightarrow MgCO_3$	$\Delta H=-118 kJ/mol$	(2.9)
$CaSiO_4 + CO_2 \rightarrow CaCO_3 + SiO_2$	$\Delta H$ =-90kJ/mol	(2.10)
$Mg_2SiO_4 + 2CO_2 \rightarrow 2MgCO_3 + SiO_2$	$\Delta H$ =-89kJ/mol	(2.11)
$Mg_3SiO_5(OH)_4 + 3CO_2 \rightarrow 3MgCO_3 + 2SiO_2 + 2H_2O$	$\Delta H=-64 kJ/mol$	(2.12)

All the reactions are exothermic and no energy is added to the system. However, slow kinetics, low yield under mild conditions, heat pre-treatment of silicates adversely impact on the cost of the processing (Maroto-Valer et al., 2005). Also, the cost of transportation accounts for 77-94% of the total costs involved in MCT (Renforth, 2012).

During the mining of silicate ores, the cost of grinding, crushing and milling must also be considered. It is estimated that, in order to be applied at industrial scale, the maximum cost of mineral carbonation should range between USD20 and USD30 per tonne of  $CO_2$ 

(Lackner, 2002). Indicative costs of wollastonite and serpentine were estimated at USD200 and USD126-185 respectively (Lackner, 2002, Kakizawa et al., 2001).

#### 2.5.2 Carbonation of Mineral Residues

Mineral sequestration can be achieved close to emitting plants (ex-situ MCT), or via direct diffusion of  $CO_2$  into rocks containing calcium and magnesium ions (in-situ MCT) (Gadikota et al., 2014).

The ex-situ carbonation of feed-stock occurs in three stages (Prigiobbe and Mazzotti, 2011): 1) Thermal and mechanical pre-treatment of the mineral; 2) The reaction of  $CO_2$  with ions of  $Ca^{2+}$  and  $Mg^{2+}$  accompanied by energy release; 3) The disposal/reuse of the final carbonated products. Ex-situ processing facilitates the efficient management of the carbonation process and maintenance of the 'quality' of the carbonated products (Bodénan et al., 2014, Gerdemann et al., 2004, Soong et al., 2012).

One of the biggest challenges of ex-situ processing is the distance that often exists between  $CO_2$  emitters and the location of mineral sources, as invariably they do not coincide. The need for handling large quantities of  $CO_2$  and mineral silicates impacts negatively on the costs of material transportation. Thus, the location of bespoke carbonation plants should be as close to the natural mineral resources as possible.

Previous workers (Picot et al., 2011) investigated candidate locations around the world, which combine coal-fired plants emitting more than 1 Mtonne of CO<sub>2</sub>, with available minerals within a distance of 300 km. The regions identified are located at Botswana, China, South Africa, Russia, Kazakhstan, and around isolated places in Northern Europe, USA and Australia. Unfortunately, there is lack of mineral availability in industrial regions with vast carbon emissions, raising the transportation costs considerably.

However, although ex-situ processing is the preferred option, the slow kinetics (unless powder is used), the heat-induced pre-treatment of feed-stock and elevated reaction conditions have turned attention towards in-situ treatments i.e. the carbonation of mineral reserves located in the geosphere (Kelemen et al., 2008). The application of in-situ

mineral carbonation involves the reaction of ions of  $Ca^{2+}$  and  $Mg^{2+}$  with supplied carbon dioxide to form products such as calcite, dolomite, magnesite and siderite. CarbFix is a research project worthy of note, using CO<sub>2</sub> emitted from a geothermal plant in Iceland. The mineral 'host' is basalt, a silicate rich in calcium, magnesium and ferrite ions (Matter et al., 2009). The installation consists of a CO<sub>2</sub> separation plant and injection facility, with a 3 km pipeline for the carbon transportation and monitoring systems. The current overall capacity of CO<sub>2</sub> injection is estimated at 2.2 ktonnes CO<sub>2</sub>/per year (Matter et al., 2011) and it can reach 60 ktonnes at overall cost of USD66/tonne of CO<sub>2</sub> sequestrated (Ragnheidardottir et al., 2011). Although the CO<sub>2</sub>-sequestration capacity of basalt is higher compared to other minerals, mainly olivine and serpentine, this rock is rich in silica (up to 50% w/w) and this oxide is known to have a neutral effect during accelerated carbonation (Gunning et al., 2010b).

In the Samail ophiolite (Oman), it is estimated that approximately 0.1 Mtonnes of CO<sub>2</sub> per year react naturally with peridodite and form solid carbonate reaction products. The potential for reaction with carbon dioxide may reach 1 Gtonne, if accelerated carbonation is applied under elevated temperature and pressure (Kelemen and Matter, 2008, Streit et al., 2012). Other relevant research has been made at Mount Keith Nickel Mine in Canada, Linnajavri in Norway and various locations in Italy (Beinlich et al., 2012, Boschi et al., 2010, Dipple et al., 2008, Wilson et al., 2014).

Table 2.6 shows the optimum conditions and estimated costs for carbonating basalt (Ragnheidardottir et al., 2011), olivine, serpentine and wollastonite (Gerdemann et al., 2007).

feed-stock	Method	T (K)	P <sub>CO2</sub> (MPa)	USD/ton CO <sub>2</sub>	USD/kWh
basalt	in-situ	-	-	66 <sup>a</sup>	0.05
olivine	ex-situ	458	15	54	0.06
serpentine	ex-situ	373	4	250	0.26
wollastonite	ex-situ	428	11.5	91	0.09

 Table 2.6: Optimum conditions and relevant costs for various minerals

a: estimation based on full utilisation of carbon emissions from Hellisheidi plant (CarbFix project) (Ragnheidardottir et al., 2011)
# 2.5.3 Routes for Mineral Carbonation

The routes for mineral carbonation could be classified into two main categories: direct and indirect. During the direct route, silicates react with gaseous or aqueous  $CO_2$  in a single step, without the extraction of calcium or magnesium ions (Priggiobbe et al., 2008); whereas the indirect route involves more than one step, followed by ion extraction. The approach to direct and indirect carbonation may vary, and each category has particular advantages and disadvantages presented in detail in Table 2.7.

Route	Description	Advantages	Disadvantages	Cost
				(USD/tonne)
Gas-solid	Gas-solid treatment is the simplest route for mineral carbonation. Particulate metal oxides react directly with CO <sub>2</sub> , producing high temperature steam and electricity. Depending on the feed-stock, under ambient pressure the optimum temperature range for the reaction is considered to be between 433 K and 683 K (Sipilä et al., 2008, Lackner et al., 1997, Baciocchi et al., 2009b).	<ol> <li>Simplicity of the method</li> <li>Production of steam</li> <li>Mining integration potential</li> </ol>	<ol> <li>Slow reaction</li> <li>Thermodyna mic constraints</li> <li>Industrially unfeasible</li> </ol>	
Aqueous	Aqueous carbonation involves mixing (minerals) with a liquid medium such as bicarbonate/salt (NaHCO <sub>3</sub> /NaCl), before the reaction with CO <sub>2</sub> . Bicarbonate acts as a catalyst during the reaction process, while salt creates saline environment where silicates are generally more soluble. Formic acid, citrate, disodium oxalate, oxalate and EDTA ligands have also been explored in various studies to increase mineral dissolution rates. For serpentine-derived silicates the optimum temperature is 458 K, whereas for olivine is 428 K at the optimum pressure of CO <sub>2</sub> of 18.5 MPa. The overall cost of aqueous route was estimated between USD50 and USD100 /tonne of CO <sub>2</sub> (Huijgen and Comans, 2003, Sipilä et al., 2008, O'Connor et al., 2000, Chen et al., 2006, Ghoorah et al., 2010, Bonfils et al., 2010, Krevor and Lackner, 2008, Krevor and Lackner, 2009, Bobicki et al., 2012, Bonfils et al., 2012, Gerdemann et al., 2004).	<ol> <li>Satisfactory conversion rates</li> <li>High degree of carbonation</li> <li>No chlorine addition</li> </ol>	<ol> <li>High energy requirements</li> <li>Addition of extra chemicals</li> <li>Negligible heat integration potential</li> <li>No recycling</li> <li>High carbon sequestration costs</li> </ol>	50-100
HCl extraction	In HCl extraction hydrochloric acid is used to extract ions of Ca+ and Mg+ from a silicate matrix. The sequestration cost of the method is estimated at over USD188/tonne of CO <sub>2</sub> (Lackner, 2003, Huijgen and Comans, 2003, Huijgen and Comans, 2005a).	<ol> <li>Recoverable reactants</li> <li>Defined and fully comprehensive mechanism</li> </ol>	<ol> <li>High energy requirements</li> <li>Ineffective for alkaline metals</li> <li>Expensive acid</li> </ol>	>188
Acetic acid extraction	Similarly to HCl extraction, the use of acetic acid is an alternative option, although more research has to be carried out to prove its efficiency. An approximate cost estimation of processing CO <sub>2</sub> via the acetic acid extraction route is $€63$ (USD85) /tonne CO <sub>2</sub> (Kakizawa et al., 2001, Huijgen and Comans, 2005a, Teir et al., 2007b, Teir et al., 2007a).	<ol> <li>Less energy intensive than HCl</li> <li>Less expensive than HCl</li> </ol>	<ol> <li>Non- proven economic feasibility</li> <li>Higher recoverability needs to be applied</li> </ol>	78
Molten Salt	Another potential solvent is molten salt (such as $MgCl_2 \cdot 3.5H_2O$ ) at T=573 K and P < 3 MPa, which is less energy intensive than hydrochloric acid. However, molten salt extraction has almost been abandoned, as this solvent is extremely corrosive causing operational problems and undesirable by-products (Bobicki et al., 2012).	1) Less energy intensive than HCl	<ol> <li>Extremely corrosive</li> <li>Undesirable by-products</li> </ol>	
Ammonia extraction	In the ammonia extraction route, ammonium salts are used to promote the reaction between the silicates and $CO_2$ . Previous workers (Kodama et al., 2008) proposed a two-step extraction process by using NH <sub>4</sub> Cl and the results showed that calcium selectivity was reached 99%. In another study (Wang and Maroto-Valer, 2010) ammonium bisulfate (NH <sub>4</sub> HSO <sub>4</sub> ) was applied in a direct and less energy demanding reaction at 373 K.	1) High purity carbonates 2) Good kinetics 3) Recoverable reactants	1) High current costs 2) More research needs to be done	

# Table 2.7: Routes for direct and indirect carbonation

#### 2.5.4 Magnesium Silicates

A group of silicates with particular interest due to its large availability around the globe is serpentines. They contain around 40% of MgO, and they can be found in ultramafic rocks or mining tailings. Direct carbonation of serpentines leads to the formation of magnesium carbonate (MgCO<sub>3</sub>) following the reaction below (Huijgen and Comans, 2003):

$$Mg_{3}SiO_{5}(OH)_{4} + 3CO_{2} \rightarrow 3MgCO_{3} + 2SiO_{2} + 2H_{2}O \qquad \Delta H = -64kJ/mol \qquad (2.13)$$

The effective conversion of serpentine into magnesite via direct carbonation requires elevated temperatures over 1173 K and supercritical  $CO_2$  pressure. In a previous study a three-step production of magnesite through the separation of magnesium oxide from serpentine ores (step 1), hydration of the free magnesium oxide (step 2) and subsequent carbonation of magnesium hydroxide (step 3) was proposed (Zevenhoven et al., 2008b). The relevant reactions of the three steps are shown below:

$$Mg_{3}Si_{2}O_{5}(OH)_{4}(s) \rightarrow 3MgO(s) + 2SiO_{2}(s) + 2H_{2}O$$
(2.14)

$$MgO(s) + H_2O \longrightarrow Mg(OH)_2(s)$$
 (2.15)

$$Mg(OH)_2(s) + CO_2 \rightleftharpoons MgCO_3(s) + H_2O$$
 (2.16)

The carbonation of brucite, the mineral form of magnesium hydroxide, produces various mineral phases of MgCO<sub>3</sub>, depending on the reaction conditions. Magnesite and hydromagnesite are products with added-value since they can be used as mineral fillers in paper and pigments or flame retardants in electrical and electronic parts (Montes-Hernandez et al., 2012). However, under ambient temperature and pressure and low reaction times, the precipitation of both magnesite and hydromagnesite is inhibited by the selective precipitation of low value hydrated magnesium carbonates, mainly nesquehontite (Hänchen et al., 2008, Zhao et al., 2009).

Various studies have been made on brucite carbonation focusing on optimum reaction conditions and appropriate accelerators for the enhancement of the precipitation magnesite/hydromagnesite under moderate temperature and pressure. Table 2.8 summarises the most notable recent works on carbonation of Mg(OH)<sub>2</sub>.

At the moment, the main challenges of mineral sequestration of serpentines are the low conversion rate of brucite into MgCO<sub>3</sub> at mild conditions, and the high costs associated with the method. Further research should focus on chemical and physical accelerators that might favour the precipitation of MgCO<sub>3</sub> at competitive costs. In addition, the value of the carbonated products should be evaluated. In a previous study (Gunning et al., 2009), accelerated carbonation of wastes showed that products with improved physical properties, suitable for sustainable concrete blocks, were created via a carbon negative process. Ideally, large amounts of flue gas (15% CO<sub>2</sub> concentration) emitted from big mining fields could be utilised with magnesium rich tailings coming from the same mine and commercially valuable products could be produced (Jung et al., 2004).

The analysis of mineral sequestration economics showed that the method cannot be applied at large scale without further research focusing on less energy demanding rocks handling/processing and more efficient reactions at lower operating conditions. In the next section a similar analysis for waste carbonation was also made, and the findings suggested that this method is more feasible due to lower costs and less energy demands.

Year	Particles size(µm)	T (K)	p (MPa)	t (min)	Details/Results	Ref
2008	n/a	298,393	0.1,0.3, 10	up to 1200	At p=0.1 MPa and T=298 K only nesquehontite precipitated. The presence of hydromagnesite was first recorded at p=0.3 MPa and T=393 K, and within 5-15 h it transformed into magnesite. At elevated pressure and temperature the reacted brucite formed magnesite in a few hours.	(Hänchen et al., 2008)
2010	<150	Amb	1.5	30-150	Brucite extracted directly from a mining pit was mixed with deionised water and HCL. After 150 min the samples containing deionised water precipitated 95% nesquehontite, and approximately 98% of the initial brucite reacted. On the other hand, samples with HCL precipitated 78% of nesquehontite, while 30% of brucite remained unreacted.	(Zhao et al., 2009)
2010	75-125	773	2.85	30	Brucite from nickel mine tailings was carbonated in a pressurised fluidised bed reactor. At T=773 K and P=2.85 MPa the conversion of $Mg(OH)_2$ into $MgCO_3$ was 26% after 30 min. The study showed that the presence of water had negative effects on the reaction.	(Fagerlun d et al., 2010)
2011	125-425	773	2	10	Both commercial and serpentine derived brucite was carbonated in a pressurised fluidised bed reactor. The carbonation degree was 50% after 10min in the reactor. Longer carbonation time (20 min) showed no additional carbonation. Different particle size fractions did not affect the efficiency of the reaction.	(Fagerlun d et al., 2011)
2011	20-32	323, 348	8.2	up to 6900	Natural brucite was reacted with dry and wet $CO_2$ in a high pressure X-ray diffraction reactor. Samples carbonated by anhydrous $CO_2$ showed no reactivity at the desired temperatures (323 K and 348 K) However, the addition of water increased significantly the reactivity of Mg(OH) <sub>2</sub> . At 323 K the initial brucite was completely converted into nesquehontite, while at 348 K magnesite was the predominant mineral phase.	(Schaef et al., 2011)
2012	2-40	ambient	0.1	up to 11880	Slurries comprising high purity pulverised brucite were carbonated with different $CO_2/N_2$ mixtures at ambient conditions. At 10% $CO_2$ after 198hours the final efficiency of the reaction was 43%. At 50% $CO_2$ after 56 hours the conversion was 51%. Finally, at 100% after of 72 hours of carbonation the yield was 44%.	(Harrison et al., 2012)
2012	<150	up to 673	up to 1.5	60	Commercial brucite was reacted in the presence of steam with low and high pressure $CO_2$ in a TGA analyser and a high pressure vessel respectively. Steam enhanced the reaction kinetics at elevated pressures, aiding conversion of Mg(OH) <sub>2</sub> to MgCO <sub>3</sub> .	(Fricker and Park, 2013)

Table 2.8: Previous studies on carbonation of brucite

## 2.6 Waste Carbonation Technology (WCT)

As an alternative to minerals extracted from the geosphere, solid wastes from bauxite processing, cement dusts, coal fly ash, steel-making slags and incineration ashes can be reacted with carbon dioxide (Araizi et al., 2013). These wastes have a highly alkaline nature containing high amounts of  $Ca^{2+}$  and  $Mg^{2+}$ , and their availability is widespread around the world. Due to their alkalinity they cause serious implications to humans' health including respiratory symptoms, weak ventilatory function various lung diseases, irritation of eyes, skin and throat, respiratory tract, cardiovascular deaths and in some cases arsenic poisoning and cancer (Clancy et al., 2002, Kakooei et al., 2012, Yao et al., 2015) In the EU, their disposal to landfills is expensive or difficult, since they present serious environmental and health issues. According to Directive 2000/532/EC, these wastes are generated during "harmful" activities including thermal, incineration, pyrolysis and combustion processes.

Waste	Main Category	Code	Sub-category	Code
Bauxite residues	Wastes resulting from exploration, mining, dressing and further treatment of minerals and quarry	01	Wastes from further physical and chemical processing of metalliferous minerals	01 03
Cement kiln dust	Inorganic wastes from thermal processes	10	Wastes from manufacture of cement, lime and plaster and articles and products made from them	10 13
Coal fly ash	Inorganic wastes from thermal processes	10	Wastes from power stations and other combustion plants	10 01
MSWI bottom ash	Wastes from waste treatment facilities, off-site waste water treatment plants and the water industry	19	Wastes from incineration or pyrolysis of waste	19 01
MSWI fly ash	Wastes from waste treatment facilities, off-site waste water treatment plants and the water industry	19	Wastes from incineration or pyrolysis of waste	19 01
Steelmaking slags	Inorganic wastes from thermal processes	10	Wastes from the iron and steel industry	10 02
Waste concrete	Construction and demolition wastes (including road construction)	17	Concrete, bricks, tiles, ceramics, and gypsum-based materials	17 01

Table 2.9: Characterisation of wastes according to Directive 2000/532/EC

This process is known as waste carbonation technology and the most significant advantage, compared to MCT, is the absence of rock handling/processing and the

general proximity of these residues to point sources of anthropogenic  $CO_2$  (Shu-Yuan Pan et al., 2012). Also, during processing the hazards associated with the waste, such as high pH or contaminant mobility can often be managed, facilitating the re-use, as for example, an alternative to virgin stone in construction, or in higher value raw materials (Dri et al., 2013, Zhang et al., 2013). A number of the high volume waste streams with potential for WCT are identified in Table 2.9.

#### 2.6.1 Bauxite Residues (Red Mud)

'Red mud' is the solid waste produced by the Bayer process when alumina is extracted from bauxite ores. The transport, re use and disposal of red mud is extremely difficult due to its high alkalinity (pH>13) and elevated sodium concentration (Johnston et al., 2010). It is estimated that the total amount of red mud stock-piled is 2.7 Gtonnes worldwide, increasing by 120 Mtonnes per year (3.7 Mtonnes in the EU and 1 Mtonne in the UK) (Gunning, 2010, Power et al., 2011, Poulin et al., 2008, Association, 2010). The carbonation of bauxite residues can be achieved by neutralisation involving the reaction of aqueous solutions of red mud with carbon dioxide and Na<sub>2</sub>CO<sub>3</sub>, NaHCO<sub>3</sub> and H<sub>2</sub>CO<sub>3</sub> as the final products (Sahu et al., 2010, Renforth et al., 2012). The carbonation capacity of the process is estimated at 53 kg of CO<sub>2</sub>/tonne of red mud (Yadav et al., 2010).

## 2.6.2 Cement Kiln Dusts

The world-wide manufacture of cement produces large-scale CO<sub>2</sub> emissions. Residues from cement manufacture have a chemistry that will facilitate carbon uptake, the fact that they result from the calcination of limestone notwithstanding. Cement kiln dust (CKD) is formed during cement treatment at high temperature (around 1673 K) and it is a mixture of fine particles, unburned and part-burned raw materials and other elements. Many cement manufacturing processes involve CKD recycling, however, the degree of recycling depends on various parameters including dust composition and alkali content/standards (Huntzinger and Eatmon, 2009, Huntzinger et al., 2009, Gunning et al., 2010b). Historically, large amounts of CKD are landfilled and represent a potential resource for reacting with CO<sub>2</sub>. The production of cement using alternative fuels has meant that in some cases cement kiln dusts are 'contaminated' and require disposal, but invariably remain suitable for carbonation.

Depending on the type of cement kiln, 250-300 kg of cement kiln dust is formed per tonne of cement. CKD production is estimated at 990 million tonnes worldwide (3.6 Gtonnes cement are produced annually), with 208 Mtonnes produced in the EU and 8.5 Mtonnes in the UK (Schneider et al., 2011, Hoenig et al., 2007, British Geological Survey, 2005, Van Oss, 2011). The CO<sub>2</sub>-binding capacity was calculated by Huntzinger et al. at 11.5 % w/w, i.e. 115 kg CO<sub>2</sub> can be stored for every tonne of CKD (Huntzinger et al., 2009). Other workers estimated the sequestration capacity at 9% w/w and 1.5% w/w respectively (Grandia et al., 2010, Gunning et al., 2010b).

# 2.6.3 Coal Fly Ash

Coal fly ash (CFA) is produced from the burning of coal at various plants, and energy production from combusting this fuel is a major contributor to global warming. CFA is composed of metal oxides, such as: SiO<sub>2</sub>, Al<sub>2</sub>O<sub>3</sub>, FeO<sub>3</sub>, CaO, MgO, K<sub>2</sub>O, Na<sub>2</sub>O and TiO<sub>2</sub>. The burning of anthracite and bituminous coal typically produces Class F fly ash, while the burning of lignite and sub-bitunimous coal forms Class C fly ash. The latter contains a higher CaO and displays a CO<sub>2</sub>-reactivity that is significant (Blissett and Rowson, 2012, Muriithi et al., 2013). CFA is typically used as building material, due to its pozzolanic nature and unique properties (Wee, 2013). Where high CaO containing CFA is available, there is great potential to capture CO<sub>2</sub> with minimal handling and transport costs (Sun et al., 2012) whilst mitigating the effects of CFA on the environment. The annual total emissions of coal ash were estimated at 600 Mtonnes worldwide, 90 Mtonnes in the E.U, and 6 Mtonnes in the U.K (Montes-Hernandez et al., 2009, Feuerborn, 2005).

Studies on CFA's CO<sub>2</sub> binding capacity showed dependency on composition and carbonation reaction temperature and pressure. The CO<sub>2</sub> binding capacity of CFA containing 4% w/w CaO was found to be 26 kg/tonne of ash (Montes-Hernandez et al., 2009), whereas a mixture of brown coal fly ash and brine, varied from 3.6 to 7.2

kg/tonne. Under ambient temperature the maximum binding capacity of  $CO_2$  was found to be 8 kg/tonne of ash (Jo et al., 2012). However, a previous worker (Sun et al., 2012) carbonated high CaO- and MgO-containing brown coal fly ash derived from Latrobe Valley in Australia with acetic acid leachate, and found that the sequestration capacity of the system could reach 264 kg of  $CO_2$ /tonne of ash.

#### 2.6.4 MSWI Bottom Ash and APCr

The treatment of municipal solid wastes from incinerators produces two waste streams: bottom ash and air pollution control residues (APCr) or fly ash (Yang et al., 2012). The former represents 80% of the total incineration residue and is composed of aluminium silicates and metal substances, such as Ca, Cr, Ni, Cu, Zn. During incineration these metals due to their relatively high weight head towards the bottom of the incinerator. On the other hand, APCr is a mixture of lighter substances, mainly fly ash, lime and pure carbon, representing 20% of the solid waste arising from incineration (Fernandez Bertos et al., 2004). Bottom ashes are invariably used in road pavement construction, glass and ceramics, and in agriculture and waste water treatment (Lam et al., 2010, Li et al., 2006). The presence of heavy metals is a concern, and an accelerated carbonation treatment-step has been shown to be a promising management option (Sakita et al., 2006, Shimaoka et al., 2006, Cornelis et al., 2013a).

In Europe around 9 million tonnes of bottom ash are produced annually, with 10% of this originating in the UK (Pecqueur et al., 2001, Sanna et al., 2012a). These ashes have potential to form stable carbonated products (Li et al., 2007), with a sequestration capacity between 247 kg/tonne and 475 kg/tonne for bottom ash, and between 30kg/tonne and 120 kg/tonne for the APCr (Clarens et al., 2010, Rendek et al., 2006, Jianguo et al., 2009). The world production of MSWI ash is estimated to be 100 Mtonnes/year (Reijnders, 2007).

#### 2.6.5 Steelmaking Slags

Steel manufacture generates slag, comprised of calcium, iron, silicon, aluminium, magnesium and manganese oxides. These residues are highly alkaline (pH=12) and when they react with carbon dioxide, stable products comprising carbonates are produced (Bonenfant et al., 2008, Santos et al., 2013b). Moreover, slag production is around 400 Mtonnes worldwide (Worldsteel Association, 2010), with 45 Mtonnes in the EU (Euroslag, 2012) and 5.2 Mtonnes in the UK (Böhmer et al., 2008). Their carbon-uptake potential is promising whilst transportation costs are negligible, assuming the  $CO_2$  can be captured.

The rate of carbonation of steel slag depends on temperature and particle size. The generalised reaction involves the leaching of anions into aqueous solution, followed by precipitation of calcium carbonate (Huijgen and Comans, 2005b, Chang et al., 2011). Indicative costs of carbon sequestration via steel slags were given by Huijgen et al. (Huijgen et al., 2007) who proposed processing at p=3.55 MPa and T=451 K and an overall cost of USD95/tonne of CO<sub>2</sub>. The maximum sequestration capacity of steel slag waste was estimated between 227 and 300 kg of CO<sub>2</sub>/ tonne of slag despite extensive research on the use of solvents, including ammonium salts, for process enhancement and increased calcium carbonate precipitation (Baciocchi et al., 2010, Eloneva et al., 2010).



Figure 2.3: Sequestration concept of steelmaking slags

#### 2.6.6 Waste Concrete

Waste concrete has potential to be used as feedstock in WCT, as it contains cementitious phases derived from Portland cement, at 10-20% w/w. Construction and demolition waste (C&D) is also typically CO<sub>2</sub> reactive (Galan et al., 2010). The maximum carbon uptake of waste concrete was estimated at 165 kg of CO<sub>2</sub>/tonne, (Teramura et al., 2000), while the cost of processing concrete waste was calculated at USD38/tonne CO<sub>2</sub>, excluding any revenue from sale of the carbonated products (Yamasaki et al., 2006) (see Figure 2.4).



Waste cement

Figure 2.4: CCS of a power plant using cement waste as feedstock (Yamasaki et al., 2006 )

Access to up-to-date data on waste volumes is fairly difficult due to the lack of a universal waste regulation. However, available data between 2007 and 2011 indicated that it is possible to sequester up to 1 Gtonne of  $CO_2$  by carbonating 7 alkaline residues found widespread around the world (Table 2.11). Although this number is low compared to the sequestration potential of geologically derived minerals, and of the oceans, the carbonation of wastes is already an established technique. WTC ensures the utilisation of both  $CO_2$  and solid waste residues (arising from the same plant) without additional transportation and monitoring costs. The

average cost of WCT, based on steel slags and waste cement treatment, is estimated at USD67/tonne of  $CO_2$  which is considerably lower than MCT. Furthermore, process operating conditions including temperature and pressure are generally lower, requiring less energy intensive processing. However, the complexity of waste systems and the frequent presence of heavy metals and radioactive elements in some residues necessitate pre-treatment, which may increase the cost of handling and processing these wastes. Finally, in many countries the regulation of waste does not lend itself to treatment and valorisation at this time, and this is an impediment to utilising waste for the sequestration of  $CO_2$  gas.

Waste	Annual world production in million tonnes	Year	Sequestration capacity in kg CO <sub>2</sub> /tonne of waste	Max potential CO <sub>2</sub> utilised (MTonnes)	Min potential CO <sub>2</sub> utilised (MTonnes)	T (K)	P (MPa)
Bauxite	120	2011	53	6.36	6.36	ambient	0.35
residues							
Cement kiln	990	2011	15-115	113.85	14.85	ambient	0.1-0.2
dust <sup>a</sup>							
Coal fly ash	600	2009	8-264	158.4	4.8	ambient- 363	0.1-4
[74-78]						303	
MSWI bottom	80	2007	247-475	38	19.76	ambient	1.7
ash <sup>b,c</sup>							
MSWI fly ash <sup>b</sup>	20	2007	30-120	2.4	0.6	ambient	0.3
Steelmaking	400	2010	227-300	120	90.8	451	3.55
slags							
Waste	3600	2011	165	594	594	353	3.0
concrete <sup>d</sup>							
Total <sup>e</sup>	4790			1033.01	731.17		

 Table 2.10: Alkaline residues suitable for waste carbonation

a: For every tonne of cement, 0.25-0.30 tonnes of kiln dust are produced. Thus:  $0.275 \times 2800=770$  Mt b: The annual production of municipal incineration ashes is estimated at 100Mt. If we assume that 80% comes as bottom and 20% as fly ashes then the respective figures would be 80Mt and 20Mt c: Ambient T and P are assumed

d: Figures refer to cement production. Every tonne of concrete contains typically 10% cement

e: Max and min potential  $CO_2$  utilised was estimated by multiplying the world annual production of the waste residues by the highest and lowest sequestration capacities found in literature

# 2.7 Commercial Applications

It is worth noting that several commercial companies process various types of waste otherwise disposed, in order to form products with value, including, aggregates and secondary building materials. be transported. Table 2.11 presents data on these commercial/near commercial companies and their processes, using data/ metrics (CO<sub>2</sub> utilised, products value, energy penalty) taken from two reports from Carbon Sequestration Leadership Forum (Carbon Sequestration Leadership Forum, 2013), companies web-sites and other information sources.

Table 2.11: Summar	v of ventures	annlying mine	ral and waste	carbonation
Table 2.11. Summar	y of ventures	apprying mine	ai anu wasie	cal bollation

Name	Activities and Technology	Raw Materials	Key Process Steps	Output materials	Projected CO <sub>2</sub> Utilisation (Mtonnes/y ear)	Projected Cost (USD/tonne of product)	Development Stage
Calix	Calix's technology focuses on CCS and subsequent gas reaction with minerals (i.e. magnesium hydroxide) for the formation of high value commercial products useful in agriculture, building and construction, power and water industry. Recently, Calix has expanded in Europe by purchasing the intellectual rights of Novacem process (Calix, 2012).	<ol> <li>Limestone</li> <li>Dolomite</li> <li>Magnesite</li> <li>Kaolin</li> <li>Gypsym</li> <li>Diatomite</li> <li>Bauxite</li> </ol>	<ol> <li>Minerals Grinding</li> <li>Minerals heat pre-treatment</li> <li>Calcination</li> <li>Separation of the products</li> </ol>	<ol> <li>Steam</li> <li>Magnesium</li> <li>Oxide</li> <li>Semidolime</li> <li>Metakaolin</li> <li>Organic</li> <li>Phosphate</li> </ol>	2-23	100/tonne of lime	Pilot scale
CCC	Cambridge Carbon Capture (CCC) applies accelerated carbonation in terms of mineral sequestration. The company's main plan is the mineralisation of magnesium and calcium silicates to carbonated products, along with generation of zero carbon electricity. Its technology is proven at laboratory scale and CCC is currently seeking for industrial partner to commercialise the process (Cambridge Carbon Capture, 2014b, Cambridge Carbon Capture, 2014a).	1.Silicate minerals/wast es 2. Flue gas	<ul> <li>1a. Digestion of the process fluids</li> <li>1b. Carbon capture &amp; power generation unit</li> <li>2. Carbonation</li> <li>3. Regeneration of the process fluids</li> </ul>	<ol> <li>Silica by- products</li> <li>Carbon free electricity</li> <li>Carbonate materials</li> </ol>	50-1000		Laboratory scale
Carbon8	Carbon8 has undertaken pilot-demonstration work on contaminated soil, and a number of industrial waste streams including cement-production residues. The company has utilised landfill gas emissions for waste materials. Its first commercial operation utilises $CO_2$ captured from sugar refining, to produce 60,000 tonnes pa of manufactured aggregate from carbonated MSWI APCr. The process is carbon positive -44kg of $CO_2$ /tonne of product (Carbon8, 2014, Gunning et al., 2013).	<ol> <li>Alkaline wastes</li> <li>CO<sub>2</sub></li> <li>Reagents</li> </ol>	<ol> <li>Pre-treatment of waste powders</li> <li>Mixing of carbonated product</li> <li>Pelletising</li> <li>Aggregates production</li> </ol>	1. Aggregates	0.003-0.009 <sup>1</sup>	10-18 <sup>1</sup> (aggregates)/tonne of CO <sub>2</sub>	Commerciall y active
Carbon Engineering	Carbon Engineering is a Canadian company working on the commercialisation of direct air capture (DEC) and production of high quality carbon dioxide, which can be used for enhanced oil recovery, algae growth in industrial-scale ponds, and synthesis of liquid hydrocarbons. Although the current cost of capture of air ranges between USD50-2000/tonne, Carbon Engineering technology could ensure costs of USD100/tonne with energy	<ol> <li>Atmospheri c air</li> <li>Energy</li> <li>Chemicals</li> </ol>	<ol> <li>Air capture</li> <li>Separation of CO<sub>2</sub> via air contractor</li> <li>Regeneration cycle</li> </ol>	1. Pure CO <sub>2</sub>		100/tonne of CO <sub>2</sub>	Pilot scale

consumption of 11kWh/tonne CO<sub>2</sub> (Carbon Engineering Technology, 2014, Holmes et al., 2013).

CO <sub>2</sub> Solutions	$CO_2$ Solution's technology utilises the enzyme catalyst carbonic anhydrase for removing carbon from flue gases at emitting plants. Enzymes were found to accelerate the removal process at relatively low cost and low environmental impact. At the moment a pilot plant utilises 5.5kTonnes of $CO_2$ per year (CO2 Solutions, 2014, Penders-van Elk et al., 2012, Penders-van Elk et al., 2013).	1. Flue gas 2. Low energy solvents	1. CO <sub>2</sub> Absorption 2. Enzyme catalysis 3. Thermal heating	1. Pure CO <sub>2</sub>	0.0055		Pilot scale
ICS	The novelty of ICS approach is that integrates the flue gasses capture step with the carbonation of silicate minerals. Thus, carbon dioxide does not require pure gas treatment, reducing its total energy requirements. The company estimates the overall cost per tonne of $CO_2$ sequestrated at US\$50, while it is possible to utilise at least 90% of carbon dioxide emissions of a power plant (Hunwick, 2009, Hunwick, 2010).	1. Flue gas 2. Mineral silicates	<ol> <li>Capture of flue gas</li> <li>Extraction/ transport/treatmen t of mineral silicates</li> <li>Carbonation</li> <li>Storage</li> </ol>	1. Mineral Carbonates	24	50 / tonne of CO <sub>2</sub>	Pilot scale
Recmix	Recmix is commercially active, processing stainless steel-slag, including by autoclave, to produce aggregates, fillers for concrete and asphalt and blocks (Recmix, 2014).	1. Stainless steel slag 2. CO <sub>2</sub>	<ol> <li>Granulation of steel slag</li> <li>Mixing</li> <li>Carbonation</li> <li>Shaping and curing of carbonated streams</li> </ol>	<ol> <li>Aggregates</li> <li>Concrete/asphal</li> <li>t fillers</li> <li>Artificial</li> <li>aggregates</li> </ol>			Commerciall y active
Solidia	Solidia's two main products, solidia cement and solidia concrete, are manufactured similarly to ordinary Portland cement and concrete but with the merit of up to 70% less carbon footprint. Solidia concrete can be used in paving stones, concrete blocks and roof tiles. During the initial stages of concrete production in both processes the same materials and the same equipment are used. However, during curing step solidia utilises CO <sub>2</sub> instead of water, resulting in lower curing time and concrete with improved characteristics. The energy requirements are estimated at 3.8GJ/tonne of cement (Solidia Technologies, 2014).	1. Solidia cement 2. CO <sub>2</sub>	<ol> <li>Kiln treatment</li> <li>Mixing with water</li> <li>Curing with CO<sub>2</sub> 4. Shaping of concrete</li> </ol>	1. Solidia concrete			Commercialis ing

# 2.8 Conclusions

The reduction of anthropogenic  $CO_2$  emissions and harmful waste-streams prior to landfilling is necessary in order to mitigate environmental impacts and maintain the sustainability of the planet. Governments consider following the example of Alberta, Canada, and imposing carbon taxes to heavy industry and electricity suppliers. Moreover, landfill regulations have tightened up in many parts of the world, and the penalties are now affecting a wide range of the market.

A technique which combines  $CO_2$  mitigation and waste management is accelerated carbonation technology (ACT), which has particular advantages such as rapid reaction completion, high yield at ambient temperature and pressure and proven applicability. The mechanism of ACT is fully established and the reaction efficacy depends on several variables affecting  $CO_2$  diffusivity/reactivity comprising the mineralogy of the treated materials, water content, relative humidity,  $CO_2$  partial pressure and concentration and reaction conditions.

However there is limited previous work regarding physical and chemical techniques (accelerators) which could further increase the reaction yield at ambient conditions. Various organic and inorganic substances are candidate catalysts such as sodium sulphate, sodium hydroxide, acetate, ethanol, and nitrite, as they are known to promote the hydration rate of carbon dioxide. Also, the application of ultrasound could have beneficial effects on the achieved yield, as this method is known to promote precipitation rate of calcium carbonate.

The development of more effective ambient carbonation systems is crucial for the handling/processing of vast amounts of feed-stock. Under ambient temperature and pressure the associated costs are kept to a minimum. Cost-effective handling/processing is necessary for the commercialisation of mineral and waste carbonation, two promising methods of carbon capture and storage (CCS).

CCS is considered the preferred option for storing captured  $CO_2$  in appropriate geological locations and in extracted minerals. From the available CCS methods,

mineral carbonation ensures the long-term sequestration of  $CO_2$  in calcium and magnesium silicates, and the potential to sequester in excess of 10,000 Gtonnes of  $CO_2$  cumulatively in stable carbonate products. However, this technique is currently expensive at USD100-120/tonne  $CO_2$ , conversion rates remain low, and there are large distances between major  $CO_2$  emitters and potential geological storage sites. Therefore, the commercial application of mineral carbonation will remain uncertain until costs can be reduced to be competitive with geological and ocean storage, at USD5 and USD18 per tonne of  $CO_2$  respectively.

Waste carbonation has obvious short-term advantages: processing is easier (many suitable bulk wastes are finely particulate in nature), handling and transport procedures are largely in place, and waste and  $CO_2$  are often located together as a result of being produced by the same industrial process. Thus, the cost of processing and transportation are likely to be lower as these wastes are generally treated with  $CO_2$  emitted from the same plant. The average cost of waste carbonation of steel slags and waste cement is estimated at USD38-95/tonne of  $CO_2$ , with a potential for reduction if carbonated products with value can be manufactured.

This study of 7 alkaline process wastes has shown that approximately 1 Gtonne of  $CO_2$  may be sequestered each year. Although this figure represents only a small fraction of the annual anthropogenic emissions or what needs to be sequestrated to mitigate climate change, waste carbonation is a reality, being processed commercially as products with value. For example, Carbon8 and Recmix produce carbon negative construction materials that would otherwise be disposed to landfill. The production of manufactured aggregate by waste carbonation technology in the UK is cost effective and the manufacture aggregates are utilised in concrete construction blocks that are certified as 'carbon negative', thus contributing to the UK government's target for sustainable housing.

The commercial prospects for MCT and WCT are both positive if costs can be controlled, and there are several other companies either commercially active or nearmarket with processes utilising waste  $CO_2$ . However, as is often the case, the further development of WCT and the production of new products utilising  $CO_2$  very much depend on market potential and the willingness of governments to establish enabling legislation, such as stricter environmental regulations, a favourable tax environment, and a meaningful 'price' on carbon managed by this process. As future regulatory change is widely expected, an increase in commercial investment, leading to the diversion of larger quantities of waste from landfill and the sequestration of far greater quantities of carbon dioxide than has hitherto possible can be anticipated.

In the next chapter the input materials, analytical methods and a summary of the applied carbonation techniques are presented.

# **3** MATERIALS AND METHODS

## 3.1 Introduction

This chapter summarises the standard analytical methods used in this work including X-ray fluorescence, X-ray diffraction, total organic carbon analysis, wet laser diffraction and scanning electron microscopy. Also, a brief overview of the applied carbonation techniques is given. Detailed descriptions accompanied by schematic diagrams and photos of each technique are discussed in the next chapters.

In addition the selected input and reference materials and chemicals are presented. Finally, the statistical measures (i.e. mean, standard deviation, standard error) used for the interpretation of experimental data are explained.

# 3.2 Materials

The selected materials were divided into two categories: wastes and minerals. For each category a reference material was used: ordinary Portland cement type 1 (CEM 1) for wastes and calcium hydroxide for minerals. The input wastes comprising bauxite residues (BR), cement bypass dusts (CBD), coal fly ashes (CFA), MSWI fly ashes (APCr), MSWI bottom ashes (BA) and steel slags (SS), while the tested minerals comprising wollastonite (WOL) and three commercial grades of magnesium hydroxide classified according to their particles size (2  $\mu$ m, 18  $\mu$ m and 255  $\mu$ m). The treated materials are summarised in Table 3.2.

Also, organic and inorganic chemical substances were added to carbonation systems in order to assess their impact on the reaction yield. The selected chemicals included acetic acid, ethanol, sodium hypochlorite and sodium nitrite and they were mixed with aqueous solutions in three different molarities (0.1M, 0.5M and 2.5M). A detailed description and common industrial uses of chemical are given in Chapter 7.

Material	Category	Description
Cement (CEM)	Reference	Ordinary Portland cement (or cement) is the main compound of concrete manufacture. Concrete is the ultimate building material, generating around 5% of the total global carbon emissions (Bobicki et al., 2012). Cement is a blended mixture of lime, silica alumina and iron, and its predominant mineral phases are alite, belite, aluminate and ferrite (Gagg, 2014).
Air pollution control (APCr)	Waste residue	Air pollution control is the top waste stream (around 20% of the total) from incineration process. It is mixture of fly ash, lime and pure carbon. This waste due to its complex and toxic mineralogy (presence of heavy metals and hazardous substances) cannot be easily disposed to landfills without prior treatment or expensive penalties (Ecke et al., 2003).
Bauxite residues (BR)	Waste residue	The bauxite residues or alternatively red mud is the waste product of the Bayer process during aluminium extraction from bauxite ores. It is extremely alkaline containing concentration of aluminium, iron and sodium (Johnston et al., 2010).
Cement bypass dust (CBD)	Waste residue	Cement kiln dusts are formed during cement manufacture and they are composed of fine particles, unburned and part-burned raw materials and various other elements (Huntzinger et al., 2009). Typically 1tonne of cement production forms 250-300 kg of CKD. Cement dusts cause serious implications to human's health especially respiratory symptoms and ventilatory function (Fell et al., 2003).
Coal fly ash (CFA)	Waste residue	CFA is formed from coal burning and its chemical composition includes various metal oxides such as SiO <sub>2</sub> , Al <sub>2</sub> O <sub>3</sub> , FeO <sub>3</sub> , CaO, MgO, K <sub>2</sub> O, Na <sub>2</sub> O and TiO <sub>2</sub> . CFA is responsible for contamination of soils and groundwater, air pollution and contribution to Global Warming (Nyambura et al., 2011).
MSWI bottom ash (BA)	Waste residue	Represents the predominant waste-stream (up to 80%) coming from the incineration of municipal solid wastes. Is mainly composed of aluminium silicates and metals such as: Ca, Cr, Ni, Cu, and Zn. After appropriate treatment bottom ashes can be used in road pavement construction, glass and ceramics and in waste water treatment (Li et al., 2014).
Steel-making slags (SS)	Waste residue	The main by-product of steel production process, comprising calcium, iron, aluminium, magnesium, manganese and other heavy metals. Due to its high alkalinity (high pH) pre-treatment prior to disposal is required (Santos et al., 2013b).
Calcium Hydroxide	Reference	Inorganic compound with chemical formula $Ca(OH)_2$ , usually obtained as white powder after the reaction of calcium oxide and water. $Ca(OH)_2$ has many applications including the construction, chemical, food and dental industry.
Magnesium hydroxide	Mineral	Magnsieum hydroxide is the product of hydration of calcium oxide. The latter is the main component of serpentines which account for a large percentage of silicates found in rocks and mining ores (Huijgen and Comans, 2003). Mg (OH) <sub>2</sub> when reactes with $CO_2$ leads to the formation of magnesite and hydromagnesite, two high value products that can be used as mineral fillers in paper and pigments or flame retardants in electrical and electronic parts (Montes-Hernandez et al., 2012).
Wollastonite (WOL)	Mineral	Wollastonite is a calcium mineral (CaSiO <sub>3</sub> ) containing small amounts of iron, magnesium and manganese. Due its properties and unique crystallography, wollastonite is widely used in heat- insulating ceramics, metallurgy, automobile and paint industry (Demidenko et al., 2001).

# Table 3.1: Input wastes, minerals and reference materials used in this study

# 3.3 Methods

## 3.3.1 Carbonation Techniques

The input materials were carbonated predominantly via carbonation under ambient temperature and pressure (baseline-ambient carbonation) and under an ultrasonic field (ultrasound). However, carbonation experiments were also conducted at slightly elevated temperatures (water vapour carbonation) and pressures (pressurised carbonation). An overview of the applied carbonation techniques are shown in Table 3.2. Detailed descriptions, schematic diagrams and images of each technique are presented in the relevant experimental chapters.

Technique	Description
Carbonation under ambient temperature and pressure	Samples exposed to a continuous flow of humidified carbon dioxide under ambient temperature and pressure.
Carbonation under pressure	Samples exposed to humidified carbon dioxide at elevated pressure (0.2 MPa). The treatment time was 24 hours.
Carbonation with ultrasound	Samples exposed to a continuous flow of humidified carbon dioxide at ambient temperature and pressure under an ultrasonic field.
Carbonation with water vapour	Samples exposed to a continuous flow of carbonic acid vapour at $\approx$ 373 K.

Table 3.2: Summary of carbonation techniques used in this study

## 3.3.2 X-Ray Fluorescence

Chemical composition is an important parameter for the evaluation of the reactivity to  $CO_2$  of a candidate material, as the presence of particular elements results in increased yield. For example, high initial concentration of Ca usually indicates effective carbonation (Johnson, 2000). In this work, quantitative elemental analysis of the input materials was performed by X-Ray fluorescence (XRF) spectrometry.

During XRF analysis, each individual element of a particular sample emits a characteristic x-ray radiation with discrete energy. The latter could be quantified by

measuring the relative intensity, and by using appropriate software the % concentration of each element can be determined.

The biggest advantage of XRF in terms of elemental analysis is the simple preparation required for the analysed samples. In this study, 10 grams of dried material were mixed with 2.5 gr of CEREOX Licowax C Micropowder inside medium size bags. Then, the mixtures were taken to a press to become homogeneous pellets, and the formed pellets were analysed by an XRF spectrometer Bruker S4 Explorer.

The device generated x-rays from a rhodium source operating at 50 kV nominal high voltage and 50 mA nominal current. The pellets were analysed for 15 min and the data interpretation was done by using the software Specrta plus (version 2.0.28). Finally, the loss of ignition (LOI) was estimated by the difference between 100% and the sum of the measured concentrations of each identified element.

#### 3.3.3 X-Ray Diffraction

Similarly to chemical composition, the mineralogy of a candidate residue determines the final  $CO_2$  uptake. Reactive mineral phases such as calcite, lime and portlandite promote the reaction rate, while other mineral phases such as anhydrite have an neutral effect upon the carbonation yield (Gunning et al., 2010b).

X-Ray Diffraction (XRD) is the ultimate technique for analysing crystalline phases in solid samples. During the analysis a sample is illuminated with x-rays of a fixed wave-length and the intensity of the reflected radiation is recorded using a goniometer. The data is then analysed for the reflection angle and estimation of the inter-atomic spacing (D value in Angstorm units 10<sup>-10</sup> m). The intensity is measured to discriminate the various D spacings and the results are to identify possible matches.

Pressed powder tablets were prepared for quantitative XRD analysis. The un-treated and treated materials were ground to around 40 microns by using an agate mortar and

pestle. The received powders were then pressed into silica sample holders and with the aid of a glass side a smooth surface was created.

The analysis was performed on a Bruker D8 Advance, fitted with a Siemens K710 generator running at 40kV voltage and 40mA current and a copper anode. The tablets were analysed between  $5-65^{\circ}$  20 in  $0.02^{\circ}$  steps each lasting 0.4 seconds.

The generated diffractograms were interpreted by using DIFFRACplus EVA software (Bruker AXS). The X-ray fluorescence data import function in EVA was used to filter the phase-database to aid identification. As carbonation results in both the consumption and the growth of new minerals, a shift in peak heights of the phases can be observed. DIFFRACplus EVA allows one trace to be subtracted from another; hence any differences in peak heights can be readily observed.

# 3.3.4 Total Organic Carbon Analysis

 $CO_2$  uptake represents the amount of carbon dioxide that has been absorbed by the products during carbonation and it is used for the quantification of the reaction yield. The  $CO_2$  uptake can be measured by using total organic carbon analysis (TOC), which estimates the concentration of total organic carbon in a specific mixture.

In this study, a TOC analyser consisting of two modules was utilised: the IL 550 TOC-TN module used for analysing liquid samples and the HSC1300 module for the analysis of solids samples. The HSC1300 module incorporates a high temperature furnace where the solid samples are burnt and release their carbon content. The selected operating parameters of the furnace were: furnace temperature=1253 K, pressure=0.4 MPa, maximum integration time =180 sec and stability= 7.

Prior to analysis a calibration curve was required. Any compound decomposing below 1273 K can be used as the calibration medium. In this analysis calcium carbonate was the chosen medium due to its large availability and low cost. For the generation of the curve, 6 calibration standards of CaCO<sub>3</sub> with different weights ranging from 0-50 mg (0 mg, 10 mg, 20 mg, 30 mg, 40 mg, and 50 mg) were

analysed in the furnace. The validation of the curve was performed by analysing triplicates of  $CaCO_3$  with known carbon concentration (120000mg/kg) and the measured carbon concentrations were compared with the known value. The same calibration curve was used for consequent measurements as long as the daily factor remained between 0.8-1.2. The daily factor expresses the change of status of the analyser from day to day due to different room temperature and pressure or different concentration of the incoming oxygen.

Between 25 mg and 50 mg of each un-treated and carbonated material were weighted in clean and dried ceramic tubes and then inserted into the furnace for around 4 min. The software (OmniToc) expressed the data as total carbon concentration and conversion to  $CO_2$  concentration was done by multiplying the values obtained by the ratio of the atomic mass of  $CO_2$  (44 gr) to atomic mass of C (12 gr).

## 3.3.5 Particles Size Distribution

The particles size was measured by wet laser diffraction analysis. Laser diffraction is based on the diffraction theory of Fraunhofer which states that the intensity of light scattered by a particle is directly proportional to its size. On the other hand, the angle of the laser beam and particle size have an inversely proportional relationship and thus, when the laser beam increases the particles size decreases and vice versa.

Particle size measurements were performed with a Mastersizer MS2000. The device was fitted with a wet sample delivery module (Hydro MU) which transports the material in suspension (in water), and a dry module (Scirocco 2000), which carries the sample in a stream of air. In this study all the analyses were done by using this method.

The tested materials were soaked in water for 24 hours and immediately before analysis, the dispersed sample was agitated by manual stirring, and added drop by drop to the sample holder on the wet module, until the degree of laser obscuration was between 10 and 20%. The circulating pump speed was set at 2500rpm, the refractive index (RI) of the material at 1.520, and the RI of water at 1.330.

#### 3.3.6 Scanning Electron Microscopy

The method of scanning electron microscopy (SEM) produces images by scanning a specific sample with a focused beam of electrons. When the diffused electrons interact with the individual atoms of the samples they generate detectable signals which provide information about the surface topography and composition.

A few milligrams (between 2 mg to 5 mg) of the un-treated and treated materials were placed, with the aid of a small brush, on 12 mm spectro-carbon tabs and then upon stainless steel specimen studs with 32 mm diameter. The analysis was performed on a JEOL JSM-5310LV microscope equipped with an Oxford Instruments Energy Dispersive Spectrometer (EDAX).

The electron source operated at 20 kV nominal voltage and the sample surface was maintained at a working distance between 10 and 12 mm from the detectors to provide a balance between high resolution and depth of field. Images of the blocks were taken by using the backscattered electron (BSE) detector, coupled with chemical analysis using the EDAX. Oxford Aztec software was used for image acquisition and chemical analysis.

## 3.3.7 Variability and experimental error

To verify the reliability of the data set, each experiment was repeated three times. The variability of the final results was estimated by using two common statistical measures: standard deviation and standard error.

The dispersion of data around the mean was measured by using the standard deviation following the equation below:

$$\sigma = \sqrt{\frac{\sum \left(x - x_{mean}\right)^2}{N}}$$
(3.1)

Where

x: each experimental value
x<sub>mean</sub>: the mean of the values
N: the number of values (3 in this study)

The level of dispersion of data from the mean was estimated by the standard error which is a function of the standard deviation and the number of the experimental values as shown in equation 3.2:

$$SE = \frac{\sigma}{\sqrt{3}} \tag{3.2}$$

In the following chapter magnesium hydroxide and calcium hydroxide were carbonated via different carbonation techniques and the achieved CO<sub>2</sub> uptakes were recorded. Also, non-standard cylinders of Mg/Ca were formed and their physical properties were measured.

# 4 ACCELERATED CARBONATION OF MAGNESIUM HYDROXIDE

#### 4.1 Introduction

The most common group of magnesium-based silicates is the serpentines, which usually contain up to 40% magnesium ions in the form of MgO. The direct carbonation of serpentine leads initially to the formation of  $Mg(OH)_2$  and subsequently to MgCO<sub>3</sub>. However, under mild temperatures and pressures the conversion rate of Mg(OH)<sub>2</sub> into MgCO<sub>3</sub> is low as a result of thermodynamic constraints that inhibits the reaction.

The main aim of this chapter was the testing of various carbonation techniques (summarised in Chapter 3) for increasing the carbonation reactivity of  $Mg(OH)_2$ . The applied techniques included carbonation under ambient temperature and pressure, carbonation with ultrasound, carbonation under pressure and water vapour carbonation. The yields obtained for magnesium hydroxide were compared with those for calcium hydroxide, which was used as the reference material. The effective conversion of  $Mg(OH)_2$  into magnesium carbonate at moderate temperature, pressure and reaction time is necessary, for reducing the costs associated with mineral carbonation technology (MCT).

Also, a product development study was conducted by preparing non-standard demoulded cylinders (40 mm x 40 mm) of Mg(OH)<sub>2</sub>/Ca(OH)<sub>2</sub> mixed at five different concentrations, in order to assess the possibility of producing monolithic products with added-value. The cylinders were cured with carbon dioxide for 7 and 28 days and their CO<sub>2</sub> uptake was estimated by Total Organic Carbon analysis (TOC).

The key mineral phases of the mixtures were identified by qualitative/semiquantitative X-Ray diffraction and their compressive strength, bulk density and water absorption were determined by appropriate tests. Finally, the results were compared with the physical properties for normal-strength and lightweight concrete.

# 4.2 Materials and Methods

# 4.2.1 Materials

Three commercial grades of  $Mg(OH)_2$  (Lehmann & Voss) and one grade of  $Ca(OH)_2$  (Calcium hydroxide, 99%, extra pure, ACROS Organics<sup>TM</sup>) were purchased for the purpose of this study.

Each grade of magnesium hydroxide was classified according to its particles size: 2  $\mu$ m, 18  $\mu$ m and 255  $\mu$ m. Calcium hydroxide was used as the reference material due to its wide availability, simple mechanism, and its significant reactivity with carbon dioxide.

The input hydroxides were pure and received as fine powders and thus, no grinding or oven-drying was required before treatment

# 4.2.2 Methods

# 4.2.2.1 Ambient and Ultrasonic Carbonation

Carbonation under ambient conditions and carbonation with ultrasound were conducted in a similar experimental set up, which is shown in Figure 4.1 consisting of:

a) A CO<sub>2</sub> chamber where pure (99.9%) carbon dioxide was entered the system,

b) A rota meter to control the flow-rate,

c) An aspirator to humidify the incoming gas,

d) A water bath (Camlab, 150-300W) which can also generate an ultrasonic field 35 kHz containing up to 10 plastic tubes in series

e) A condenser to maintain a constant temperature

The reaction temperature and pressure were kept constant at T=293 K, p=0.1 MPa respectively, the carbon dioxide concentration ( $C_{CO_2}$ ) was set at 100% and the flow-rate at 0.2 L/min.



Figure 4.1: Schematic diagram and image of ambient /ultrasonic carbonation

# 4.2.2.2 Pressurised Carbonation

Experiments inside a pressurised chamber were conducted and the treatment time increased to 24 hours. Calcium hydroxide and the Grade 018 were carbonated by this technique. The apparatus is shown in Figure 4.2.

The samples were placed inside a pressure-tight reaction chamber containing a saturated salt solution to maintain constant humidity. The chamber was connected to a pressured-regulated supply of pure carbon dioxide. At the beginning of the experiment, the chamber was flushed with carbon dioxide to ensure that any air present was purged. The chamber was then pressurised, and the reaction proceeded in a static atmosphere, with pressure constantly maintained.

## 4.2.2.3 Water-vapour Carbonation

The last carbonation technique investigated was water vapour carbonation, where the reaction proceeded with the aid of steam. The treatment lasted 6 hours and the temperature was constantly measured during the experiment. The apparatus is shown in Figure 4.3. Carbon dioxide was bubbled through a flask of boiling water on a hotplate. Carbonic acid vapour exited the flask and passed through a reaction tube containing the calcium or magnesium hydroxide powder.



Figure 4.2: Schematic diagram of pressurised carbonation





Figure 4.3: Schematic diagram and image of water vapour carbonation

# 4.2.2.4 Product Development

The possibility of producing monolithic products with added-value from Mg/Ca mixes was studied by preparing cylinders of wetted powders compacted into 40 mm diameter x 40 mm height moulds. The de-moulded cylinders were placed in a carbonation reaction chamber (see Figure 4.4). A continuous flow of humidified

carbon dioxide gas passed through the chamber containing the cylinders, which were removed after 7 and 28 days, and their carbon dioxide uptake was measured.





Figure 4.4: Schematic diagram and image of product curing

# 4.2.2.5 Bulk Density

After the curing period, the cylinders were weighted to an accuracy of 0.1% and their bulk density was estimated according to the active standard BS EN 12390-7:2000, following the equation below:

$$D = \frac{m}{V} \tag{4.1}$$

Where:

- D: is the density of the specimen in kilograms per cubic meter  $(kg/m^3)$
- m: is the mass of the specimen in kilograms (kg)
- V: is the volume of the specimen in cubic meters  $(m^3)$

# 4.2.2.6 Compressive Strength

The method to determine the compressive strength of the cylinders was based on the active standard BS EN 12390-3:2002, following the equation below:

$$f_c = \frac{F}{\pi r^2} \tag{4.2}$$

Where:

fc: is the compressive strength, in megapascals (MPa)

F: is the fracture load, in newtons (N)

 $\pi r^2$ : is the cross section of the cylinder in mm<sup>2</sup>

The cylinders were crushed and the fracture load was measured with a hand-held force meter (Mecmesin MFG250).

#### 4.2.2.7 Water Absorption

The water absorption of the de-moulded cylinders was estimated according to the active standard BS EN 1097-6:2000.

The cylinders were oven dried at 378 K for 24 hours and their dry weight was recorded (M2). A pyknometer was overfilled by adding water and the cover was placed on top without trapping air in the vessel. Half of the contained water was removed and the dried cylinders were placed inside. The vessel was refilled with water, tapped to remove entrapped air and left sealed for 24 hours. The following day the specimens were taken out, placed on a dry cloth and weighted (M1).

The water absorption (as a percentage of the dry mass) after immersion for 24 hours was estimated according to the following equation:

$$WA_{24} = \frac{100*(M1-M2)}{M2}$$
(4.3)

Where:

M1: is the mass of the dried specimen (gr)

M2: is the mass of the oven-dried specimen (gr)

# 4.2.2.8 CO<sub>2</sub> Uptake

The  $CO_2$  uptake of the treated materials (expressed as %  $CO_2$  uptake by weight) was directly measured by Total Organic Carbon analysis as described in the previous chapter.

# 4.2.2.9 Materials Characterisation

The input materials were analysed by quantitative X-ray florescence to determine their chemical composition and the mineral composition of the de-moulded cylinders was studied by qualitative/ semi-quantitative X-ray diffraction. The experiments repeated three times and the error bars represent the standard error of the mean.

#### 4.2.2.10 Variability and experimental error

Each experiment was repeated three times and the variability of results was estimated by using standard deviation and standard error of the mean. The latter represented the error bars in the following graphs.

## 4.3 Results

#### 4.3.1 Elemental Analysis

The chemical composition of the input materials is shown in Table 4.1.

	MgO	SiO <sub>2</sub>	SO <sub>3</sub>	Fe <sub>2</sub> O <sub>3</sub>	Cl	CaO	Al <sub>2</sub> O <sub>3</sub>	LOI
G002	97.96	0.19	0.31	0.08	0.23	0.99	0.19	0.1
G018	99.23	0	0.1	0.02	0.58	0	0	0.1
G255	82.31	12.8	0	0.49	0	3.61	0.61	0.1
Ca(OH) <sub>2</sub>	0.25	0.3	0	0.06	0	99.2	0.08	0.1

Table 4.1: Major oxides composition (% w/w)

The input grades of magnesium hydroxide contained 82%-98% of magnesium oxide. The most impure grade (G255) comprising 12.8% of silica and concentration of calcium oxide at 3.6%. Calcium hydroxide composed almost exclusively of calcium oxide (99.2%).

# 4.3.2 Carbonation under Ambient Conditions

Samples of Mg(OH)<sub>2</sub> and Ca(OH)<sub>2</sub> were carbonated for 1 hour under ambient temperature and pressure using the apparatus shown in Figure 4.1. An image of the same apparatus is shown in Figure 4.5. For both hydroxides, one low, two intermediate and one high water-to-solid (w/s) ratio were chosen (0.2, 1, 10, and 100), in order to examine the reaction efficacy at different water concentrations. The recorded CO<sub>2</sub> uptakes of magnesium and calcium hydroxide at the selected w/s ratios are shown in Figures 4.6 and 4.7.

The CO<sub>2</sub> uptake of all the three grades of magnesium hydroxide was significantly lower than calcium hydroxide across all the tested w/s ratios. The highest CO<sub>2</sub> uptake obtained for Ca(OH)<sub>2</sub> was 25% at 0.2 ratio, while the uptake of Mg(OH)<sub>2</sub> at the same w/s ratio was 3% for the grade with the coarsest particles (Grade255). The yields of the other grades were less than 0.5%.



Figure 4.5: Image of ultrasonic bath



Figure 4.6: CO<sub>2</sub> uptake for Mg(OH)<sub>2</sub> under ambient carbonation


Figure 4.7: CO<sub>2</sub> uptake for Ca(OH)<sub>2</sub> under ambient carbonation

#### 4.3.3 Carbonation with Ultrasound

The experiments of the previous section were repeated under the presence of an ultrasonic field (35 kHz). Again, the recorded CO<sub>2</sub> uptake of magnesium hydroxide was considerably lower compared to calcium hydroxide.

The grade with the middle size particles (Grade 018) gave the highest CO<sub>2</sub> uptake (3.5%) at w/s=100. The grade with the least coarse particles (Grade 002) gave 2.5% uptake at w/s=0.4, while the Grade 255 was more reactive, similarly to the Grade 018, at high w/s ratio (100). On the other hand, the reactivity of Ca(OH)<sub>2</sub> was high at low w/s ratios (between 0.2-0.6) and the largest measured CO<sub>2</sub> uptake was 29% at 0.4 w/s ratio.

The results for both materials are shown in Figures 4.8 and 4.9. Figure 4.9 is characteristic of the change of  $CO_2$  uptake across different w/s ratios. At dry conditions (0.2-0.6) the uptake reached a peak and then decreased gradually until w/s =10 where it started to rise again. This trend is attributed to the amount of water in each w/s ratio region and is explained in more detail in the discussion section.



Figure 4.8: CO<sub>2</sub> uptake for Mg(OH)<sub>2</sub> under carbonation with ultrasound



Figure 4.9: CO<sub>2</sub> uptake for Ca(OH)<sub>2</sub> under carbonation with ultrasound

# 4.3.4 Pressurised Carbonation

The 1 hour treatment of  $Mg(OH)_2$  under ambient temperature and pressure proved insufficient for achieving high  $CO_2$  uptake. Also, low yields were recorded after

carbonation with ultrasound. For this reason, experiments inside a pressurised chamber were conducted and the reaction time increased to 24 hours. The selected w/s ratios ranged from 0.2 to 10.

The elevated conditions resulted in higher uptake for both  $Mg(OH)_2$  and  $Ca(OH)_2$ . The former showed the highest reactivity (25% uptake) at w/s ratio=0.4 while the latter gave 45% uptake at the same ratio. The results for magnesium and calcium hydroxides are shown in Figures 4.10 and 4.11 respectively.



Figure 4.10: CO<sub>2</sub> uptake for Mg(OH)<sub>2</sub> under pressurised carbonation



Figure 4.11: CO<sub>2</sub> uptake for Ca(OH)<sub>2</sub> under pressurised carbonation



Figure 4.12: Apparatus for pressurised carbonation

#### 4.3.5 Water Vapour Carbonation

The final technique was carbonation with steam and the  $CO_2$  uptake was measured after 6 hours of treatment. The results are shown in Figure 4.13. The yields recorded were lower compared to the previous carbonation methods, due to the great saturation of the samples, which inhibited the diffusion of  $CO_2$  into the system.



Figure 4.13: CO<sub>2</sub> uptakes of Mg(OH)<sub>2</sub> and Ca(OH)<sub>2</sub> in water vapour

## 4.3.6 Product Development

The possibility of producing monolithic products from  $Mg(OH)_2/Ca(OH)_2$  mixtures was examined by mixing wetted powders of both hydroxides at different concentrations and compacted into 40 mm diameter moulds (40 mm height) as shown in Figure 4.14. The selected concentrations represented moulds of pure MgOH<sub>2</sub>, pure CaOH<sub>2</sub> as well as three standard mixtures of both hydroxides to examine the change of CO2 uptake with the continuous addition of calcium into the mixes.

Five mixes were prepared:

- Mix 1= 100% Mg(OH)<sub>2</sub>
- Mix 2= 75% Mg(OH)<sub>2</sub> + 25% Ca(OH)<sub>2</sub>
- Mix 3= 50% Mg(OH)<sub>2</sub> + 50% Ca(OH)<sub>2</sub>
- Mix 4= 25% Mg(OH)<sub>2</sub>+ 75% Ca(OH)<sub>2</sub>
- Mix 5= 100% Ca(OH)<sub>2</sub>



Figure 4.14: Image of cured cylinders

The de-moulded cylinders were cured in dry  $CO_2$  for 7 and 28 days and their  $CO_2$  uptake was measured. The curing conditions were: 293 K and 0.1 MPa. The  $CO_2$  uptakes after 7 and 28 days of curing are shown in Figures 4.15 and 4.16.

After 7 days the highest  $CO_2$  uptake was achieved by the 100% Ca mix at 35% and the lowest by the 100% Mg at 11%. However, after 28 days the achieved  $CO_2$  uptake of the 100% Mg mixture increased by up to three times (30%) and it was close to the uptake measured for the 100% Ca (35%).



Figure 4.15: CO<sub>2</sub> uptake of cylinders after 7 days of curing



Figure 4.16: CO<sub>2</sub> uptake of cylinders after 28 days of curing

# 4.3.7 Mineral Phase Analysis

The mineralogy of the cylinders after curing in  $CO_2$  was studied by X-Ray Diffraction (XRD) and the key mineral phases identified are presented in Table 4.2. Hydromagnesite, a hydrated magnesium carbonate mineral, was found in the 100% Mg and 75% Mg mixes, while nesquehonite was found in the 100% Mg mixes after 28 days of curing only. Magnesite was not identified in any of the examined specimens.

Phase	I	MIX	1	l	MIX	2	]	MIX	3	]	MIX	4	]	MIX 5	
	0	7	28	0	7	28	0	7	28	0	7	28	0	7	28
Portlandite				✓			✓	✓	✓	✓	✓	✓	✓	✓	
[Ca(OH) <sub>2</sub> ]															
Calcite					$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$		$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$		✓	√		✓	√
[CaCO <sub>3</sub> ]															
Brucite	✓	✓	✓	✓	✓	✓	✓	✓	✓	✓	✓	✓			
$[Mg(OH)_2]$															
Hydromagnesite		✓	√		√	✓									
$[Mg_5(CO_3)_4(OH)_2.4H_2O]$															
Nesquehonite			✓												
[MgCO <sub>3</sub> .3H <sub>2</sub> O]															
MIX 1 = 100% Mg															
MIX 2 = 75% Mg+ 25% Ca															
MIX 3 = 50% Mg + 50% Ca															
MIX 4 = 25% Mg+ 75% Ca															
MIX 5 = 100% Ca															

# Table 4.2: Key mineral phases identified by XRD

## 4.3.8 Compressive Strength

The compressive strengths of the formed cylinders were measured and the results are shown in Figures 4.17 and 4.18. The 100% Mg mixes showed the highest compressive strength after 7 and 28 days (up to 4.2 MPa) of curing. The lowest strengths (up to 1.2 MPa) were recorded for the mixes of pure calcium hydroxide.



Figure 4.17: Compressive strength after 7 days of curing



Figure 4.18: Compressive strength after 28 days of curing

## 4.3.9 Bulk Density

The bulk densities of the mixes are shown in Figures 4.19 and 4.20. After 7 days the highest density was given by the 100% Mg mix (1480 kg/m<sup>3</sup>) and the lowest by the 100% Ca (922 kg/m<sup>3</sup>). Similar results obtained after 28 days, when again the cylinders composed of pure magnesium gave the highest density at 1500 kg/m<sup>3</sup> and those of pure calcium the lowest at 1000 kg/m<sup>3</sup>.

#### 4.3.10 Water Absorption

Water absorption (as a percentage of the dry mass) after immersion for 24 hours of the tested cylinders is presented in Figures 4.21 and 4.22. The results suggested that the 100% Mg mixes had the lowest absorption (21.85%) and the 100% Ca the highest (52%-57%) after both curing periods.



Figure 4.19: Bulk density after 7 days of curing



Figure 4.20: Bulk density after 28 days of curing



Figure 4.21: Water absorption (% w/w) after 7 days of curing



Figure 4.22: Water absorption (% w/w) after 28 days of curing

## 4.4 Discussion

#### 4.4.1 Reactivity of Magnesium Hydroxide

#### 4.4.1.1 Carbonation under Ambient Conditions

The CO<sub>2</sub> uptake of samples under ambient carbonation (Figures 4.6 and 4.7) showed that the reactivity of Ca(OH)<sub>2</sub> was considerably higher than the reactivity of Mg(OH)<sub>2</sub> for all the tested w/s ratios after 1 hour of treatment.

The samples of calcium hydroxide achieved a maximum uptake of 25% at a low water solid ratio (0.2), but also exhibited signs of increasing uptake at high ratio (100). At the intermediate ratios (w/s= 1 and 10) the reaction yield remained low (under 10%).

On the other hand, magnesium hydroxide showed only a small amount of  $CO_2$  uptake (3%), and only at low ratio. The highest uptake was given by the grade with the coarsest particles (Grade 255). At intermediate and high w/s ratios the yields

were very close to 0 and it seems that the diffused  $CO_2$  did not pass into the bulk sample due to the lack of mechanical stirring or mixing.

The reactivity of Mg(OH)<sub>2</sub> at ambient temperature and pressure and rapid reaction time is low as a result of thermodynamic constraints that inhibit the reaction (Fagerlund et al., 2010). Effective conversion of magnesium hydroxide into magnesium carbonate requires elevated temperatures and pressures in the regions of 673-773 K and 2.85-8.2 MPa respectively (Fagerlund et al., 2011, Fricker and Park, 2013, Schaef et al., 2011). However, the handling/processing of minerals at elevated reaction conditions raises the associated costs considerably.

#### 4.4.1.2 Carbonation with Ultrasound

Although ultrasound promoted the carbon uptake of both magnesium hydroxide and calcium hydroxide, the overall conversion of Mg(OH)<sub>2</sub> remained low.

Ca(OH)<sub>2</sub> combined with up to 30% by weight of carbon dioxide at the optimum w/s ratio of 0.4 (Figure 4.9). It is known from previous studies that accelerated carbonation is promoted under dry conditions (Asavapisit et al., 1997, Klemm and Berger, 1972). As the saturation of pores increased, the CO<sub>2</sub> uptake steadily decreased to a minimum, at w/s= 5. The diffusion of CO<sub>2</sub> was suppressed by the presence of water which caused pore-blocking (Li et al., 2006). However, the CO<sub>2</sub> uptake was then observed to rise again as the w/s ratio continued to increase. This characteristic change of yield across the different water contents has been observed repeatedly in the past, and has been attributed to the increased volume of water providing a large total capacity for carbon dioxide dissolution and hydration/ionisation.

The recorded yield for magnesium hydroxide was notably lower, than the yield for calcium hydroxide (Figure 4.8). The results showed that the 18  $\mu$ m grade powder was the most reactive. This may be due to the combined effects of the larger surface area of the finer grade powder (Grade 002) facilitating the reaction and a grain size

that is also not so fine as to inhibit gas diffusion. Reactivity was observed to be greater at w/s ratio greater than 10 and the maximum uptake achieved was 3.5%.

#### 4.4.1.3 Carbonation under Pressure

During carbonation under pressure, the slightly elevated pressure (0.2 MPa) and the longer reaction time (24 hours) increased the reactivity of magnesium hydroxide significantly and the maximum  $CO_2$  uptake was at 25.5%, at w/s ratio= 0.4 (Figure 4.10). As explained before, the carbon dioxide uptake was highly dependent upon the moisture content, and it was suppressed when the w/s ratio increased above 0.4. Similarly to Mg(OH)<sub>2</sub>, the CO<sub>2</sub> uptake of calcium hydroxide increased with a maximum value at 44% at w/s=0.4 (Figure 4.11), compared to a maximum of 30%, achieved previously under ambient conditions.

Although the conversion rate of  $Mg(OH)_2$  into  $MgCO_3$  at elevated pressure increased, the long treatment time (24 hours) is a deterrent for the economically viable processing/handling of large amounts of minerals at large scale (Gunning et al., 2014).

#### 4.4.1.4 Water Vapour Carbonation

Accelerated carbonation with steam did not enhance the reactivity of the input materials. The  $CO_2$  uptake was lower than the uptake recorded during the previous carbonation techniques (Figure 4.13). This is likely due to the saturation of powders with water in the reaction tube, inhibiting the diffusion of carbon dioxide.

The effective carbonation of magnesium hydroxide is important, as it is the intermediate compound during the conversion of magnesium oxide into magnesium carbonate. MgO is the basic component of the magnesium-rich minerals olivine and serpentine, which are considered the largest available feed-stocks suitable for mineral carbonation. However, the results of this study showed that at moderate conditions the reactivity of Mg(OH)<sub>2</sub> is low. This is the main reason why the current average cost of mineral carbonation is estimated at USD100-120 per tonne of CO<sub>2</sub> (Araizi et

al., 2013). A previous study suggested that the economically viable development of mineral carbonation at large scale, requires overall costs between USD20 and USD30 per tonne of  $CO_2$  (Lackner, 2002).

#### 4.4.2 Product development

#### 4.4.2.1 CO<sub>2</sub> Uptake

The analysis of Figure 4.15 indicated that the yields were proportional to the concentration of calcium hydroxide in the mixes. The cylinders composed of pure Ca(OH)<sub>2</sub>, gave the highest CO<sub>2</sub> uptake at 35%, closely followed by the 25% Mg cylinders, which took up 34% of CO<sub>2</sub>. The carbon uptake for the 100% Mg mix was three times lower (11%), however, the CO<sub>2</sub> uptake given by the 75% Mg specimen was double, while the CO<sub>2</sub> uptake of the 50% Mg mix was 30%.

The yields after 28 days of curing suggested that the pure magnesium hydroxide cylinders bound more carbon dioxide compared to 7 days of curing (almost 30%). Also, the addition of calcium hydroxide in the mixes increased the  $CO_2$  uptakes slightly (32% in the 75% Mg mix), while the 50% Mg, 25% Mg and 100% Ca mixtures did not seem to absorb a higher amount of  $CO_2$ .

#### 4.4.2.2 X-Ray Diffraction

The key mineral phases identified in the cured cylinders were summarised in Table 4.2. The un-carbonated materials were found to be almost totally composed of either calcium hydroxide (portlandite) or magnesium hydroxide (brucite), as expected.

After 7 days of curing, the materials still contained these unreacted mineral phases, but showed the appearance of reaction products, including hydromagnesite (identified in the 100% Mg and 75% Mg mixes) and calcite (identified in the 75% Mg, 50% Mg, 25% Mg and 100% Ca cylinders). Hydromagnesite is a hydrated magnesium carbonate mineral with the formula  $Mg_5(CO_3)_4(OH)_2 \cdot 4H_2O$ . It usually

occurs in ultramafic rocks and serpentine or hydrothermally altered dolomite and marble (Minerology, 2005).

Hydromagnesite is a polymorph of magnesium carbonate with added-value as it can be used for commercial purposes. The most common industrial use of hydromagnesite is as a mixture of huntite as a flame retardant or fire retardant additive for polymers (Hollingbery and Hull, 2010, Hollingbery and Hull, 2012, Haurie et al., 2007, Haurie et al., 2006). Other commercial uses of this mineral is as an additive in paper filling or flame retardant in electrical and electronic parts (Montes-Hernandez et al., 2012).

After 28 days of curing, the concentration of calcite in the materials increased as can be observed by the relevant diffractograms. Whilst the 100% Mg cylinder retained a significant proportion of unreacted brucite, nesquehonite another hydrated magnesium carbonate mineral with the formula MgCO<sub>3</sub>.3H<sub>2</sub>O was present in addition to hydromagnesite. The results suggested the complete absence of magnesite in the analysed specimens.

Magnesite is the most thermodynamically stable mineral form of MgCO<sub>3</sub> and the industrial uses of this mineral are similar to hydromagnesite. However, the precipitation of magnesite at low temperatures and pressures is restricted by the selective precipitation of hydrated products, mainly nesquehonite (Hänchen et al., 2008, Zhao et al., 2009, Kloprogge et al., 2003, Zhang et al., 2006). The key mineral phases identified in the 75% Mg mixes were calcite, hydromagnesite and un-reacted brucite, while the other two mixes (50% Mg and 25% Mg) composed primarily of calcite, un-reacted portlandite and brucite. Finally, the XRD analysis of the 100% Ca mix showed almost total conversion of portlandite into calcite.

#### 4.4.2.3 Physical Properties

The analysis of Figures 4.17-4.20 suggested that the differences in compressive strength and bulk density of the mixes with the same composition were small after 7 and 28 days of curing.

The cylinders composed of pure magnesium hydroxide showed the highest strengths with an average value at 4.3 MPa. The addition of calcium hydroxide in the 75% Mg mix resulted in lower compressive strength (2.6 MPa), while strength continued to decrease with the increase of the concentration of  $Ca(OH)_2$  in the mixtures. The lowest value was given by the 100% Ca cylinders at 1.5 MPa.

Similarly to compressive strength, the bulk density of the 100% Mg mixes was the highest (1500 kg/m<sup>3</sup> for 28 days of curing) and the density decreased with the addition of  $Ca(OH)_2$  in the mixtures. Again, the lowest values were given by the 100% Ca cylinders at 920-1030 kg/m<sup>3</sup>. The average measured compressive strengths, bulk densities and water absorptions are summarised in Table 4.3.

MIX	Strength after 7	Strength after 28	Density after 7	Density after 28	Water absorption	Water absorption
	days	days	days	days	(%) after	(%) after
	(MPa)	(MPa)	$(kg/m^3)$	$(kg/m^3)$	7 days	28 days
100% Mg	4.3	4.3	1480	1500	21.85	21.85
75% Mg	2.6	2.6	1300	1300	36.0	30.5
50% Mg	1.8	1.8	1170	1160	38.5	37.0
25% Mg	1.70	1.9	1030	1150	51.5	41.5
0% Mg	1.55	1.40	920	1030	57.5	52.5

Table 4.3: Physical properties of the cured cylinders

According to the British Concrete Society the compressive strength of normal concrete is between 20 and 40 MPa and its bulk density between 2250 and 2400 kg/m<sup>3</sup>. In the case of lightweight concrete, the typical values are lower at 17-20 MPa for the strength and minimum 1200kg/m<sup>3</sup> for the bulk density (Bozkurt and Yazicioglu, 2010). Despite of the lower strength and density compared to normal and lightweight cement found in this study, the preliminary results are encouraging and

future research should focus on the mixing of pure  $Mg(OH)_2$  with additives/binders for increasing the hardness and density of the formed specimens.

Instead of using traditional binders such as ordinary Portland cement (Barnard et al., 2006) it would be reasonable to utilise alkaline waste residues, which are known to have a significant reaction with CO<sub>2</sub>. Candidate residues comprising cement kiln dust, wood ash and paper ash as all of them have been successfully used for the production of sustainable lightweight aggregates (LWA) with improved physical properties (Gunning et al., 2009).

The water absorption of cylinders after immersion for 24 hours was significantly higher than the range for normal concrete of 1%-5% (Smith and Collis, 2001). The lowest values were recorded for the pure magnesium mixtures (21.85%) and the highest for the cylinders composed of pure calcium (52.5%-57.5%). Water absorption is an important physical property of concrete, as materials with high water absorption may result in increased susceptibility to freeze-thaw weathering (C.I.R.I.A, 2001).

#### 4.5 Conclusions

The main aims of this chapter were to increase the reactivity of  $Mg(OH)_2$  by using various carbonation techniques and to explore the possibility of producing monolithic products with added-value from magnesium/calcium based materials.

The achieved carbon dioxide uptakes for magnesium hydroxide after ambient, ultrasonic and water vapour carbonation were low compared to  $Ca(OH)_2$ . The findings were in accordance with previous studies, suggesting low conversion rate of this mineral into magnesium carbonate at low temperature, pressure and reaction time as a result of thermodynamic constraints.

On the other hand, carbonation in a pressurised system (0.2 MPa) and longer treatment time (24 hours) increased the reaction yield and the achieved  $CO_2$  uptake was 25% at 0.4 ratio. However, the processing/handling of large amounts of minerals

over a prolonged reaction time or at elevated temperature and pressure results in increased associated costs.

The results of a product development study suggested that after 7 days of curing the  $CO_2$  uptake of the 100% Mg cylinders was lower compared to the cylinders composed of 100% Ca. However, the addition of calcium hydroxide in the 75% Mg mix increased the achieved carbon dioxide uptake by up to two times. The recorded  $CO_2$  uptake of the 100% Mg mixtures after 28 days of curing increased considerably and the values obtained were similar to those of the 100% Ca mixes.

XRD analysis revealed the presence of hydromagnesite, a desirable hydrated polymorph of MgCO<sub>3</sub>, in the 100% Mg and 75% Mg mixtures. Magnesite was not found in the carbonated products, as expected, as it is known from previous studies that under ambient temperature and pressure the precipitation of this mineral is inhibited by the selective precipitation of low-value hydrated mineral forms of magnesium carbonate, mainly nesquehonite. The latter was identified in the pure  $Mg(OH)_2$  cylinders after 28 days of curing only.

The non-standard cylinders were subject to a testing of compressive strength, bulk density and water absorption (after 24 hours immersion) and the initial results were promising regarding the 100% Mg mixtures. Although the measured physical properties were inferior compared to normal and lightweight concrete, future research focusing on the application of alkaline waste residues as additives/binders, could lead the way to the formation of structures close to lightweight concrete.

In this chapter the topic of mineral carbonation was covered by carbonating samples of magnesium hydroxide. The next chapter explores the topic of waste carbonation technology by testing alkaline waste residues under ambient temperature and pressure and at various water concentrations.

# 5 ACCELERATED CARBONATION OF WASTE RESIDUES

## 5.1 Introduction

In chapter 2, the examination of seven alkaline industrial waste residues showed that they have potential to sequester up to 1 GTonne of  $CO_2$  every year at relatively moderate reaction conditions and competitive costs. The main aim of this chapter was to validate the literature findings by carbonating samples of these residues and select the most reactive ones, for conducting further carbonation experiments with the aid of physical and chemical accelerators.

Air pollution control residues, bauxite residues, cement bypass dust, coal fly ash, MSWI bottom ash, and steel-making slags were carbonated under ambient temperature and pressure for 1 hour and at various w/s ratios. The achieved CO<sub>2</sub> uptakes were measured and compared with the theoretical maximum values derived from the Steinour formula.

Also, wollastonite, a mineral rich in calcium, was also carbonated under the same experimental conditions. The reference material used in this study was ordinary Portland cement type 1 (CEM 1) due to its wide availability and well-known carbonation mechanism.

The different reactivity of the input materials was explained by their initial concentration in calcium oxide and the mineral phases in which CaO was present. For this reason, elemental analysis was performed by using quantitative X-ray fluorescence and mineral phase analysis by qualitative/ semi-quantitative X-ray diffraction.

#### 5.2 Materials and Methods

#### 5.2.1 Materials

The input materials included alkaline industrial waste residues that are known to sequester high amounts of  $CO_2$  at moderate reaction conditions and competitive costs (Araizi et al., 2013, Renforth et al., 2011, Kirchofer et al., 2013).

Air pollution control (APCr) obtained from Slough Heat and Power, bauxite residues (BR) from Ziltec Australia, cement bypass dust (CBD) from CEMEX Rugby Plant, coal fly ash class C (CFA) from Nova Scotia Canada, MSWI bottom ash (BA) from Ballast Phoenix and steel-making slag (SS) from Harsco Sweden. Also, ordinary Portland cement type 1 (CEM 1) with 42.5 N acquired by CEMEX and used as the reference substance. The latter was remained non-hydraulic into the system.

Finally, a commercial grade of wollastonite (WOL) (Nyad 325) was acquired by IMCD UK Limited. Wollastonite, a calcium/silica-based natural silicate, is a candidate feed-stock suitable for mineral carbonation and it has been widely studied in the past (Huijgen et al., 2006, Daval et al., 2009, Gerdemann et al., 2007).

#### 5.2.2 Methods

#### 5.2.2.1 Materials Preparation

The materials were received as finely grained powders (particles size less than 120  $\mu$ m) and before treatment 500 grams of each were dried in an oven at 378 K for 24 hours. After oven drying, the samples were cooled in a desiccator for approximately 30 min and then mixed with water at the desired w/s ratios.

#### 5.2.2.2 Experimental Set Up

The experiments were conducted in the apparatus described previously in chapter 4 (section 4.1). The selected w/s ratios varied from 0.2 to 100 and represented dry (0.2-0.6), intermediate (0.8-10), and wet conditions (25-100). The materials were carbonated for 1 hour under ambient temperature and pressure, 100%  $CO_2$  and 0.2 L/min flow-rate.

#### 5.2.2.3 Carbon Uptake Measurement

The  $CO_2$  uptake of the reaction products (expressed as %  $CO_2$  weight/total weight of the carbonated products) was measured by an IL 550 TOC-TN/DSC1300 analyser, and it was determined by the difference between the  $CO_2$ % concentration before and after carbonation.

#### 5.2.2.4 Materials Characterisation

The un-reacted materials were analysed by using quantitative X-ray fluorescence and qualitative/ semi-quantitative X-ray diffraction in order to determine their elemental and mineral composition.

#### 5.2.2.5 Variability and experimental error

Each experiment was repeated three times and the variability of results was estimated by using standard deviation and standard error of the mean. The latter represented the error bars in the following graphs. Cement was used as the reference material.

#### 5.3 Results

#### 5.3.1 Chemical Characterisation

The input materials were predominantly composed of calcia, silica, iron oxide (III) and aluminium oxide (see Table 5.1). The APCr, CBD, and CFA contained sulphate at 9%, 12% and 21% respectively. Trace amounts of  $P_2O_5$ , ZnO and TiO<sub>2</sub> and other metal oxides were also present.

	$Al_2O_3$	CaO	Fe <sub>2</sub> O <sub>3</sub>	Cl	K <sub>2</sub> O	MgO	MnO	$P_2O_5$	SiO <sub>2</sub>	$SO_3$	TiO <sub>2</sub>	ZnO	LOI
APCr	0.77	65.2	0.83	9.79	2.31	1.19	0.17	0.2	2.48	12.0	1.95	2.51	0.6
BR	19.3	1.64	11.7	0	4.30	2.96	0.14	0.2	56.8	1.34	1.32	0.02	0.3
CBD	2.84	68.1	2.61	3.02	4.79	0.89	0.08	0.1	7.69	9.28	0.21	0.02	0.37
CFA	4.6	44.0	5.18	0.14	0.86	0.55	0.16	0	9.79	20.8	0.2	0.01	13.7
BA	4.06	5.52	4.99	0.96	1.86	0.89	0.37	0.2	25.2	0.4	0.46	0	55.1
SS	5.61	50.8	5.09	0	0.12	13.4	1.71	0	16.3	0.35	0.82	0.07	0.73
WOL	0.22	64.7	1.83	0	0	0	0.335	0	32.9	0	0	0	0.01
CEM 1	3.78	70.0	3.16	0	0.62	1.30	0	0.25	16.5	3.81	0.322	0	0.2

Table 5.1: Major oxides composition (% w/w)

1: steel slags contained 5% Chromium (Cr)

#### 5.3.2 Mineral Composition

The mineralogy of the non-carbonated materials was analysed by XRD. The key mineral phases identified are presented in Table 5.2. APCr and cement dusts were rich in calcium-based mineral phases, mainly anhydrite, calcite, lime and portlandite. Bauxite residues contained high concentration of quartz, gibbsite and hematite. The predominant mineral phases of CFA were anhydrite, calcite, quartz and hematite, while the untreated bottom ash was rich in silica found in the minerals Akermanite, christobalite and quartz. The five mineral phases of cement were: calcite, hatruite, larnite, brownmillerite and gypsym. Finally, steel slag was the waste with the most complex mineralogy as it composed of several minerals.

Phases	Formula	CEM 1	APCr	BR	CBD	CFA	B.A	S.S	WOL
Akermanite	$Ca_2Mg(Si_2O_7)$						•	•	
Albite	NaAlSi <sub>3</sub> O <sub>8</sub>						٠		
Aluminium Phosphate	Al(PO <sub>4</sub> )		•						
Anhydrite	$CaSO_4$		•		•	٠			
Bassanite	Ca(SO <sub>4</sub> )(H <sub>2</sub> O)0.5		•						
Brownmillerite	Ca <sub>2</sub> (Al,Fe) <sub>2</sub> O <sub>5</sub>	•							
Brucite	Mg(OH) <sub>2</sub>							•	
Calcite	CaCO <sub>3</sub>	٠	٠		٠	٠		٠	
Calcium Chloride Hydroxide	CaClOH		•						
Calcium Iron Titanium Oxide	CaFe <sub>3</sub> (TiO <sub>3)4</sub>		•						
Chromite	$(Fe, Mg)Cr_2O_4$							•	
Cristobalite	SiO <sub>2</sub>		٠				٠		
Gehlenite	Ca <sub>2</sub> Al[AlSiO <sub>7</sub> ]				•				
Gibbsite	Al(OH) <sub>3</sub>			٠					
Glaucophane	Na <sub>2</sub> (Mg <sub>3</sub> Al <sub>2</sub> Fe <sub>2</sub> )Si <sub>8</sub> O <sub>22</sub> (OH) <sub>2</sub>						•		
Goethite	FeO(OH)			٠					
Gypsum	CaSO <sub>4</sub> ·2H <sub>2</sub> O	•							
Halite	NaCl		٠						
Hatruite	Ca <sub>3</sub> (SiO <sub>4</sub> )O	•							
Hematite	Fe <sub>2</sub> O <sub>3</sub>			٠					
Larnite	Ca <sub>2</sub> SiO <sub>4</sub>	•			•				
Lime	CaO		•		٠	٠			
Magnesium Oxide Hydroxide	Mg <sub>5</sub> O(OH) <sub>8</sub>		•						
Manganolangbei nite	$K_2Mn_2+2(SO_4)_3$							•	
Merwinite	Ca <sub>3</sub> Mg(SiO <sub>4</sub> ) <sub>2</sub>							•	
Periclase	MgO					•		•	
Portlandite	Ca(OH) <sub>2</sub>		•		•			•	
Pyrophanite	Mn(TiO <sub>3</sub> )							•	
Quartz	SiO <sub>2</sub>			٠	٠	•	•	•	
Rutile	TiO <sub>2</sub>		•						
Sylvite	KCl		•		•	•			
Titanite	CaTiSiO <sub>5</sub>							٠	
Wollastonite	CaSiO <sub>3</sub>								•

# Table 5.2: Key mineral phases of the un-treated materials identified by XRD

# 5.3.3 Carbon Dioxide Uptake Measurement

The actual  $CO_2$  uptake is a function of the initial and final  $CO_2$ % and it is defined by the equation 5.1 (Baciocchi et al., 2009a).

$$CO_{2UPTAKE} \% = \frac{CO_{2FINAL} \% - CO_{2INITIAL} \%}{100 - CO_{2FINAL} \%} x100$$
(5.1)

83

The CO<sub>2</sub> uptakes of the carbonated materials after 1 hour of treatment are shown in Figures 5.1-5.7. Table 5.3 includes all the measured CO<sub>2</sub> uptakes at the tested w/s ratios as well as the variability of experimental data (error bars).

The results suggested that APCr, CBD, CEM 1 and steel-making slag were the most reactive residues amongst the input materials. The lowest  $CO_2$  reactivity was given by bauxite residues ( $CO_2$  uptake=0) and wollastonite.

The highest  $CO_2$  uptake was recorded for the samples with low water content, indicating that carbonation was favoured at dry conditions. At intermediate w/s ratios the reactivity of all the input materials remained low however, as the w/s increased the recorded  $CO_2$  uptake started to rise again.

In Figure 5.1 the yield for APCr is presented. The highest reactivity observed at low water content (0.2-0.6). At intermediate w/s ratios the yield decreased considerably until w/s=25 where it started to rise again.

Similarly to APCr, the reactivity of CBD was dependent upon the water content and favoured at dry conditions (Figure 5.2).



Figure 5.1: CO<sub>2</sub> uptake for APCr at various w/s ratios



Figure 5.2: CO<sub>2</sub> uptake for CBD at various w/s ratios

The yield for the reference material is shown in Figure 5.3. The results suggested that the carbonation of CEM 1 occurred at low w/s ratio only (0.2-0.4). For w/s ratio greater than 0.4 the CO<sub>2</sub> uptake remained under 2% and only at w/s=100 started to increase. Figure 5.5 showed that carbonation of coal fly ashes took place only at five w/s ratios (0.2, 0.4, 25, 50 and 100).



Figure 5.3: CO<sub>2</sub> uptake for CEM 1 at various w/s ratios



Figure 5.4: CO<sub>2</sub> uptake for CFA at various w/s ratios

The CO<sub>2</sub> uptake for MSWI bottom ash did not exceed 2.5% (Figure 5.5). The highest value (2.5%) achieved at low water content (w/s=0.4). At intermediate w/s ratios (1, 5 and 10) the TOC analysis showed that no carbonation occurred.

The results for steel-making slag showed that the effective carbonation of this residue is favoured at w/s=0.2 only.



Figure 5.5: CO<sub>2</sub> uptake for bottom ashes at various w/s ratios



Figure 5.6: CO<sub>2</sub> uptake for steel slag at various w/s ratios

Finally, the yield for wollastonite is shown in Figure 5.7. The reactivity of this mineral under ambient temperature and pressure was low and the highest  $CO_2$  uptake achieved at 1%, at w/s=0.2 and w/s=100.



Figure 5.7: CO<sub>2</sub> uptake for wollastonite at various w/s ratios

All the CO<sub>2</sub> uptakes are summarised in Table 5.3. The average values, respective w/s ratios and the variability of experimental data are also presented.

	Carbo	on dioxide u	ptake (exp	ressed as	% CO <sub>2</sub> we	eight/total	weight of	the carboi	nated prod	lucts)
w/s	0.2	0.4	0.6	0.8	1	5	10	25	50	100
APCr	9.3±1.4	13.3±1.7	12.6±1.2	6.5±1.6	3.3±0.6	1.6±0.0	4.2±1.6	3.9±0.4	5.7±0.5	8.9±0.5
BR	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
CBD	10.6±0.2	12.4±0.3	12.9±0.5	4.1±1.0	1.5±0.1	1.1±0.1	2.2±0.5	1.5±0.1	2.1±0.1	5.8±0.8
CEM	10.3±1.9	7.9±2.5	0.9±0.1	0.7±0.3	1.1±0.3	0.3±0.2	0.2±0.1	0.2±0.0	0.6±0.4	1.8±0.5
CFA	4.6±2.3	0.8±0.4	0	0.1±0.1	0	0	0.1±0.1	3.1±1.4	4.5±0.4	4.6±0.4
BA	2.1±0.8	2.6±0.8	1.2±0.3	0.6±0.2	0	0	0	0.6±0.2	1.3±0.3	1.6±0.6
SS	6.6±0.2	0.4±0.2	0.4±0.3	0.6±0.3	0.4±0.1	0.1±0.1	0.2±0.1	0.4±0.2	0.7±0.1	0.5±0.2
WOL	1.0±0.1	0.8±0.1	0.3±0.1	0.1±0.0	0	0	0	0.1±0.1	0.3±018	1.0±0.2

Table 5.3: CO<sub>2</sub> uptakes after 1 hour of carbonation at ambient conditions

#### 5.3.4 Theoretical CO<sub>2</sub> Uptake

The theoretical maximum  $CO_2$  uptake of a candidate residue can be estimated by the Steinour formula (Fernandez Bertos et al., 2004).

This model is solely based on the elemental composition and it is a function of calcium oxide, sulphur trioxide, sodium oxide and potassium oxide, according to equation 5.2.

$$CO_{2}\% = 0.785(CaO - 0.7SO_{3}) + 1.09Na_{2}O + 0.93K_{2}O$$
(5.2)

A comparison between the actual and predicted  $CO_2$  uptakes is illustrated in Figure 5.8. The actual values (black columns) were considerably lower than the theoretical ones (grey column). The theoretical predictions are mainly proportional to chemical composition, mainly calcium oxide, while in fact the actual  $CO_2$  depends on several carbonation variables. More details are given in the discussion section.



Figure 5.8: Theoretical against actual CO<sub>2</sub> uptakes

## 5.4 Discussion

## 5.4.1 Elemental Analysis and Mineral Composition

Chemistry and mineralogy are two important materials parameters influencing accelerated carbonation of wastes, as they both determine the reactivity of a candidate residue to  $CO_2$ . More details about the different  $CO_2$  reactivity of the input materials of this study are given in section 5.4.

The elemental analysis of APCr showed that the untreated ashes contained 65% of calcium oxide present mainly as anhydrite (CaSO<sub>4</sub>), calcite (CaCO<sub>3</sub>), lime (CaO) and portlandite (Ca(OH)<sub>2</sub>), 12% of sulphur trioxide as anhydrite and bassanite (Ca(SO<sub>4</sub>)(H<sub>2</sub>O)0.5), and 9.7% of chlorine bound to the minerals halite (NaCl) and sylvite (KCl). For the rest traced elements, silica (2.5%) was present as cristobalite, potassium (2.3%) as sylvite, and titanium dioxide as rutile (TiO<sub>2</sub>). Finally, the chemical analysis revealed small amounts of aluminium/phosphorus, iron (III) and magnesium oxides, present as aluminium phosphate Al(PO<sub>4</sub>), calcium iron titanium

oxide  $CaFe_3(TiO_{3)4}$  and magnesium oxide hydroxide  $Mg_5O(OH)_8$  respectively. The mineral phase of the element Zn (2.5%) could not be identified by X-ray diffraction.

Bauxite residues were primarily composed of 57% silica present as the mineral quartz (SiO<sub>2</sub>). The mineral phase of aluminium oxide (20%) was gibbsite Al(OH)<sub>3</sub>, while the identified iron (11.7%) was found in hematite (Fe<sub>2</sub>O<sub>3</sub>) and goethite (FeO(OH)). Finally, the XRD analysis of this residue revealed peaks of magnesium oxide hydroxide, the mineral that the measured MgO (3%) was present.

Elemental analysis of CEM 1 showed that the main elements were CaO (70%), SiO<sub>2</sub> (16.5%), SO<sub>3</sub> (3.8%), Al<sub>2</sub>O<sub>3</sub> (3.8%) and Fe<sub>2</sub>O<sub>3</sub> (3.15%). The key mineral phases of the un-treated cement included calcite, hatruite (Ca<sub>3</sub>(SiO<sub>4</sub>)O), larnite and brownmillerite Ca<sub>2</sub>(Al,Fe)<sub>2</sub>O<sub>5</sub>. Sulphate co-existed with calcium oxide in the mineral gypsym (CaSO<sub>4</sub>2H<sub>2</sub>O).

Cement dusts are produced during cement manufacture and for this reason they usually contain high amounts of calcium (Huntzinger and Eatmon, 2009). The elemental analysis of CBD showed that the un-treated dusts contained 68% of calcium oxide bound to calcite, anhydrite, gehlenite ( $Ca_2Al_2SiO_7$ ), larnite ( $Ca_2SiO_4$ ), lime and portlandite. Gehlenite was also the mineral phase of alumina (2.85%), while anhydrite was the mineral phase of the element sulphur which accounted for 10% of the initial composition. Silica (7.7%) was found as larnite and quartz, and finally potassium oxide and chlorine co-existed in the mineral sylvite.

Coal fly ashes were primarily composed of calcium oxide (44%), sulphate (21%), silica (9.7%), and iron (III) oxide (5.2%). The respective minerals phases of these oxides were anhydrite, calcite and lime for CaO, anhydrite for  $SO_4^{-2}$ , quartz for SiO<sub>2</sub> and hematite for F<sub>2</sub>O<sub>3</sub>. The XRD analysis revealed the presence of periclase (MgO) as the mineral phase of the measured magnesium oxide (0.55%) and sylvite as the mineral phase of both potassium oxide and chlorine. The elemental analysis showed that the concentration of alumina was 4.6% however; the latter could not be identified by X-ray diffraction.

The elemental analysis of MSWI bottom ash gave a very high loss of ignition (56%). This is probably due to the chemical nature of bottom ashes as often the incineration of municipal wastes produces waste-streams full of organic and hydrated matter, and carbonated materials. The untreated BA was rich in silica (25%), which was found in the minerals akermanite (Ca<sub>2</sub>Mg(Si<sub>2</sub>O<sub>7</sub>)), christobalite and quartz. Akermanite was also the mineral phase of calcium oxide (5.5%) and MgO (0.55%). Alumina was present as albite (NaAlSi<sub>3</sub>O<sub>8</sub>), and glaucophane Na<sub>2</sub>(Mg<sub>3</sub> Al<sub>2</sub> Fe<sub>2</sub>)Si<sub>8</sub>O<sub>22</sub>(OH)<sub>2</sub>. In glaucophane was also bound the oxide F<sub>2</sub>O<sub>3</sub> (5%).

The XRF analysis suggested that the predominant oxides contained in steel-making slag were calcium (51%), alumina (5.6%), iron (III) (5%), magnesium (13.5%) silica (16%) and chromium (III) (5%). The chemical analysis also revealed the presence of various other heavy metal oxides, while the mineral analysis revealed the presence of several mineral phases, confirming the complex mineralogy of this waste residue. Calcium oxide was bound to calcite and portlandite, magnesium oxide to brucite (Mg(OH)<sub>2</sub>) and periclase, and silica to quartz. The three elements were also coexisted in the minerals akermanite and merwinite (Ca<sub>3</sub>Mg(SiO<sub>4</sub>)<sub>2</sub>). Chromium and iron were present in chromite (Fe,Mg)Cr<sub>2</sub>O<sub>4</sub>, titanium dioxide in titanite (CaTiSiO<sub>5</sub>), and potassium/magnesium in manganolangbeinite (K<sub>2</sub>Mn<sub>2</sub>+2(SO<sub>4</sub>)<sub>3</sub>).

Finally, wollastonite was composed of calcia and silica at 64.7% and 33% respectively. The analysis by XRD showed peaks of the mineral wollastonite (CaSiO<sub>3</sub>) only. However, the mineral phase of the contained iron (III) (1.85%) could not be identified.

#### 5.4.2 Experimental CO<sub>2</sub> uptake

The yields at different w/s ratios were similar for all the residues, with the highest yield observed at low w/s ratios (between 0.2 and 0.6) showing the advantage of carbonation under dryer conditions (Fernández Bertos et al., 2004). At intermediate w/s ratios (between 0.8 and 10) the yield decreased considerably due to the presence of water, inhibiting the diffusion of  $CO_2$  by pore-blocking (Li et al., 2007). However, a further increase in w/s ratio (between 25 and 100) resulted in higher yield, as the

increased volume of water provided a reservoir with a larger total capacity for carbon dioxide solution and ionisation/hydration.

APCr was the most reactive waste residue with maximum  $CO_2$  uptake at 13.3% at w/s=0.4. The carbonation of APCr was favoured at dry conditions (w/s ratio between 0.2-0.6), but also exhibited signs of increasing uptake at high w/s ratios (50-100). At intermediate w/s ratios (0.8-10) the achieved  $CO_2$  uptake was under 5% (see Figure 5.1).

Air pollution control residues, also known as fly ash, are a waste-stream arising from the incineration of municipal wastes. It is mixture of fly ash, lime and pure carbon and it is known to react effectively with  $CO_2$  (Li et al., 2007). Previous workers estimated the maximum  $CO_2$  uptake of these ashes at 12% (Lam et al., 2010) and the results of this study validated this finding.

The accelerated carbonation of APCr leads to the formation of products with valueadded. For example, the technology of Carbon8 Systems involves the production of sustainable materials such as "green" aggregates and concrete blocks from the carbonation of APCr ashes via a carbon negative process (Gunning et al., 2013).

The second most reactive material was CBD with  $CO_2$  uptake of 12.9% at w/s=0.6. Similarly to APCr, the reactivity of cement dusts was high at low water content and it started to decrease when the w/s ratio was larger than 0.8. After w/s=1 the achieved  $CO_2$  uptake was low and only at w/s=100 started to increase again (5.9%).

The accelerated carbonation of cement dusts is favoured under ambient temperature and pressure especially for samples with low concentration of water. Previous literature findings suggested that under these conditions the recorded  $CO_2$  uptake was found to be in the region of 11.5% (Huntzinger et al., 2009), and the recorded yield shown in Figure 5.2 verified these findings.

The effective carbonation of the reference material (CEM 1) occurred at low w/s ratios only (0.2 and 0.4) with maximum CO<sub>2</sub> uptake at 10.35% and at w/s=0.2 (see Figure 5.3). The addition of water in the less dry samples inhibited the diffusion of

carbon dioxide into the system and the recorded  $CO_2$  uptakes were under 2%. Even at w/s ratio=100 where the majority of the tested materials showed increased yield, the reactivity of the samples of CEM 1 remained low (1.8%). Ordinary Portland cement is known to have a high reactivity to  $CO_2$  as it typically contains large concentration of calcium oxide (70% in this study), which usually indicates successful carbonation (Johnson, 2000).

Steel-making slag was the last material showing increased yield after 1 hour of treatment with maximum  $CO_2$  uptake at 6.67% and at w/s=0.2. The latter was the only w/s ratio where effective carbonation took place, as at higher ratios the  $CO_2$  uptake obtained was less than 1% (Figure 5.6).

Previous findings suggested that steel slags could sequester vast amounts of carbon dioxide. Maximum  $CO_2$  uptakes obtained for steel slag were found to range between 22.7% and 30% however, the reactions occurred at elevated temperatures and pressures, 1.7 MPa and 308 K respectively (Baciocchi et al., 2010, Eloneva et al., 2010, Eloneva et al., 2008).

The valorisation of steel-making slags is a process of particular interest as it forms high value valorised/carbonated products such as aggregates and fillers for concrete blocks and asphalt. Recmix is actively investigating the successful utilisation of steel making slags for profit-making purposes (Recmix, 2014).

Bauxite residues, also known as red mud, are the waste-streams formed after the Bayer process when alumina is extracted from bauxite ores. The valorisation or treatment prior to disposal of this residue is of particular interest as the transport, disposal or re-use of red mud is difficult due to its high alkalinity and elevated sodium concentration (Johnston et al., 2010). In addition, the quantity of stock-piled red mud is estimated at 2.7 Gtonnes worldwide, increasing by 120 Mtonnes every year (Power et al., 2011). However, the TOC analysis showed that BA was the least reactive of the input materials with 0%  $CO_2$  uptake regardless of the concentration of water in the carbonated samples.

Although, a previous study suggested that 1 kg of bauxite could sequester up to 53 g of CO<sub>2</sub> at p=0.35 MPa and t=3.5 hours (Yadav et al., 2010) it seems that the reactivity to CO<sub>2</sub> of this waste under ambient conditions is negligible. However, the processing of large amounts of feed-stock even at slightly elevated reaction conditions can involve significant costs.

The CO<sub>2</sub> binding capacity of coal fly ashes found in literature varies as the reactivity of these ashes depends on composition and reaction conditions. For example, the CO<sub>2</sub> uptake after accelerated carbonation of CFA composed of 4% CaO was estimated at 2.6%, whereas in a mixture of brown coal fly ash and brine was less than 1% (Montes-Hernandez et al., 2009). Less than 1% was also the CO<sub>2</sub> uptake obtained after the carbonation of CFA containing 7% CaO under ambient temperature and pressure (Jo et al., 2012). However, significant CO<sub>2</sub> uptakes (up to 26.5%) were recorded during accelerated carbonation of high CaO- and MgOcontaining brown coal fly ash derived from Latrobe Valley in Australia with acetic acid leachate (Sun et al., 2012).

The results shown in Figure 5.4 indicated that the carbonation of coal fly ash was favoured at extremely dry (w/s ratio=0.2) or wet conditions (w/s ratio 50 and 100). The highest  $CO_2$  uptake was estimated at 4.6% at w/s ratio=0.2 and 100. However, the variability of the experimental data at low water content was large.

The reactivity of the MSWI bottom ashes was low and the maximum  $CO_2$  uptake estimated at 2.6% and at w/s=0.4. At dry conditions (w/s between 0.2 and 0.6) the reaction proceeded more effectively compared to intermediate ratios (0.8-10) where the yield remained very low. At higher ratios (greater than 25) the  $CO_2$  uptake started to rise again (see Figure 5.5).

MSWI BA is the bottom waste stream coming from the incineration of municipal wastes and it is composed of aluminium silicates and various heavy-metal substances (Fernandez Bertos et al., 2004). The valorisation of bottom ashes leads to products with added-value, that could be used in road pavement construction, glass and ceramics, and in agriculture and waste water treatment (Lam et al., 2010, Li et al., 2006).

Finally, the recorded yield for wollastonite was presented in Figure 5.7. The results suggested that the maximum  $CO_2$  uptake of this mineral reached 1.0% at w/s=0.2 and w/s=100. The reactivity of the other samples was extremely low (carbon uptake close to 0%) and the findings were in accordance with previous studies, showing that the effective carbonation of wollastonite requires elevated temperatures (= 428 K) and pressures (=11.5 MPa) (Gerdemann et al., 2007).

#### 5.4.3 Theoretical CO<sub>2</sub> Uptake

The recorded  $CO_2$  uptakes of the input materials after 1 hour of accelerated carbonation were compared with the theoretical values derived from the Steinour formula in Figure 5.8. In all cases, the predicted maximum  $CO_2$  uptakes were higher than the achieved. The reason is that this theoretical model is based entirely on the chemical composition of a candidate residue, mainly on the concentration of calcium oxide, however, the actual  $CO_2$  uptake is also determined by several variables including the mineral phases in which calcium is present, temperature, pressure, reaction time, water content etc. (Gunning, 2010). These variables were discussed in Chapter 2. The theoretical and experimental maximum uptakes as well as their % difference are presented in Table 5.4.

Material	Ratio	Actual maximum CO <sub>2</sub> uptake	Theoretical maximum CO <sub>2</sub> uptake
APCr	0.4	13.3±1.74	46.7
BR	n/a	0	4.5
CBD	0.6	12.9±0.56	52.8
CEM 1	0.2	10.3±1.95	53.4
CFA	0.2	4.6±2.34	23.9
BA	0.4	2.6±0.88	5.8
SS	0.2	6.6±0.26	39.8
WOL	0.2	1.0±0.11	50.8

Table 5.4: Difference between actual and theoretical CO<sub>2</sub> uptakes

1: The comparison was based on the average actual uptakes
#### 5.4.4 Reactivity

The different reactivity to  $CO_2$  of the input materials could be explained by their initial concentration in calcium oxide and the mineral phases in which calcium was present. Reactive calcium-based mineral phases such as calcite, portlandite, lime and larnite are known to promote accelerated carbonation and the precipitation of CaCO<sub>3</sub>, while other calcium-based phases such as anhydrite, akermanite and glaucophane have no actual effect upon the final  $CO_2$  uptake (Gunning et al., 2010b).

The chemical analysis of the four most reactive residues showed that all of them contained high concentrations of calcium oxide (between 51% and 70%). Also, X-ray diffraction revealed the presence of calcite and portlandite in the un-reacted APCr, CBD and steel slags. Lime, another calcium-based reactive phase, was present in APCr and CBD.

On the other hand, bauxite residues would not carbonate at any w/s ratio, due to their very low calcium content of the un-treated residues (1.6%), and a high composition of silica and alumina. Moreover, the XRD analysis showed the absence of reactive calcium-based phases which promote the reaction.

The elemental analysis of bottom ashes, similarly to red mud, showed low concentration of calcium oxide (5.5%), while the un-reacted diffractogram revealed the presence of akermanite and glaucophane as the mineral phases in which calcium oxide was present.

The importance of the mineral phases that calcium should be bound in order to achieve increased  $CO_2$  uptake was eminent during the treatment of coal fly ash. Although the CFAs contained 44% of calcium oxide, the highest  $CO_2$  uptake obtained did not exceed 4.6%. The XRD analysis showed that CaO was predominantly present in the mineral anhydrite (CaSO<sub>4</sub>), which is known to have a neutral effect during accelerated carbonation (Gunning et al., 2010a).

#### 5.5 Conclusions

In this chapter, six alkaline waste residues, cement (as the reference material) and wollastonite were carbonated for 1 hour under ambient temperature and pressure and at 10 different water-to solid ratios varying from 0.2 to 100. The  $CO_2$  uptakes were measured by total organic carbon analysis and compared with the theoretical values derived from the Steinour formula.

The yields at different w/s ratios showed that the accelerated carbonation was favoured at dry conditions (w/s=0.2-0.6). At intermediate w/s ratios (between 0.8 and 10) the yield decreased considerably due to the presence of water, inhibiting the diffusion of  $CO_2$  by pore-blocking. However, a further rise in w/s ratio (25 to 100) resulted in higher  $CO_2$  uptake, as the increased volume of water provided a reservoir with a larger total capacity for carbon dioxide solution and ionisation/hydration.

On every occasion, the actual  $CO_2$  uptakes were considerably lower than the predicted ones, as the theoretical predictions are based exclusively on the initial chemical composition, mainly the concentration of CaO, of a candidate residue, while in fact the final  $CO_2$  uptake is dependent upon several carbonation variables including mineralogy, temperature, pressure, reaction time, relative humidity as well as water content etc.

The results suggested that the air pollution control residues, cement bypass dust, cement and steel-making slag showed the highest reactivity to  $CO_2$  due to their high initial concentration in calcium oxide and the presence of reactive calcium-based mineral phases such as calcite, lime and portlandite.

On the other hand, the reactivity of bauxite residues and MSWI bottom ashes was low, as a result of the low concentration of CaO in the untreated residues. Coal fly ashes although containing 44% of CaO did not show remarkable reactivity to  $CO_2$  as the XRD analysis showed that CaO was bound to the mineral anhydrite, which is known to have a neutral effect upon  $CO_2$  uptake.

Finally, the  $CO_2$  uptake for wollastonite was approximately 1.0%, showing that the accelerated carbonation of minerals under low temperature and pressure is weak. The low reactivity of wollastonite and of magnesium hydroxide presented in the previous chapter suggested that little amounts of  $CO_2$  can be sequestrated via mineral carbonation at moderate reaction conditions.

In the following chapter the most reactive materials identified in Chapter 5 (APCr, CBD, CEM 1 and steel slag) were carbonated in the presence of an ultrasonic field to assess the effect of sonication upon their  $CO_2$  uptake, mineralogy and morphology.

### 6 CARBONATION OF WASTES AIDED BY ULTRASOUND

### 6.1 Introduction

As described before, the basic principal of ultrasonic irradiation is cavitation, where energy is transmitted between a solid and a sonication device through an aqueous medium. Although the literature offers knowledge about the beneficial effects of sonication on  $CaCO_3$  precipitation, there are limited previous studies regarding the effects of this technique during the carbonation of alkaline waste residues.

In this chapter, the effect of sonication upon the  $CO_2$  uptake of air pollution control (APCr), cement bypass dust (CBD), ordinary Portland cement (CEM 1) and steel slag-residues was investigated and the recorded yields were compared with the yields achieved without ultrasound. On many occasions, sonication requires high energy demands and thus, an ultrasonic bath (instead of probe) was used in this study.

The sonication experiments were carried out under ambient temperature and pressure, and at 10 different water-to-solid ratios. The selected ratios were divided into three categories: low (0.2-0.6), intermediate (0.8-10) and high (25-100) to study how cavitation proceeds in samples with different concentrations of water.

The variables examined throughout the experiments included the optimum water content, treatment time and ultrasonic frequency. The mineral composition of the untreated and sonicated/non-sonicated waste materials were analysed by qualitative/semi-quantitative X-Ray diffraction.

In addition, scanning electron microscopy was conducted to elucidate differences in mineral carbonate precipitates. Finally, the particles size of the sonicated samples was measured by wet laser diffraction analysis and compared with the particles size of the un-treated ones.

### 6.2 Materials and Methods

#### 6.2.1 Materials

The input materials comprising air pollution control (APCr) (Slough Heat and Power), cement bypass dust (CBD) (CEMEX Rugby Plant), steel-making slag (SS) (Harsco Sweden) and ordinary Portland cement type 1 (CEM 1), 42.5 N acquired by CEMEX. The selection of these four materials was based on the findings of the previous chapter suggesting high reactivity to CO<sub>2</sub>.

#### 6.2.2 Methods

#### 6.2.2.1 Materials Preparation

The materials received as finely grained powders (particles size less than 120  $\mu$ m) and before treatment 500 grams of each were dried in an oven at 378 K for 24 hours. After oven drying, the samples were cooled in a desiccator for approximately 30 min and then mixed with water at the desired w/s ratios.

### 6.2.2.2 Materials Characterisation

The wastes were subject to a standard materials characterisation. This comprised an evaluation of the particles size distribution by using wet laser diffraction analysis (Malvern Mastersizer MS2000), and phase characterisation by X-ray diffraction (Bruker D8 Advance).

#### 6.2.2.3 Experimental Set-Up

The experimental apparatus was described previously in chapter 4 and 5. The ultrasonic field at 35 kHz frequency was generated by an ultrasonic bath (Camlab, 150-300 W). A second bath (Globaltronics GmbH&Co. KG, 50W) operating at half

or full wave setting was also used for the sonication of the reference material at a higher frequency (46 kHz), in order to assess whether sonication increased the achieved CO<sub>2</sub> uptake. The experiments were conducted at T=293 K, p=0.1 MPa,  $C_{CO2}$ =100% and flow-rate= 0.2 L/min.

### 6.2.2.4 Products Characterisation

After treatment, the CO<sub>2</sub> uptake of the reaction products (expressed as % CO<sub>2</sub> weight/total weight of the carbonated products) was measured by an IL 550 TOC-TN/DSC1300 analyser, the particles size were re-measured, and any change in mineralogy was identified by using XRD. Samples were also prepared for an examination of morphology by using a JEOL JSM-5310LV, where particle surfaces were analysed by secondary electron detection.

#### 6.2.2.5 Variability and experimental error

Each experiment was repeated three times and the variability of results was estimated by using standard deviation and standard error of the mean. The latter represented the error bars in the following graphs. Cement was used as the reference material.

#### 6.3 Results

#### 6.3.1 Apparatus Testing

Prior to sonication of the waste residues, the ultrasonic bath was tested for equal distribution of  $CO_2$  into the system and the attenuation of sound of waves passing through plastic and Pyrex containers. The equal distribution of  $CO_2$  was examined by carbonating the reference material in each individual tube three times at w/s ratio=0.4 for 1 hour and measuring the  $CO_2$  uptake of the samples. The results showed that the recorded  $CO_2$  uptakes were not dependent on the tube position in the apparatus and thus, it was assumed that the gas was equally distributed throughout the apparatus.

The attenuation of sound waves was tested by sonicating cement at three different w/s ratios (0.4, 1 and 100) for 1 hour inside plastic and Pyrex containers. The results showed that the average  $CO_2$  uptake of CEM 1 inside the plastic tubes was higher compared to Pyrex (see Figures 6.2-6.4).



Figure 6.1: Testing of equal CO<sub>2</sub> distribution into the system



Figure 6.2: The attenuation of sound waves at w/s=0.4



Figure 6.3: The attenuation of sound waves at w/s=1



Figure 6.4: The of attenuation of sound waves at w/s=100

#### 6.3.2 Sonication at 35 kHz

Initially, the input materials were sonicated for 1 hour at 35 kHz and 10 different water-to-solid ratios (0.2, 0.4, 0.6, 0.8, 1, 5, 10, 25, 50 and 100) and the CO<sub>2</sub> uptake of the products was measured. The results suggested that sonication increased the average CO<sub>2</sub> uptake of the products by 4%-28% for dry and by 62%-400% for wet samples. The recorded yields for non-sonicated and sonicated samples are shown in

Figures 6.5-6.8. The black columns represent the samples without ultrasound, while the grey columns the samples with ultrasound.



Figure 6.5: CO<sub>2</sub> uptake for APCr after 1 hour of sonication at various w/s ratios



Figure 6.6: CO<sub>2</sub> uptake for CBD after 1 hour of sonication at various w/s ratios



Figure 6.7: CO<sub>2</sub> uptake for CEM 1 after 1 hour of sonication at various w/s ratios



Figure 6.8: CO<sub>2</sub> uptake for steel slag after 1 hour of sonication at various w/s ratios

#### 6.3.3 Effect of Sonication Time at 35 kHz

The results of the previous section showed that ultrasound increased the  $CO_2$  uptakes at low and high water concentration. For air pollution control the optimum w/s ratios found to be 0.4 and 100, for cement bypass dust 0.6 and 100, for cement 0.4 and 100, and finally for steel-making slag 0.2 and 50.

Using the optimum w/s ratios mentioned above, the waste residues were sonicated up to 8 hours and the achieved  $CO_2$  at nine different time intervals are presented in Figures 6.9-6.16. The chosen time intervals were: 30 min, 1 hour, 2 hours, 3 hours, 4 hours, 5 hours, 6 hours, 7 hours and 8 hours.

The results suggested that a substantial percentage of  $CO_2$  uptake after 1 hour of sonication was achieved compared to 8 hours of treatment. This percentage was higher for the dry samples and ranged from 67%-99%, while for the wet samples the percentage ranged from 27%-87%.



Figure 6.9: CO<sub>2</sub> uptake for APCr after 8 hours of sonication at w/s=0.4



Figure 6.10: CO<sub>2</sub> uptake for CBD after 8 hours of sonication at w/s=0.6



Figure 6.11: CO<sub>2</sub> uptake for CEM 1 after 8 hours of sonication at w/s=0.4



Figure 6.12: CO<sub>2</sub> uptake for steel slag after 8 hours of sonication at w/s=0.2



Figure 6.13: CO<sub>2</sub> uptake for APCr after 8 hours of sonication at w/s=100



Figure 6.14: CO<sub>2</sub> uptake for CBD after 8 hours of sonication at w/s=100



Figure 6.15: CO<sub>2</sub> uptake for CEM 1 after 8 hours of sonication at w/s=100



Figure 6.16: CO<sub>2</sub> uptake for steel slag after 8 hours of sonication at w/s=50

#### 6.3.4 Sonication at 46 kHz

The reference material (CEM 1) was carbonated in an ultrasonic field at higher frequency (46 kHz) at half and full wave operation for 1 hour and at three different w/s ratios (0.4, 10 and 100). The recorded  $CO_2$  uptakes were compared with the uptakes during sonication at 35 kHz.

The results showed that the exposure of the reference material to a higher frequency did not increase the achieved  $CO_2$  uptake and thus, no further experiments were conducted at this frequency.

The recorded  $CO_2$  uptakes at different frequencies are presented in Figure 6.17. Black columns represent the samples sonicated at 35 kHz, the pale grey columns the samples at 46 kHz half wave and the grey the samples at 46 kHz full wave.



Figure 6.17: Recorded yield for CEM 1 at 35 kHz and 46 kHz-half/ full wave

#### 6.3.5 Analysis by X-Ray Diffraction

Qualitative/semi-quantitative XRD analysis was carried out on the un-treated and treated materials. The results indicated (see Table 6.1) that both non-ultrasonic and ultrasonic treatment fully carbonated several minerals and increased the calcite concentration in the products. However, the analysis did not demonstrate any major differences between the mineralogy of non-sonicated and sonicated samples.

#### 6.3.6 Particles Size Distribution

The particles size (d  $(0.5) \mu m$ ) of the input materials before and after sonication was measured by wet laser diffraction analysis. The results suggested that ultrasound reduced the particles size of APCr, CBD and CEM 1, while the particles size of steel-making slags showed little change. In Figure 6.18 the particles size of the un-treated samples are represented by the black columns and the sonicated ones by the grey.

			CE	М			Al	PCr			C	BD			S	.s	
Phases	Formula	1	2	3	4	1	2	3	4	1	2	3	4	1	2	3	4
Akermanite	Ca <sub>2</sub> Mg(Si <sub>2</sub> O <sub>7</sub> )													٠	٠	٠	٠
Aluminium																	
Phosphate	Al(PO4)					0	0	0	0								
Anhydrite	CaSO4					•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•				
Bassanite	Ca(SO <sub>4</sub> )(H <sub>2</sub> O)0.5					•	•	٠	٠								
Brownmilleri te	Ca <sub>2</sub> (Al,Fe) <sub>2</sub> O <sub>5</sub>	•	•	•	•												
Brucite	Mg(OH) <sub>2</sub>													٠	٠	•	٠
Calcite	CaCO <sub>3</sub>	++	++ +	++	++ +	++	++	++	++ ++	+	++ +	+	++ +	++	++	++	+++
Calcium Chloride																	
Hydroxide	CaClOH					•	•	•	0								
Calcium Iron																	
Titanium																	
Oxide	CaFe <sub>3</sub> (TiO <sub>3)4</sub>					0	0	0	0								
Chromite	(Fe, Mg)Cr <sub>2</sub> O <sub>4</sub>													•	•	٠	•
Cristobalite	SiO <sub>2</sub>					•	0	0	0								
Gehlenite	n/a									-	-	-	-				
Gypsym	CaSO4·2H2O	•	•	•	•												
Halite	NaCl					•	•	•	•								
Hatruite	Ca <sub>3</sub> (SiO <sub>4</sub> )O	-		-													
Larnite	Ca <sub>2</sub> SiO <sub>4</sub>	•	•	•	•					٠	•	•	•				
Lime	CaO					0	0	0	0		0		0				
Magnesium																	
Oxide																	
Hydroxide	Mg <sub>5</sub> O(OH) <sub>8</sub>					0	0	0	0								
Manganolang beinite	K <sub>2</sub> Mn <sub>2</sub> +2(SO <sub>4</sub> ) <sub>3</sub>													•	•	•	•
Merwinite	Ca <sub>3</sub> Mg(SiO <sub>4</sub> ) <sub>2</sub>													•	•	•	٠
Periclase	MgO													•	•	•	•
Portlandite	Ca(OH) <sub>2</sub>								0	-		-					
Pyrophanite	Mn(TiO <sub>3</sub> )													•	•	•	•
Quartz	SiO <sub>2</sub>									•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•
Rutile	TiO <sub>2</sub>		1			•	•	•	•								<u> </u>
Sylvite	KCl	<u> </u>	+			•	•	0	0	•		•					<u> </u>
Titanite	CaTiSiO <sub>5</sub>	<u> </u>	+						<u> </u>		<u> </u>			•	0	•	•
Vaterite	Ca(CO <sub>3</sub> )		-			•	•	•	•								<u> </u>

# Table 6.1: Key mineral phases identified by XRD

1: Non-sonicated samples at low ratio 2: Sonicated samples at low ratio 3: Non-sonicated samples at high ratio 4: Sonicated samples at high ratio

• Present in untreated/treated material • Absent in treated material

Hosen in treated internal
Horease after carbonation
Decrease after carbonation

New mineral phase



Figure 6.18: Particles size d(0.5) for un-treated and sonicated samples

### 6.3.7 Scanning Electron Microscopy

SEM secondary electron imaging of particle surfaces was used to identify morphological changes between non-sonicated and sonicated samples (Figure 6.19). The images showed that ultrasound did not alter the morphology of the particles significantly. The only noted change was that the non-sonicated materials characterised by a more angular appearance, while the sonicated ones exhibited a more rounded morphology with pitted surfaces.



Figure 6.19: SEM imaging for A: non-sonicated and B: sonicated materials

### 6.4 Discussion

#### 6.4.1 Apparatus Testing

The equal distribution of  $CO_2$  into the apparatus was tested by measuring the recorded  $CO_2$  uptake of each plastic container (see Figure 6.1). The average  $CO_2$  uptake (% by weight) was found at 8.25%, the standard deviation at 0.98 and the standard error at 0.18. Any difference in the  $CO_2$  uptake was independent of the tube position in the bath and thus, it was assumed that the carbon dioxide was equally distributed through the apparatus.

Attenuation of sound waves occurs when sound travels through a solid medium, and its intensity reduces with distance. Previous studies suggested that the extent of ultrasonic attenuation is mainly dependent upon the physical properties of the solid medium and the frequency in which the waves are generated (Mason and McSkimin, 1947, Vitelli, 2010, Louisnard, 2010).

In this study, the available types of testing tubes comprising plastic and Pyrex, and in order to select the most appropriate material for ultrasound the reference material was carbonated at three w/s ratios and the yield was recorded. The achieved carbon uptakes shown in Figures 6.2-6.4 indicated that the average  $CO_2$  uptake during sonication by using plastic containers was higher than Pyrex at all the selected w/s ratios.

#### 6.4.2 Effect of Sonication on CO<sub>2</sub> Uptake

The results presented in Figures 6.5-6.8 suggested that the "strength" of particles cavitation was proportional to the concentration of water in the samples. The selected w/s ratios represented three types of samples: The dry samples where the w/s ratio was between 0.2 and 0.6, the intermediate samples where the ratio was between 0.8 and 10 and finally, the wet samples where the ratio was between 25 and 100.

The effect of ultrasound on the  $CO_2$  uptake of samples under the 'dry' conditions was weak, as generally too little water was available to facilitate cavitation. Modest average increases in yield were recorded for CEM 1 (an increase of 28.6%), for APCr (19.4%) and steel slag (4%), whereas no change was observed for CBD.

At intermediate w/s ratios the  $CO_2$  uptake of the input materials was low regardless of the type of treatment. However, at w/s ratio=0.8 effective sonication of APCr and CBD occurred. The results shown in Figures 6.2 and 6.3 indicated that ultrasound increased the average  $CO_2$  uptake of APCr by 90% and of CBD by 50%.

At the high w/s ratios (25-100) examined, the conditions for sonication were much improved as more  $CO_2$  was available to the aqueous medium (Rao et al., 2007). The average  $CO_2$  uptake for steel slag increased by over 400% followed by CEM 1 and CBD (at 159% and 153%, respectively). The increase in yield with APCr was lower

at 63%. Table 6.2 gives the results for sonicated and non-sonicated samples. The % increase (based on the average  $CO_2$  uptake) and its respective w/s ratio is also presented.

Material	Ratio	Uptake (%)	Uptake (%) with ultrasound	% increase <sup>1</sup>
APCr	0.4	13.3±1.7	15.9±0.5	19.4
APCr	100	8.9±0.5	14.5±2.5	63.1
CBD	0.6	12.9±0.5	12.9±0.1	0
CBD	100	5.9±0.8	14.9±2.0	153
CEM 1	0.4	7.9±2.5	10.1±2.0	28.6
CEM 1	100	1.8±0.5	4.7±0.9	159
Steel slag	0.2	6.6±0.2	6.91±0.5	3.9
Steel slag	50	0.7±0.1	3.7±1.1	400

Table 6.2: CO<sub>2</sub> uptake increase (%) after ultrasonic carbonation

1: Values were based on average uptakes

The exposure of the reference material to a higher ultrasonic frequency showed that the  $CO_2$  uptake did not increase (Figure 6.17). Is should be noted though, that the effect of amplitude was not considered in this study as both ultrasonic baths had a nominal amplitude value of 1 W/cm<sup>2</sup>. The amplitude of the ultrasound waves is known to influence the precipitation rate of calcium carbonate and crystals size was of carbonates (Kojima et al., 2010).

#### 6.4.3 Effect of Sonication Time on CO<sub>2</sub> Uptake

Accelerated carbonation is known to proceed rapidly under ideal conditions and the reaction can be completed within hours or even minutes (Maries, 2008). The shapes of the curves in Figures 6.9-6.12 gave the same conclusion, indicating that sonication proceeded rapidly at dry conditions. After 1 hour, the average recorded CO<sub>2</sub> uptakes represented 67%-99% of the respective values after 8 hours of treatment.

On the other hand, the analysis of Figures 6.13-6.16 showed that excess in water during sonication inhibited the rapid diffusion of  $CO_2$  into the system resulting in a slower reaction. The only exception was the cement bypass dusts, where after 1 hour

the average achieved uptake was 87.5% of the uptake obtained after 8 hours of sonication. For APCr, CEM 1 and steel slag the same percentage ranged from 27%-54.8%.

Material	Ratio	Theoretical Uptake	Actual Uptake after	Actual Uptake after
			1hour	8hours
APCr	0.4	46.7	15.9±0.5	17.3±1.1
APCr	100	46.7	14.5±2.5	26.1±3.0
CBD	0.6	52.8	12.9±0.1	16.6±0.3
CBD	100	52.8	14.9±2.0	15.7±1.4
CEM 1	0.4	53.4	10.1±2.0	15.1±1.7
CEM 1	100	53.4	4.7±0.9	17.8±3.0
Steel slag	0.2	39.7	6.91±0.5	6.93±0.3
Steel slag	50	39.7	3.7±1.1	6.7±1.6

Table 6.3: Theoretical and actual carbonation yields

1: Values were based on average uptakes

The yields after 8 hours of treatment with ultrasound were also compared with the theoretical values derived from the Steinour formula. In line with the findings of the previous chapter, the  $CO_2$  uptake predicted by the theoretical model for each residue was significantly higher than the experimental  $CO_2$  uptake obtained after carbonation with ultrasound. The results after 1 hour and 8 hour of sonication as well as the predictions derived from the Steinour formula were summarised in Table 6.3.

#### 6.4.4 Mineral Phases Analysis

Qualitative/semi-quantitative XRD analysis was conducted for the un-treated, nonsonicated and sonicated samples. The analysis showed that ultrasound enhanced the precipitation of calcite in the reaction products and fully carbonated several mineral phases found in the un-treated materials. The differences between the mineralogy of sonicated and non-sonicated samples were relatively small.

Calcite is one of the three polymorphs of calcium carbonate. Vaterite and aragonite are the other two. At ambient conditions the most thermodynamically stable polymorph is calcite which consists of rhombohedra crystals, while aragonite crystals are found in orthorhombic formation. Aragonite is favoured at elevated temperatures and pressures and is converted naturally to calcite after thousands of years. Vaterite, is the least thermodynamically stable polymorph of CaCO<sub>3</sub> with hexagonal crystals and is transformed rapidly in either calcite or aragonite (Price et al., 2010).

In this study aragonite was not identified in any of the treated wastes. Vaterite was found in the carbonated samples of APCr. Also, the XRD analysis of these ashes indicated that sonication at high w/s ratio fully carbonated aluminium phosphate, calcium iron titanium oxide, cristobalite, magnesium oxide hydroxide, sylvite and calcium chloride hydroxide. In addition, the precipitation of calcite after carbonation with ultrasound in the high w/s ratio samples increased, due to the complete conversion of lime and portlandite into CaCO<sub>3</sub>. In the "dry" samples the precipitation of calcite was lower as the analysis revealed the presence of un-reacted portlandite. Portlandite was also found in the non-sonicated samples, which were also showed peaks of calcium chloride hydroxide, christobalite and sylvite (at high w/s ratio only). Finally, no change was noted for the minerals anhydrite, bassanite, halite and rutile.

Sonication of CBD found to increase the precipitation of calcite in the carbonated products, as lime and portlandite reacted to CaCO<sub>3</sub>. On the other hand, the precipitation of calcite in the non-sonicated samples was lower since the reactivity of lime and portlandite was lesser. The mineral sylvite was fully carbonated after sonication, while the concentration of gelhenite seemed to decrease after both types of treatments. The concentration of the minerals anhydrite, larnite and quartz remained unchanged.

The predominant mineral phases of cement were brownmillerite, calcite, hatruite gypsym and larnite. The diffractograms of both sonicated and non-sonicated samples revealed the presence of all these minerals after treatment. However, the concentration of calcite in the sonicated samples slightly increased due to the higher conversion of hatruite into CaCO<sub>3</sub>.

Steel slag is the main by-product of the steel production process, comprising calcium, iron, aluminium, magnesium, manganese and other heavy metals and due to

its high alkalinity intensive pre-treatment prior to disposal or valorisation is required (Santos et al., 2013b). The complex mineralogy of this waste was validated by the number of mineral phases found by X-ray diffraction. The analysis suggested that the concentration of akermanite, brucite, chromite, manganolangbeinite, merwinite, periclase, pyrophanite, quartz and titanite (for high w/s ratio samples) remained unchanged after both types of treatment. The only recorded mineralogical alteration was the moderate conversion of portlandite into calcite and the complete carbonation of titanite after sonication at low w/s ratio.

#### 6.4.5 Particles Size Distribution

The particles size of the waste residues before and after sonication was measured by wet laser diffraction analysis (Figure 6.18). It was found that the d(0.5) of the sonicated particles decreased in accordance with findings of previous studies (Kojima et al., 2010, Lu et al., 2002, Rao et al., 2007, Santos et al., 2010). The results suggested that the average d(0.5) of cement particles reduced by 35.5%, closely followed by the particles of cement dust (33.5%) and APCr (24%). Steel-making slag was the only waste showing little change in particles size as after ultrasound the d(0.5) reduced only by 3%.

Scanning electron microscopy (see Figure 6.19) did not reveal any big differences between sonicated and non-sonicated samples. The only noted morphological change was that the non-sonicated materials were characterised by a more rounded appearance and lower relief, whereas the sonicated particles exhibited a more angular appearance with high relief. The latter appeared to exhibit a pitted and eroded surface, which was evident in cement and steel slag. The pitting may be ascribed to fracturing of particles from the surface as a result of resonance induced by ultrasound. 'Eroded' morphologies of particles exposed to ultrasound has previously been observed in a study conducted upon steel slags (Santos et al., 2010).

### 6.5 Conclusions

In this study, the effect of sonication on CO<sub>2</sub> uptake and mineralogy of APCr, CBD, CEM 1 and steel-making slags at ambient temperature and pressure was examined.

Ultrasound did not increase the CO<sub>2</sub> uptake of the tested materials at low w/s ratios (0.2-0.6). In these 'dry' conditions the cavitation of the solid particles was unlikely to occur, as the film of water surrounding particle surfaces was generally too 'thin'. Despite this, the average CO<sub>2</sub> uptake appeared to increase slightly between 4% and 28%. At high w/s ratios (50-100) a significant increased yield was recorded (62%-400%), as the conditions were much more suited for sonication. As might be expected, ultrasound decreased the particle size of the newly formed carbonated products.

The  $CO_2$  uptakes achieved after 8 hours of sonication were compared with the theoretical values derived from the Steinour formula. In every occasion, the actual  $CO_2$  uptakes were considerably lower than the predicted ones. However, the recorded  $CO_2$  uptakes after 1 hour of sonication indicated that a large percentage of  $CO_2$  was bound into the products compared to 8 hours of treatment. For low w/s ratios this percentage ranged from 67%-99%, showing that carbonation occurred rapidly, while for "wet" samples (except for cement bypass dusts) the same percentage was 27%-54.8% as the high water content resulted in a slower reaction.

Analysis by X-ray diffraction showed that ultrasonic-induced carbonation enhanced the formation of calcite and promoted the carbonation of several mineral phases found in the un-treated samples. The only input material that showed little change in its mineral composition before and after treatment was steel slag, due to its complex mineralogy and diverse chemical composition.

Finally, SEM imaging showed that the non-sonicated samples was characterised by a more rounded appearance and lower relief, while sonicated materials exhibited a more angular appearance with high relief and eroded morphology.

In the following chapter the same materials were carbonated with the aid of organic or in-organic chemical substances to examine whether the carbonation yield could be increased.

## 7 CHEMICAL ACCELERATORS

### 7.1 Introduction

The final experimental chapter investigates the effect of four candidate catalysts on the  $CO_2$  uptake of waste residues during waste carbonation. There are limited previous studies regarding the chemical catalysis of accelerated carbonation, since the application of many proposed organic and in-organic chemical substances was rejected, due to their high cost and toxicity or the formation of un-desired byproducts.

In this study, aqueous solutions of acetic acid, ethanol, sodium hypochlorite and sodium nitrite, four relatively non-expensive and non-toxic compounds, were mixed with APCr, CBD, CEM 1 and steel-making slags at the optimum low and high w/s ratios established in the previous chapter and the CO<sub>2</sub> uptake of the carbonated products was measured by total organic carbon analysis.

The candidate catalysts were mixed with water at three different molarities (0.1M, 0.5M and 2.5M) representing solutions of different strength. Accelerated carbonation was conducted under ambient temperature and pressure and 1 hour reaction time. The same experiments were repeated under the presence of an ultrasonic field at 35 kHz frequency, in order to assess the combined effect of chemical acceleration and ultrasound upon the achieved yield.

The samples that showed the highest  $CO_2$  uptake were analysed by X-Ray diffraction in order to identify any toxic products after carbonation. It is known that analysis by XRD can identify substances with concentration higher than 0.5%. Finally, health, safety and environmental issues associated with the process/handling of acetic acid, ethanol, sodium hypochlorite and sodium nitrite found in literature were discussed.

## 7.2 Materials and Methods

### 7.2.1 Materials

The input materials comprising the reactive waste residues identified in the previous chapters (APCr, CBD and steel-slag), while CEM 1 was used as the reference material.

For the purpose of this study acetic acid glacial (99.7%) ethanol (Absolute ethanol 99%), sodium hypochlorite (General Purpose Grade) and sodium nitrite (97%) were purchased from Fischer Scientific. Table 7.1 summarises the applied chemicals, their chemical formula and general applications found in literature.

Chemical	Formula	General Applications
Acetic acid	СН₃СООН	Acetic acid, also known as ethanoic acid, is a colourless organic compound with a distinctive sour smell and taste. It is considered an important chemical reagent and industrial chemical as it used for the production of cellulose acetate for photographic films (Han et al., 2008), the production of polyvinyl acetate used for wood glue and synthetic fibres and fabrics (Luyben and Tyréus, 1998), as well as a food regulator and condiment (Pérez-Martínez et al., 2010).
Ethanol	C <sub>2</sub> H <sub>5</sub> OH	Ethanol is a volatile, flammable and colourless compound and it is the principal ingredient found in alcoholic drinks. The biggest health issue regarding ethanol concerns the consumption of large amount of alcohol from humans that leads to intoxication and other serious diseases (Rubin et al., 1970). Recently, one of the most important commercial uses of ethanol includes the production

Table 7.1: Chemical formula and general applications of the applied chemicals

of bioethanol which is used as a substitute of petrol for road transport vehicles (Alvira et al., 2010).

		for road transport vehicles (Alvira et al., 2010).
		The catalytic reaction of chlorine with sodium
		hydroxide leads to the formation of sodium
		hypochlorite (Chatenet et al., 2002). A common
		commercial form of sodium hypochlorite is in
		aquatic solution (known as bleach), which is the
Sodium hypochlorite	NaClO	most effective disinfectant and bleaching agent.
		Other uses of this compound involves the
		chlorination of swimming pools (Li and Blatchley,
		2007) and the oxidation of $CN^-$ of cyanide
		wastewater and natural water (Nonomura, 1987).
		Sodium nitrite is an in-organic solid compound
		with a characteristic white to pale yellow colour
		and the most important use of this substance is as
		an inhibitor of microbial growth in fresh meat
Sodium nitrite	NaNO <sub>2</sub>	(Milkowski et al., 2010). Also, sodium nitrite is
		widely used as a reagent for the conversion of
		amines into diazo which is the key precursor to
		many dyes (Goddard-Borger and Stick, 2007).

### 7.2.2 Methods

### 7.2.2.1 Chemicals Preparation

Each chemical was initially combined with water at the selected molarities (0.1M, 0.5M and 2.5M) and then, the solutions were mixed with the waste residues at the desired w/s ratios.

The solutions were prepared in a fume cabinet. Conical flasks of 250 ml volume were filled up to 1/3 with distilled water and with the aid of an electronic pipet (in the case of sodium nitrite a spatula was used) the required amount of each chemical

was added through a funnel into the flask. Then the flask was filled up with distilled water and the mixes were agitated with manual stirring to become homogeneous.

The required volumes (in ml) in 1 L of water of acetic acid, ethanol and sodium hypochlorite were estimated by using the equation below:

$$V_x = \frac{M^* M W}{\rho} \tag{7.1}$$

Where:

 $V_x$ = is the volume of chemical in ml M: is the selected molarity in mol/L MW: is the molecular weight in g/mol  $\rho$ : is the density in g/ml

The only solid chemical substance was sodium nitrite and the mass required for each solution was estimated according to equation 7.2.

$$\mathbf{M}_{x} = M * M W \tag{7.2}$$

Where:

 $M_x$  = is the mass of sodium nitrite in gr

M: is the selected molarity in mol/L

MW: is the molecular weight of sodium nitrite in g/mol

The molecular weight (MW), density and volume/mass added in 1 L and 250 ml of water respectively, for each chemical are summarised in Table 7.2.

Chemical	М	MW	ρ	$V_x$ or $M_x$ added in 1 L	V <sub>x</sub> or M <sub>x</sub> added in 250
	(mol/L)	(g/mol)	(g/ml)	of water (ml or gr)	ml of water (ml or gr)
Acetic acid	0.1	60.05	1.05	5.72	1.43
Acetic acid	0.5	60.05	1.05	28.60	7.15
Acetic acid	2.5	60.05	1.05	142.9	35.7
Ethanol	0.1	46.05	0.79	5.83	1.46
Ethanol	0.5	46.05	0.79	29.20	7.30
Ethanol	2.5	46.05	0.79	145.9	36.5
Sodium	0.1	74.44	1.11	6.70	1.67
Hypochlorite					
Sodium	0.5	74.44	1.11	33.55	8.40
Hypochlorite					
Sodium	2.5	74.44	1.11	167.6	41.9
Hypochlorite					
Sodium Nitrite	0.1	68.99		6.90	1.70
Sodium Nitrite	0.5	68.99		34.50	8.62
Sodium Nitrite	2.5	68.99		172.5	43.1

### Table 7.2: Volume and mass of each chemical at 0.1M, 0.5M and 2.5M

### 7.2.2.2 Experimental Set-Up

The experimental apparatus was described in the previous chapters. The applied ultrasonic field (35 kHz) was generated by an ultrasonic bath (Camlab, 150-300 W). The reaction conditions were: T=293 K, p=0.1 MPa,  $C_{CO2}$ =100% and flow-rate=0.2 L/min.

### 7.2.2.3 Products Characterisation

After treatment, the  $CO_2$  uptake of the reaction products (expressed as %  $CO_2$  weight/total weight of the carbonated products) was measured by an IL 550 TOC-TN/DSC1300 analyser. The samples that showed the highest  $CO_2$  uptake were analysed by X-Ray diffraction in order to examine whether any toxic products were formed after chemical acceleration.

#### 7.2.2.4 Variability and experimental error

Each experiment was repeated three times and the variability of results was estimated by using standard deviation and standard error of the mean. The latter represented the error bars in the following graphs. Cement was used as the reference material.

### 7.3 Results

#### 7.3.1 Carbonation under Dry Conditions

Initially, the input materials were carbonated at the optimum low w/s ratios found previously: APCr and CEM 1 at w/s=0.4, CBD at w/s=0.6 and steel-slag at w/s=0.2. The experiments were repeated under the presence of an ultrasonic field at 35 kHz to assess the combined effect of chemical acceleration and ultrasound on the  $CO_2$  uptake of the reaction products. The  $CO_2$  uptakes obtained for each residue are shown in graphs 7.1-7.4. The black columns represent the yields during chemical acceleration with ultrasound.

The results suggested that the samples containing ethanol without sonication increased the  $CO_2$  uptake of the APCr by 75% to 120%. Also, acetic acid without sonication increased the carbon uptake of cement dusts by 80%, while the same chemical at 0.5M and 2.5M increased the  $CO_2$  uptake of steel slags by 50%-77%. In addition, the recorded yields indicated that the combined effect of chemical acceleration and sonication did not result in more effective carbonation. The only exception found in the samples of CEM 1 where acetic acid at 2.5M and sonication increased the achieved  $CO_2$  uptake by 80%. Finally, it was found that during sonication of the ethanoic samples the contained ethanol was evaporated and the carbonation proceeded without chemical acceleration.



Figure 7.1: CO<sub>2</sub> uptake for APCr at w/s=0.4



Figure 7.2: CO<sub>2</sub> uptake for CBD at w/s=0.6



Figure 7.3: CO<sub>2</sub> uptake for CEM 1 at w/s=0.4



Figure 7.4: CO<sub>2</sub> uptake for steel-making slag at w/s=0.2

#### 7.3.2 Phase Analysis of Dry Samples

The samples that showed the highest  $CO_2$  uptake were analysed by XRD. The results indicated that no toxic products were identified by this method. The mineral phases of each sample after and before treatment are presented in Table 7.3.

### 7.3.3 Carbonation under Wet Conditions

The same waste residues were carbonated at the optimum high w/s ratios found in the previous chapter: APCr, CBD and CEM 1 at w/s=100 and steel-slag at w/s=50. The experiments were repeated under the presence of an ultrasonic field at 35 kHz to examine the combined effect of chemical acceleration and ultrasound on the  $CO_2$  uptake of the reaction products.

The  $CO_2$  uptakes obtained are shown in the graphs 7.5-7.8. The black columns represent the yields during chemical acceleration only, while the grey the yields during chemical acceleration with ultrasound.

The recorded yields suggested that the samples containing acetic acid gave the highest  $CO_2$  uptake, however this was due to acid dissolution and not due to a true catalytic effect of this chemical as it is explained in the discussion section.

Phases	Formula	CEM 1 ACETIC 2.5M	APCr ETHANOL 2.5M	CBD ACETIC 2.5M	S.S ACETIC 2.5M
Akermanite	Ca <sub>2</sub> Mg(Si <sub>2</sub> O <sub>7</sub> )				٠
Aluminium	Al(PO4)		0		
Phosphate					
Anhydrite	CaSO4		•	•	
Bassanite	Ca(SO <sub>4</sub> )(H <sub>2</sub> O)0.5		٠		
Brownmillerite	$Ca_2(Al,Fe)_2O_5$	٠			
Brucite	Mg(OH) <sub>2</sub>				٠
Calcite	CaCO <sub>3</sub>	++	+++	++	+
Calcium Chloride	CaClOH				
Hydroxide					
Calcium Iron	CaFe <sub>3</sub> (TiO <sub>3)4</sub>		0		
Titanium Oxide					
Chromite	(Fe, Mg)Cr <sub>2</sub> O <sub>4</sub>				•
Cristobalite	SiO <sub>2</sub>		٠		
Gehlenite	Ca <sub>2</sub> Al[AlSiO <sub>7</sub> ]			•	
Gypsym	CaSO4·2H2O	•			
Halite	NaCl		٠		
Hatruite	Ca <sub>3</sub> (SiO <sub>4</sub> )O				
Larnite	Ca <sub>2</sub> SiO <sub>4</sub>	٠		•	
Lime	CaO		0	-	
Magnesium Oxide	Mg <sub>5</sub> O(OH) <sub>8</sub>		0		
Hydroxide					
Manganolangbeinite	$K_2Mn_2+2(SO_4)_3$				•
Merwinite	Ca <sub>3</sub> Mg(SiO <sub>4</sub> ) <sub>2</sub>				٠
Periclase	MgO				•
Portlandite	Ca(OH) <sub>2</sub>			-	-
Pyrophanite	Mn(TiO <sub>3</sub> )				•
Quartz	SiO <sub>2</sub>			•	•
Rutile	TiO <sub>2</sub>		•		
Sylvite	KCl		•	•	
Titanite	CaTiSiO <sub>5</sub>				•
Vaterite	Ca(CO <sub>3</sub> )		•		

# Table 7.3: Key mineral phases identified by XRD under dry conditions

• Present in untreated/treated material • Absent in treated material

+ Increase after carbonation - Decrease after carbonation

New mineral phase


Figure 7.5: CO<sub>2</sub> uptake for APCr at w/s=100



Figure 7.6: CO<sub>2</sub> uptake for CBD at w/s=100



Figure 7.7: CO<sub>2</sub> uptake for CEM 1 at w/s=100



Figure 7.8: CO<sub>2</sub> uptake for steel-making slag at w/s=50

# 7.3.4 Phase Analysis of Wet Samples

The yields presented in Figures 7.5-7.8 suggest that the samples that achieved the highest  $CO_2$  uptake were the ones containing acetic acid. Analysis by X-ray diffraction were conducted and showed that the principal mineral phase in the carbonated samples was calcium acetate hydrate.

Phases	Formula	CEM 1	APCr	CBD	<b>S.S</b>	
		ACETIC	ETHANC	OL ACETIC	ACETIC	
		2.5M	2.5M	2.5M	2.5M	
Akermanite	Ca <sub>2</sub> Mg(Si <sub>2</sub> O <sub>7</sub> )		-		•	
Aluminium	Al(PO4)		0			
Phosphate						
Anhydrite	CaSO4		•	•		
Bassanite	Ca(SO <sub>4</sub> )(H <sub>2</sub> O)0.5		•			
Brownmillerite	Ca <sub>2</sub> (Al,Fe) <sub>2</sub> O <sub>5</sub>					
Brucite	Mg(OH) <sub>2</sub>				0	
Calcite	CaCO <sub>3</sub>				•	
Calcium acetate	$Ca(C_2H_3O_2)_2$	•	•	•	•	
hydrate						
Calcium chloride	CaClOH		•			
hydroxide						
Calcium iron	CaFe <sub>3</sub> (TiO <sub>3)4</sub>		0			
titanium oxide						
Chromite	$(Fe, Mg)Cr_2O_4$				•	
Cristobalite	SiO <sub>2</sub>		0			
Gehlenite	Ca <sub>2</sub> Al[AlSiO <sub>7</sub> ]			0		
Gypsym	CaSO4·2H2O	0				
Halite	NaCl					
Hatruite	Ca <sub>3</sub> (SiO <sub>4</sub> )O					
Larnite	Ca <sub>2</sub> SiO <sub>4</sub>	0		0		
Lime	CaO		0	0		
Magnesium acetate	Mg(CH <sub>3</sub> COO) <sub>2</sub> •4H <sub>2</sub> O				•	
hydrate						
Magnesium oxide	Mg <sub>5</sub> O(OH) <sub>8</sub>		0			
hydroxide						
Manganolangbeinite	$K_2Mn_2+2(SO_4)_3$					
Merwinite	$Ca_3Mg(SiO_4)_2$					
Periclase	MgO				-	
Portlandite	Ca(OH) <sub>2</sub>		0	0	0	
Pyrophanite	Mn(TiO <sub>3</sub> )				0	
Quartz	SiO <sub>2</sub>			-	-	
Rutile	TiO <sub>2</sub>					
Sodium acetate	CH <sub>3</sub> COONa		•			
Sylvite	KCl		0	•		
Titanite	CaTiSiO <sub>5</sub>				•	
Vaterite	Ca(CO <sub>3</sub> )		•			
				<ul> <li>Present in untreated/treated material</li> <li>Absent in treated material</li> <li>Increase after carbonation</li> <li>Decrease after carbonation</li> <li>New mineral phase</li> </ul>		

# Table 7.3: Key mineral phases identified by XRD at wet conditions

# 7.4 Discussion

# 7.4.1 Health, Safety and Environmental Issues

Although acetic acid, ethanol, sodium hypoclorite and sodium nitrite are characterised as non-toxic candidate catalysts of accelerated carbonation (Maries and Hills, 2013) there are some health, safety and environmental issues associated with their handling/processing.

The biggest health issue of ethanol is not related with chemical processes but with human consumption of alcoholic beverages. Ethanol is the principal ingredient of alcoholic drinks formed by fermentation of sugars and over-consumption of alcohol may lead to intoxication and other serious diseases (Rubin et al., 1970). Also, ethanol is highly flammable with flash point at 282 K and causes skin irritation, and for this reason it should be kept away from heat, sparks and flames and not mixed with strong oxidizing agents and alkali metals. Ethanol is not known to polymerise and the only decomposition products are carbon monoxide and carbon dioxide (Europe, 2001).

Acetic or ethanoic acid is widely used in various industrial activities including the production of cellulose acetate and polyvinyl acetate. This compound enters the environment from discharge and emissions from the chemical industries and is not considered toxic or harmful to the general public or the environment (Bull, 2010). However, exposure to concentrated solutions of acetic acid may cause skin burns, irritation to the eyes and nose, cough and if inhaled burning mouth or stomach and diarrhoea (CHAPD, 2010).

Nitrates and nitrites are chemicals used in fertilisers and as food preservatives. Exposure to high levels of nitrates and nitrites is harmful to humans' health as there is increased danger of cancer, brain tumours and leukaemia. Both compounds are mobile in soil and could be migrated to ground water and consumed by plants and other organisms as they do not volatilise (TEACH, 2007).

The most common use of sodium hypochlorite is as a bleaching and disinfectant agent for household purposes and the chlorination of swimming pools (Li and Blatchley, 2007). There are some health and environmental issues regarding the application of this chemical. Sodium hypochlorite is a strong oxidiser and exposure to concentrated solutions of NaClO can burn the skin and cause eye damage. The reaction of sodium hypochlorite with other compounds can form various possible toxic by-products, for example chloroform.

Chloroform is a hazardous organic substance with chemical formula CHCl<sub>3</sub>, and it volatises easily form soil and water before degrading into the air to form phosgene, dichloromethane, formyl chloride, carbon monoxide, carbon dioxide and hydrogen chloride (Rossberg et al., 2000). Chloroform releases to the atmosphere after chlorination of drinking water, waste water and swimming pools, from pulp and paper mills, hazardous waste sites and sanitary landfills. Short term exposure to chloroform causes central nervous system depression, while chronic exposure may inflict more serious consequences including hepatitis and cancer (EPA, 2000).

## 7.4.2 Carbonation under Dry Conditions

The  $CO_2$  uptakes depicted in Figure 7.1 suggest that ethanol was the chemical with the most beneficial effect upon the yield of APCr. The increase was proportional to the concentration of ethanol in the solutions. The 0.1M solution increased the average  $CO_2$  uptake by 75%, the 0.5M solution by 85% and the 2.5M solution by 120%. No increase was observed for the samples combining ethanol and sonication and the same phenomenon was observed for the rest of the waste residues. It seems that the ultrasonic waves evaporated the contained ethanol and the reaction proceeded without chemical acceleration.

Ethanol is an organic compound which has been used in several chemical processes. The catalytic conversion of ethanol is widely used for the formation of value-added chemicals. For instance, ethanol is a precursor for the production of hydrogen in fuel cells at relatively low temperatures (<873 K) (Haryanto et al., 2005). Also, the dehydration of ethanol offers less expensive and more sustainable processes for

producing ethylene, propylene, 1-butanol and other C3-C4 olefins without using fossil fuels (Sun and Wang, 2014, Yang and Meng, 1993).

One of the most important commercial applications of ethanol is the production of bioethanol, which could replace traditional transportation fuels and contribute to the mitigation of  $CO_2$  emissions into the atmosphere (Hamelinck et al., 2005). Although bioethanol is considered as a sustainable energy source, the current production of this fuel relies on starch and sugars, and thus there is competence with food crops (Alvira et al., 2010).

Except for ethanol, acetic acid found to increase the average  $CO_2$  uptake of air pollution control by 40%-80%. The results suggested that sonication with acetic acid did not enhance the reaction further. Although the addition of sodium hypochlorite and sodium nitrate increased the recorded yields by 20%-50% and 15%-40% respectively, the variability of results was high.

The yield for cement bypass dusts showed that the most effective compound was acetic acid at the 2.5M solution. The latter increased the average  $CO_2$  uptake by 80%. The samples of CBD containing acetic acid did not achieve a higher  $CO_2$  uptake during sonication. In addition, chemical acceleration with ethanol (without sonication) increased the recorded  $CO_2$  uptake by up to 55%. Moreover, chemical acceleration with solutions of sodium hypochlorite (0.5M and 2.5M molarities) ameliorated the reaction and the results showed that the achieved yield increased slightly (26%). Acceleration with sodium nitrite did not show any rise of the achieved  $CO_2$  uptake.

Acetic acid has been successfully used in the past for mineral sequestration purposes, mainly the extraction of calcium ions form calcium-based natural silicates, for example wollastonite, and the subsequent reaction of these ions with  $CO_2$  for the formation of calcium carbonate at an estimated cost of USD200/tonne of  $CO_2$  (Kakizawa et al., 2001). In addition to calcium ions extraction, acetic acid was also used as a solvent for the extraction of magnesium and ferric ions from serpentines, although the concentration of the extracted ions was lower compared to extraction with other acids such as sulphuric, hydrochloric and nitric acid (Teir et al., 2007b).

Moreover, there are previous findings suggesting the beneficial effects of acetic acid during catalytic chemical processes. Acetic acid found to be an effective catalyst for the production of di(indolyl)methanes (DIMs) and for enhancing the decomposition rate of sodium bicarbonate in epoxy foam (Wan Hamad et al., 2013, El-Sayed et al., 2014).

The highest increase in  $CO_2$  uptake of CEM 1 was achieved by the samples containing acetic acid at 2.5M under the presence of ultrasound. It was the only occasion where the combined effect of ultrasound and chemical acceleration had a positive impact on the reaction efficiency at low w/s ratio. Also, ethanol found to improve the  $CO_2$  uptake by up to 88%. The analysis of Figure 7.3 showed that the carbonated samples containing solutions of sodium hypochlorite and sodium nitrite did not show an increased yield.

Finally, the recorded yield for steel-making slags, shown in Figure 7.4, indicated that acetic acid, similarly to cement and cement bypass dusts, improved the  $CO_2$  uptake in the solutions of 0.5M and 2.5M by 50%-77%. In addition, the samples of ethanol at 0.5M and 2.5M increased the recorded  $CO_2$  uptake by up to 40%. Again, the effect of sodium hypochlorite and sodium nitrite upon the reaction yield was negligible.

# 7.4.3 Carbonation under Wet Conditions

The CO<sub>2</sub> uptakes that showed in Figures 7.5-7.8 suggested that the highest values obtained for the samples containing acetic acid. However, the effect of acetic acid at high w/s ratio did not seem to be catalytic for two reasons. The first reason is that a chemical compound which could be characterised as a "true" catalyst should have a similar effect over a range of water concentrations. The second reason is that according to mineral phases analysis presented in Table 7.3, several mineral phases of the un-treated materials "disappeared" after chemical acceleration with acetic acid, and hydrated salts of CH<sub>3</sub>COOH including calcium, magnesium and sodium acetate appeared.

For the non-sonicated samples of APCr, ethanol was found to increase the average  $CO_2$  uptake by 58% to 110%, sodium hypochlorite by 46% to 83% and sodium nitrite by 23% to 69%. For the sonicated samples of the same residues the accelerator with the biggest effect was sodium nitrite as the final carbon uptake increased by up to 200%. Despite the evaporation of ethanol observed at dry conditions, at high w/s ratio the presence of ultrasonic waves did not evaporate the chemical as the volume of ethanol in the samples was 250 to 500 times more compared to low w/s ratio samples.

Ethanol increased the average  $CO_2$  uptake of the non-sonicated samples of cement dusts by 50% to 98%, sodium hypochlorite by 70% to 130% and sodium nitrite by 85% to 130%. For the sonicated samples of CBD the chemical with the most beneficial effect upon the  $CO_2$  uptake of the products was ethanol as the achieved values raised by 120% to 240%, followed by sodium nitrite (82% to160%) and sodium hypochlorite (90% to 140%).

The non-sonicated samples of the reference material showed improved yield only when ethanol was present and the recorded  $CO_2$  uptakes increased by 9% to 170%. The chemical acceleration of CEM 1 with sodium hypochlorite and sodium nitrite did not improve the reaction. On the other hand, chemical acceleration with ultrasound significantly increased the  $CO_2$  uptakes of the products. Sodium nitrite was the most effective accelerator as it increased the yield by up to 490%, sodium hypochlorite up to 400% and ethanol by up to 380%.

Finally, the results of steel-making slag after chemical acceleration without ultrasound suggested that sodium nitrite ameliorated the reaction by increasing the  $CO_2$  uptake between 145% and 230%. Also, sodium hypochlorite increased the  $CO_2$  uptake between 75% and 240% and ethanol by up to 125%. During chemical acceleration with ultrasound ethanol improved the yield of steel slag by 660%, followed by sodium nitrite (530%) and sodium hypochlorite (450%).

#### 7.4.4 Mineral Phases Analysis

The samples that showed the highest  $CO_2$  uptake at low w/s ratio were analysed by X-ray diffraction in order to identify any toxic compounds after chemical acceleration. The mineral phases before and after treatment was presented in Table 7.3 and indicated that no toxic compounds were found after treatment for the original diffractograms).

The chemical acceleration of air pollution control with ethanol at 2.5M resulted in higher concentration of calcite since all lime and a high portion of portlandite converted into CaCO<sub>3</sub>. Also, vaterite, a polymorph of calcium carbonate, was identified, in contrast to aragonite which was not found after treatment. The minerals phase analysis of APCr suggested that the minerals: aluminium phosphate, calcium iron titanium oxide and magnesium oxide hydroxide were fully carbonated.

The concentration of calcite during chemical acceleration of cement bypass dusts with acetic acid at 2.5M, similarly to APCr, increased due to the conversion of lime and portlandite into CaCO<sub>3</sub>.

In the case of the reference material (acetic acid 2.5M with ultrasound), the results showed that hatruite reacted to calcite, while the concentration of the minerals brownmillerite, gypsym, and larnite remained unchanged after treatment.

Finally, the XRD analysis of steel-making slags indicated that the only change in mineralogy of this residue was the slight increase of concentration of calcite in the products due to conversion of portlandite.

The results of chemical acceleration at wet conditions suggested that the samples containing acetic acid at 2.5M achieved the highest  $CO_2$  uptake. However, this was due to the acid dissolution rather than to an actual catalytic effect. This hypothesis was validated by the XRD analysis of the high w/s ratio samples presented in Table 7.4.

The analysis of air pollution control residues showed after treatment with acetic acid at 2.5M the majority of the mineral phases found in the un-reacted ashes was dissolved including christobalite, portlandite and sylvite, while the concentrations of calcite, rutile and halite considerably decreased. On the other hand, the predominant mineral phase after chemical acceleration was calcium acetate hydrate.

Calcium acetate is a calcium salt of acetic acid and its common form is the monohydrate with chemical formula Ca(CH<sub>3</sub>COO)<sub>2</sub>•H<sub>2</sub>O. The toxicity of this compound is low and its uses include treatment of patients suffering from renal failure (Mai et al., 1989), the catalytic synthesis of oxazolones (Paul et al., 2004), while the calcination of calcium acetate was used for the removal of SO<sub>2</sub> from exhaust flue gases of fossilfuel power plants (desulphurisation) (Adánez et al., 1999).

The formation of calcium acetate hydrate via the reaction of calcite or portlandite with acetic acid can be done according to equations 7.3 and 7.4.

$$CaCO_3 + 2CH_3COOH \rightarrow Ca(CH_3COO)_2 + H_2O + CO_2$$
(7.3)

$$Ca(OH)_2 + 2CH_3COOH \rightarrow Ca(CH_3COO)_2 + 2H_2O$$
(7.4)

The second new mineral phase found in the carbonated APCr was sodium acetate. Sodium acetate is used in the food industry as a seasoning and for improving colour stability of fresh meat (Knock et al., 2006). This compound is also used for the utilisation of waste-streams coming from the textile industry, which could cause aesthetic problems due to the remaining colour, while the natural degradation of dyes could be proved toxic to aquatic environments (Georgiou et al., 2004).

The chemical acceleration of cement dusts with acetic acid at 2.5M resulted in the complete dissolution of gehlenite, larnite, lime and portlandite, while the concentration of calcite decreased remarkably. Again, the predominant mineral phase found in the reaction products was calcium acetate hydrate.

Calcium acetate hydrate was also the primary mineral phase after chemical acceleration of cement with acetic acid at 2.5M. The XRD analysis of the reference

material suggested that lime and gypsum completely dissolved, as well as a high amount of calcite, hatruite and brownmillerite.

Finally, the mineral analysis of steel-making slags after chemical acceleration revealed the presence of magnesium acetate hydrate apart from calcium acetate.

Magnesium acetate is a magnesium salt of acetic acid, its hydrate form is the magnesium acetate tetrahydrate with chemical formula  $Mg(CH_3COO)_2 \cdot 4H_2O$  and similarly to calcium acetate can be used for desulphurisation of flue gases (Adánez et al., 1999).

The formation of magnesium acetate via acetic acid and magnesium hydroxide can be done according to equation 7.5.

$$2CH_3COOH + Mg(OH)_2 \rightarrow (CH_3COO)_2Mg + 2H_2O$$
(7.5)

# 7.5 Conclusions

In this chapter the effect of acetic acid, ethanol, sodium hypochlorite and sodium nitrite, four candidate catalysts of accelerated carbonation, on the  $CO_2$  uptake of APCr, CBD, CEM 1 and steel-making slag was investigated. The combined effect of these chemicals and ultrasound on the carbon uptake was also explored.

At dry conditions (w/s ratio between 0.2 and 0.6) ethanol and acetic acid was the two chemicals that ameliorated the reaction efficiency. On the other hand, sodium nitrite and sodium hypochlorite did not seem to have any positive effect during chemical acceleration.

The yields recorded at low w/s ratio suggested that ethanol (without ultrasound) increased the  $CO_2$  uptake of APCr by up to 120%. In addition, the non-sonicated solutions of acetic acid at 2.5M increased the recorded  $CO_2$  uptakes of cement dusts and steel-making slags by 80% and 77% respectively. In the case of CEM 1 the combined effect of acetic acid and ultrasound at the 2.5M sample improved the  $CO_2$ 

uptake by 88% and it was the only occasion where sonication ameliorated the chemical acceleration.

The XRD analysis of the low w/s ratio samples that achieved the highest CO<sub>2</sub> uptake suggested that no toxic products were formed after chemical acceleration.

The yields recorded at high w/s ratio indicated that the highest CO<sub>2</sub> uptake for all the input materials was given by the samples containing acetic acid at 2.5M. However, this was not due to a "true" catalytic effect but rather to acid dissolution. A real catalyst should have a similar effect over a range of water concentrations and also the XRD analysis suggested that a number of mineral phases found in the un-reacted residues dissolved after chemical acceleration with acetic acid and the principal mineral phase was calcium acetate hydrate, a calcium-based salt of acetic acid.

# 8 SUMMARY AND FUTURE WORK

### 8.1 Summary

The reduction of anthropogenic  $CO_2$  emissions and harmful waste-streams prior to landfilling is necessary in order to mitigate environmental impacts and maintain the sustainability of the planet. In addition, carbon taxes and stricter landfill regulations are expected in the near future, forcing the industry to adopt innovative processes for carbon utilisation and waste management.

A technique which combines  $CO_2$  utilisation and waste management is accelerated carbonation technology (ACT). Accelerated carbonation could be successfully used for the stabilisation of hazardous wastes, remediation of contaminated soils, and reuse /recycling of various waste streams. This technique, as described in Chapter 2, could also be used for the permanent storage of  $CO_2$  into minerals via a process known as mineral carbonation technology (MCT).

Mineral carbonation is considered a promising option of mitigating the release of carbon into the atmosphere. In contrast to geological and ocean storage, mineral carbonation ensures the long-term sequestration of  $CO_2$  in calcium and magnesium silicates, and the potential to sequester in excess of 10,000 Gtonnes of  $CO_2$  cumulatively in stable carbonate products. However, the current associated costs are high (USD100-120/tonne  $CO_2$ ), conversion rates remain low, and there are large distances between major  $CO_2$  emitters and potential geological storage sites.

Due to the high costs of mineral sequestration another method of CCS has recently gained attention. This method is known as waste carbonation and it has particular advantages: processing is easier, handling and transport procedures are largely in place, and waste and  $CO_2$  are often located together as a result of being produced by the same industrial process. As a result, the associated costs are lower (USD38-95/tonne of  $CO_2$ ) with a potential for reduction if carbonated products with added-value could be manufactured.

The examination of 7 "common" alkaline waste residues showed that approximately 1 Gtonne of  $CO_2$  may be sequestered each year using moderate reaction conditions. Although this figure represents only a small fraction of the World's annual anthropogenic emissions (around 36 Gtonnes), waste carbonation is a reality, with known commercial companies, including Carbon8 and Recmix, specialising in the production of green aggregates and valorised products via this process.

The topic of mineral carbonation was examined in Chapter 4. The biggest challenge of this sequestration method is the low conversion rate of minerals into carbonates at mild reaction conditions. Samples of magnesium hydroxide were carbonated via various carbonation techniques at different w/s ratios. The achieved  $CO_2$  uptakes suggested that the reactivity of Mg(OH)<sub>2</sub> remained low and increased only under elevated pressure (=>0.2 MPa) and long reaction time (=>24 hours). However, the processing/handling of large amounts of minerals over a prolonged reaction time or under elevated temperature and pressure results in higher overall costs.

A product development study which included the preparation of cylindrical samples of  $Mg(OH)_2/Ca(OH)_2$ , indicated that the newly formed products composed of pure magnesium showed improved compressive strength and bulk density. An XRD analysis of the same mixtures suggested the presence of hydromagnesite, a desirable polymorph of MgCO<sub>3</sub>, and the complete absence of magnesite due to the selective precipitation of nesquehonite under ambient temperature and pressure.

The topic of waste carbonation was explored in Chapter 5. Air pollution control residues, bauxite residues, cement bypass dust, coal fly ash, MSWI bottom ash, steel-making slags and cement (as the reference material) were carbonated for 1 hour under ambient temperature and pressure and at 10 different water-to solid ratios varying from 0.2 to 100. The most reactive residues were air pollution control residues, cement bypass dusts, steel slag and cement due to their high initial concentration in calcium oxide and the presence of reactive calcium-based mineral phases.

The CO<sub>2</sub> uptakes for all the input residues suggested that carbonation was favoured at dry conditions (w/s=0.2-0.6). At intermediate w/s ratios (between 0.8 and 10) the

yield decreased considerably due to the presence of water, inhibiting the diffusion of  $CO_2$  by pore-blocking. However, a further rise in w/s ratio (25 to 100) resulted in higher  $CO_2$  uptake, as the increased volume of water provided a reservoir with a larger total capacity for carbon dioxide solution and ionisation/hydration.

On every occasion, the actual  $CO_2$  uptakes were considerably lower than the predicted ones, as the theoretical predictions are based exclusively on the initial chemical composition, mainly the concentration of CaO, of a candidate residue, whereas the actual  $CO_2$  uptake is dependent upon several carbonation variables including mineralogy, temperature, pressure, reaction time, relative humidity as well as water content etc.

The effect of ultrasound on the  $CO_2$  uptake of waste residues was examined in Chapter 6. The results suggested, that ultrasound did not remarkably increase the  $CO_2$  uptake of the tested materials at low w/s ratios (0.2-0.6). In these 'dry' conditions the cavitation of the solid particles was unlikely to occur, as the film of water surrounding particle surfaces was generally too 'thin'. However, it should be noted that in this study, the power of the ultrasonic device was 150W-300W and higher values of power were not considered. On the hand, at high w/s ratios (50-100) a significant increased yield was recorded (up to 400%), as the conditions were much more suited for cavitation.

The  $CO_2$  uptakes achieved after 8 hours of sonication were compared with the theoretical (uptake) values derived from the Steinour formula. On every occasion, the actual  $CO_2$  uptakes were considerably lower than those predicted. However, the recorded  $CO_2$  uptakes after 1 hour of sonication indicated that a large percentage of  $CO_2$  was bound into the products compared to 8 hours of treatment. For low w/s ratios this percentage ranged from 67%-99%, showing that carbonation occurred rapidly, while for "wet" samples (except for cement bypass dusts) the same percentage was 27%-54.8% as the high water content resulted in a slower reaction.

Analysis by X-ray diffraction showed that the amount of calcite in the sonicated samples increased and the carbonation of several mineral phases found in the untreated samples was enhanced. Finally, SEM imaging suggested that the nonsonicated samples were characterised by a more 'rounded' appearance and lower relief compared to the non-sonicated ones.

In the final chapter the effect of acetic acid, ethanol, sodium hypochlorite and sodium nitrite, four candidate catalysts of accelerated carbonation, on the  $CO_2$  uptake of APCr, CBD, CEM 1 and steel-making slag was investigated. The combined effect of these chemicals and ultrasound on the carbon uptake was also explored.

At dry conditions (w/s ratio between 0.2 and 0.6) ethanol and acetic acid was the two chemicals that ameliorated the reaction efficiency. On the other hand, sodium nitrite and sodium hypochlorite did not seem to have any positive effect during chemical acceleration. The XRD analysis of the low w/s ratio samples that achieved the highest  $CO_2$  uptake suggested that no toxic products were formed after treatment.

The yields recorded at high w/s ratio indicated that the highest  $CO_2$  uptake for all the input materials was given by the samples containing acetic acid at 2.5M. However, this was not due to a "true" catalytic effect but rather to acid dissolution. A real catalyst should have a similar effect over a range of water concentrations and also the XRD analysis suggested that a number of mineral phases found in the un-reacted residues dissolved after chemical acceleration and the principal mineral phase was calcium acetate hydrate, a calcium-based salt of acetic acid.

All the experiments were repeated three times and data analysis was done by applying three statistical variables: the mean, standard deviation and standard error. The latter was plotted as "error bars" in the relevant figures. Also, the impact of human error was minimised by conducting experiments, analyses and samples preparation with extreme care and any potential error could be attributed to normal deviation derived from the analytical equipment.

Finally, the following analyses could have made this thesis even stronger: a) examination of more minerals, b) examination of more wastes and c) application of ultrasonic probes. The examination of more wastes and minerals could have resulted in a "wider data-basis" covering a larger range of residues and minerals suitable for accelerated carbonation. Ultrasonic probes compared to ultrasonic baths present

some advantages, especially the possibility of conducting sonication at higher power and exploring the effect of amplitude on  $CO_2$  uptake. However, sonication with probes requires high w/s ratio samples since the probe acts as a mechanical stirrer. Thus, the sonication of dry samples is possible in ultrasonic baths only.

In conclusion, this study proved that: the carbonation of minerals is low under ambient temperature and pressure; waste carbonation involves less expensive processing as there are "common" alkaline wastes which react significantly with  $CO_2$ under ambient conditions; ultrasound increases the  $CO_2$  uptake of waste residues at high water content; ethanol and acetic acid could be used for catalysing the reaction of accelerated carbonation (at low w/s ratio) without forming any toxic by-products.

## 8.2 Future Work

Based on the main findings of this study, future work should focus on the production of magnesium-based cylinders with higher strength and density, the investigation of the impact of ultrasonic power on the  $CO_2$  uptake and the development of a new theoretical model to replace the Steinour formula.

Although the cylinders of 100% Mg showed improved strength and bulk density, the values were inferior to the properties for normal and lightweight concrete. To increase the properties further additives/binders should be applied. Instead of using traditional binders such as ordinary Portland cement it would be reasonable to apply alkaline waste residues which are known to have a significant reaction with CO<sub>2</sub>. Candidate residues comprising cement kiln dust, wood ash and paper ash as all of them have been successfully used for the production of sustainable lightweight aggregates (LWA) with improved properties.

In this study, the effect of ultrasonic power during sonication was not considered as the experiments were conducted in an ultrasonic bath with power at 150 W-300 W. Ultrasonic power is an important parameter regarding the strength of sound waves and it should be investigated whether the exposure of an input material to a higher power increases the  $CO_2$  uptake. The theoretical model that predicts the  $CO_2$  uptake of a candidate residue is the Steinour formula. However, this model is outdated and the theoretical estimations are significantly higher than the actual recorded values. The formula is solely based on chemical composition, whereas the real  $CO_2$  uptake depends on several reactions variables. The development of a new and more accurate theoretical model is necessary in order to evaluate the reactivity to  $CO_2$  of an input material. This model should be purely based on experimental data. This study proved that the  $CO_2$  uptakes of the raw materials depended highly on mineral composition. Thus, it would be reasonable to create a new formula by analysing the correlation between mineral composition and  $CO_2$  uptake of several alkaline wastes.

# REFERENCES

- ABOUT THE WHITE ROSE CCS PROJECT. 2014. Available: http://www.whiteroseccs.co.uk/about-white-rose [Accessed 08 May 2014].
- ADAMS, E. E. & CALDEIRA, K. 2008. Ocean Storage of CO<sub>2</sub>. *Elements*, 4, 319-324.
- ADÁNEZ, J., DE DIEGO, L. F. & GARCÍA-LABIANO, F. 1999. Calcination of calcium acetate and calcium magnesium acetate: effect of the reacting atmosphere. *Fuel*, 78, 583-592.
- ALVIRA, P., TOMÁS-PEJÓ, E., BALLESTEROS, M. & NEGRO, M. J. 2010. Pretreatment technologies for an efficient bioethanol production process based on enzymatic hydrolysis: A review. *Bioresource Technology*, 101, 4851-4861.
- ANSTICE, D. J., PAGE, C. L. & PAGE, M. M. 2005. The pore solution phase of carbonated cement pastes. *Cement and Concrete Research*, 35, 377-383.
- ANTHONY, E. J., JIA, L., WOODS, J., ROQUE, W. & BURWELL, S. 2000. Pacification of high calcic residues using carbon dioxide. *Waste Management*, 20, 1-13.
- ARAIZI, P. K., HILLS, C. D., MARIES, A., GUNNING, P. & WRAY, D. S. The current status of commercialisation of carbonation technology. Fourth International Conference on Accelerated Carbonation for Environmental and Materials Engineering, 9-12 April 2013 Leuven, Belgium.
- ASAVAPISIT, S., FOWLER, G. & CHEESEMAN, C. R. 1997. Solution chemistry during cement hydration in the presence of metal hydroxide wastes. *Cement and Concrete Research*, 27, 1249-1260.
- ASSOCIATION, E. A. 2010. Wrought aluminium production in Europe [Online]. Brussels, Belgium Available: <u>http://www.alueurope.eu/production-wrought-aluminium-production-in-europe/</u> [Accessed 30 May 2012].
- BACIOCCHI, R., COSTA, G., DI BARTOLOMEO, E., POLETTINI, A. & POMI, R. 2009a. The effects of accelerated carbonation on CO<sub>2</sub> uptake and metal release from incineration APC residues. *Waste Management*, 29, 2994-3003.
- BACIOCCHI, R., COSTA, G., DI BARTOLOMEO, E., POLETTINI, A. & POMI,R. Comparison of different process routes for stainless steel slag carbonation.Third International Conference on Accelerated Carbonation For

Environmental and Materials Engineering (ACEME 10), November 29-December 1 2010 Turku, Finland. 193-202.

- BACIOCCHI, R., COSTA, G., POLETTINI, A., POMI, R. & PRIGIOBBE, V. 2009b. Comparison of different reaction routes for carbonation of APC residues. *Energy Procedia*, 1, 4851-4858.
- BALAYSSAC, J. P., DÉTRICHÉ, C. H. & GRANDET, J. 1995. Effects of curing upon carbonation of concrete. *Construction and Building Materials*, 9, 91-95.
- BARNARD, L. H., BOARDMAN, D. I., ROGERS, C. D., HILLS, C. D., CAREY,
  P. J., CANNING, K. & MACLEOD, C. L. 2005. Influence of Soil and Binder
  Properties on the Efficacy of Accelerated Carbonation. *STARNET Conference*. University of Cambridge
- BARNARD, L. H., BOARDMAN, D. I., ROGERS, C. D. F., HILLS, C. D. & CAREY, P. J. Effect of water content on the CO<sub>2</sub> uptake of clays and silt. First International Conference on Accelerated Carbonation For Environmental and Materials Engineering (ACEME 06), 12-14 June 2006 The Royal Society, London.
- BEINLICH, A., PLÜMPER, O., HÖVELMANN, J., AUSTRHEIM, H. & JAMTVEIT, B. 2012. Massive serpentinite carbonation at Linnajavri, N– Norway. *Terra Nova*, 1-10.
- BLACK, L., GARBEV, K. & GEE, I. 2008. Surface carbonation of synthetic C-S-H samples: A comparison between fresh and aged C-S-H using X-ray photoelectron spectroscopy. *Cement and Concrete Research*, 38, 745-750.
- BLISSETT, R. S. & ROWSON, N. A. 2012. A review of the multi-component utilisation of coal fly ash. *Fuel*, 97, 1-23.
- BOBICKI, E. R., LIU, Q., XU, Z. & ZENG, H. 2012. Carbon capture and storage using alkaline industrial wastes. *Progress in Energy and Combustion Science*, 38, 302-320.
- BODÉNAN, F., BOURGEOIS, F., PETIOT, C., AUGÉ, T., BONFILS, B., JULCOUR-LEBIGUE, C., GUYOT, F., BOUKARY, A., TREMOSA, J., LASSIN, A., GAUCHER, E. C. & CHIQUET, P. 2014. Ex situ mineral carbonation for CO<sub>2</sub> mitigation: Evaluation of mining waste resources, aqueous carbonation processability and life cycle assessment (Carmex project). *Minerals Engineering*, 59, 52-63.

- BÖHMER, S., MOSER, G., NEUBAUER, C., PELTONIEMI, M., SCHACHERMAYER, E., TESAR, M., WALTER, B. & WINTER, B. 2008. Aggregates case study-data gathering-Final report. Vienna, Austria: Institute for Prospective Technological Studies.
- BONENFANT, D., KHAROUNE, L., SAUVE', S. B., HAUSLER, R., NIQUETTE, P., MIMEAULT, M. & KHAROUNE, M. 2008. CO<sub>2</sub> Sequestration Potential of Steel Slags at Ambient Pressure and Temperature. *Industrial & Engineering Chemistry Research*, 47, 7610-7616.
- BONFILS, B., JULCOUR-LEBIGUE, C., GUYOT, F., BODÉNAN, F., CHIQUET,
   P. & BOURGEOIS, F. 2012. Comprehensive analysis of direct aqueous mineral carbonation using dissolution enhancing organic additives. *International Journal of Greenhouse Gas Control*, 9, 334-346.
- BONFILS, B., JULCOUR, C., BOURGEOIS, F., GUYOT, F. & CHIQUET, P. About the foundations of direct aqueous carbonation with dissolution enhancing organic salts. Third International Conference on Accelerated Carbonation For Environmental and Materials Engineering (ACEME 10), November 29- December 1 2010 Turku, Finland

99-109.

- BORGES, P. H. R., COSTA, J. O., MILESTONE, N. B., LYNSDALE, C. J. & STREATFIELD, R. E. 2010. Carbonation of CH and C–S–H in composite cement pastes containing high amounts of BFS. *Cement and Concrete Research*, 40, 284-292.
- BOSCHI, C., DALLAI, L., DINI, A., GIANELLI, G., RUGGIERI, G. & TRUMPY,
  E. Fluid chemistry evolution during the natural carbonation of the Tuscan serpentinites: insights for CO<sub>2</sub> mineralogical sequestration. Third International Conference on Accelerated Carbonation For Environmental and Materials Engineering (ACEME 10), November 29- December 1 2010 Turku, Finland. 139-146.
- BOUCHAALA, F., PAYAN, C., GARNIER, V. & BALAYSSAC, J. P. 2011. Carbonation assessment in concrete by nonlinear ultrasound. *Cement and Concrete Research*, 41, 557-559.
- BOZKURT, N. & YAZICIOGLU, S. 2010. Strength and capillary water absorption of lightweight concrete under different curing conditions *Indian Journal of Engineering & Materials Science*, 17, 145-151.

- BRITISH GEOLOGICAL SURVEY 2005. Cement raw materials. Natural Environment Research Council.
- BUKOWSKI, J. M. & BERGER, R. L. 1979. Reactivity and strength development of CO<sub>2</sub> activated non-hydraulic calcium silicates. *Cement and Concrete Research*, 9, 57-68.
- BULL, S. 2010. Acetic acid- General Information [Online]. Available: https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment\_data/fil e/315396/acetic\_acid\_general\_information.pdf [Accessed 04 December 2014].
- C.I.R.I.A 2001. Report C559: Freeze-thaw resisting concrete: its achievement in the UK. Construction Industry Research and Information Association. Available from the HIS Construction Information Service (CIS).
- CALIX. 2012. *Calix Technology* [Online]. Available: <u>http://www.calix.com.au/index.php</u> [Accessed 28 January 2012].
- CAMBRIDGE CARBON CAPTURE. 2014a. Cambridge Carbon Capture (CCC)-An overview [Online]. Available: http://cambcarbcap.files.wordpress.com/2010/11/ccc\_company\_overview\_jan -10-v4.pdf [Accessed 28 January 2014].
- CAMBRIDGE CARBON CAPTURE. 2014b. Cambridge Carbon Capture (CCC) Technology [Online]. Available: <u>http://cambcarbcap.wordpress.com/</u> [Accessed 28 January 2014].
- CARBON8. 2014. *Carbon8 Technology* [Online]. Available: <u>http://www.c8s.co.uk/</u> [Accessed 28 January 2014].
- CARBON ENGINEERING TECHNOLOGY. 2014. Carbon Engineering Technology [Online]. Available: <u>http://carbonengineering.com/</u> [Accessed 17 February 2014].
- CARBON SEQUESTRATION LEADERSHIP FORUM 2012. CO<sub>2</sub> Utilisation Options - Phase 1 Report. Carbon Sequestration Leadership Forum.
- CARBON SEQUESTRATION LEADERSHIP FORUM 2013. CO<sub>2</sub> Utilisation Options - Phase 2 Report. Carbon Sequestration Leadership Forum.
- CASTELLOTE, M. & ANDRADE, C. 2008. Modelling the carbonation of cementitious matrixes by means of the unreacted-core model, UR-CORE. *Cement and Concrete Research*, 38, 1374-1384.

- CEWEP. 2011. Landfill taxes and bans [Online]. Available: http://www.cewep.eu/information/data/landfill/index.html [Accessed 30 May 2012].
- CHANG, C.-F. & CHEN, J.-W. 2006. The experimental investigation of concrete carbonation depth. *Cement and Concrete Research*, 36, 1760-1767.
- CHANG, E. E., CHEN, C.-H., CHEN, Y.-H., PAN, S.-Y. & CHIANG, P.-C. 2011. Performance evaluation for carbonation of steel-making slags in a slurry reactor. *Journal of Hazardous Materials*, 186, 558-564.
- CHAPD. 2010. Acetic acid-Incident management [Online]. Available: https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment\_data/fil e/315398/acetic\_acid\_incident\_management.pdf [Accessed 04 December 2010].
- CHATENET, M., GENIES-BULTEL, L., AUROUSSEAU, M., DURAND, R. & ANDOLFATTO, F. 2002. Oxygen reduction on silver catalysts in solutions containing various concentrations of sodium hydroxide comparison with platinum. *Journal of Applied Electrochemistry*, 32, 1131-1140.
- CHEN, Z.-Y., O'CONNOR, W. K. & GERDEMANN, S. J. 2006. Chemistry of aqueous mineral carbonation for carbon sequestration and explanation of experimental results. *Environmental Progress*, 25, 161-166.
- CLARENS, F., GRANDIA, F., MECA, S., DURO, L. & DE PABLO, J. Determination of CO<sub>2</sub> sequestration capacity and stabilisation of MSWI fly ash through accelerated carbonation. Third International Conference on Accelerated Carbonation For Environmental and Materials Engineering (ACEME 10), November 29- December 1 2010 Turku, Finland. 205-214.
- CO<sub>2</sub> SOLUTIONS. 2014. CO<sub>2</sub> Solutions' Technology [Online]. Available: <u>http://www.co2solutions.com/en</u> [Accessed 17 February 2014].
- CORNELIS, G., VAN GERVEN, T. & VANDECASTEELE, C. The effect of carbonation on antimony leaching from MSWI bottom ash. First International Conference on Accelerated Carbonation For Environmental and Materials Engineering (ACEME 06), 12-14 June 2006 The Royal Society, London.
- CRIADO, M., PALOMO, A. & FERNÁNDEZ-JIMÉNEZ, A. 2005. Alkali activation of fly ashes. Part 1: Effect of curing conditions on the carbonation of the reaction products. *Fuel*, 84, 2048-2054.

- CULTRONE, G., SEBASTIÁN, E. & HUERTAS, M. O. 2005. Forced and natural carbonation of lime-based mortars with and without additives: Mineralogical and textural changes. *Cement and Concrete Research*, 35, 2278-2289.
- DAVAL, D., MARTINEZ, I., CORVISIER, J., FINDLING, N., GOFFÉ, B. & GUYOT, F. 2009. Carbonation of Ca-bearing silicates, the case of wollastonite: Experimental investigations and kinetic modeling. *Chemical Geology*, 265, 63-78.
- DEMIDENKO, N. I., PODZOROVA, L. I., ROZANOVA, V. S., SKOROKHODOV, V. A. & SHEVCHENKO, V. Y. 2001. Wollastonite as a New Kind of Natural Material (A Review). *Glass and Ceramics*, 58, 308-311.
- DENNARD, A. E. & WILLIAMS, R. J. P. 1966. The catalysis of the reaction between carbon dioxide and water. *Journal of the Chemical Society A: Inorganic, Physical, Theoretical*, 812-816.
- DIAS, W. P. S. 2000. Reduction of concrete sorptivity with age through carbonation. *Cement and Concrete Research*, 30, 1255-1261.
- DINAKAR, P., BABU, K. G. & SANTHANAM, M. 2007. Corrosion behaviour of blended cements in low and medium strength concretes. *Cement and Concrete Composites*, 29, 136-145.
- DIPPLE, G. M., WILSON, S. A., POWER, I. M., THOM, J. M., RAUDSEPP, M. & SOUTHAM, G. Passive mineral carbonation in mine tailings. Second International Conference on Accelerated Carbonation for Environmental and Materials Engineering (ACEME 08), 1-3 October 2008 Rome, Italy.
- DOMINGO, C., LOSTE, E., GÓMEZ-MORALES, J., GARCÍA-CARMONA, J. & FRAILE, J. 2006. Calcite precipitation by a high-pressure CO<sub>2</sub> carbonation route. *The Journal of Supercritical Fluids*, 36, 202-215.
- DOOLEY, J. J., DAVIDSON, C. L. & DAHOWSKI, R. T. 2009. An assessment of the commercial availability of carbon dioxide capture and storage technologies as of June 2009. Richland, Wasinghton, USA Pacific Northwest National Laboratory, prepared for the U.S. Department of Energy.
- DRI, M., SANNA, A. & MAROTO-VALER, M. M. 2013. Dissolution of steel slag and recycled concrete aggregate in ammonium bisulphate for CO<sub>2</sub> mineral carbonation. *Fuel Processing Technology*, 113, 114-122.

- ECKE, H., MENAD, N. & LAGERKVIST, A. 2003. Carbonation of Municipal Solid Waste Incineration Fly Ash and the Impact on Metal Mobility. *Journal of Environmental Engineering*, 129, 435-440.
- EL-SAYED, M., KAZEM, M. & HILGEROTH, A. 2014. Glacial acetic acid as an efficient catalyst for simple synthesis of dindolylmethanes. *Current Chemistry Letters* 3, 7-14.
- EL-TURKI, A., BALL, R. J. & ALLEN, G. C. 2007. The influence of relative humidity on structural and chemical changes during carbonation of hydraulic lime. *Cement and Concrete Research*, 37, 1233-1240.
- ELONEVA, S., SAID, A., MANNISTO, P., FOGELHOLM, C.-J. & ZEVENHOVEN, R. Ammonium salt based steelmaking slag carbonation:precipitation of CaCO<sub>3</sub>. Third International Conference on Accelerated Carbonation For Environmental and Materials Engineering (ACEME 10), November 29- December 1 2010 Turku, Finland. 169-178.
- ELONEVA, S., TEIR, S., SALMINEN, J., FOGELHOLM, C.-J. & ZEVENHOVEN, R. 2008. Fixation of CO<sub>2</sub> by carbonating calcium derived from blast furnace slag. *Energy*, 33, 1461-1467.
- EPA. 2000. Hazard Summary-Chloroform [Online]. Available: <u>http://www.epa.gov/ttnatw01/hlthef/chlorofo.html</u> [Accessed 04 December 2014].
- ETOH, J., SHIMAOKA, T., ZHANG, R. & HARAGUCHI, T. Progress of carbonation in landfilled municipal solid waste incineration residues. First International Conference on Accelerated Carbonation For Environmental and Materials Engineering (ACEME 06), 12-14 June 2006 The Royal Society, London.
- EUROPE. 2001. Material Safety data sheet: Ethanol / Ethyl alcohol [Online]. Available: <u>http://www.distill.com/materialsafety/msds-eu.html</u> [Accessed 08 December 2014].
- EUROSLAG. 2012. Available: <u>http://www.euroslag.org/home/</u> [Accessed 30 May 2012].
- FAGERLUND, J., NDUAGU, E., ROMÃO, I. & ZEVENHOVEN, R. 2010. A stepwise process for carbon dioxide sequestration using magnesium silicates. *Frontiers of Chemical Engineering in China*, 4, 133-141.

- FAGERLUND, J., NDUAGU, E. & ZEVENHOVEN, R. 2011. Recent developments in the carbonation of serpentinite derived Mg(OH)<sub>2</sub> using a pressurized fluidized bed. *Energy Procedia*, 4, 4993-5000.
- FELL, A. K. M., THOMASSEN, T. R., KRISTENSEN, P., EGELAND, T. & KONGERUD, J. 2003. Respiratory Symptoms and Ventilatory Function in Workers Exposed to Portland Cement Dust. *Journal of Occupational and Environmental Medicine*, 45, 1008-1014 10.1097/01.jom.0000083036.56116.9d.
- FERNANDEZ BERTOS, M., LI, X., SIMONS, S. J. R., HILLS, C. D. & CAREY, P. J. 2004. Investigation of accelerated carbonation for the stabilisation of MSW incinerator ashes and the sequestration of CO<sub>2</sub>. *Green Chemistry*, 6, 428-436.
- FERNÁNDEZ BERTOS, M., SIMONS, S. J. R., HILLS, C. D. & CAREY, P. J. 2004. A review of accelerated carbonation technology in the treatment of cement-based materials and sequestration of CO<sub>2</sub>. *Journal of Hazardous Materials*, 112, 193-205.
- FEUERBORN, H.-J. 2005. Coal ash utilisation over the world and in Europe.
   Workshop on Environmental and Health Aspects of Coal Ash Utilization 23rd
   24th November 2005. Tel-Aviv, Israel.
- FRANCO, F., PÉREZ-MAQUEDA, L. A. & PÉREZ-RODRÍGUEZ, J. L. 2004. The effect of ultrasound on the particle size and structural disorder of a wellordered kaolinite. *Journal of Colloid and Interface Science*, 274, 107-117.
- FRICKER, K. J. & PARK, A.-H. A. 2013. Effect of H<sub>2</sub>O on Mg(OH)<sub>2</sub> carbonation pathways for combined CO<sub>2</sub> capture and storage. *Chemical Engineering Science*, 100, 332-341.
- GADIKOTA, G., MATTER, J., KELEMEN, P. & PARK, A.-H. A. 2014. Chemical and morphological changes during olivine carbonation for CO<sub>2</sub> storage in the presence of NaCl and NaHCO3. *Physical Chemistry Chemical Physics*, 16, 4679-4693.
- GAGG, C. R. 2014. Cement and concrete as an engineering material: An historic appraisal and case study analysis. *Engineering Failure Analysis*, 40, 114-140.
- GALAN, I., ANDRADE, C., MORA, P. & SANJUAN, M. A. 2010. Sequestration of CO<sub>2</sub> by Concrete Carbonation. *Environmental Science & Technology*, 44, 3181-3186.

- GARRABRANTS, A. C., KOSSON, D. S., VAN DER SLOOT, H. A. & MEEUSSEN, J. C. L. Effects of atmospheric and leachant carbonation on retention of contaminants in cement-based waste forms. First International Conference on Accelerated Carbonation For Environmental and Materials Engineering (ACEME 06), 12-14 June 2006 The Royal Society, London.
- GEORGIOU, D., METALLINOU, C., AIVASIDIS, A., VOUDRIAS, E. & GIMOUHOPOULOS, K. 2004. Decolorization of azo-reactive dyes and cotton-textile wastewater using anaerobic digestion and acetate-consuming bacteria. *Biochemical Engineering Journal*, 19, 75-79.
- GERDEMANN, S. J., DAHLIN, D. C., O'CONNOR, W. K., PENNER, L. R. & RUSH, G. E. 2004. *Ex-situ and in-situ mineral carbonation as a means to sequester carbon dioxide*.
- GERDEMANN, S. J., O'CONNOR, W. K., DAHLIN, D. C., PENNER, L. R. & RUSH, H. 2007. Ex Situ Aqueous Mineral Carbonation. *Environmental Science & Technology*, 41, 2587-2593.
- GHOORAH, M., BALUCAN, R. D., KENNEDY, E. M. & DLUGOGORSKI, B. Z. Selection of acid for weak acid processing of australian wollastonite for mineralisation of CO<sub>2</sub>. Third International Conference on Accelerated Carbonation For Environmental and Materials Engineering (ACEME 10), November 29- December 1 2010 Turku, Finland. 147-156.
- GIBBINS, J. & CHALMERS, H. 2008. Carbon capture and storage. *Energy Policy*, 36, 4317-4322.
- GODDARD-BORGER, E. D. & STICK, R. V. 2007. An Efficient, Inexpensive, and Shelf-Stable Diazotransfer Reagent: Imidazole-1-sulfonyl Azide Hydrochloride. *Organic Letters*, 9, 3797-3800.
- GOLDBERG, P., CHEN, Z.-Y., O'CONNOR, W., WALTERS, R. & ZIOCK, H. CO<sub>2</sub> Mineral Sequestration Studies in US. First national conference on carbon sequestration 2001 May 14-17, 2001 Washington DC, USA.
- GRANDIA, F., MECA, S., DURO, L., CLARENS, F. & DE PABLO, J. Stabilisation of cement kiln dust through accelerated carbonation. Third International Conference on Accelerated Carbonation For Environmental and Materials Engineering (ACEME 10), November 29- December 1 2010 Turku, Finland. 329-332.

- GUNNING, P. 2010. Accelerated carbonation of hazardous wastes. University of Greenwich.
- GUNNING, P., HILLS, C. D., ARAIZI, P. K., MARIES, A. & WRAY, D. S. Carbon Capture using wastes: A review. 7th International Scientific Conference "Science and Higher Education in Function of Sustainable Development -SED 2014", 3-4 October, 2014 2014 Uzice, Serbia.
- GUNNING, P., HILLS, C. D., CAREY, P. J. & ANTEMIR, A. Carbon capture from source using industrial waste: preliminary results. Third International Conference on Accelerated Carbonation For Environmental and Materials Engineering (ACEME 10), November 29- December 1 2010a Turku, Finland. 257-266.
- GUNNING P., HILLS C.D. & CAREY P.J. Commercial application of accelerated carbonation: Looking back at the first year. Fourth International Conference on Accelerated Carbonation for Environmental and Materials Engineering (ACEME 13), 2013 Leuven, Belgium.
- GUNNING, P. J., HILLS, C. D. & CAREY, P. J. 2009. Production of lightweight aggregate from industrial waste and carbon dioxide. *Waste Management*, 29, 2722-2728.
- GUNNING, P. J., HILLS, C. D. & CAREY, P. J. 2010b. Accelerated carbonation treatment of industrial wastes. *Waste Management*, 30, 1081-1090.
- HAMELINCK, C. N., HOOIJDONK, G. V. & FAAIJ, A. P. C. 2005. Ethanol from lignocellulosic biomass: techno-economic performance in short-, middle- and long-term. *Biomass and Bioenergy*, 28, 384-410.
- HAN, S. O., YOUK, J. H., MIN, K. D., KANG, Y. O. & PARK, W. H. 2008. Electrospinning of cellulose acetate nanofibers using a mixed solvent of acetic acid/water: Effects of solvent composition on the fiber diameter. *Materials Letters*, 62, 759-762.
- HÄNCHEN, M., PRIGIOBBE, V., BACIOCCHI, R. & MAZZOTTI, M. 2008. Precipitation in the Mg-carbonate system—effects of temperature and CO<sub>2</sub> pressure. *Chemical Engineering Science*, 63, 1012-1028.
- HARRISON, A. L., POWER, I. M. & DIPPLE, G. M. 2012. Accelerated Carbonation of Brucite in Mine Tailings for Carbon Sequestration. *Environmental Science & Technology*, 47, 126-134.

- HARVEY, O. R., CANTRELL, K. J., QAFOKU, N. P. & BROWN, C. F. 2012.Geochemical implications of CO<sub>2</sub> leakage associated with geologic storage: A review. US Department of Energy: Pacific Northwest National Laboratory.
- HARYANTO, A., FERNANDO, S., MURALI, N. & ADHIKARI, S. 2005. Current Status of Hydrogen Production Techniques by Steam Reforming of Ethanol: A Review. *Energy & Fuels*, 19, 2098-2106.
- HAURIE, L., FERNÁNDEZ, A. I., VELASCO, J. I., CHIMENOS, J. M., LOPEZ CUESTA, J.-M. & ESPIELL, F. 2006. Synthetic hydromagnesite as flame retardant. Evaluation of the flame behaviour in a polyethylene matrix. *Polymer Degradation and Stability*, 91, 989-994.
- HAURIE, L., FERNÁNDEZ, A. I., VELASCO, J. I., CHIMENOS, J. M., LOPEZ CUESTA, J.-M. & ESPIELL, F. 2007. Thermal stability and flame retardancy of LDPE/EVA blends filled with synthetic hydromagnesite/aluminium hydroxide/montmorillonite and magnesium hydroxide/aluminium hydroxide/montmorillonite mixtures. Polymer Degradation and Stability, 92, 1082-1087.
- HIDALGO, A., ANDRANDE, C., ALONSO, C., DOMINGO, C. & GARCIA, C. Microstructural characterisation of Portland cement based materials processed using ScCO<sub>2</sub>. First International Conference on Accelerated Carbonation For Environmental and Materials Engineering (ACEME 06), 12-14 June 2006 The Royal Society, London.
- HILLS, C. D., SWEENEY, R. E. H. & BUENFELD, N. R. 1999. Microstructural study of carbonated cement-solidified synthetic heavy metal waste. *Waste Management*, 19, 325-331.
- HOENIG, V., HOPPE, H. & EMBERGER, B. 2007. Carbon capture technology-Options and potentials for the cement industry. European Cement Research Academy: Portland Cement Association.
- HOLLINGBERY, L. A. & HULL, T. R. 2010. The thermal decomposition of huntite and hydromagnesite—A review. *Thermochimica Acta*, 509, 1-11.
- HOLLINGBERY, L. A. & HULL, T. R. 2012. The thermal decomposition of natural mixtures of huntite and hydromagnesite. *Thermochimica Acta*, 528, 45-52.
- HOLMES, G., NOLD, K., WALSH, T., HEIDEL, K., HENDERSON, M. A., RITCHIE, J., KLAVINS, P., SINGH, A. & KEITH, D. W. 2013. Outdoor

Prototype Results for Direct Atmospheric Capture of Carbon Dioxide. *Energy Procedia*, 37, 6079-6095.

- HUIJGEN, W. J. J. & COMANS, R. N. J. 2003. Carbon dioxide sequestration by mineral carbonation. Petten, NL: Energy Research Centre of the Netherlands.
- HUIJGEN, W. J. J. & COMANS, R. N. J. 2005a. Carbon dioxide sequestration by mineral carbonation: Literature reviews update 2003-2004. Petten, NL: Energy Research Centre of the Netherlands.
- HUIJGEN, W. J. J. & COMANS, R. N. J. 2005b. Mineral CO<sub>2</sub> Sequestration by Steel Slag Carbonation. *Environmental Science & Technology*, 39, 9676-9682.
- HUIJGEN, W. J. J., COMANS, R. N. J. & WITKAMP, G.-J. 2007. Cost evaluation of CO<sub>2</sub> sequestration by aqueous mineral carbonation. *Energy Conversion and Management*, 48, 1923-1935.
- HUIJGEN, W. J. J., WITKAMP, G.-J. & COMANS, R. N. J. 2006. Mechanisms of aqueous wollastonite carbonation as a possible CO<sub>2</sub> sequestration process. *Chemical Engineering Science*, 61, 4242-4251.
- HUNTZINGER, D. N. & EATMON, T. D. 2009. A life-cycle assessment of Portland cement manufacturing: comparing the traditional process with alternative technologies. *Journal of Cleaner Production*, 17, 668-675.
- HUNTZINGER, D. N., GIERKE, J. S., SUTTER, L. L., KAWATRA, S. K. & EISELE, T. C. 2009. Mineral carbonation for carbon sequestration in cement kiln dust from waste piles. *Journal of Hazardous Materials*, 168, 31-37.
- HUNWICK, R. J. 2009. A new, integrated, approach to mineralisation-based CCS. Modern Power Systems, .
- HUNWICK, R. J. 2010. The IPC process-Carbon capture and storage by integrated mineralisation. *EXPPERTS*,. Berlin, Germany.
- HYVERT, N., SELLIER, A., DUPRAT, F., ROUGEAU, P. & FRANCISCO, P. 2010. Dependency of C–S–H carbonation rate on CO<sub>2</sub> pressure to explain transition from accelerated tests to natural carbonation. *Cement and Concrete Research*, 40, 1582-1589.
- IPCC 2005. IPCC special report on carbon dioxide capture and storage. *In:* METZ,
  B., DAVIDSON, O., DE CONINCK, H., LOOS, M. & MEYER, L. (eds.) *Working Group III of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change.* USA, New York.

- IPCC 2011. IPCC special report on Renewable Energy Sources and Climate Change Mitigation. In: OTTMAR EDENHOFER, RAMÓN PICHS-MADRUGA, YOUBA SOKONA, KRISTIN SEYBOTH, PATRICK MATSCHOSS, SUSANNE KADNER, TIMM ZWICKEL, PATRICK EICKEMEIER, GERRIT HANSEN, STEFFEN SCHLOEMER & STECHOW, C. V. (eds.) Working Group III of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change. USA, New York.
- IPCC 2013. IPCC Fifth Assessment Report: Climate Change 2013 (AR5). In: JOUSSAUME, S., PENNER, J. & TANGANG, F. (eds.) Working Group I of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change USA, New York.
- JERGA, J. 2004. Physico-mechanical properties of carbonated concrete. *Construction and Building Materials*, 18, 645-652.
- JIANGUO, J., MAOZHE, C., YAN, Z. & XIN, X. 2009. Pb stabilization in fresh fly ash from municipal solid waste incinerator using accelerated carbonation technology. *Journal of Hazardous Materials*, 161, 1046-1051.
- JO, H. Y., KIM, J. H., LEE, Y. J., LEE, M. & CHOH, S.-J. 2012. Evaluation of factors affecting mineral carbonation of CO<sub>2</sub> using coal fly ash in aqueous solutions under ambient conditions. *Chemical Engineering Journal*, 183, 77-87.
- JOHNSON, D. C. 2000. Accelerated carbonation of waste calcium silicate materials. SCI Lecture Series. Society of Chemical Industry.
- JOHNSON, D. C., MACLEOD, C. L. & HILLS, C. D. Accelerated carbonation of stainless steel slag. 5th International Conference on the Environmental and Technical Implications of Construction with Alternative Materials, 2003 San Sebastian, Spain. 543–551.
- JOHNSTON, M., CLARK, M. W., MCMAHON, P. & WARD, N. 2010. Alkalinity conversion of bauxite refinery residues by neutralization. *Journal of Hazardous Materials*, 182, 710-715.
- JUNG, K., KEENER, T., KHANG, S.-J. & LEE, S.-K. 2004. A technical and economic evaluation of CO<sub>2</sub> separation from power plant flue gases with reclaimed Mg(OH)<sub>2</sub>. *Clean Technologies and Environmental Policy*, 6, 201-212.

- KAKIZAWA, M., YAMASAKI, A. & YANAGISAWA, Y. 2001. A new CO<sub>2</sub> disposal process via artificial weathering of calcium silicate accelerated by acetic acid. *Energy*, 26, 341-354.
- KATZER, J. & DOMSKI, J. 2012. Quality and mechanical properties of engineered steel fibres used as reinforcement for concrete. *Construction and Building Materials*, 34, 243-248.
- KELEMEN, P. B. & MATTER, J. 2008. In situ carbonation of peridotite for CO<sub>2</sub> storage. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 105, 17295-17300.
- KELEMEN, P. B., MATTER, J. & STREIT, L. Field observations and theoretical studies relevant to enhanced in situ carbonation of peridotite. Second International Conference on Accelerated Carbonation for Environmental and Materials Engineering (ACEME 08), 1-3 October 2008 Rome, Italy. 105-112.
- KHAITAN, S., DZOMBAK, D. A., SWALLOW, P., SCHMIDT, K., FU, J. & LOWRY, G. V. 2010. Field Evaluation of Bauxite Residue Neutralization by Carbon Dioxide, Vegetation, and Organic Amendments. *Journal of Environmental Engineering*, 136, 1045-1053.
- KIESE, M. & HASTINGS, B. A. 1940. The catalytic hydration of carbon dioxide. *The Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 132, 267-280.
- KIRCHOFER, A., BECKER, A., BRANDT, A. & WILCOX, J. 2013. CO2 Mitigation Potential of Mineral Carbonation with Industrial Alkalinity Sources in the United States. *Environmental Science & Technology*, 47, 7548-7554.
- KLEMM, W. A. & BERGER, R. L. 1972. Accelerated curing of cementitious systems by carbon dioxide: Part I. Portland cement. *Cement and Concrete Research*, 2, 567-576.
- KLOPROGGE, J. T., MARTENS, W. N., NOTHDURFT, L., DUONG, L. V. & WEBB, G. E. 2003. Low temperature synthesis and characterization of nesquehonite. *Journal of Materials Science Letters*, 22, 825-829.
- KNOCK, R. C., SEYFERT, M., HUNT, M. C., DIKEMAN, M. E., MANCINI, R. A., UNRUH, J. A., HIGGINS, J. J. & MONDEREN, R. A. 2006. Effects of potassium lactate, sodium chloride, sodium tripolyphosphate, and sodium acetate on colour, colour stability, and oxidative properties of injectionenhanced beef rib steaks. *Meat Science*, 74, 312-318.

- KODAMA, S., NISHIMOTO, T., YAMAMOTO, N., YOGO, K. & YAMADA, K. 2008. Development of a new pH-swing CO<sub>2</sub> mineralization process with a recyclable reaction solution. *Energy*, 33, 776-784.
- KOJIMA, Y., YAMAGUCHI, K. & NISHIMIYA, N. 2010. Effect of amplitude and frequency of ultrasonic irradiation on morphological characteristics control of calcium carbonate. *Ultrasonics Sonochemistry*, 17, 617-620.
- KREVOR, S. & LACKNER, K. S. Enhancing the reaction kinetics of the dissolution of serpentine for mineral carbon sequestration. Second International Conference on Accelerated Carbonation For Environmental and Materials Engineering (ACEME 08) October 1-3 2008 Rome, Italy.
- KREVOR, S. C. & LACKNER, K. S. 2009. Enhancing process kinetics for mineral carbon sequestration. *Energy Procedia*, 1, 4867-4871.
- LACKNER, K. S. 2002. Carbonate chemistry for sequestering fossil carbon *Annual Review of Energy and the Environment*, 27, 193-232.
- LACKNER, K. S. 2003. Climate change: a guide to CO<sub>2</sub> sequestration *Science*, 300, 1677-1678.
- LACKNER, K. S., BUTT, D. P. & WENDT, C. H. 1997. Progress on binding CO<sub>2</sub> in mineral substrates. *Energy Conversion and Management*, 38, Supplement, S259-S264.
- LAM, C. H. K., IP, A. W. M., BARFORD, J. P. & MCKAY, G. 2010. Use of Incineration MSW Ash: A Review. Sustainability, 2, 1943-1968.
- LANGE, L. C., HILLS, C. D. & POOLE, A. B. 1996a. The effect of accelerated carbonation on the properties of cement-solidified waste forms. *Waste Management*, 16, 757-763.
- LANGE, L. C., HILLS, C. D. & POOLE, A. B. 1996b. The influence of mix parameters and binder choice on the carbonation of cement solidified wastes. *Waste Management*, 16, 749-756.
- LAWRENCE, R. M., MAYS, T. J., RIGBY, S. P., WALKER, P. & D'AYALA, D. 2007. Effects of carbonation on the pore structure of non-hydraulic lime mortars. *Cement and Concrete Research*, 37, 1059-1069.
- LI, J. & BLATCHLEY, E. R. 2007. Volatile Disinfection Byproduct Formation Resulting from Chlorination of Organic–Nitrogen Precursors in Swimming Pools. *Environmental Science & Technology*, 41, 6732-6739.

- LI, W.-B., YAO, J., MALIK, Z., ZHOU, G.-D., DONG, M. & SHEN, D.-S. 2014. Impact of MSWI Bottom Ash Codisposed with MSW on Landfill Stabilization with Different Operational Modes. *BioMed Research International*, 2014, 10.
- LI, X., BERTOS, M. F., HILLS, C. D., CAREY, P. J. & SIMON, S. 2007. Accelerated carbonation of municipal solid waste incineration fly ashes. *Waste Management*, 27, 1200-1206.
- LI, X., HILLS, C. D. & CAREY, P. J. Accelerated carbonation of incinerator fly ash First International Conference on Accelerated Carbonation For Environmental and Materials Engineering (ACEME 06) 12-14 June 2006 The Royal Society, London.
- LIU, J., BOARDMAN, D. I., ROGERS, C. D. F., HILLS, C. D., CAREY, P. J. & GARDNER, K. Geotechnical properties of carbonated and non-carbonated stabilised/ solidified soils. First International Conference on Accelerated Carbonation For Environmental and Materials Engineering (ACEME 06), 12-14 June 2006 The Royal Society, London.
- LIU, L., HA, J., HASHIDA, T. & TERAMURA, S. 2001. Development of a CO<sub>2</sub> solidification method for recycling autoclaved lightweight concrete waste. *Journal of Materials Science Letters*, 20, 1791-1794.
- LÓPEZ-PERIAGO, A. M., PACCIANI, R., GARCÍA-GONZÁLEZ, C., VEGA, L. F. & DOMINGO, C. 2010. A breakthrough technique for the preparation of high-yield precipitated calcium carbonate. *The Journal of Supercritical Fluids*, 52, 298-305.
- LÓPEZ-PERIAGO, A. M., PACCIANI, R., VEGA, L. F. & DOMINGO, C. 2011.
   Monitoring the Effect of Mineral Precursor, Fluid Phase CO<sub>2</sub>-H<sub>2</sub>O
   Composition, and Stirring on CaCO<sub>3</sub> Crystallization in a Supercritical—
   Ultrasound Carbonation Process. *Crystal Growth & Design*, 11, 5324-5332.
- LOUISNARD, O. 2010. Nonlinear attenuation of sound waves by inertial cavitation bubbles. *Physics Procedia*, 3, 735-742.
- LU, Y., RIYANTO, N. & WEAVERS, L. K. 2002. Sonolysis of synthetic sediment particles: particle characteristics affecting particle dissolution and size reduction. *Ultrason Sonochem*, 9, 181-8.

- LUYBEN, M. L. & TYRÉUS, B. D. 1998. An industrial design/control study for the vinyl acetate monomer process. *Computers & Chemical Engineering*, 22, 867-877.
- MAI, M. L., EMMETT, M., SHEIKH, M. S., SANTA ANA, C. A., SCHILLER, L.
   & FORDTRAN, J. S. 1989. Calcium acetate, an effective phosphorus binder in patients with renal failure. *Kidney Int*, 36, 690-695.
- MARIES, A. A sequential process model for the accelerated carbonation of Portland cement. 2nd International Conference on Accelerated Carbonation for Environmental and Materials Engineering (ACEME 08), 2008 Rome.
- MARIES, A. & HILLS, C. D. Homogeneous catalysis of the accelerated carbonation of Portland cement. Fourth International Conference on Accelerated Carbonation for Environmental and Materials Engineering, 9-12 April 2013 Leuven, Belgium.
- MARINA SANCHEZ, M. A. & MIRANTA MARTINEZ, M. Dry accelerated carbonation reaction studies for lime, hydrated lime and steel slag. Third International Conference on Accelerated Carbonation For Environmental and Materials Engineering (ACEME 10), November 29- December 1 2010 Turku, Finland. 179-188.
- MAROTO-VALER, M. M., FAUTH, D. J., KUCHTA, M. E., ZHANG, Y. & ANDRÉSEN, J. M. 2005. Activation of magnesium rich minerals as carbonation feedstock materials for CO<sub>2</sub> sequestration. *Fuel Processing Technology*, 86, 1627-1645.
- MASON, W. P. & MCSKIMIN, H. J. 1947. Attenuation and Scattering of High Frequency Sound Waves in Metals and Glasses. *The Journal of the Acoustical Society of America*, 19, 464-473.
- MATTER, J. M., BROECKER, W. S., GISLASON, S. R., GUNNLAUGSSON, E., OELKERS, E. H., STUTE, M., SIGURDARDÓTTIR, H., STEFANSSON, A., ALFREÐSSON, H. A., ARADÓTTIR, E. S., AXELSSON, G., SIGFÚSSON, B. & WOLFF-BOENISCH, D. 2011. The CarbFix Pilot Project–Storing carbon dioxide in basalt. *Energy Procedia*, 4, 5579-5585.
- MATTER, J. M., BROECKER, W. S., STUTE, M., GISLASON, S. R., OELKERS,E. H., STEFÁNSSON, A., WOLFF-BOENISCH, D., GUNNLAUGSSON,E., AXELSSON, G. & BJÖRNSSON, G. 2009. Permanent Carbon Dioxide
Storage into Basalt: The CarbFix Pilot Project, Iceland. *Energy Procedia*, 1, 3641-3646.

- MCPOLIN, D. O., BASHEER, P. A. M., LONG, A. E., GRATTAN, K. T. V. & SUN, T. 2007. New Test Method to Obtain pH Profiles due to Carbonation of Concretes Containing Supplementary Cementitious Materials. *Journal of Materials in Civil Engineering*, 19, 936-946.
- MILKOWSKI, A., GARG, H. K., COUGHLIN, J. R. & BRYAN, N. S. 2010. Nutritional epidemiology in the context of nitric oxide biology: A risk– benefit evaluation for dietary nitrite and nitrate. *Nitric Oxide*, 22, 110-119.
- MINEROLOGY, H. O. 2005. Hydromagnesite [Online]. Available: <u>http://rruff.info/doclib/hom/hydromagnesite.pdf</u> [Accessed 25 November 2014].
- MONTES-HERNANDEZ, G., PÉREZ-LÓPEZ, R., RENARD, F., NIETO, J. M. & CHARLET, L. 2009. Mineral sequestration of CO<sub>2</sub> by aqueous carbonation of coal combustion fly-ash. *Journal of Hazardous Materials*, 161, 1347-1354.
- MONTES-HERNANDEZ, G., RENARD, F., CHIRIAC, R., FINDLING, N. & TOCHE, F. 2012. Rapid Precipitation of Magnesite Microcrystals from Mg(OH)<sub>2</sub>-H<sub>2</sub>O-CO<sub>2</sub> Slurry Enhanced by NaOH and a Heat-Aging Step (from ~20 to 90 °C). Crystal Growth & Design, 12, 5233-5240.
- MURIITHI, G. N., PETRIK, L. F., FATOBA, O., GITARI, W. M., DOUCET, F. J., NEL, J., NYALE, S. M. & CHUKS, P. E. 2013. Comparison of CO<sub>2</sub> capture by ex-situ accelerated carbonation and in in-situ naturally weathered coal fly ash. *Journal of Environmental Management*, 127, 212-220.
- NABHANI, F., MCKIE, M. & HODGSON, S. 2013. A case study on a sustainable alternative to the landfill disposal of spent foundry sand. *International Journal of Sustainable Manufacturing*, 3, 1-19.
- NGALA, V. T. & PAGE, C. L. 1997. Effects of carbonation on pore srtucture and diffusional properties of hydrated cement pastes. *Cement and Concrete Research*, 27, 995-1007.
- NISHIDA, I. 2004. Precipitation of calcium carbonate by ultrasonic irradiation. *Ultrasonics Sonochemistry*, 11, 423-428.
- NONOMURA, M. 1987. Indirect determination of cyanide compounds by ion chromatography with conductivity measurement. *Analytical Chemistry*, 59, 2073-2076.

- NYAMBURA, M. G., MUGERA, G. W., FELICIA, P. L. & GATHURA, N. P. 2011. Carbonation of brine impacted fractionated coal fly ash: Implications for CO<sub>2</sub> sequestration. *Journal of Environmental Management*, 92, 655-664.
- O'CONNOR, W. K., DAHLIN, D. C., NILSEN, D. N., RUSH, G. E., WALTERS, R. P. & TURNER, P. C. 2000. CO<sub>2</sub> storage in solid form: a study of direct mineral carbonation. 5th International Conference on Greenhouse Gas Technologies. Cairns, Australia.
- OLAJIRE, A. A. 2013. A review of mineral carbonation technology in sequestration of CO<sub>2</sub>. *Journal of Petroleum Science and Engineering*, 109, 364-392.
- PARMESAN, C., BURROWS, M. T., DUARTE, C. M., POLOCZANSKA, E. S., RICHARDSON, A. J., SCHOEMAN, D. S. & SINGER, M. C. 2013. Beyond climate change attribution in conservation and ecological research. *Ecology Letters*, 16, 58-71.
- PAUL, S., NANDA, P., GUPTA, R. & LOUPY, A. 2004. Calcium acetate catalyzed synthesis of 4-arylidene-2-phenyl-5(4H)-oxazolones under solvent-free conditions. *Tetrahedron Letters*, 45, 425-427.
- PECQUEUR, G., CRIGNON, C. & QUÉNÉE, B. 2001. Behaviour of cement-treated MSWI bottom ash. *Waste Management*, 21, 229-233.
- PENDERS-VAN ELK, N. J. M. C., DERKS, P. W. J., FRADETTE, S. & VERSTEEG, G. F. 2012. Kinetics of absorption of carbon dioxide in aqueous MDEA solutions with carbonic anhydrase at 298 K. International Journal of Greenhouse Gas Control, 9, 385-392.
- PENDERS-VAN ELK, N. J. M. C., HAMBORG, E. S., HUTTENHUIS, P. J. G., FRADETTE, S., CARLEY, J. A. & VERSTEEG, G. F. 2013. Kinetics of absorption of carbon dioxide in aqueous amine and carbonate solutions with carbonic anhydrase. *International Journal of Greenhouse Gas Control*, 12, 259-268.
- PÉREZ-MARTÍNEZ, M. N., CAEMMERER, B., DE PEÑA, M. P., CID, C. N. & KROH, L. W. 2010. Influence of Brewing Method and Acidity Regulators on the Antioxidant Capacity of Coffee Brews. *Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry*, 58, 2958-2965.
- PICOT, J. C., CASSARD, D., MALDAN, F., GREFFIÉ, C. & BODÉNAN, F. 2011. Worldwide potential for ex-situ mineral carbonation. *Energy Procedia*, 4, 2971-2977.

- POULIN, É., BLAIS, J.-F. & MERCIER, G. 2008. Transformation of red mud from aluminium industry into a coagulant for wastewater treatment. *Hydrometallurgy*, 92, 16-25.
- POWER, G., GRÄFE, M. & KLAUBER, C. 2011. Bauxite residue issues: I. Current management, disposal and storage practices. *Hydrometallurgy*, 108, 33-45.
- PRAETORIUS, B. & SCHUMACHER, K. 2009. Greenhouse gas mitigation in a carbon constrained world: The role of carbon capture and storage. *Energy Policy*, 37, 5081-5093.
- PRICE, G. J., MAHON, M. F., SHANNON, J. & COOPER, C. 2010. Composition of Calcium Carbonate Polymorphs Precipitated Using Ultrasound. *Crystal Growth & Design*, 11, 39-44.
- PRIGGIOBBE, V., BACIOCCHI, R., WERNER, M., HÄNCHEN, M. & MAZZOTTI, M. CO<sub>2</sub> storage by aqueous mineral carbonation using olivine. Second International Conference on Accelerated Carbonation For Environmental and Materials Engineering (ACEME 08), 1-3 October 2008 Rome, Italy. 39-44.
- PRIGIOBBE, V. & MAZZOTTI, M. 2011. Dissolution of olivine in the presence of oxalate, citrate, and CO<sub>2</sub> at 90°C and 120°C. *Chemical Engineering Science*, 66, 6544-6554.
- RAGNHEIDARDOTTIR, E., SIGURDARDOTTIR, H., KRISTJANSDOTTIR, H. & HARVEY, W. 2011. Opportunities and challenges for CarbFix: An evaluation of capacities and costs for the pilot scale mineralization sequestration project at Hellisheidi, Iceland and beyond. *International Journal of Greenhouse Gas Control*, 5, 1065-1072.
- RAMAN, V. & ABBAS, A. 2008. Experimental investigations on ultrasound mediated particle breakage. *Ultrasonics Sonochemistry*, 15, 55-64.
- RAO, A., ANTHONY, E. J., JIA, L. & MACCHI, A. 2007. Carbonation of FBC ash by sonochemical treatment. *Fuel*, 86, 2603-2615.
- RECMIX. 2014. *Trading and recycling company (NV)-Recmix* [Online]. Available: <u>http://www.trcnv.be/</u> [Accessed 28 January 2014].
- REIJNDERS, L. 2007. Cleaner phosphogypsum, coal combustion ashes and waste incineration ashes for application in building materials: A review. *Building and Environment*, 42, 1036-1042.

- RENDEK, E., DUCOM, G. & GERMAIN, P. 2006. Carbon dioxide sequestration in municipal solid waste incinerator (MSWI) bottom ash. *Journal of Hazardous Materials*, 128, 73-79.
- RENFORTH, P. 2012. The potential of enhanced weathering in the UK. International Journal of Greenhouse Gas Control, 10, 229-243.
- RENFORTH, P., MAYES, W. M., JARVIS, A. P., BURKE, I. T., MANNING, D. A. C. & GRUIZ, K. 2012. Contaminant mobility and carbon sequestration downstream of the Ajka (Hungary) red mud spill: The effects of gypsum dosing. *Science of The Total Environment*, 421–422, 253-259.
- RENFORTH, P., WASHBOURNE, C. L., TAYLDER, J. & MANNING, D. A. C. 2011. Silicate Production and Availability for Mineral Carbonation. *Environmental Science & Technology*, 45, 2035-2041.
- ROSSBERG, M., LENDLE, W., PFLEIDERER, G., TÖGEL, A., DREHER, E.-L., LANGER, E., RASSAERTS, H., KLEINSCHMIDT, P., STRACK, H., COOK, R., BECK, U., LIPPER, K.-A., TORKELSON, T. R., LÖSER, E., BEUTEL, K. K. & MANN, T. 2000. Chlorinated Hydrocarbons. *Ullmann's Encyclopedia of Industrial Chemistry*. Wiley-VCH Verlag GmbH & Co. KGaA.
- ROSTAMI, V., SHAO, Y., BOYD, A. J. & HE, Z. 2012. Microstructure of cement paste subject to early carbonation curing. *Cement and Concrete Research*, 42, 186-193.
- ROUGHTON, F. J. W. & BOOTH, V. H. 1938. The catalytic effect of buffers on the reaction CO<sub>2</sub>+H<sub>2</sub>O-->H<sub>2</sub>CO<sub>3</sub>. *Biochemistry Journal*, 32, 2049-2069.
- ROY, S. K., POH, K. B. & NORTHWOOD, D. O. 1999. Durability of concrete accelerated carbonation and weathering studies. *Building and Environment*, 34, 597-606.
- RUBIN, E., GANG, H., MISRA, P. S. & LIEBER, C. S. 1970. Inhibition of drug metabolism by acute ethanol intoxication: A hepatic microsomal mechanism. *The American Journal of Medicine*, 49, 801-806.
- RUSSELL, D., BASHEER, P. A. M., RANKIN, G. I. B. & LONG, A. E. 2001. Effect of relative humidity and air permeability on prediction of the rate of carbonation of concrete. *Structures & Buildings*, 146, 319-326.
- SAHU, R. C., PATEL, R. K. & RAY, B. C. 2010. Neutralization of red mud using CO<sub>2</sub> sequestration cycle. *Journal of Hazardous Materials*, 179, 28-34.

- SAKITA, S., SHIMAOKA, T., NISHIGAKI, M. & TANAKA, T. Carbonation treatment of lead in municipal solid waste incineration bottom ash for beneficial use. First International Conference on Accelerated Carbonation For Environmental and Materials Engineering (ACEME 06), 12-14 June 2006 The Royal Society, London.
- SANJUÁN, M. A. & DEL OLMO, C. 2001. Carbonation resistance of one industrial mortar used as a concrete coating. *Building and Environment*, 36, 949-953.
- SANNA, A., DRI, M., HALL, M. R. & MAROTO-VALER, M. 2012a. Waste materials for carbon capture and storage by mineralisation (CCSM) – A UK perspective. *Applied Energy*, 99, 545-554.
- SANNA, A., DRI, M. & MAROTO-VALER, M. 2013. Carbon dioxide capture and storage by pH swing aqueous mineralisation using a mixture of ammonium salts and antigorite source. *Fuel*, 114, 153-161.
- SANNA, A., HALL, M. R. & MAROTO-VALER, M. 2012b. Post-processing pathways in carbon capture and storage by mineral carbonation (CCSM) towards the introduction of carbon neutral materials. *Energy & Environmental Science*, 5, 7781-7796.
- SANTOS, R., FRANÇOIS, D., VANDEVELDE, E., MARTENS, G., ELSEN, J. & VAN GERVEN, T. Process intensification routes for mineral carbonation.
   3rd International Conference on Accelerated Carbonation for Environmental and Materials Engineering (ACEME 10), 29Nov-1 Dec 2010 Turku, Finland.
- SANTOS, R. M., CEULEMANS, P. & VAN GERVEN, T. 2012. Synthesis of pure aragonite by sonochemical mineral carbonation. *Chemical Engineering Research and Design*, 90, 715-725.
- SANTOS, R. M., MERTENS, G., SALMAN, M., CIZER, Ö. & VAN GERVEN, T. 2013a. Comparative study of ageing, heat treatment and accelerated carbonation for stabilization of municipal solid waste incineration bottom ash in view of reducing regulated heavy metal/metalloid leaching. *Journal of Environmental Management*, 128, 807-821.
- SANTOS, R. M., VAN BOUWEL, J., VANDEVELDE, E., MERTENS, G., ELSEN, J. & VAN GERVEN, T. 2013b. Accelerated mineral carbonation of stainless steel slags for CO<sub>2</sub> storage and waste valorization: Effect of process parameters on geochemical properties. *International Journal of Greenhouse Gas Control*, 17, 32-45.

- SCHAEF, H. T., WINDISCH JR, C. F., MCGRAIL, B. P., MARTIN, P. F. & ROSSO, K. M. 2011. Brucite [Mg(OH<sub>2</sub>)] carbonation in wet supercritical CO<sub>2</sub>: An in situ high pressure X-ray diffraction study. *Geochimica et Cosmochimica Acta*, 75, 7458-7471.
- SCHNEIDER, M., ROMER, M., TSCHUDIN, M. & BOLIO, H. 2011. Sustainable cement production—present and future. *Cement and Concrete Research*, 41, 642-650.
- SHARMA, M. M. & DANCKWERTS, P. V. 1963. Catalysis by Bronsted bases of the reaction between CO<sub>2</sub> and water. *Transactions of the Faraday Society*, 59, 386-395.
- SHIMAOKA, T., ZHANG, R., SAKITA, S., LEE, J. & ETOH, J. Accelerated carbonation for immobilisation of lead in municipal solid waste bottom ash. First International Conference on Accelerated Carbonation For Environmental and Materials Engineering (ACEME 06), 12-14 June 2006 The Royal Society, London.
- SHU-YUAN PAN, CHANG, E. E. & CHIANG, P.-C. 2012. CO<sub>2</sub> Capture by Accelerated Carbonation of Alkaline Wastes: A Review on Its Principles and Applications. *Aerosol and Air Quality Research*, 770-791.
- SHUKLA, R., RANJITH, P., HAQUE, A. & CHOI, X. 2010. A review of studies on CO<sub>2</sub> sequestration and caprock integrity. *Fuel*, 89, 2651-2664.
- SICONG, T., JIANGUO, J. & CHANG, Z. 2011. Influence of flue gas SO2 on the toxicity of heavy metals in municipal solid waste incinerator fly ash after accelerated carbonation stabilization. *Journal of Hazardous Materials*, 192, 1609-1615.
- SIPILÄ, J., TEIR, S. & ZEVENHOVEN, R. 2008. Carbon dioxide sequestration by mineral carbonation:Literature review update 2005–2007. Turku, Finland: Åbo Akademi University Faculty of Technology Heat Engineering Laboratory.
- SMITH, M. R. & COLLIS, L. 2001. Aggregates: sand, gravel and crushed rock aggregates for construction purposes. Third Edition, London, The Geological Society.
- SOLIDIA TECHNOLOGIES. 2014. *Solidia Technologies* [Online]. Available: <u>http://solidiatech.com/</u> [Accessed 20 January 2014].

- SOONG, Y., DILMORE, R. M., HEDGES, S. W., HOWARD, B. H. & ROMANOV, V. 2012. Utilization of Multiple Waste Streams for Acid Gas Sequestration and Multi-Pollutant Control. *Chemical Engineering & Technology*, 35, 473-481.
- SOROUSHIAN, P., AOUADI, F., CHOWDHURY, H., NOSSONI, A. & SARWAR,G. 2004. Cement-bonded straw board subjected to accelerated processing. *Cement and Concrete Composites*, 26, 797-802.
- STOHL, A., SEIBERT, P., WOTAWA, G., ARNOLD, D., BURKHART, J. F., ECKHARDT, S., TAPIA, C., VARGAS, A. & YASUNARI, T. J. 2012. Xenon-133 and caesium-137 releases into the atmosphere from the Fukushima Dai-ichi nuclear power plant: determination of the source term, atmospheric dispersion, and deposition. *Atmos. Chem. Phys.*, 12, 2313-2343.
- STOICA-GUZUN, A., STROESCU, M., JINGA, S., JIPA, I., DOBRE, T. & DOBRE, L. 2012. Ultrasound influence upon calcium carbonate precipitation on bacterial cellulose membranes. *Ultrasonics Sonochemistry*, 19, 909-915.
- STREIT, E., KELEMEN, P. & EILER, J. 2012. Coexisting serpentine and quartz from carbonate-bearing serpentinized peridotite in the Samail Ophiolite, Oman. *Contributions to Mineralogy and Petrology*, 164, 821-837.
- SUN, J. & WANG, Y. 2014. Recent Advances in Catalytic Conversion of Ethanol to Chemicals. ACS Catalysis, 4, 1078-1090.
- SUN, Y., PARIKH, V. & ZHANG, L. 2012. Sequestration of carbon dioxide by indirect mineralization using Victorian brown coal fly ash. *Journal of Hazardous Materials*, 209–210, 458-466.
- SVENSSON, R., ODENBERGER, M., JOHNSSON, F. & STRÖMBERG, L. 2004. Transportation systems for CO<sub>2</sub>—application to carbon capture and storage. *Energy Conversion and Management*, 45, 2343-2353.
- TARABADKAR, K. & MELTON, J. S. Accelerated carbonation of contaminated sediments and its application. First International Conference on Accelerated Carbonation For Environmental and Materials Engineering (ACEME 06), 12-14 June 2006 The Royal Society, London.
- TEACH. 2007. U.S. EPA, Toxicity and Exposure Assessment for Children's Health[Online].Available:

http://www.epa.gov/teach/chem\_summ/Nitrates\_summary.pdf.

- TEIR, S., KETTLE, J., HARLIN, A. & SARLIN, J. Production of silica and calcium carbonate particles from silica minerals for inkjet paper coating and filler purposes. Third International Conference on Accelerated Carbonation For Environmental and Materials Engineering (ACEME 10), November 29-December 1 2010 Turku, Finland. 63-74.
- TEIR, S., KUUSIK, R., FOGELHOLM, C.-J. & ZEVENHOVEN, R. 2007a. Production of magnesium carbonates from serpentinite for long-term storage of CO<sub>2</sub>. *International Journal of Mineral Processing*, 85, 1-15.
- TEIR, S., REVITZER, H., ELONEVA, S., FOGELHOLM, C.-J. & ZEVENHOVEN,
   R. 2007b. Dissolution of natural serpentinite in mineral and organic acids. *International Journal of Mineral Processing*, 83, 36-46.
- TERAMURA, S., ISU, N. & INAGAKI, K. 2000. New Building Material from Waste Concrete by Carbonation. *Journal of Materials in Civil Engineering*, 12, 288-293.
- TONG, Y., BOUTEILLER, V., MARIE-VICTOIRE, E. & JOIRET, S. 2012. Efficiency investigations of electrochemical realkalisation treatment applied to carbonated reinforced concrete — Part 1: Sacrificial anode process. *Cement and Concrete Research*, 42, 84-94.
- VAN GERVEN, T., VAN KEER, E., ARICKX, S., JASPERS, M., WAUTERS, G.
  & VANDECASTEELE, C. 2005. Carbonation of MSWI-bottom ash to decrease heavy metal leaching, in view of recycling. *Waste Management*, 25, 291-300.
- VAN GINNEKEN, L., DUTRÉ, V., ADRIANSENS, W. & WEYTEN, H. 2004. Effect of liquid and supercritical carbon dioxide treatments on the leaching performance of a cement-stabilised waste form. *The Journal of Supercritical Fluids*, 30, 175-188.
- VAN OSS, H. G. 2011. Minerals Yearbook / Cement. US Geological Survey.
- VITELLI, V. 2010. Attenuation of shear sound waves in jammed solids. *Soft Matter*, 6, 3007-3012.
- WAN HAMAD, W. N. F., TEH, P. L. & YEOH, C. K. 2013. Effect of Acetic Acid as Catalyst on the Properties of Epoxy Foam. *Polymer-Plastics Technology* and Engineering, 52, 754-760.
- WANG, X. & MAROTO-VALER, M. Integrated CO<sub>2</sub> capture and production of hydromagnesite from serpentine by using recyclable ammonium salts Third

International Conference on Accelerated Carbonation For Environmental and Materials Engineering (ACEME 10), November 29- December 1 2010 Turku, Finland. 23-30.

- WEE, J.-H. 2013. A review on carbon dioxide capture and storage technology using coal fly ash. *Applied Energy*, 106, 143-151.
- WILSON, S. A., HARRISON, A. L., DIPPLE, G. M., POWER, I. M., BARKER, S. L. L., ULRICH MAYER, K., FALLON, S. J., RAUDSEPP, M. & SOUTHAM, G. 2014. Offsetting of CO<sub>2</sub> emissions by air capture in mine tailings at the Mount Keith Nickel Mine, Western Australia: Rates, controls and prospects for carbon neutral mining. *International Journal of Greenhouse Gas Control*, 25, 121-140.
- WORLDSTEEL ASSOCIATION 2010. Fact Sheet-Achieving the goal of zerowaste.
- YADAV, V. S., PRASAD, M., KHAN, J., AMRITPHALE, S. S., SINGH, M. & RAJU, C. B. 2010. Sequestration of carbon dioxide (CO<sub>2</sub>) using red mud. *Journal of Hazardous Materials*, 176, 1044-1050.
- YAMASAKI, A., IIZUKA, A., KAKIZAWA, M., KATSUYAMA, Y., NAKAGAWA, M., FUJII, M., KUMAGAI, K. & YANAGISAWA, Y. Development of a carbon sequestration process by the carbonation reaction of waste streams containing calcium or magnesium. Fifth Annual Conference on Carbon Capture & Sequestration, May 8-11 2006 Virginia, USA.
- YANG, C. & MENG, Z. Y. 1993. Bimolecular Condensation of Ethanol to 1-Butanol Catalyzed by Alkali Cation Zeolites. *Journal of Catalysis*, 142, 37-44.
- YANG, R., LIAO, W.-P. & WU, P.-H. 2012. Basic characteristics of leachate produced by various washing processes for MSWI ashes in Taiwan. *Journal* of Environmental Management, 104, 67-76.
- ZEVENHOVEN, R., TEIR, S. & ELONEVA, S. 2008. Heat optimisation of a staged gas–solid mineral carbonation process for long-term CO<sub>2</sub> storage. *Energy*, 33, 362-370.
- ZHANG, T., GAO, P., GAO, P., WEI, J. & YU, Q. 2013. Effectiveness of novel and traditional methods to incorporate industrial wastes in cementitious materials—An overview. *Resources, Conservation and Recycling,* 74, 134-143.

- ZHANG, Z., ZHENG, Y., NI, Y., LIU, Z., CHEN, J. & LIANG, X. 2006. Temperature- and pH-Dependent Morphology and FT–IR Analysis of Magnesium Carbonate Hydrates. *The Journal of Physical Chemistry B*, 110, 12969-12973.
- ZHAO, L., SANG, L., CHEN, J., JI, J. & TENG, H. H. 2009. Aqueous Carbonation of Natural Brucite: Relevance to CO<sub>2</sub> Sequestration. *Environmental Science* & Technology, 44, 406-411.
- ZHOU, G.-T., YU, J. C., WANG, X.-C. & ZHANG, L.-Z. 2004. Sonochemical synthesis of aragonite-type calcium carbonate with different morphologies. *New Journal of Chemistry*, 28, 1027-1031.

**PUBLISHED PAPERS** 

# The current status of commercialisation of carbonation technology

## P.K. Araizi<sup>1\*</sup>, C.D. Hills<sup>1</sup>, A. Maries<sup>1</sup>, P. Gunning<sup>1</sup> and D.S. Wray<sup>1</sup>

<sup>1</sup>School of Science, University of Greenwich, UK. \*Corresponding author: ap49@gre.ac.uk, +44(0) 2083319820, fax.

#### Abstract

Mineral carbonation technology (MCT) involves the safe long term storage of stable and carbonated products, mainly carbonates and bicarbonates. The carbonation of candidate feed-stock comprising calcium and magnesium silicates is relatively slow, is energy intensive. Processing involves the handling of significant quantities of materials Thus, the challenges to be overcome appear to be the high overall processing costs and slow reaction kinetics; both of which will hinder commercial application of MCT. The combining of CO<sub>2</sub> with various silicates is estimated to cost between US\$54 and US\$250 per tonne of CO2. Further research on various carbonation routes, via organic and inorganic substances, will result in lower energy consumption and enhanced kinetics. In addition to naturally abundant silicates, an alternative approach could be the waste carbonation technology (WCT) of alkaline residues. Previous studies have shown that suitable wastes are abundant and may sequester up to 475kg of CO<sub>2</sub>/tonne/waste at a lower cost than MCT. As the annual world production of 7 selected alkaline residues is 4.79Gt, and the availability of silicate ores is huge, the future potential of both MCT and WCT to be industrialised is promising, providing the key issues outlined by this work can be overcome.

© 2013 The Authors.

## Introduction

According to the United Nations statistics department the global  $CO_2$  emissions in 2008 was 30.21Gt and 30.08Gt in 2009. The annual decrease of 0.41% (Table 1), although encouraging, does not comply with the obligations of the first commitment period of Kyoto Protocol, which persuades the participant members to cut their emissions by an average 5% during 2008-2012. The recent withdrawal of Japan, Canada and Russia, and the continuous reluctance of China and the US to ratify the treaty, puts the  $CO_2$  reduction scheme at stake, and the future sustainability of Earth in great danger. During the United Nations Climate Change Conference in Doha (2012) the countries agreed to extend the commitment period of Kyoto Protocol for 8 years, until 2020, and in 2015 they pledged to sign a new treaty with more realistic targets, satisfying both rich and developing nations.

Emissions per capita index represents the individual emissions of a given population (Figure 1). The USA's emissions per capita are four times bigger than the world average (17.43 tonnes), due to high consumption of fossil fuels and public reluctance to adopt alternative energy sources. The Russian economy is heavily dependent on hydrocarbon exploitation, resulting in the second highest emissions per person (11.08 tonnes). The European population have a developed environmental awareness

however, governments failed to create cleaner and more efficient energy systems and reduce carbon emissions (7.27 tonnes per capita). China's emissions, although lower compared to other countries (5.76 tonnes per capita), are increasing year after year raising additional environmental concerns.

Country	Emissions in 2008 (in	Emissions in 2009 (in	%
	Gt)	Gt)	Difference
World	30.21	30.08	-0.41
China	7.03	7.68	9.22
USA	5.65	5.29	-6.31
EU 27	3.92	3.62	-7.53
India	1.80	1.97	9.83
Russia	1.71	1.57	-8.23
Rest <sup>a</sup>	10.07	9.91	-1.57
cludes data from	187 countries	Source: Ur	ited Nations

**Table 1**. Total CO<sub>2</sub> emissions (in Gt) in 2008 and 2009

ncludes data from 18 / countries

Statistics



Figure 1. Global emissions per capita in 2009, based on Table 1 and the population in each region

The progress towards a less carbon-dependant society is slow, mainly due to poor improvements in energy efficiency and the low level of renewables integration into energy generation. In addition, the disaster in Fukushima in 2011 has raised significant doubts about the use of nuclear energy for electricity generation. Thus, carbon capture and storage (CCS) offers an excellent option for CO<sub>2</sub> reduction, providing that a high yield can be achieved at a reasonable cost. CCS includes the capture, transportation and subsequent storage of  $CO_2$  in appropriate geological and ocean sites, or the storage as carbonates/bicarbonates via mineral carbonation<sup>1</sup>. Because they are similar to natural silicates, alkaline wastes can also sequester  $CO_2$  in a process known as waste carbonation.

The main aim of this review is the progress of mineral carbonation technology (MCT) in terms of costs and processing routes, and advantages / disadvantages compared to geological and ocean storage. Furthermore, the annual production and maximum sequestration capacity of seven candidate alkaline wastes is estimated, in order to assess the potential of applying waste carbonation technology (WCT) to current and future commercial sequestration projects.

## Carbon capture and storage (CCS)

Currently, there are three carbon capture technologies: post combustion, precombustion and oxy-combustion<sup>2</sup>. The average cost of these technologies is estimated at around US55/tonne<sup>1</sup>. After removal from the process, CO<sub>2</sub> is stored at geological or aquatic locations.

In geological sequestration, carbon dioxide is injected into deep saline aquifers, depleted oil and gas fields, and un-mineable coal seams at ground depth at least 1km. The maximum storage capacity is between 1000Gt and 1800Gt, while the biggest advantage of geological method is the low environmental risk of the sequestrated products compared to ocean sequestration<sup>3</sup>. On the other hand, it requires continuous monitoring to spot and stop potential leakage of  $CO_2$  coming from aquifers, and its re-emission to the atmosphere<sup>4</sup>. The cost of monitoring increases the overall expenses in the long term.

Countries lacking coal and/or oil and gas fields have potential to turn their attention to aquatic sequestration. The availability of oceans and deep lakes is huge, and no continuous monitoring would be required. Ocean storage involves the injection of compressed  $CO_2$  into the seafloor at depth below 3km, where liquid  $CO_2$  can be permanently stored as it is denser than seawater. The maximum capacity of the method is approximately 10000Gt, whereas the average cost per tonne of  $CO_2$  is estimated at US\$18 (US\$5 net injected for geo-storage). The biggest potential disadvantage is the risk of ocean acidification in case of an accident; public perception is also hostile, preventing governments from supporting large scale projects of this nature<sup>5</sup>.

Alternatively to geo and ocean sequestration, mineral carbonation ensures the environmentally benign long term storage of carbonated products. Potential feedstocks of MCT are minerals comprising calcium and magnesium ions, for instance wollastonite, basalt, olivine and serpentine. The carbonation reaction is thermodynamically favourable and the final products are stable for a long period of time. The potential capacity exceeds 10000Gt at an average cost of US\$120/tonne  $CO_2^{6-8}$ . Details of feed-stocks, reaction conditions and processing routes are given in the following section. Table 2 gives an overview of carbon capture technologies, their advantages/disadvantages, their estimated capacity and the relevant costs.

Technology	Advantages	Disadvantages	Capacity <sup>a</sup>	Cost <sup>b</sup>
Geologic	-Established technique	- High risk of CO <sub>2</sub>	1800	5
storage	-Low storage cost	leakage from the		
	-Positive/indifferent	aquifers		
	public perception	-Requires continuous		
	-More eco-friendly	monitoring, increasing		
	than ocean storage	the overall cost		
		-Many countries lack		
		appropriate storage		
		sites		
Ocean	-High capacity	-High environmental	10000	18
storage	-Global availability of	risk		
	oceans, seas, deep	- Higher cost than geo-		
	lakes	storage		
	- No monitoring	-Negative/hostile		
	requirements	public perception		
Mineral	-Environmentally	- High sequestration	>10000	120
carbonation	benign long term	and transportation		
	storage	costs		
	- Exothermal reactions	- Pre -treatment of		
	- Large availability of	silicates		
	natural feed-stocks	- Unsecure future		
		potential		

Table 2. Overview of CCS technologies

a: maximum estimated capacity in Gt

b: average sequestration cost in US\$

## Mineral carbonation technology (MCT)

The overall cost of mineral carbonation includes the extraction, transportation, and processing of the reacted silicates. The formation of final products via carbonation routes can be either direct or indirect (Figure 2).



Figure 2: Schematic of direct and two-step carbonation process<sup>10</sup>

The direct route occurs in a single reaction, it has simple kinetics and relatively economic processing. However, the conversion rate is low due to thermodynamic constraints. Thus, large amounts of rocks need handling, in order to sequester high volumes of  $CO_2$ . On the other hand, the indirect route involves two or more steps. Initially, a chemical agent is added for the mining, crushing and milling of silicate rocks. Subsequently,  $CO_2$  diffuses and forms carbonated products. The indirect method involves more effective reactions and high yields. However, the cost increases due to chemical additives and complex reaction mechanisms<sup>9</sup>.

In previous studies various routes have been examined: HCl extraction, acetic acid extraction, ammonia extraction, molten salt, aqueous carbonation and bioleaching. Most of them are hampered by low conversion rates, corrosive by-products and cost. The most promising carbonation routes are acetic acid extraction and bioleaching. The former involves the addition of acetic acid as a chemical agent during silicate extraction, while the latter is based on the presence of microorganisms such as bacteria and fungi. Both are relatively cheap and environmental friendly. However, their future feasibility is un-proven and more research is urgently needed in order to achieve higher conversion rate and more favourable kinetics under moderate reaction conditions<sup>10</sup>.

The transportation cost of silicate ore and the final carbonated products hinders the commercialisation of MCT. Picot et.al.<sup>11</sup> identified regions across the world that could combine emission plants with suitable ultramafic rocks, in distances less than 300km. These were found in Botswana, China, South Africa, Russia, Kazakhstan, and in some isolated places in Northern Europe, USA and Australia. Unfortunately, there is lack of suitable geological formations close to large industrial emitters (see Figure 1), and this is an impediment to investors in mineral sequestration schemes.

Appropriate feed-stocks could include basalt, olivine and serpentinite. Table 3 contains costs, energy consumption and reaction conditions for four silicates based on the works of Gerdemann et al.<sup>12</sup> and Ragnheidardottir et al.<sup>13</sup>

feed-stock	T (°C)	P <sub>CO2</sub> (bar)	US\$/ton CO <sub>2</sub>	US\$/kWh
basalt	-	-	66 <sup>a</sup>	0.05
olivine	185	150	54	0.06
serpentine	100	40	250	0.26
wollastonite	155	115	91	0.09

Table 3. Reaction conditions, costs and energy consumption for four silicates

a: estimation based on full utilisation of carbon emissions from Hellisheidi plant (CarbFix project)

## Waste carbonation technology (WCT)

In the EU the characterisation of wastes is dictated by the European Directive 2000/532/EC and European Waste Catalogue (EWC), which classify hazardous residues according to their origin and toxicity. Waste disposal is strictly monitored by the European Commission and local Governments, imposing expensive landfill taxes, ranging from  $\notin 17$  (US\$21) to  $\notin 130$  (US\$160), depending on the type of waste and domestic environmental regulations. Polluters are under high pressure to reduce or utilise their harmful disposals, and waste carbonation is an appealing option for the market<sup>14</sup>.

The reaction mechanism of waste carbonation is similar to MCT. Instead of silicates, alkaline wastes react with  $CO_2$  and form carbonated products. With WCT the overall costs are lower, new building materials are produced, and the leaching of various metals is reduced<sup>15</sup>. Suitable wastes with large availability and high storage capacity are: bauxite residues, cement kiln dust, coal fly ash, MSWI bottom/fly ashes, steelmaking slags and waste concrete.

Table 4 contains figures regarding the annual production of 7 chosen alkaline residues, and the highest sequestration capacities that have been found in previous studies. The potential amount of  $CO_2$  that can be sequestrated is estimated globally at 875.5Mt per annum.

Waste	Annual	Maximum CO <sub>2</sub>	Potential CO <sub>2</sub>
	production (Mt)	capacity(kg/ton waste)	uptake (Mt)
Bauxite residues	120 <sup>16</sup>	53 <sup>17</sup>	6.3
Waste concrete <sup>a</sup>	$2800^{18}$	165 <sup>19</sup>	462
Cement kiln	$770^{20}$	$115^{21}$	
dust <sup>b</sup>			88.5
Coal fly ash	$600^{22}$	264 <sup>23</sup>	158
MSWI bottom <sup>c,</sup>	80 <sup>24</sup>	475 <sup>25</sup>	
<sup>d</sup> ashes			38.0
MSWI fly	20 <sup>24</sup>	$120^{26}$	
ashes <sup>c</sup>			2.4
Steelmaking	$400^{27}$	$300^{28}$	
slags			120
Total	4790	-	875.7

 Table 4. Appropriate residues for waste carbonation

a: Figures refer to cement production. Every tonne of concrete contains typically 10% cement b: For every tonne of cement, 0.25-0.30 tonnes of kiln dust are produced. Thus: 0.275×2800=770Mt c: The annual production of municipal incineration ashes is estimated at 100Mt. If we assume that 80% comes as bottom and 20% as fly ashes then the respective figures would be 80Mt and 20Mt d: Ambient T and P are assumed

The maximum capacities of Table 4 indicate that the selected residues may be able to sequester considerable volumes of  $CO_2$ . Unlike mineral carbonation, the absence of rock handling/processing decreases the operational and energy cost, and the waste streams of interest tend to be generated by processes emitting  $CO_2$ . Thus, the distance between the 'plant' and the 'source' is minimised, and options to directly combine captured  $CO_2$  with the waste system are possible. Figure 3 depicts a sequestration concept of steelmaking slags proposed by Eloneva et.al.<sup>29</sup>

From economic point of view WCT is actually less expensive than MCT, and the final products are formed at lower temperature and pressure. Table 5 contains data for reaction conditions and cost in US/ tonne CO<sub>2</sub> regarding steelmaking slag and waste cement.



Figure 3: Carbonation concept for CO<sub>2</sub> sequestration using steelmaking slags<sup>29</sup>

Waste T (°C) P (bar) Cost					
cement					
There ex sequestion costs and optimum conditions for secondings and matter					
Table 5: Sequestration costs and optimum conditions for steel slags and waste					

Waste	T (°C)	P (bar)	Cost
Steelmaking Slags <sup>30</sup>	178	35.5	95
Waste cement <sup>31</sup>	$80^{\mathrm{a}}$	$30^{a}$	38

a: refers to crystallisation step

The main challenges of WCT are the complexity of waste systems and the absence of adequate legislation and incentives for its wide application. Various waste residues include heavy metal traces and radioactive elements that require intensive pre-treatment before their reaction with carbon dioxide, increasing the overall cost and reaction time. Moreover, in many countries the regulation of waste disposal is weak and thus, polluters prefer to dispose their wastes instead of utilising them. Tougher regulation and governmental financial support would certainly boost development of the method.

## Conclusions

Every year around 30Gt of  $CO_2$  are emitted in the atmosphere, and unless urgent measures are taken at an international level to mitigate these, the chances of maintaining global temperature rise to lower projected limits will be lost.

In 2020 nations will agree on a new environmental treaty reviewing the targets of Kyoto protocol and propose effective means of implementation. The slow development of renewable systems and the associate risks of nuclear energy make CCS an appealing mitigating option.

Geological and ocean sequestration offer a potentially high storage capacity for  $CO_2$  in depleted oil/gas fields and oceans/deep lakes. However, the possibility of carbon leakage in underground sites, and accidental ocean acidification fuel public and state concerns over these large-scale CCS schemes.

Recently, interest in mineral carbonation as a potential sequestration method with lower environmental risks and secured long-time storage has risen. The available carbonation routes involve the direct reaction of  $CO_2$  with calcium/magnesium silicates or the addition of chemical agents in an indirect process. Currently the

overall cost of US120/tonne CO<sub>2</sub> prevents the wide application of MCT in the near future.

New carbonation pathways need to be created, ensuring the absence of corrosive byproducts, moderate reaction conditions (ideally ambient) and low energy processing of the feedstock. An additional challenge to mineral carbonation is cost of transportation or rock, or  $CO_2$  gas which is likely to be a considerable impediment to the deployment of this approach.

In order to limit the cost of moving large volumes of material by land or sea, it is necessary to identify regions combining large emitting plants with appropriate silicate rocks, thereby minimising the financial penalties associated with transportation.

At the present time, it seems that waste carbonation is more feasible than MCT, as the overall cost is lower, and suitable waste streams are widespread. As an example, 7 candidate alkaline waste streams had potential to sequestrate 875.5Mt of CO<sub>2</sub>. This potential might be increased further, if economic incentives and appropriate legislative changes are promoted by governments, for the management of industrial emissions via their reaction with high volume waste streams.

## References

- 1. IPCC special report on carbon dioxide capture and storage. *In: Working Group III of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change*. (eds), Metz, B., Davidson, O., de Coninck, H., Loos, M., Meyer L., New York, USA, 2005.
- 2. Gibbins, J., Chalmers, H. 2008. Carbon capture and storage. *Energy Policy*, 36(12), 4317-4322.
- 3. Shukla, R., Ranjith, P., Haque, A., Choi, X. 2010. A review of studies on CO<sub>2</sub> sequestration and caprock integrity. *Fuel*, 89(10), 2651-2664.
- Harvey, O.R., Cantrell, K.J., Qafoku, N.P., Brown, C.F. 2012. Geochemical implications of CO<sub>2</sub> leakage associated with geologic storage: A review. US Department of Energy, Pacific Northwest National Laboratory.
- 5. Adams, E.E., Caldeira, K. 2008. Ocean Storage of CO<sub>2</sub>. *Elements*, 4(5), 319-324.
- Goldberg, P., Chen, Z.-Y., O'Connor, W., Walters, R., Ziock, H. 2001. CO<sub>2</sub> Mineral Sequestration Studies in US. *In: Proceedings of the First national conference on carbon* sequestration. Washington DC, USA, 14-17 May 2001.
- 7. Lackner, K.S. 2002. Carbonate chemistry for sequestering fossil carbon. *Annual Review* of Energy and the Environment, 27, 193-232.
- Lackner, K.S. 2003. Climate change: a guide to CO<sub>2</sub> sequestration. Science, 300, 1677-1678.
- 9. Huijgen, W.J.J., Comans, R.N.J. 2003. Carbon dioxide sequestration by mineral carbonation. *Energy Research Centre of the Netherlands*, Petten, NL
- 10. Bobicki, E.R., Liu, Q., Xu, Z., Zeng, H. 2012. Carbon capture and storage using alkaline industrial wastes. *Progress in Energy and Combustion Science*, 38(2), 302-320.
- 11. Picot, J.C., Cassard, D., Maldan, F., Greffié, C., Bodénan, F. 2011. Worldwide potential for ex-situ mineral carbonation. *Energy Procedia*, *4*, 2971-2977.
- 12. Gerdemann, S.J., O'Connor, W.K., Dahlin, D.C., Penner, L.R., Rush, H. 2007. Ex Situ Aqueous Mineral Carbonation. *Environmental Science & Technology*, 41(7), 2587-2593.

- 13. Ragnheidardottir, E., Sigurdardottir, H., Kristjansdottir, H., Harvey, W. 2011. Opportunities and challenges for CarbFix: An evaluation of capacities and costs for the pilot scale mineralisation sequestration project at Hellisheidi, Iceland and beyond. *International Journal of Greenhouse Gas Control*, 5(4), 1065-1072.
- 14. Confederation of European Waste-to-Energy Plants (CEWEP) 2011. Landfill taxes and bans. [cited 30 May 2012]; Avaialble from: http://www.cewep.eu /information/data /landfill/index.html
- 15. Gunning, P.J., Hills, C. D., Carey, P.J. 2010. Accelerated carbonation treatment of industrial wastes. Waste Management, 30, 1081-1090.
- 16. Power, G., Gräfe, M., Klauber, C. 2011. Bauxite residue issues: I. Current management, disposal and storage practices. *Hydrometallurgy*, 108(1-2), 33-45.
- Yadav, V.S., Prasad, M., Khan, J., Amritphale, S.S., Singh, M., Raju, C.B. 2010. Sequestration of carbon dioxide (CO<sub>2</sub>) using red mud. *Journal of Hazardous Materials*, 176(1-3), 1044-1050.
- 18. Schneider, M., Romer, M., Tschudin, M., Bolio, H. 2011. Sustainable cement production—present and future. *Cement and Concrete Research*, 41(7), 642-650.
- 19. Teramura, S., Isu, N., Inagaki, K. 2000. New Building Material from Waste Concrete by Carbonation. *Journal of Materials in Civil Engineering*, 12(4), 288-293.
- 20. van Oss, H.G., Padovani, A.C. 2003. Cement Manufacture and the Environment Part II: Environmental Challenges and Opportunities. *Journal of Industrial Ecology*, 7(1), 93-126.
- Huntzinger, D.N., Gierke, J.S., Sutter, L.L., Kawatra, S.K., Eisele, T.C. 2009. Mineral carbonation for carbon sequestration in cement kiln dust from waste piles. *Journal of Hazardous Materials*, 168(1), 31-37.
- Montes-Hernandez, G., Pérez-López, R., Renard, F., Nieto, J.M., Charlet, L. 2009. Mineral sequestration of CO<sub>2</sub> by aqueous carbonation of coal combustion fly-ash. *Journal of Hazardous Materials*, 161(2-3), 1347-1354.
- Sun, Y., Parikh, V., Zhang, L. 2012. Sequestration of carbon dioxide by indirect mineralisation using Victorian brown coal fly ash. *Journal of Hazardous Materials*, 209– 210, 458-466.
- 24. Reijnders, L. 2007. Cleaner phosphogypsum, coal combustion ashes and waste incineration ashes for application in building materials: A review. *Building and Environment*, 42(2), 1036-1042.
- Rendek, E., Ducom, G., Germain, P. 2006. Carbon dioxide sequestration in municipal solid waste incinerator (MSWI) bottom ash. *Journal of Hazardous Materials*, 128(1), 73-79.
- Clarens, F., Grandia, F., Meca, S., Duro, L., and de Pablo, J. 2010. Determination of CO<sub>2</sub> sequestration capacity and stabilisation of MSWI fly ash through accelerated carbonation. *In: Proceedings of the Third International Conference on Accelerated Carbonation For Environmental and Materials Engineering (ACEME 10)*. Turku, Finland, 29 November 1 December 2010.
- 27. Worldsteel Association 2010. Fact Sheet-Achieving the goal of zero-waste. [cited 30 May 2012]; Avaialble from: http://www.worldsteel.org/dms/internetDocumentList/fact-sheets/Fact-sheet\_Byproducts/document/Fact%20sheet\_By-products.pdf
- 28. Baciocchi, R., Costa, G., Di Bartolomeo, E., Polettini, A., Pomi, R. 2010. Comparison of different process routes for stainless steel slag carbonation. *In Proceedings of the Third*

International Conference on Accelerated Carbonation For Environmental and Materials Engineering (ACEME 10). Turku, Finland, 29 November - 1 December 2010.

- 29. Eloneva, S., Said, A., Fogelholm, C.-J., Zevenhoven, R. 2012. Preliminary assessment of a method utilising carbon dioxide and steelmaking slags to produce precipitated calcium carbonate. *Applied Energy*, 90(1), 329-334.
- Huijgen, W.J.J., Comans, R.N.J., Witkamp, G.-J. 2007. Cost evaluation of CO<sub>2</sub> sequestration by aqueous mineral carbonation. *Energy Conversion and Management*, 48(7), 1923-1935.
- Yamasaki, A., Iizuka, A., Kakizawa, M., Katsuyama, Y., Nakagawa, M., Fujii, M., Kumagai, K., Yanagisawa, Y. 2006. Development of a carbon sequestration process by the carbonation reaction of waste streams containing calcium or magnesium. *In Proceedings of the Fifth Annual Conference on Carbon Capture & Sequestration.* Virginia, USA, 8-11 May 2006.

## **CARBON CAPTURE USING WASTES: A REVIEW**

## P.GUNNING<sup>1\*</sup>, C.D.HILLS<sup>1</sup>, P.K.ARAIZI, A.MARIES, and D.S.WRAY <sup>1</sup>School of Science, University of Greenwich, UK <sup>2</sup>University of Greenwich, UK

\*Corresponding author: p.gunning@greenwich.ac.uk, +44(0) 2083319848

#### Abstract

Potential key strategies for the management of anthropogenic  $CO_2$  emissions include mineral carbonation and storage in oil wells and in the oceans. In Europe, a large-scale demonstration of carbon capture and storage (CCS) has recently been given the go-ahead, and the application of mineral carbonation technology (MCT) to serpentine and olive-type minerals. Although less controversial in its approach, MCT involves intensive pre-treatment of the mineral feedstock, and a consequent high sequestration cost USD100-120/tonne  $CO_2$  treated.

Mineralisation by carbonation is reliant upon the long-term storage of  $CO_2$  in thermodynamically stable and environmentally benign carbonate-based reaction products that are persistent over geological-timescales. The use of solid industrial process wastes for storing carbon (via waste carbonation technology, WCT) may provide a shorter-term gain, as the industrialisation of  $CO_2$  mitigation technologies takes place.

With WCT,  $CO_2$  is reacted with alkaline waste residues, to both risk-manage a high pH, and utilise waste  $CO_2$  gas, can be used as a pre-treatment prior to landfilling, facilitate valorisation and production of new materials.

The present work examines the current status of waste carbonation and investigates the utilisation of seven 'common' alkaline industrial residues showing that they have potential to sequestrate 1Gtonne of  $CO_2$  worldwide. The projected average cost of USD38-95/tonne of  $CO_2$ , is competitive with landfill and projected carbon taxes. If WCT is more widely commercially developed an option for the management of significant amounts of carbon could become more quickly established.

Keywords: CO<sub>2</sub> emissions; Carbon utilisation; Mineral sequestration; Waste carbonation; Accelerated carbonation

## Introduction

Strategies to control anthropogenic  $CO_2$  emissions involve meeting national-term targets, improvement in energy efficiency, alternative fuels, 'greener' industrial processes and the adoption of targeted tax schemes and integrated environmental policies, such as ICCP (2005, 2011, 2013b).

By way of example of tax-based initiatives, Alberta, Canada, has a carbon offset tax where large emitters are charged CD15 ( $\in$ 14) per tonne of CO<sub>2</sub> with proposals to increase this to CD40 ( $\in$ 37) in order to generate more revenue [4]; on the other hand in British Columbia, the carbon tax system is neutral.

The progress towards a more eco-friendly society is slow, mainly due to government inertia, industrial resistance, the investment required for energy efficiency, coupled with the slow integration of renewables into the energy supply mix.

The potential of carbon capture and storage (CCS) for managing anthropogenic  $CO_2$  rests on the yield that can be achieved at a reasonable cost. The routes to CCS involve the capture, transportation and subsequent storage of  $CO_2$  in appropriate geological and ocean sites, or the storage as carbonates/bicarbonates via mineral carbonation (2005).

However, it is not widely recognised that high volume alkaline waste streams can sequester  $CO_2$ . The chemical similarity of wastes to natural silicates is often overlooked and if waste carbonation can be widely achieved, then there is potential to manage significant amounts of  $CO_2$  by this method.

The current work reviews mineral carbonation technology (MCT) and compares its potential with the other sequestration methods. In addition, the potential for waste carbonation technology (WCT) annual production and maximum sequestration capacity of seven alkaline

wastes is estimated. Finally, an appraisal of companies applying mineral and waste carbonation is made via a comparison of their process routes.

#### Carbon Capture

Carbon capture and storage is projected to consume up to 60% of overall anthropogenic carbon emissions (Dooley et al., 2009). The process of CCS involves three steps:

- 1) the removal and capture of  $CO_2$  from specific locations,
- 2) transportation to proper storage sites and
- 3) CO<sub>2</sub> long term storage (Praetorius and Schumacher, 2009).

Large quantities of carbon are emitted by coal and gas plants, where three capture technologies are used: Post-combustion capture, Pre-combustion capture and Oxy-combustion capture (Gibbins and Chalmers, 2008). After transportation, the captured  $CO_2$  can be stored in appropriate geological and ocean sites (Svensson et al., 2004). In Europe, a large-scale demonstration known as the 'White Rose' CCS project centred upon the Drax coal-fired power station in the UK has been given the go-ahead. This CCS project will see  $CO_2$  transported via a pipeline for permanent storage in the North Sea in depleted oil wells (Gunning et al., 2009).

Alternatively, mineral carbonation involves the production and disposal of environmentally benign minerals that are stable over geological timescales. Potential feedstocks for MCT comprise minerals comprising calcium and magnesium ions, including wollastonite, basalt, olivine and serpentine. The potential storage capacity exceeds 10,000Gtonnes at an average cost of USD100-120/tonne CO<sub>2</sub> (Goldberg et al., 2001, Lackner, 2003, Lackner, 2002).

Table 1 overviews the available carbon capture and storage technologies, their advantages/disadvantages, estimated capacity and likely costs<sup>1</sup>.

Technology	Advantages	Advantages Disadvantages		Cost <sup>⊳</sup>
rechnology	Auvantages	Disauvantages	(Gt)	(USD)
Geological storage [11,12]	<ul> <li>Established technique</li> <li>Low storage cost</li> <li>Positive perception</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>High risk of leakage</li> <li>Requires continuous monitoring</li> </ul>	1800	5
Ocean storage [13]	<ul> <li>High capacity</li> <li>Global availability</li> <li>No monitoring requirements</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Lack of appropriate sites</li> <li>High environmental risk</li> <li>Higher cost than geo-storage</li> <li>Negative/hostile perception</li> </ul>	10000	18
Mineral carbonation [8- 10]	<ul> <li>Environmentally benign</li> <li>Exothermal reactions</li> <li>Wide availability of feedstocks</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>High costs</li> <li>Pre-treatment</li> <li>Unsecure future potential</li> </ul>	>10000	120

#### Table 1: Overview of CCS technologies

a: maximum estimated capacity, b: average sequestration cost

## Mineral Carbonation Technology (MCT)

In countries with large reserves of suitable rock resources i.e. Finland, Australia, USA and Canada, the potential for future carbon mitigation depends upon future research advancement.

#### Mineral carbonation mechanisms

Mineral carbonation involves the formation of stable carbonates and bicarbonates which are chemically equivalent to calcite, magnesite and dolomite [9]. Silicates naturally abundant in rocks and mining ores can be used as feed stocks e.g. peridotite, serpentine, olivine, wollastonite, gabbro and basalt. After appropriate treatment, carbonated products may be used as paper fillers and coating materials (Teir et al., 2010, Sanna et al., 2012b). The

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Costs expressed in US Dollars. At current exchanges rates x0.77 for Euros, x0.61 for British Pounds Sterling

following equations show the principal reactions occurring for calcium and magnesium silicates; wollastonite (1), olivine (2) and serpentine (3) (Huijgen and Comans, 2003).

 $\Lambda H=-90k.l/mol$ 

$$\begin{array}{cc} CaSiO_4 + CO_2 \rightarrow CaCO_3 + SiO_2 & \Delta \text{H=-90kJ/mol} \\ (1) & Mg_2SiO_4 + 2CO_2 \rightarrow 2MgCO_3 + SiO_2 & \Delta \text{H=-89kJ/mol} \\ (2) & Mg_3SiO_5(OH)_4 + 3CO_2 \rightarrow 3MgCO_3 + 2SiO_2 + 2H_2O & \Delta \text{H=-64kJ/mol} \\ (3) & \end{array}$$

All the reactions are exothermic and no energy is added to the system. However, slow kinetics, low yield under mild conditions, heat pre-treatment of silicates adversely impact on the cost of the processing (Maroto-Valer et al., 2005). The cost of transportation accounts for 77-94% of the total costs involved in MCT (Renforth, 2012).

During the mining of silicate ores, the cost of grinding, crushing and milling must also be considered. It is estimated that, in order to be applied at industrial scale, the maximum cost of mineral carbonation should range between USD20 and USD30 per tonne of CO2 (Lackner, 2002). Indicative costs of wollastonite and serpentine were estimated at USD200 and USD126-185 respectively (Lackner, 2002, Kakizawa et al., 2001).

#### **Carbonation of mineral residues**

Mineral sequestration can be achieved close to emitting plants by transporting the raw materials to site (ex-situ MCT), or via direct diffusion of CO<sub>2</sub> into rocks containing calcium and magnesium minerals (in-situ MCT).

The ex-situ carbonation of feed-stock occurs in three stages (Prigiobbe and Mazzotti, 2011):

- 1. Thermal and mechanical pre-treatment of the mineral
- 2. Reaction of CO<sub>2</sub> with ions of Ca<sup>2+</sup> and Mg<sup>2+</sup> accompanied by energy release
- 3. Disposal/reuse of the final carbonated products

One of the biggest challenges of ex-situ processing is the distance that often exists between CO<sub>2</sub> emitters and the location of mineral sources, as invariably they do not coincide. The need for handling large quantities of CO<sub>2</sub> and mineral silicates impacts negatively on the costs of material transportation.

Therefore, the location of bespoke carbonation plants should be as close to the natural mineral resources as possible. Picot et al. (Picot et al., 2011) investigated candidate locations around the world, which combine coal-fired plants emitting more than 1Mtonne of CO<sub>2</sub>, with available minerals within a distance of 300km. The identified regions are located at Botswana, China, South Africa, Russia, Kazakhstan, and in some isolated places in Northern Europe, USA and Australia. Unfortunately, there is lack of mineral availability in industrial regions with vast carbon emissions.

Although ex-situ processing is a preferred option, the slow kinetics (unless finely ground feedstock is used), the pre-treatment of feedstock, and the elevated temperature and pressures required, have focussed attention towards in-situ treatments (Kelemen et al., 2008).

CarbFix is an ex-situ MCT research project, using CO<sub>2</sub> emitted from a geothermal plant in Iceland. The mineral 'host' is basalt, a silicate rich in calcium, magnesium and ferrite ions (Matter et al., 2009). The installation consists of a  $CO_2$  separation plant and injection facility, with a 3km pipeline for the carbon transportation and monitoring systems. The current overall capacity of CO<sub>2</sub> injection is estimated at 2.2ktonnes CO<sub>2</sub>/per year (Matter et al., 2011) and it can reach 60ktonnes at overall cost of USD66/tonne of CO2 sequestrated (Ragnheidardottir et al., 2011).

The Samail ophiolite in Oman is composed of peridotite, which naturally reacts with an estimated 0.1 Mtonnes of CO<sub>2</sub> per year. The potential for reaction with carbon dioxide may reach 1Gtonne, if accelerated carbonation were to be applied at elevated temperature and pressure (Kelemen and Matter, 2008). Other relevant research has been made at Mount Keith Nickel Mine in Canada, Linnajavri in Norway and various locations in Italy (Dipple et al., 2008, Boschi et al., 2010, Beinlich et al., 2012).

#### **Routes for mineral carbonation**

Carbonation routes (for mineral carbonation) are classified into two main categories: direct and indirect. During the direct route, silicates react with gaseous or aqueous  $CO_2$  in a single step, without the extraction of calcium or magnesium ions (Priggiobbe et al., 2008). Via the indirect route involves more than one step, including ion extraction. Table 2 summarises the available carbonation routes (Zevenhoven et al., 2008a).

Route	Description	Advantages	Disadvantages	Cost
				US\$/t
Gas-solid				
(Sipilä et				
al., 2008,				
Lackner	Particulate metal oxides	<ul> <li>Simplicity</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Slow reaction</li> </ul>	
	react directly with $CO_2$ ,	<ul> <li>Production of steam and electricity</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Thermodynamic</li> </ul>	
1997,	, _,	<ul> <li>Mining integration</li> </ul>	<ul><li>constraints</li><li>Industrially unfeasible</li></ul>	
Baciocch		potential		
i et al.,				
2009b).				
Aqueous				
(Huijgen				
and				
Comans,				
2003,				
Sipilä et				
al., 2008,				
O'Connor				
et al.,	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·			
2000,	Mixing (minerals) with a		<ul> <li>High energy requirements</li> </ul>	
Chen et	liquid medium such as	<ul> <li>Conversion rate</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Requires extra</li> </ul>	50-100
al., 2006,	bicarbonate/salt before		<ul><li>chemicals</li><li>No recycling</li></ul>	
Ghoorah	the reaction with CO <sub>2</sub> .		High costs	
et al.,				
2010,				
Bonfils et				
al., 2010,				
Krevor				
and				
Lackner,				
2008,				

Table 2: Routes for direct and indirect carbonation

Gerdeman				
n et al.,				
2003,				
Krevor				
and				
Lackner,				
2009,				
Bobicki et				
al., 2012).				
HCI				
extraction				
(Lackner,				
2003,				
Huijgen				
and	Hydrochloric acid used to	<ul> <li>Recoverable reactants</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>High energy</li> </ul>	
Comans,	extract ions of Ca+ and		requirements	>188
2003,	Mg+ from a silicate matrix		<ul> <li>Expensive</li> </ul>	
Huijgen				
and				
Comans,				
2005a).				
Acetic				
acid				
extraction				
(Kakizawa				
et al.,				
2001,				
Huijgen	Similarly to HCI extraction,	- Loop operav intensive	- Higher receverability	
and	the use of acetic acid is	Economical	<ul> <li>Higher recoverability needs to be achieved</li> </ul>	78
Comans,	used			
2005a,				
Teir et al.,				
2007b,				
Teir et al.,				
2007a).				
Molten	NA-life and the second second			
Salt	Molten salt as a less	• Less energy intensivo	<ul> <li>Extremely corrosive</li> </ul>	
(Bobicki et	energy intensive sorbent	than HCl	<ul> <li>Undesirable by- products</li> </ul>	
al., 2012).	than HCI.		producis	
Ammonia				
extraction	Ammonium salts used to	. I link musike south to the		
(Kodama	promote the CO2-silicate	<ul><li>High purity carbonates</li><li>Good kinetics</li></ul>	<ul><li>High current costs</li><li>More research needs to</li></ul>	
	reaction	Recoverable reactants	be done	
2008,				
,				

Wang and		
Maroto-		
Valer,		
2010)		

## Waste Carbonation Technology (WCT)

As an alternative to natural minerals, solid wastes can be reacted with carbon dioxide (Araizi et al., 2013). This process is known as waste carbonation technology (WCT) and the most significant advantage, compared to MCT, is that pre-treatment is rarely necessary and the general proximity of these residues to point sources of anthropogenic  $CO_2$  (Huijgen and Comans, 2003).

Wastes such as those from bauxite processing, cement manufacture, coal combustion, iron and steel manufacture and the incineration of municipal waste, are composed of a significant proportion of calcium and magnesium. These wastes are widespread around the world. A number of the high volume waste streams with potential for WCT are identified in Table 3:

Code	Main Category	Code	Sub-category	Waste
01	Wastes resulting from exploration, mining, dressing and further treatment of minerals and quarry	01 03	Wastes from further physical and chemical processing of metalliferous minerals	Bauxite residues
		10 01	Wastes from power stations and other combustion plants	Coal fly ash
10	Inorganic wastes from thermal		Wastes from the iron and steel industry	Steel slags
	processes	10 13	Wastes from manufacture of cement, lime and plaster and articles and products made from them	Cement kiln dust
19	Wastes from waste treatment facilities, off-site waste water treatment plants and the water industry	19 01	Wastes from incineration or pyrolysis of waste	MSWI bottom ash MSWI fly ash

## Table 3: Characterisation of alkaline wastes according to European Directive 2000/532/EC (Gerdemann et al., 2004)

#### **Bauxite residue (Red Mud)**

'Red mud' is the solid waste produced by the Bayer process when alumina is extracted from bauxite ores. The transport, re use and disposal of red mud is extremely difficult due to its high alkalinity (pH>13) and elevated sodium concentration (Johnston et al., 2010).

The carbonation of bauxite residues can be achieved by neutralisation involving the reaction of aqueous solutions of red mud with carbon dioxide (Sahu et al., 2010, Renforth et al., 2012). The carbonation capacity of the process is estimated at 53kg of  $CO_2$ /tonne of red mud (Yadav et al., 2010).

#### Cement kiln dusts

Cement kiln dust (CKD) is formed during the manufacture of cement clinker at high temperature (around 1400°C) and it is a mixture of fine particles, unburned and part-burned raw materials and contaminants. Many cement manufacturing processes involve CKD recycling. However, the degree of recycling depends on various parameters including dust composition, particularly alkali content, and the standards that need to be met (Huntzinger and Eatmon, 2009, Huntzinger et al., 2009, Gunning et al., 2010b).

Historically, large amounts of CKD have been landfilled and could be a potential resource for  $CO_2$  sequestration. Depending on the type of cement kiln, 250-300kg of cement kiln dust is formed per tonne of cement.

#### Pulverised fuel ash

Pulverised fuel ash (PFA) is produced from the burning of coal. PFA is classified as either Class C or Class F, differentiating between those with high and low calcium contents, respectively (Blissett and Rowson, 2012, Muriithi et al., 2013). Where high CaO containing PFA is available, there is great potential to capture  $CO_2$  with minimal handling and transport costs (Sun et al., 2012).

#### MSWI bottom ash and APCr

The incineration of municipal solid wastes produces bottom (grate) ash and fly ash. Depending upon the composition, the two residues may or may not be combined. Air pollution control residues (APCr) are also produced as a result of flue gas treatment. APCr is sometimes combined with the fly ash.

Bottom ash former comprises 80% of the total incineration residue and is composed of ash powder along with glass and metal fragments. Bottom ashes are invariably used in road pavement construction, glass and ceramics, and in agriculture and waste water treatment (Lam et al., 2010, Li et al., 2006). The presence of heavy metals is a concern, and an accelerated carbonation treatment-step has been shown to be a promising management option (Sakita et al., 2006, Shimaoka et al., 2006, Cornelis et al., 2006, Santos et al., 2013a).

Fly ash is a fine grained airborne material which is removed via electrostatic precipitators. Typically, the heavy metal loading is higher than bottom ashes, which is often the determining factor whether it can be combined with the bottom ash.

APCr is typically a mixture of lime and activated carbon, that is injected into the flue gas to remove volatile heavy metals and neutralise acidic gasses (Fernandez Bertos et al., 2004).

#### Steelmaking slags

Steel manufacture generates slag, comprised of calcium, iron, silicon, aluminium, magnesium and manganese oxides. These residues are highly alkaline (pH 12) and when they react with carbon dioxide, stable products comprising carbonates are produced (Kodama et al., 2008, Bonenfant et al., 2008). Moreover, slag production is around 400Mtonnes worldwide (2010), with 45Mtonnes in the EU (Euroslag, 2012) and 5.2Mtonnes in the UK (Böhmer et al., 2008). Their carbon-uptake potential is promising whilst transportation costs are negligible, assuming the  $CO_2$  can be captured.

#### **Carbon Sequestration Potential**

Based upon available data (between 2007 and 2011), it is possible to sequester up to 1Gtonne of  $CO_2$  by carbonating 6 alkaline residues found widespread around the world (Table 4).

WCT ensures the utilisation of both  $CO_2$  and solid waste residues (arising from the same plant) without additional transportation and monitoring costs. The average cost of WCT is estimated at USD67/tonne of  $CO_2$ , which is considerably lower than MCT. Furthermore, process operating conditions including temperature and pressure are generally lower. However, the complexity of waste systems and the frequent presence of heavy metals and/or radioactive elements in some residues necessitate pre-treatment, which may increase the cost of handling and processing these wastes. Finally, in many countries the regulation of waste does not lend itself to treatment and valorisation at this time, and this is an impediment to utilising waste for the sequestration of  $CO_2$  gas.

Waste	Annual world production in million tonnes	Sequestration capacity in kg CO₂/tonne of waste	Max potential CO₂ utilised <sup>c</sup> (MTonnes)	Min potential CO₂ utilised (MTonnes)
Bauxite (Johnston et al., 2010, Gunning, 2010, Power et al., 2011, Poulin et al., 2008, Association, 2010, Sahu et al., 2010, Renforth et	120	53	6.36	6.36
al., 2012, Yadav et al., 2010) CKD <sup>a</sup> [50, 70-73]	990	15-115	113.85	14.85
PFA [51-53, 74- 75]	600	8-264	158.4	4.8
MSWI bottom ash <sup>b.c</sup> [54-60, 76- 80]	80	247-475	38	19.76
MSWI fly ash <sup>ь</sup> [57-59, 76-78, 80- 81]	20	30-120	2.4	0.6
Steel slags [61- 64, 81-84, 85-88]	400	227-300	120	90.8

#### Table 4: Alkaline residues suitable for waste carbonation

a: estimated based upon 0.25-0.30 tonnes of kiln dust per tonne of cement. b: annual production is estimated at 100Mt. Assumed 80% as bottom ash and 20% as fly ash. c: estimated using the highest and lowest sequestration capacities identified

## **Commercial Applications**

Several companies are already using mineral and waste carbonation to produce valuable products, including aggregates and secondary building materials. Table 5 presents data on these commercial/near commercial companies and their processes, using data/ metrics (CO<sub>2</sub> utilised, products value, energy penalty) taken from two reports from Carbon Sequestration Leadership Forum (2012, 2013a), companies web-sites and other information sources.

#### Summary

There is great potential to manage carbon emissions to protect the environment. Technologies capable of doing this are in development, but cost reduction remains a priority.

The application of Carbon Capture and Storage (CCS) and Mineral Carbonation Technology (MCT) have the greatest potential to manage large volumes of  $CO_2$ , but in the shorter-term the use of waste may provide significant gains as the often waste and  $CO_2$  are emitted by the same process and are generated near to industrial centres, where the carbonated products might be used, or disposed of with reduced impact on the environment.

Many industrial residues exist which have the potential to act as capture mediums, including wastes from bauxite extraction, cement manufacture, coal combustion, municipal waste incineration, and steelmaking. Applying Waste Carbon Technology (WCT) to these six residues alone has the potential to sequester up to 1Gtonne of  $CO_2$ .

Several companies have been established to develop WCT processes. Currently, there are two, Carbon8 and Recmix, who are operating commercially to produce construction materials from wastes treated using WCT. Several others are in the process of bringing new technologies to the market.

#### Table 5: Summary of ventures applying mineral and waste carbonation

Name	Activities and Technology	Raw Materials	Key Process Steps	Output materials
	Co	mmercially Active		
Carbon8	Carbon8 produces carbon negative construction aggregates from hazardous wastes including MSWI ashes, CKD, and steel slags. (Gunning et al., 2013)	<ol> <li>Alkaline wastes</li> <li>CO<sub>2</sub></li> <li>Reagents</li> </ol>	<ol> <li>Pre-treatment of waste</li> <li>Blending reagents</li> <li>Pelletising</li> <li>Aggregate production</li> </ol>	1. Aggregates
Recmix	Stainless steel-slag is carbonated to produce aggregates, fillers for concrete and asphalt and blocks. [93]	2. CO <sub>2</sub>	1. Granulation 2. Mixing	<ol> <li>Aggregates</li> <li>Concrete/asphal fillers</li> <li>Artificial aggregates</li> </ol>
		Commercialising		
Solidia	Production of low-energy cement from blended calcium silicates, and hardening using CO <sub>2</sub> . (Picot et al., 2011)	1. Solidia cement 2. CO <sub>2</sub>	<ol> <li>Kiln treatment</li> <li>Mixing with water</li> <li>Curing with CO<sub>2</sub></li> </ol>	1. Solidia concrete
		Pilot Scale	• •	
Calix	Enhanced calcination technology offering the potential for efficient mineral sequestration of carbon. Sorbent is regenerated and recycled (Prigiobbe and Mazzotti, 2011)	1. Limestone/Dolomite/ Magnesite/Kaolin/Gypsym/ Diatomite/Bauxite	<ol> <li>Minerals Grinding</li> <li>Minerals pre-treatment</li> <li>Calcination</li> <li>Separation of products</li> </ol>	<ol> <li>Steam</li> <li>Magnesium Oxide</li> <li>Semidolime</li> <li>Metakaolin</li> <li>Organic Phosphate</li> </ol>
Carbon Engineering	Direct air capture (DEC) and production of high quality carbon dioxide for enhanced oil recovery, algae growth in industrial-scale ponds, and synthesis of liquid hydrocarbons. [98-99]		<ol> <li>Air capture</li> <li>Separation of CO<sub>2</sub></li> <li>Regeneration cycle</li> </ol>	1. Pure CO <sub>2</sub>
CO <sub>2</sub> Solutions	Utilises the enzyme catalyst carbonic anhydrase for removing carbon from flue gases at emitting plants. (Penders-van Elk et al., 2012, Penders-van Elk et al., 2013, Huijgen and Comans, 2005a)		1. CO <sub>2</sub> Absorption 2. Enzyme catalysis 3. Thermal heating	1. Pure CO <sub>2</sub>
ICS	The novelty of ICS approach is that integrates the flue gasses capture step with the carbonation of silicate minerals. (Hunwick, 2009, Hunwick, 2010)		<ol> <li>Capture of flue gas</li> <li>Mineral preparation</li> <li>Carbonation</li> <li>Storage</li> </ol>	1. Mineral Carbonates
		aboratory Scale		
CCC	Mineralisation of magnesium and calcium silicates to carbonated products, along with generation of zero carbon electricity (Streit et al., 2012, Wilson et al., 2014)		<ol> <li>Digestion of the process fluids</li> <li>Carbon capture &amp; power generation</li> <li>Carbonation</li> <li>Fluid regeneration</li> </ol>	<ol> <li>Silica by-products</li> <li>Carbon free electricity</li> <li>Carbonate materials</li> </ol>

## References

- *Carbon8 Technology* [Online]. Available: <u>http://www.c8s.co.uk/</u> [Accessed 28 January 2014].
- 2005. IPCC special report on carbon dioxide capture and storage. In: METZ, B., DAVIDSON, O., DE CONINCK, H., LOOS, M. & MEYER, L. (eds.) Working Group III of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change. USA, New York.
- 2010. Worldsteel Association. Fact Sheet-Achieving the goal of zero-waste.
- 2011. IPCC special report on Renewable Energy Sources and Climate Change Mitigation. In: OTTMAR EDENHOFER, RAMÓN PICHS-MADRUGA, YOUBA SOKONA, KRISTIN SEYBOTH, PATRICK MATSCHOSS, SUSANNE KADNER, TIMM ZWICKEL, PATRICK EICKEMEIER, GERRIT HANSEN, STEFFEN SCHLOEMER & STECHOW, C. V. (eds.) Working Group III of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change. USA, New York.
- 2012. CO2 Utilisation Options Phase 1 Report. Carbon Sequestration Leadership Forum.
- 2013a. CO2 Utilisation Options Phase 2 Report. Carbon Sequestration Leadership Forum.
- 2013b. IPCC Fifth Assessment Report: Climate Change 2013 (AR5). In: JOUSSAUME, S., PENNER, J. & TANGANG, F. (eds.) Working Group I of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change USA, New York.
- ABOUT THE WHITE ROSE CCS PROJECT. 2014. Available: http://www.whiteroseccs.co.uk/about-white-rose [Accessed 08 May 2014].
- ADAMS, E. E. & CALDEIRA, K. 2008. Ocean Storage of CO<sub>2</sub>. *Elements*, 4, 319-324.
- ADÁNEZ, J., DE DIEGO, L. F. & GARCÍA-LABIANO, F. 1999. Calcination of calcium acetate and calcium magnesium acetate: effect of the reacting atmosphere. *Fuel*, 78, 583-592.
- ALVIRA, P., TOMÁS-PEJÓ, E., BALLESTEROS, M. & NEGRO, M. J. 2010. Pretreatment technologies for an efficient bioethanol production process based on enzymatic hydrolysis: A review. *Bioresource Technology*, 101, 4851-4861.
- ANSTICE, D. J., PAGE, C. L. & PAGE, M. M. 2005. The pore solution phase of carbonated cement pastes. *Cement and Concrete Research*, 35, 377-383.
- ANTHONY, E. J., JIA, L., WOODS, J., ROQUE, W. & BURWELL, S. 2000. Pacification of high calcic residues using carbon dioxide. *Waste Management*, 20, 1-13.
- ARAIZI, P. K., HILLS, C. D., MARIES, A., GUNNING, P. & WRAY, D. S. The current status of commercialisation of carbonation technology. Fourth International Conference on Accelerated Carbonation for Environmental and Materials Engineering, 9-12 April 2013 Leuven, Belgium.
- ASAVAPISIT, S., FOWLER, G. & CHEESEMAN, C. R. 1997. Solution chemistry during cement hydration in the presence of metal hydroxide wastes. *Cement and Concrete Research*, 27, 1249-1260.
- ASSOCIATION, E. A. 2010. Wrought aluminium production in Europe [Online]. Brussels, Belgium Available: <u>http://www.alueurope.eu/production-wrought-aluminium-production-in-europe/</u> [Accessed 30 May 2012].

- BACIOCCHI, R., COSTA, G., DI BARTOLOMEO, E., POLETTINI, A. & POMI, R. 2009a. The effects of accelerated carbonation on CO<sub>2</sub> uptake and metal release from incineration APC residues. *Waste Management*, 29, 2994-3003.
- BACIOCCHI, R., COSTA, G., DI BARTOLOMEO, E., POLETTINI, A. & POMI, R. Comparison of different process routes for stainless steel slag carbonation. Third International Conference on Accelerated Carbonation For Environmental and Materials Engineering (ACEME 10), November 29-December 1 2010 Turku, Finland. 193-202.
- BACIOCCHI, R., COSTA, G., POLETTINI, A., POMI, R. & PRIGIOBBE, V. 2009b. Comparison of different reaction routes for carbonation of APC residues. *Energy Procedia*, 1, 4851-4858.
- BALAYSSAC, J. P., DÉTRICHÉ, C. H. & GRANDET, J. 1995. Effects of curing upon carbonation of concrete. *Construction and Building Materials*, 9, 91-95.
- BARNARD, L. H., BOARDMAN, D. I., ROGERS, C. D., HILLS, C. D., CAREY, P. J., CANNING, K. & MACLEOD, C. L. 2005. Influence of Soil and Binder Properties on the Efficacy of Accelerated Carbonation. STARNET Conference. University of Cambridge
- BARNARD, L. H., BOARDMAN, D. I., ROGERS, C. D. F., HILLS, C. D. & CAREY, P. J. Effect of water content on the CO<sub>2</sub> uptake of clays and silt. First International Conference on Accelerated Carbonation For Environmental and Materials Engineering (ACEME 06), 12-14 June 2006 The Royal Society, London.
- BEINLICH, A., PLÜMPER, O., HÖVELMANN, J., AUSTRHEIM, H. & JAMTVEIT, B. 2012. Massive serpentinite carbonation at Linnajavri, N–Norway. *Terra Nova*, 1-10.
- BLACK, L., GARBEV, K. & GEE, I. 2008. Surface carbonation of synthetic C-S-H samples: A comparison between fresh and aged C-S-H using X-ray photoelectron spectroscopy. *Cement and Concrete Research*, 38, 745-750.
- BLISSETT, R. S. & ROWSON, N. A. 2012. A review of the multi-component utilisation of coal fly ash. *Fuel*, 97, 1-23.
- BOBICKI, E. R., LIU, Q., XU, Z. & ZENG, H. 2012. Carbon capture and storage using alkaline industrial wastes. *Progress in Energy and Combustion Science*, 38, 302-320.
- BODÉNAN, F., BOURGEOIS, F., PETIOT, C., AUGÉ, T., BONFILS, B., JULCOUR-LEBIGUE, C., GUYOT, F., BOUKARY, A., TREMOSA, J., LASSIN, A., GAUCHER, E. C. & CHIQUET, P. 2014. Ex situ mineral carbonation for CO<sub>2</sub> mitigation: Evaluation of mining waste resources, aqueous carbonation processability and life cycle assessment (Carmex project). *Minerals Engineering*, 59, 52-63.
- BÖHMER, S., MOSER, G., NEUBAUER, C., PELTONIEMI, M., SCHACHERMAYER, E., TESAR, M., WALTER, B. & WINTER, B. 2008. Aggregates case study-data gathering-Final report. Vienna, Austria: Institute for Prospective Technological Studies.
- BONENFANT, D., KHAROUNE, L., SAUVE', S. B., HAUSLER, R., NIQUETTE, P., MIMEAULT, M. & KHAROUNE, M. 2008. CO<sub>2</sub> Sequestration Potential of Steel Slags at Ambient Pressure and Temperature. *Industrial & Engineering Chemistry Research*, 47, 7610-7616.
- BONFILS, B., JULCOUR-LEBIGUE, C., GUYOT, F., BODÉNAN, F., CHIQUET, P. & BOURGEOIS, F. 2012. Comprehensive analysis of direct aqueous

mineral carbonation using dissolution enhancing organic additives. *International Journal of Greenhouse Gas Control*, 9, 334-346.

BONFILS, B., JULCOUR, C., BOURGEOIS, F., GUYOT, F. & CHIQUET, P. About the foundations of direct aqueous carbonation with dissolution enhancing organic salts. Third International Conference on Accelerated Carbonation For Environmental and Materials Engineering (ACEME 10), November 29- December 1 2010 Turku, Finland

99-109.

- BORGES, P. H. R., COSTA, J. O., MILESTONE, N. B., LYNSDALE, C. J. & STREATFIELD, R. E. 2010. Carbonation of CH and C–S–H in composite cement pastes containing high amounts of BFS. *Cement and Concrete Research*, 40, 284-292.
- BOSCHI, C., DALLAI, L., DINI, A., GIANELLI, G., RUGGIERI, G. & TRUMPY,
  E. Fluid chemistry evolution during the natural carbonation of the Tuscan serpentinites: insights for CO<sub>2</sub> mineralogical sequestration. Third International Conference on Accelerated Carbonation For Environmental and Materials Engineering (ACEME 10), November 29- December 1 2010 Turku, Finland. 139-146.
- BOUCHAALA, F., PAYAN, C., GARNIER, V. & BALAYSSAC, J. P. 2011. Carbonation assessment in concrete by nonlinear ultrasound. *Cement and Concrete Research*, 41, 557-559.
- BOZKURT, N. & YAZICIOGLU, S. 2010. Strength and capillary water absorption of lightweight concrete under different curing conditions *Indian Journal of Engineering & Materials Science*, 17, 145-151.
- BRITISH GEOLOGICAL SURVEY 2005. Cement raw materials. Natural Environment Research Council.
- BUKOWSKI, J. M. & BERGER, R. L. 1979. Reactivity and strength development of CO<sub>2</sub> activated non-hydraulic calcium silicates. *Cement and Concrete Research*, 9, 57-68.
- BULL, S. 2010. *Acetic acid- General Information* [Online]. Available: https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment\_data/fil e/315396/acetic\_acid\_general\_information.pdf [Accessed 04 December 2014].
- C.I.R.I.A 2001. Report C559: Freeze-thaw resisting concrete: its achievement in the UK. Construction Industry Research and Information Association. Available from the HIS Construction Information Service (CIS).
- CALIX. 2012. *Calix Technology* [Online]. Available: http://www.calix.com.au/index.php [Accessed 28 January 2012].
- CAMBRIDGE CARBON CAPTURE. 2014a. Cambridge Carbon Capture (CCC)-An overview [Online]. Available: <u>http://cambcarbcap.files.wordpress.com/2010/11/ccc\_company\_overview\_ja</u> n-10-v4.pdf [Accessed 28 January 2014].
- CAMBRIDGE CARBON CAPTURE. 2014b. Cambridge Carbon Capture (CCC) Technology [Online]. Available: <u>http://cambcarbcap.wordpress.com/</u> [Accessed 28 January 2014].
- CARBON8. 2014. *Carbon8 Technology* [Online]. Available: <u>http://www.c8s.co.uk/</u> [Accessed 28 January 2014].
- CARBON ENGINEERING TECHNOLOGY. 2014. Carbon Engineering Technology [Online]. Available: <u>http://carbonengineering.com/</u> [Accessed 17 February 2014].

- CARBON SEQUESTRATION LEADERSHIP FORUM 2012. CO<sub>2</sub> Utilisation Options Phase 1 Report. Carbon Sequestration Leadership Forum.
- CARBON SEQUESTRATION LEADERSHIP FORUM 2013. CO<sub>2</sub> Utilisation Options Phase 2 Report. Carbon Sequestration Leadership Forum.
- CASTELLOTE, M. & ANDRADE, C. 2008. Modelling the carbonation of cementitious matrixes by means of the unreacted-core model, UR-CORE. *Cement and Concrete Research*, 38, 1374-1384.
- CEWEP. 2011. Landfill taxes and bans [Online]. Available: <u>http://www.cewep.eu/information/data/landfill/index.html</u> [Accessed 30 May 2012].
- CHANG, C.-F. & CHEN, J.-W. 2006. The experimental investigation of concrete carbonation depth. *Cement and Concrete Research*, 36, 1760-1767.
- CHANG, E. E., CHEN, C.-H., CHEN, Y.-H., PAN, S.-Y. & CHIANG, P.-C. 2011. Performance evaluation for carbonation of steel-making slags in a slurry reactor. *Journal of Hazardous Materials*, 186, 558-564.
- CHAPD. 2010. Acetic acid-Incident management [Online]. Available: https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment\_data/fil e/315398/acetic\_acid\_incident\_management.pdf [Accessed\_04\_December 2010].
- CHATENET, M., GENIES-BULTEL, L., AUROUSSEAU, M., DURAND, R. & ANDOLFATTO, F. 2002. Oxygen reduction on silver catalysts in solutions containing various concentrations of sodium hydroxide comparison with platinum. *Journal of Applied Electrochemistry*, 32, 1131-1140.
- CHEN, Z.-Y., O'CONNOR, W. K. & GERDEMANN, S. J. 2006. Chemistry of aqueous mineral carbonation for carbon sequestration and explanation of experimental results. *Environmental Progress*, 25, 161-166.
- CLANCY, L., GOODMAN, P., SINCLAIR, H. & DOCKERY, D. W. 2002. Effect of air-pollution control on death rates in Dublin, Ireland: an intervention study. *The Lancet*, 360, 1210-1214.
- CLARENS, F., GRANDIA, F., MECA, S., DURO, L. & DE PABLO, J. Determination of CO<sub>2</sub> sequestration capacity and stabilisation of MSWI fly ash through accelerated carbonation. Third International Conference on Accelerated Carbonation For Environmental and Materials Engineering (ACEME 10), November 29- December 1 2010 Turku, Finland. 205-214.
- CO2 SOLUTIONS. 2014. CO<sub>2</sub> Solutions' Technology [Online]. Available: <u>http://www.co2solutions.com/en</u> [Accessed 17 February 2014].
- CORNELIS, G., VAN GERVEN, T. & VANDECASTEELE, C. The effect of carbonation on antimony leaching from MSWI bottom ash. First International Conference on Accelerated Carbonation For Environmental and Materials Engineering (ACEME 06), 12-14 June 2006 The Royal Society, London.
- CRIADO, M., PALOMO, A. & FERNÁNDEZ-JIMÉNEZ, A. 2005. Alkali activation of fly ashes. Part 1: Effect of curing conditions on the carbonation of the reaction products. *Fuel*, 84, 2048-2054.
- CULTRONE, G., SEBASTIÁN, E. & HUERTAS, M. O. 2005. Forced and natural carbonation of lime-based mortars with and without additives: Mineralogical and textural changes. *Cement and Concrete Research*, 35, 2278-2289.
- DAVAL, D., MARTINEZ, I., CORVISIER, J., FINDLING, N., GOFFÉ, B. & GUYOT, F. 2009. Carbonation of Ca-bearing silicates, the case of
wollastonite: Experimental investigations and kinetic modeling. *Chemical Geology*, 265, 63-78.

- DEMIDENKO, N. I., PODZOROVA, L. I., ROZANOVA, V. S., SKOROKHODOV, V. A. & SHEVCHENKO, V. Y. 2001. Wollastonite as a New Kind of Natural Material (A Review). *Glass and Ceramics*, 58, 308-311.
- DENNARD, A. E. & WILLIAMS, R. J. P. 1966. The catalysis of the reaction between carbon dioxide and water. *Journal of the Chemical Society A: Inorganic, Physical, Theoretical*, 812-816.
- DIAS, W. P. S. 2000. Reduction of concrete sorptivity with age through carbonation. *Cement and Concrete Research*, 30, 1255-1261.
- DINAKAR, P., BABU, K. G. & SANTHANAM, M. 2007. Corrosion behaviour of blended cements in low and medium strength concretes. *Cement and Concrete Composites*, 29, 136-145.
- DIPPLE, G. M., WILSON, S. A., POWER, I. M., THOM, J. M., RAUDSEPP, M. & SOUTHAM, G. Passive mineral carbonation in mine tailings. Second International Conference on Accelerated Carbonation for Environmental and Materials Engineering (ACEME 08), 1-3 October 2008 Rome, Italy.
- DOMINGO, C., LOSTE, E., GÓMEZ-MORALES, J., GARCÍA-CARMONA, J. & FRAILE, J. 2006. Calcite precipitation by a high-pressure CO<sub>2</sub> carbonation route. *The Journal of Supercritical Fluids*, 36, 202-215.
- DOOLEY, J. J., DAVIDSON, C. L. & DAHOWSKI, R. T. 2009. An assessment of the commercial availability of carbon dioxide capture and storage technologies as of June 2009. Richland, Wasinghton, USA Pacific Northwest National Laboratory, prepared for the U.S. Department of Energy.
- DRI, M., SANNA, A. & MAROTO-VALER, M. M. 2013. Dissolution of steel slag and recycled concrete aggregate in ammonium bisulphate for CO<sub>2</sub> mineral carbonation. *Fuel Processing Technology*, 113, 114-122.
- ECKE, H., MENAD, N. & LAGERKVIST, A. 2003. Carbonation of Municipal Solid Waste Incineration Fly Ash and the Impact on Metal Mobility. *Journal* of Environmental Engineering, 129, 435-440.
- EL-SAYED, M., KAZEM, M. & HILGEROTH, A. 2014. Glacial acetic acid as an efficient catalyst for simple synthesis of dindolylmethanes. *Current Chemistry Letters* 3, 7-14.
- EL-TURKI, A., BALL, R. J. & ALLEN, G. C. 2007. The influence of relative humidity on structural and chemical changes during carbonation of hydraulic lime. *Cement and Concrete Research*, 37, 1233-1240.
- MANNISTO, P., FOGELHOLM, C.-J. ELONEVA, S., SAID, A., & ZEVENHOVEN, Ammonium based steelmaking R. salt slag carbonation:precipitation of CaCO<sub>3</sub>. Third International Conference on Accelerated Carbonation For Environmental and Materials Engineering (ACEME 10), November 29- December 1 2010 Turku, Finland. 169-178.
- ELONEVA, S., TEIR, S., SALMINEN, J., FOGELHOLM, C.-J. & ZEVENHOVEN, R. 2008. Fixation of CO<sub>2</sub> by carbonating calcium derived from blast furnace slag. *Energy*, 33, 1461-1467.
- EPA. 2000. *Hazard Summary-Chloroform* [Online]. Available: <u>http://www.epa.gov/ttnatw01/hlthef/chlorofo.html</u> [Accessed 04 December 2014].
- ETOH, J., SHIMAOKA, T., ZHANG, R. & HARAGUCHI, T. Progress of carbonation in landfilled municipal solid waste incineration residues. First

International Conference on Accelerated Carbonation For Environmental and Materials Engineering (ACEME 06), 12-14 June 2006 The Royal Society, London.

- EUROPE. 2001. *Material Safety data sheet: Ethanol / Ethyl alcohol* [Online]. Available: <u>http://www.distill.com/materialsafety/msds-eu.html</u> [Accessed 08 December 2014].
- EUROSLAG. 2012. Available: <u>http://www.euroslag.org/home/</u> [Accessed 30 May 2012].
- FAGERLUND, J., NDUAGU, E., ROMÃO, I. & ZEVENHOVEN, R. 2010. A stepwise process for carbon dioxide sequestration using magnesium silicates. *Frontiers of Chemical Engineering in China*, 4, 133-141.
- FAGERLUND, J., NDUAGU, E. & ZEVENHOVEN, R. 2011. Recent developments in the carbonation of serpentinite derived Mg(OH)<sub>2</sub> using a pressurized fluidized bed. *Energy Procedia*, 4, 4993-5000.
- FELL, A. K. M., THOMASSEN, T. R., KRISTENSEN, P., EGELAND, T. & KONGERUD, J. 2003. Respiratory Symptoms and Ventilatory Function in Workers Exposed to Portland Cement Dust. *Journal of Occupational and Environmental* Medicine, 45, 1008-1014 10.1097/01.jom.0000083036.56116.9d.
- FERNANDEZ BERTOS, M., LI, X., SIMONS, S. J. R., HILLS, C. D. & CAREY, P. J. 2004. Investigation of accelerated carbonation for the stabilisation of MSW incinerator ashes and the sequestration of CO<sub>2</sub>. *Green Chemistry*, 6, 428-436.
- FERNÁNDEZ BERTOS, M., SIMONS, S. J. R., HILLS, C. D. & CAREY, P. J. 2004. A review of accelerated carbonation technology in the treatment of cement-based materials and sequestration of CO<sub>2</sub>. *Journal of Hazardous Materials*, 112, 193-205.
- FEUERBORN, H.-J. 2005. Coal ash utilisation over the world and in Europe. Workshop on Environmental and Health Aspects of Coal Ash Utilization 23rd – 24th November 2005. Tel-Aviv, Israel.
- FRANCO, F., PÉREZ-MAQUEDA, L. A. & PÉREZ-RODRÍGUEZ, J. L. 2004. The effect of ultrasound on the particle size and structural disorder of a well-ordered kaolinite. *Journal of Colloid and Interface Science*, 274, 107-117.
- FRICKER, K. J. & PARK, A.-H. A. 2013. Effect of H<sub>2</sub>O on Mg(OH)<sub>2</sub> carbonation pathways for combined CO<sub>2</sub> capture and storage. *Chemical Engineering Science*, 100, 332-341.
- GADIKOTA, G., MATTER, J., KELEMEN, P. & PARK, A.-H. A. 2014. Chemical and morphological changes during olivine carbonation for CO<sub>2</sub> storage in the presence of NaCl and NaHCO3. *Physical Chemistry Chemical Physics*, 16, 4679-4693.
- GAGG, C. R. 2014. Cement and concrete as an engineering material: An historic appraisal and case study analysis. *Engineering Failure Analysis*, 40, 114-140.
- GALAN, I., ANDRADE, C., MORA, P. & SANJUAN, M. A. 2010. Sequestration of CO<sub>2</sub> by Concrete Carbonation. *Environmental Science & Technology*, 44, 3181-3186.
- GARRABRANTS, A. C., KOSSON, D. S., VAN DER SLOOT, H. A. & MEEUSSEN, J. C. L. Effects of atmospheric and leachant carbonation on retention of contaminants in cement-based waste forms. First International Conference on Accelerated Carbonation For Environmental and Materials Engineering (ACEME 06), 12-14 June 2006 The Royal Society, London.

- GEORGIOU, D., METALLINOU, C., AIVASIDIS, A., VOUDRIAS, E. & GIMOUHOPOULOS, K. 2004. Decolorization of azo-reactive dyes and cotton-textile wastewater using anaerobic digestion and acetate-consuming bacteria. *Biochemical Engineering Journal*, 19, 75-79.
- GERDEMANN, S. J., DAHLIN, D. C., O'CONNOR, W. K., PENNER, L. R. & RUSH, G. E. 2004. *Ex-situ and in-situ mineral carbonation as a means to sequester carbon dioxide*.
- GERDEMANN, S. J., DAHLIN, D. C., O'CONNOR, W. K. & PENNER, L. R. 2003. Carbon dioxide sequestration by aqueous mineral carbonation of magnesium silicate minerals. Albany Research Center: Office of Fossil Energy, US DOE.
- GERDEMANN, S. J., O'CONNOR, W. K., DAHLIN, D. C., PENNER, L. R. & RUSH, H. 2007. Ex Situ Aqueous Mineral Carbonation. *Environmental Science & Technology*, 41, 2587-2593.
- GHOORAH, M., BALUCAN, R. D., KENNEDY, E. M. & DLUGOGORSKI, B. Z. Selection of acid for weak acid processing of australian wollastonite for mineralisation of CO<sub>2</sub>. Third International Conference on Accelerated Carbonation For Environmental and Materials Engineering (ACEME 10), November 29- December 1 2010 Turku, Finland. 147-156.
- GIBBINS, J. & CHALMERS, H. 2008. Carbon capture and storage. *Energy Policy*, 36, 4317-4322.
- GODDARD-BORGER, E. D. & STICK, R. V. 2007. An Efficient, Inexpensive, and Shelf-Stable Diazotransfer Reagent: Imidazole-1-sulfonyl Azide Hydrochloride. Organic Letters, 9, 3797-3800.
- GOLDBERG, P., CHEN, Z.-Y., O'CONNOR, W., WALTERS, R. & ZIOCK, H. CO<sub>2</sub> Mineral Sequestration Studies in US. First national conference on carbon sequestration 2001 May 14-17, 2001 Washington DC, USA.
- GRANDIA, F., MECA, S., DURO, L., CLARENS, F. & DE PABLO, J. Stabilisation of cement kiln dust through accelerated carbonation. Third International Conference on Accelerated Carbonation For Environmental and Materials Engineering (ACEME 10), November 29- December 1 2010 Turku, Finland. 329-332.
- GUNNING, P. 2010. Accelerated carbonation of hazardous wastes. University of Greenwich.
- GUNNING, P., HILLS C.D. & CAREY P.J. Commercial application of accelerated carbonation: Looking back at the first year. Fourth International Conference on Accelerated Carbonation for Environmental and Materials Engineering (ACEME 13), 2013 Leuven, Belgium.
- GUNNING, P., HILLS, C. D., ARAIZI, P. K., MARIES, A. & WRAY, D. S. Carbon Capture using wastes: A review. 7th International Scientific Conference "Science and Higher Education in Function of Sustainable Development -SED 2014", 3-4 October, 2014 2014 Uzice, Serbia.
- GUNNING, P., HILLS, C. D., CAREY, P. J. & ANTEMIR, A. Carbon capture from source using industrial waste: preliminary results. Third International Conference on Accelerated Carbonation For Environmental and Materials Engineering (ACEME 10), November 29- December 1 2010a Turku, Finland. 257-266.
- GUNNING, P. J., HILLS, C. D. & CAREY, P. J. 2009. Production of lightweight aggregate from industrial waste and carbon dioxide. *Waste Management*, 29, 2722-2728.

- GUNNING, P. J., HILLS, C. D. & CAREY, P. J. 2010b. Accelerated carbonation treatment of industrial wastes. *Waste Management*, 30, 1081-1090.
- HAMELINCK, C. N., HOOIJDONK, G. V. & FAAIJ, A. P. C. 2005. Ethanol from lignocellulosic biomass: techno-economic performance in short-, middle- and long-term. *Biomass and Bioenergy*, 28, 384-410.
- HAN, S. O., YOUK, J. H., MIN, K. D., KANG, Y. O. & PARK, W. H. 2008. Electrospinning of cellulose acetate nanofibers using a mixed solvent of acetic acid/water: Effects of solvent composition on the fiber diameter. *Materials Letters*, 62, 759-762.
- HÄNCHEN, M., PRIGIOBBE, V., BACIOCCHI, R. & MAZZOTTI, M. 2008. Precipitation in the Mg-carbonate system—effects of temperature and CO<sub>2</sub> pressure. *Chemical Engineering Science*, 63, 1012-1028.
- HARRISON, A. L., POWER, I. M. & DIPPLE, G. M. 2012. Accelerated Carbonation of Brucite in Mine Tailings for Carbon Sequestration. *Environmental Science & Technology*, 47, 126-134.
- HARVEY, O. R., CANTRELL, K. J., QAFOKU, N. P. & BROWN, C. F. 2012. Geochemical implications of CO<sub>2</sub> leakage associated with geologic storage: A review. US Department of Energy: Pacific Northwest National Laboratory.
- HARYANTO, A., FERNANDO, S., MURALI, N. & ADHIKARI, S. 2005. Current Status of Hydrogen Production Techniques by Steam Reforming of Ethanol: A Review. *Energy & Fuels*, 19, 2098-2106.
- HAURIE, L., FERNÁNDEZ, A. I., VELASCO, J. I., CHIMENOS, J. M., LOPEZ CUESTA, J.-M. & ESPIELL, F. 2006. Synthetic hydromagnesite as flame retardant. Evaluation of the flame behaviour in a polyethylene matrix. *Polymer Degradation and Stability*, 91, 989-994.
- HAURIE, L., FERNÁNDEZ, A. I., VELASCO, J. I., CHIMENOS, J. M., LOPEZ CUESTA, J.-M. & ESPIELL, F. 2007. Thermal stability and flame retardancy of LDPE/EVA blends filled with synthetic hydromagnesite/aluminium hydroxide/montmorillonite and magnesium hydroxide/aluminium hydroxide/montmorillonite mixtures. *Polymer Degradation and Stability*, 92, 1082-1087.
- HIDALGO, A., ANDRANDE, C., ALONSO, C., DOMINGO, C. & GARCIA, C. Microstructural characterisation of Portland cement based materials processed using ScCO<sub>2</sub>. First International Conference on Accelerated Carbonation For Environmental and Materials Engineering (ACEME 06), 12-14 June 2006 The Royal Society, London.
- HILLS, C. D., SWEENEY, R. E. H. & BUENFELD, N. R. 1999. Microstructural study of carbonated cement-solidified synthetic heavy metal waste. *Waste Management*, 19, 325-331.
- HOENIG, V., HOPPE, H. & EMBERGER, B. 2007. Carbon capture technology-Options and potentials for the cement industry. European Cement Research Academy: Portland Cement Association.
- HOLLINGBERY, L. A. & HULL, T. R. 2010. The thermal decomposition of huntite and hydromagnesite—A review. *Thermochimica Acta*, 509, 1-11.
- HOLLINGBERY, L. A. & HULL, T. R. 2012. The thermal decomposition of natural mixtures of huntite and hydromagnesite. *Thermochimica Acta*, 528, 45-52.
- HOLMES, G., NOLD, K., WALSH, T., HEIDEL, K., HENDERSON, M. A., RITCHIE, J., KLAVINS, P., SINGH, A. & KEITH, D. W. 2013. Outdoor Prototype Results for Direct Atmospheric Capture of Carbon Dioxide. *Energy Procedia*, 37, 6079-6095.

- HUIJGEN, W. J. J. & COMANS, R. N. J. 2003. Carbon dioxide sequestration by mineral carbonation. Petten, NL: Energy Research Centre of the Netherlands.
- HUIJGEN, W. J. J. & COMANS, R. N. J. 2005a. Carbon dioxide sequestration by mineral carbonation: Literature reviews update 2003-2004. Petten, NL: Energy Research Centre of the Netherlands.
- HUIJGEN, W. J. J. & COMANS, R. N. J. 2005b. Mineral CO<sub>2</sub> Sequestration by Steel Slag Carbonation. *Environmental Science & Technology*, 39, 9676-9682.
- HUIJGEN, W. J. J., COMANS, R. N. J. & WITKAMP, G.-J. 2007. Cost evaluation of CO<sub>2</sub> sequestration by aqueous mineral carbonation. *Energy Conversion and Management*, 48, 1923-1935.
- HUIJGEN, W. J. J., WITKAMP, G.-J. & COMANS, R. N. J. 2006. Mechanisms of aqueous wollastonite carbonation as a possible CO<sub>2</sub> sequestration process. *Chemical Engineering Science*, 61, 4242-4251.
- HUNTZINGER, D. N. & EATMON, T. D. 2009. A life-cycle assessment of Portland cement manufacturing: comparing the traditional process with alternative technologies. *Journal of Cleaner Production*, 17, 668-675.
- HUNTZINGER, D. N., GIERKE, J. S., SUTTER, L. L., KAWATRA, S. K. & EISELE, T. C. 2009. Mineral carbonation for carbon sequestration in cement kiln dust from waste piles. *Journal of Hazardous Materials*, 168, 31-37.
- HUNWICK, R. J. 2009. A new, integrated, approach to mineralisation-based CCS. *Modern Power Systems*, .
- HUNWICK, R. J. 2010. The IPC process-Carbon capture and storage by integrated mineralisation. *EXPPERTS*,. Berlin, Germany.
- HYVERT, N., SELLIER, A., DUPRAT, F., ROUGEAU, P. & FRANCISCO, P. 2010. Dependency of C–S–H carbonation rate on CO<sub>2</sub> pressure to explain transition from accelerated tests to natural carbonation. *Cement and Concrete Research*, 40, 1582-1589.
- IPCC 2005. IPCC special report on carbon dioxide capture and storage. In: METZ, B., DAVIDSON, O., DE CONINCK, H., LOOS, M. & MEYER, L. (eds.) Working Group III of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change. USA, New York.
- IPCC 2011. IPCC special report on Renewable Energy Sources and Climate Change Mitigation. In: OTTMAR EDENHOFER, RAMÓN PICHS-MADRUGA, YOUBA SOKONA, KRISTIN SEYBOTH, PATRICK MATSCHOSS, SUSANNE KADNER, TIMM ZWICKEL, PATRICK EICKEMEIER, GERRIT HANSEN, STEFFEN SCHLOEMER & STECHOW, C. V. (eds.) Working Group III of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change. USA, New York.
- IPCC 2013. IPCC Fifth Assessment Report: Climate Change 2013 (AR5). In: JOUSSAUME, S., PENNER, J. & TANGANG, F. (eds.) Working Group I of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change USA, New York.
- JERGA, J. 2004. Physico-mechanical properties of carbonated concrete. *Construction and Building Materials*, 18, 645-652.
- JIANGUO, J., MAOZHE, C., YAN, Z. & XIN, X. 2009. Pb stabilization in fresh fly ash from municipal solid waste incinerator using accelerated carbonation technology. *Journal of Hazardous Materials*, 161, 1046-1051.
- JO, H. Y., KIM, J. H., LEE, Y. J., LEE, M. & CHOH, S.-J. 2012. Evaluation of factors affecting mineral carbonation of CO<sub>2</sub> using coal fly ash in aqueous

solutions under ambient conditions. *Chemical Engineering Journal*, 183, 77-87.

- JOHNSON, D. C. 2000. Accelerated carbonation of waste calcium silicate materials. *SCI Lecture Series.* Society of Chemical Industry.
- JOHNSON, D. C., MACLEOD, C. L. & HILLS, C. D. Accelerated carbonation of stainless steel slag. 5th International Conference on the Environmental and Technical Implications of Construction with Alternative Materials, 2003 San Sebastian, Spain. 543–551.
- JOHNSTON, M., CLARK, M. W., MCMAHON, P. & WARD, N. 2010. Alkalinity conversion of bauxite refinery residues by neutralization. *Journal of Hazardous Materials*, 182, 710-715.
- JUNG, K., KEENER, T., KHANG, S.-J. & LEE, S.-K. 2004. A technical and economic evaluation of CO<sub>2</sub> separation from power plant flue gases with reclaimed Mg(OH)<sub>2</sub>. *Clean Technologies and Environmental Policy*, 6, 201-212.
- KAKIZAWA, M., YAMASAKI, A. & YANAGISAWA, Y. 2001. A new CO<sub>2</sub> disposal process via artificial weathering of calcium silicate accelerated by acetic acid. *Energy*, 26, 341-354.
- KAKOOEI, H., GHOLAMI, A., GHASEMKHANI, M., HOSSEINI, M., PANAHI, D. & POURYAGHOUB, G. 2012. Dust Exposure and Respiratory Health Effects in Cement Production. *Acta Medica Iranica*, 50, 122-126.
- KATZER, J. & DOMSKI, J. 2012. Quality and mechanical properties of engineered steel fibres used as reinforcement for concrete. *Construction and Building Materials*, 34, 243-248.
- KELEMEN, P. B. & MATTER, J. 2008. In situ carbonation of peridotite for CO<sub>2</sub> storage. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences, 105, 17295-17300.
- KELEMEN, P. B., MATTER, J. & STREIT, L. Field observations and theoretical studies relevant to enhanced in situ carbonation of peridotite. Second International Conference on Accelerated Carbonation for Environmental and Materials Engineering (ACEME 08), 1-3 October 2008 Rome, Italy. 105-112.
- KHAITAN, S., DZOMBAK, D. A., SWALLOW, P., SCHMIDT, K., FU, J. & LOWRY, G. V. 2010. Field Evaluation of Bauxite Residue Neutralization by Carbon Dioxide, Vegetation, and Organic Amendments. *Journal of Environmental Engineering*, 136, 1045-1053.
- KIESE, M. & HASTINGS, B. A. 1940. The catalytic hydration of carbon dioxide. *The Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 132, 267-280.
- KIRCHOFER, A., BECKER, A., BRANDT, A. & WILCOX, J. 2013. CO2 Mitigation Potential of Mineral Carbonation with Industrial Alkalinity Sources in the United States. *Environmental Science & Technology*, 47, 7548-7554.
- KLEMM, W. A. & BERGER, R. L. 1972. Accelerated curing of cementitious systems by carbon dioxide: Part I. Portland cement. *Cement and Concrete Research*, 2, 567-576.
- KLOPROGGE, J. T., MARTENS, W. N., NOTHDURFT, L., DUONG, L. V. & WEBB, G. E. 2003. Low temperature synthesis and characterization of nesquehonite. *Journal of Materials Science Letters*, 22, 825-829.
- KNOCK, R. C., SEYFERT, M., HUNT, M. C., DIKEMAN, M. E., MANCINI, R. A., UNRUH, J. A., HIGGINS, J. J. & MONDEREN, R. A. 2006. Effects of potassium lactate, sodium chloride, sodium tripolyphosphate, and sodium

acetate on colour, colour stability, and oxidative properties of injectionenhanced beef rib steaks. *Meat Science*, 74, 312-318.

- KODAMA, S., NISHIMOTO, T., YAMAMOTO, N., YOGO, K. & YAMADA, K. 2008. Development of a new pH-swing CO<sub>2</sub> mineralization process with a recyclable reaction solution. *Energy*, 33, 776-784.
- KOJIMA, Y., YAMAGUCHI, K. & NISHIMIYA, N. 2010. Effect of amplitude and frequency of ultrasonic irradiation on morphological characteristics control of calcium carbonate. *Ultrasonics Sonochemistry*, 17, 617-620.
- KREVOR, S. & LACKNER, K. S. Enhancing the reaction kinetics of the dissolution of serpentine for mineral carbon sequestration. Second International Conference on Accelerated Carbonation For Environmental and Materials Engineering (ACEME 08) October 1-3 2008 Rome, Italy.
- KREVOR, S. C. & LACKNER, K. S. 2009. Enhancing process kinetics for mineral carbon sequestration. *Energy Procedia*, 1, 4867-4871.
- LACKNER, K. S. 2002. Carbonate chemistry for sequestering fossil carbon *Annual Review of Energy and the Environment*, 27, 193-232.
- LACKNER, K. S. 2003. Climate change: a guide to CO<sub>2</sub> sequestration *Science*, 300, 1677-1678.
- LACKNER, K. S., BUTT, D. P. & WENDT, C. H. 1997. Progress on binding CO<sub>2</sub> in mineral substrates. *Energy Conversion and Management*, 38, Supplement, S259-S264.
- LAM, C. H. K., IP, A. W. M., BARFORD, J. P. & MCKAY, G. 2010. Use of Incineration MSW Ash: A Review. *Sustainability*, 2, 1943-1968.
- LANGE, L. C., HILLS, C. D. & POOLE, A. B. 1996a. The effect of accelerated carbonation on the properties of cement-solidified waste forms. *Waste Management*, 16, 757-763.
- LANGE, L. C., HILLS, C. D. & POOLE, A. B. 1996b. The influence of mix parameters and binder choice on the carbonation of cement solidified wastes. *Waste Management*, 16, 749-756.
- LAWRENCE, R. M., MAYS, T. J., RIGBY, S. P., WALKER, P. & D'AYALA, D. 2007. Effects of carbonation on the pore structure of non-hydraulic lime mortars. *Cement and Concrete Research*, 37, 1059-1069.
- LI, J. & BLATCHLEY, E. R. 2007. Volatile Disinfection Byproduct Formation Resulting from Chlorination of Organic–Nitrogen Precursors in Swimming Pools. *Environmental Science & Technology*, 41, 6732-6739.
- LI, W.-B., YAO, J., MALIK, Z., ZHOU, G.-D., DONG, M. & SHEN, D.-S. 2014. Impact of MSWI Bottom Ash Codisposed with MSW on Landfill Stabilization with Different Operational Modes. *BioMed Research International*, 2014, 10.
- LI, X., BERTOS, M. F., HILLS, C. D., CAREY, P. J. & SIMON, S. 2007. Accelerated carbonation of municipal solid waste incineration fly ashes. *Waste Management*, 27, 1200-1206.
- LI, X., HILLS, C. D. & CAREY, P. J. Accelerated carbonation of incinerator fly ash First International Conference on Accelerated Carbonation For Environmental and Materials Engineering (ACEME 06) 12-14 June 2006 The Royal Society, London.
- LIU, J., BOARDMAN, D. I., ROGERS, C. D. F., HILLS, C. D., CAREY, P. J. & GARDNER, K. Geotechnical properties of carbonated and non-carbonated stabilised/ solidified soils. First International Conference on Accelerated

Carbonation For Environmental and Materials Engineering (ACEME 06), 12-14 June 2006 The Royal Society, London.

- LIU, L., HA, J., HASHIDA, T. & TERAMURA, S. 2001. Development of a CO<sub>2</sub> solidification method for recycling autoclaved lightweight concrete waste. *Journal of Materials Science Letters*, 20, 1791-1794.
- LÓPEZ-PERIAGO, A. M., PACCIANI, R., GARCÍA-GONZÁLEZ, C., VEGA, L. F. & DOMINGO, C. 2010. A breakthrough technique for the preparation of high-yield precipitated calcium carbonate. *The Journal of Supercritical Fluids*, 52, 298-305.
- LÓPEZ-PERIAGO, A. M., PACCIANI, R., VEGA, L. F. & DOMINGO, C. 2011. Monitoring the Effect of Mineral Precursor, Fluid Phase CO<sub>2</sub>-H<sub>2</sub>O Composition, and Stirring on CaCO<sub>3</sub> Crystallization in a Supercritical— Ultrasound Carbonation Process. *Crystal Growth & Design*, 11, 5324-5332.
- LOUISNARD, O. 2010. Nonlinear attenuation of sound waves by inertial cavitation bubbles. *Physics Procedia*, 3, 735-742.
- LU, Y., RIYANTO, N. & WEAVERS, L. K. 2002. Sonolysis of synthetic sediment particles: particle characteristics affecting particle dissolution and size reduction. *Ultrason Sonochem*, 9, 181-8.
- LUYBEN, M. L. & TYRÉUS, B. D. 1998. An industrial design/control study for the vinyl acetate monomer process. *Computers & Chemical Engineering*, 22, 867-877.
- MAI, M. L., EMMETT, M., SHEIKH, M. S., SANTA ANA, C. A., SCHILLER, L. & FORDTRAN, J. S. 1989. Calcium acetate, an effective phosphorus binder in patients with renal failure. *Kidney Int*, 36, 690-695.
- MARIES, A. A sequential process model for the accelerated carbonation of Portland cement. 2nd International Conference on Accelerated Carbonation for Environmental and Materials Engineering (ACEME 08), 2008 Rome.
- MARIES, A. & HILLS, C. D. Homogeneous catalysis of the accelerated carbonation of Portland cement. Fourth International Conference on Accelerated Carbonation for Environmental and Materials Engineering, 9-12 April 2013 Leuven, Belgium.
- MARINA SANCHEZ, M. A. & MIRANTA MARTINEZ, M. Dry accelerated carbonation reaction studies for lime, hydrated lime and steel slag. Third International Conference on Accelerated Carbonation For Environmental and Materials Engineering (ACEME 10), November 29- December 1 2010 Turku, Finland. 179-188.
- MAROTO-VALER, M. M., FAUTH, D. J., KUCHTA, M. E., ZHANG, Y. & ANDRÉSEN, J. M. 2005. Activation of magnesium rich minerals as carbonation feedstock materials for CO<sub>2</sub> sequestration. *Fuel Processing Technology*, 86, 1627-1645.
- MASON, W. P. & MCSKIMIN, H. J. 1947. Attenuation and Scattering of High Frequency Sound Waves in Metals and Glasses. *The Journal of the Acoustical Society of America*, 19, 464-473.
- MATTER, J. M., BROECKER, W. S., GISLASON, S. R., GUNNLAUGSSON, E., OELKERS, E. H., STUTE, M., SIGURDARDÓTTIR, H., STEFANSSON, A., ALFREÐSSON, H. A., ARADÓTTIR, E. S., AXELSSON, G., SIGFÚSSON, B. & WOLFF-BOENISCH, D. 2011. The CarbFix Pilot Project–Storing carbon dioxide in basalt. *Energy Procedia*, 4, 5579-5585.
- MATTER, J. M., BROECKER, W. S., STUTE, M., GISLASON, S. R., OELKERS, E. H., STEFÁNSSON, A., WOLFF-BOENISCH, D., GUNNLAUGSSON,

E., AXELSSON, G. & BJÖRNSSON, G. 2009. Permanent Carbon Dioxide Storage into Basalt: The CarbFix Pilot Project, Iceland. *Energy Procedia*, 1, 3641-3646.

- MCPOLIN, D. O., BASHEER, P. A. M., LONG, A. E., GRATTAN, K. T. V. & SUN, T. 2007. New Test Method to Obtain pH Profiles due to Carbonation of Concretes Containing Supplementary Cementitious Materials. *Journal of Materials in Civil Engineering*, 19, 936-946.
- MILKOWSKI, A., GARG, H. K., COUGHLIN, J. R. & BRYAN, N. S. 2010. Nutritional epidemiology in the context of nitric oxide biology: A risk– benefit evaluation for dietary nitrite and nitrate. *Nitric Oxide*, 22, 110-119.
- MINEROLOGY, H. O. 2005. *Hydromagnesite* [Online]. Available: <u>http://rruff.info/doclib/hom/hydromagnesite.pdf</u> [Accessed 25 November 2014].
- MONTES-HERNANDEZ, G., PÉREZ-LÓPEZ, R., RENARD, F., NIETO, J. M. & CHARLET, L. 2009. Mineral sequestration of CO<sub>2</sub> by aqueous carbonation of coal combustion fly-ash. *Journal of Hazardous Materials*, 161, 1347-1354.
- MONTES-HERNANDEZ, G., RENARD, F., CHIRIAC, R., FINDLING, N. & TOCHE, F. 2012. Rapid Precipitation of Magnesite Microcrystals from Mg(OH)<sub>2</sub>-H<sub>2</sub>O-CO<sub>2</sub> Slurry Enhanced by NaOH and a Heat-Aging Step (from ~20 to 90 °C). *Crystal Growth & Design*, 12, 5233-5240.
- MURIITHI, G. N., PETRIK, L. F., FATOBA, O., GITARI, W. M., DOUCET, F. J., NEL, J., NYALE, S. M. & CHUKS, P. E. 2013. Comparison of CO<sub>2</sub> capture by ex-situ accelerated carbonation and in in-situ naturally weathered coal fly ash. *Journal of Environmental Management*, 127, 212-220.
- NABHANI, F., MCKIE, M. & HODGSON, S. 2013. A case study on a sustainable alternative to the landfill disposal of spent foundry sand. *International Journal of Sustainable Manufacturing*, 3, 1-19.
- NGALA, V. T. & PAGE, C. L. 1997. Effects of carbonation on pore structure and diffusional properties of hydrated cement pastes. *Cement and Concrete Research*, 27, 995-1007.
- NISHIDA, I. 2004. Precipitation of calcium carbonate by ultrasonic irradiation. *Ultrasonics Sonochemistry*, 11, 423-428.
- NONOMURA, M. 1987. Indirect determination of cyanide compounds by ion chromatography with conductivity measurement. *Analytical Chemistry*, 59, 2073-2076.
- NYAMBURA, M. G., MUGERA, G. W., FELICIA, P. L. & GATHURA, N. P. 2011. Carbonation of brine impacted fractionated coal fly ash: Implications for CO<sub>2</sub> sequestration. *Journal of Environmental Management*, 92, 655-664.
- O'CONNOR, W. K., DAHLIN, D. C., NILSEN, D. N., RUSH, G. E., WALTERS, R. P. & TURNER, P. C. 2000. CO<sub>2</sub> storage in solid form: a study of direct mineral carbonation. 5th International Conference on Greenhouse Gas Technologies. Cairns, Australia.
- OLAJIRE, A. A. 2013. A review of mineral carbonation technology in sequestration of CO<sub>2</sub>. *Journal of Petroleum Science and Engineering*, 109, 364-392.
- PARMESAN, C., BURROWS, M. T., DUARTE, C. M., POLOCZANSKA, E. S., RICHARDSON, A. J., SCHOEMAN, D. S. & SINGER, M. C. 2013. Beyond climate change attribution in conservation and ecological research. *Ecology Letters*, 16, 58-71.

- PAUL, S., NANDA, P., GUPTA, R. & LOUPY, A. 2004. Calcium acetate catalyzed synthesis of 4-arylidene-2-phenyl-5(4H)-oxazolones under solvent-free conditions. *Tetrahedron Letters*, 45, 425-427.
- PECQUEUR, G., CRIGNON, C. & QUÉNÉE, B. 2001. Behaviour of cement-treated MSWI bottom ash. *Waste Management*, 21, 229-233.
- PENDERS-VAN ELK, N. J. M. C., DERKS, P. W. J., FRADETTE, S. & VERSTEEG, G. F. 2012. Kinetics of absorption of carbon dioxide in aqueous MDEA solutions with carbonic anhydrase at 298 K. *International Journal of Greenhouse Gas Control*, 9, 385-392.
- PENDERS-VAN ELK, N. J. M. C., HAMBORG, E. S., HUTTENHUIS, P. J. G., FRADETTE, S., CARLEY, J. A. & VERSTEEG, G. F. 2013. Kinetics of absorption of carbon dioxide in aqueous amine and carbonate solutions with carbonic anhydrase. *International Journal of Greenhouse Gas Control*, 12, 259-268.
- PÉREZ-MARTÍNEZ, M. N., CAEMMERER, B., DE PEÑA, M. P., CID, C. N. & KROH, L. W. 2010. Influence of Brewing Method and Acidity Regulators on the Antioxidant Capacity of Coffee Brews. *Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry*, 58, 2958-2965.
- PICOT, J. C., CASSARD, D., MALDAN, F., GREFFIÉ, C. & BODÉNAN, F. 2011. Worldwide potential for ex-situ mineral carbonation. *Energy Procedia*, 4, 2971-2977.
- POULIN, É., BLAIS, J.-F. & MERCIER, G. 2008. Transformation of red mud from aluminium industry into a coagulant for wastewater treatment. *Hydrometallurgy*, 92, 16-25.
- POWER, G., GRÄFE, M. & KLAUBER, C. 2011. Bauxite residue issues: I. Current management, disposal and storage practices. *Hydrometallurgy*, 108, 33-45.
- PRAETORIUS, B. & SCHUMACHER, K. 2009. Greenhouse gas mitigation in a carbon constrained world: The role of carbon capture and storage. *Energy Policy*, 37, 5081-5093.
- PRICE, G. J., MAHON, M. F., SHANNON, J. & COOPER, C. 2010. Composition of Calcium Carbonate Polymorphs Precipitated Using Ultrasound. *Crystal Growth & Design*, 11, 39-44.
- PRIGGIOBBE, V., BACIOCCHI, R., WERNER, M., HÄNCHEN, M. & MAZZOTTI, M. CO<sub>2</sub> storage by aqueous mineral carbonation using olivine. Second International Conference on Accelerated Carbonation For Environmental and Materials Engineering (ACEME 08), 1-3 October 2008 Rome, Italy. 39-44.
- PRIGIOBBE, V. & MAZZOTTI, M. 2011. Dissolution of olivine in the presence of oxalate, citrate, and CO<sub>2</sub> at 90°C and 120°C. *Chemical Engineering Science*, 66, 6544-6554.
- RAGNHEIDARDOTTIR, E., SIGURDARDOTTIR, H., KRISTJANSDOTTIR, H. & HARVEY, W. 2011. Opportunities and challenges for CarbFix: An evaluation of capacities and costs for the pilot scale mineralization sequestration project at Hellisheidi, Iceland and beyond. *International Journal of Greenhouse Gas Control*, 5, 1065-1072.
- RAMAN, V. & ABBAS, A. 2008. Experimental investigations on ultrasound mediated particle breakage. *Ultrasonics Sonochemistry*, 15, 55-64.
- RAO, A., ANTHONY, E. J., JIA, L. & MACCHI, A. 2007. Carbonation of FBC ash by sonochemical treatment. *Fuel*, 86, 2603-2615.

- RECMIX. 2014. *Trading and recycling company (NV)-Recmix* [Online]. Available: <u>http://www.trcnv.be/</u> [Accessed 28 January 2014].
- REIJNDERS, L. 2007. Cleaner phosphogypsum, coal combustion ashes and waste incineration ashes for application in building materials: A review. *Building and Environment*, 42, 1036-1042.
- RENDEK, E., DUCOM, G. & GERMAIN, P. 2006. Carbon dioxide sequestration in municipal solid waste incinerator (MSWI) bottom ash. *Journal of Hazardous Materials*, 128, 73-79.
- RENFORTH, P. 2012. The potential of enhanced weathering in the UK. *International Journal of Greenhouse Gas Control*, 10, 229-243.
- RENFORTH, P., MAYES, W. M., JARVIS, A. P., BURKE, I. T., MANNING, D. A. C. & GRUIZ, K. 2012. Contaminant mobility and carbon sequestration downstream of the Ajka (Hungary) red mud spill: The effects of gypsum dosing. *Science of The Total Environment*, 421–422, 253-259.
- RENFORTH, P., WASHBOURNE, C. L., TAYLDER, J. & MANNING, D. A. C. 2011. Silicate Production and Availability for Mineral Carbonation. *Environmental Science & Technology*, 45, 2035-2041.
- ROSSBERG, M., LENDLE, W., PFLEIDERER, G., TÖGEL, A., DREHER, E.-L., LANGER, E., RASSAERTS, H., KLEINSCHMIDT, P., STRACK, H., COOK, R., BECK, U., LIPPER, K.-A., TORKELSON, T. R., LÖSER, E., BEUTEL, K. K. & MANN, T. 2000. Chlorinated Hydrocarbons. Ullmann's Encyclopedia of Industrial Chemistry. Wiley-VCH Verlag GmbH & Co. KGaA.
- ROSTAMI, V., SHAO, Y., BOYD, A. J. & HE, Z. 2012. Microstructure of cement paste subject to early carbonation curing. *Cement and Concrete Research*, 42, 186-193.
- ROUGHTON, F. J. W. & BOOTH, V. H. 1938. The catalytic effect of buffers on the reaction CO<sub>2</sub>+H<sub>2</sub>O-->H<sub>2</sub>CO<sub>3</sub>. *Biochemistry Journal*, 32, 2049-2069.
- ROY, S. K., POH, K. B. & NORTHWOOD, D. O. 1999. Durability of concrete accelerated carbonation and weathering studies. *Building and Environment*, 34, 597-606.
- RUBIN, E., GANG, H., MISRA, P. S. & LIEBER, C. S. 1970. Inhibition of drug metabolism by acute ethanol intoxication: A hepatic microsomal mechanism. *The American Journal of Medicine*, 49, 801-806.
- RUSSELL, D., BASHEER, P. A. M., RANKIN, G. I. B. & LONG, A. E. 2001. Effect of relative humidity and air permeability on prediction of the rate of carbonation of concrete. *Structures & Buildings*, 146, 319-326.
- SAHU, R. C., PATEL, R. K. & RAY, B. C. 2010. Neutralization of red mud using CO<sub>2</sub> sequestration cycle. *Journal of Hazardous Materials*, 179, 28-34.
- SAKITA, S., SHIMAOKA, T., NISHIGAKI, M. & TANAKA, T. Carbonation treatment of lead in municipal solid waste incineration bottom ash for beneficial use. First International Conference on Accelerated Carbonation For Environmental and Materials Engineering (ACEME 06), 12-14 June 2006 The Royal Society, London.
- SANJUÁN, M. A. & DEL OLMO, C. 2001. Carbonation resistance of one industrial mortar used as a concrete coating. *Building and Environment*, 36, 949-953.
- SANNA, A., DRI, M., HALL, M. R. & MAROTO-VALER, M. 2012a. Waste materials for carbon capture and storage by mineralisation (CCSM) – A UK perspective. *Applied Energy*, 99, 545-554.

- SANNA, A., DRI, M. & MAROTO-VALER, M. 2013. Carbon dioxide capture and storage by pH swing aqueous mineralisation using a mixture of ammonium salts and antigorite source. *Fuel*, 114, 153-161.
- SANNA, A., HALL, M. R. & MAROTO-VALER, M. 2012b. Post-processing pathways in carbon capture and storage by mineral carbonation (CCSM) towards the introduction of carbon neutral materials. *Energy & Environmental Science*, 5, 7781-7796.
- SANTOS, R., FRANÇOIS, D., VANDEVELDE, E., MARTENS, G., ELSEN, J. & VAN GERVEN, T. Process intensification routes for mineral carbonation. 3rd International Conference on Accelerated Carbonation for Environmental and Materials Engineering (ACEME 10), 29Nov-1 Dec 2010 Turku, Finland.
- SANTOS, R. M., CEULEMANS, P. & VAN GERVEN, T. 2012. Synthesis of pure aragonite by sonochemical mineral carbonation. *Chemical Engineering Research and Design*, 90, 715-725.
- SANTOS, R. M., MERTENS, G., SALMAN, M., CIZER, Ö. & VAN GERVEN, T. 2013a. Comparative study of ageing, heat treatment and accelerated carbonation for stabilization of municipal solid waste incineration bottom ash in view of reducing regulated heavy metal/metalloid leaching. *Journal of Environmental Management*, 128, 807-821.
- SANTOS, R. M., VAN BOUWEL, J., VANDEVELDE, E., MERTENS, G., ELSEN, J. & VAN GERVEN, T. 2013b. Accelerated mineral carbonation of stainless steel slags for CO<sub>2</sub> storage and waste valorization: Effect of process parameters on geochemical properties. *International Journal of Greenhouse Gas Control*, 17, 32-45.
- SCHAEF, H. T., WINDISCH JR, C. F., MCGRAIL, B. P., MARTIN, P. F. & ROSSO, K. M. 2011. Brucite [Mg(OH<sub>2</sub>)] carbonation in wet supercritical CO<sub>2</sub>: An in situ high pressure X-ray diffraction study. *Geochimica et Cosmochimica Acta*, 75, 7458-7471.
- SCHNEIDER, M., ROMER, M., TSCHUDIN, M. & BOLIO, H. 2011. Sustainable cement production—present and future. *Cement and Concrete Research*, 41, 642-650.
- SHARMA, M. M. & DANCKWERTS, P. V. 1963. Catalysis by Bronsted bases of the reaction between CO<sub>2</sub> and water. *Transactions of the Faraday Society*, 59, 386-395.
- SHIMAOKA, T., ZHANG, R., SAKITA, S., LEE, J. & ETOH, J. Accelerated carbonation for immobilisation of lead in municipal solid waste bottom ash. First International Conference on Accelerated Carbonation For Environmental and Materials Engineering (ACEME 06), 12-14 June 2006 The Royal Society, London.
- SHU-YUAN PAN, CHANG, E. E. & CHIANG, P.-C. 2012. CO<sub>2</sub> Capture by Accelerated Carbonation of Alkaline Wastes: A Review on Its Principles and Applications. *Aerosol and Air Quality Research*, 770-791.
- SHUKLA, R., RANJITH, P., HAQUE, A. & CHOI, X. 2010. A review of studies on CO<sub>2</sub> sequestration and caprock integrity. *Fuel*, 89, 2651-2664.
- SICONG, T., JIANGUO, J. & CHANG, Z. 2011. Influence of flue gas SO2 on the toxicity of heavy metals in municipal solid waste incinerator fly ash after accelerated carbonation stabilization. *Journal of Hazardous Materials*, 192, 1609-1615.
- SIPILÄ, J., TEIR, S. & ZEVENHOVEN, R. 2008. Carbon dioxide sequestration by mineral carbonation:Literature review update 2005–2007. Turku, Finland:

Åbo Akademi University Faculty of Technology Heat Engineering Laboratory.

- SMITH, M. R. & COLLIS, L. 2001. Aggregates: sand, gravel and crushed rock aggregates for construction purposes. Third Edition, London, The Geological Society.
- SOLIDIA TECHNOLOGIES. 2014. Solidia Technologies [Online]. Available: <u>http://solidiatech.com/</u> [Accessed 20 January 2014].
- SOONG, Y., DILMORE, R. M., HEDGES, S. W., HOWARD, B. H. & ROMANOV, V. 2012. Utilization of Multiple Waste Streams for Acid Gas Sequestration and Multi-Pollutant Control. *Chemical Engineering & Technology*, 35, 473-481.
- SOROUSHIAN, P., AOUADI, F., CHOWDHURY, H., NOSSONI, A. & SARWAR, G. 2004. Cement-bonded straw board subjected to accelerated processing. *Cement and Concrete Composites*, 26, 797-802.
- STOHL, A., SEIBERT, P., WOTAWA, G., ARNOLD, D., BURKHART, J. F., ECKHARDT, S., TAPIA, C., VARGAS, A. & YASUNARI, T. J. 2012. Xenon-133 and caesium-137 releases into the atmosphere from the Fukushima Dai-ichi nuclear power plant: determination of the source term, atmospheric dispersion, and deposition. *Atmos. Chem. Phys.*, 12, 2313-2343.
- STOICA-GUZUN, A., STROESCU, M., JINGA, S., JIPA, I., DOBRE, T. & DOBRE, L. 2012. Ultrasound influence upon calcium carbonate precipitation on bacterial cellulose membranes. *Ultrasonics Sonochemistry*, 19, 909-915.
- STREIT, E., KELEMEN, P. & EILER, J. 2012. Coexisting serpentine and quartz from carbonate-bearing serpentinized peridotite in the Samail Ophiolite, Oman. *Contributions to Mineralogy and Petrology*, 164, 821-837.
- SUN, J. & WANG, Y. 2014. Recent Advances in Catalytic Conversion of Ethanol to Chemicals. *ACS Catalysis*, 4, 1078-1090.
- SUN, Y., PARIKH, V. & ZHANG, L. 2012. Sequestration of carbon dioxide by indirect mineralization using Victorian brown coal fly ash. *Journal of Hazardous Materials*, 209–210, 458-466.
- SVENSSON, R., ODENBERGER, M., JOHNSSON, F. & STRÖMBERG, L. 2004. Transportation systems for CO<sub>2</sub>—application to carbon capture and storage. *Energy Conversion and Management*, 45, 2343-2353.
- TARABADKAR, K. & MELTON, J. S. Accelerated carbonation of contaminated sediments and its application. First International Conference on Accelerated Carbonation For Environmental and Materials Engineering (ACEME 06), 12-14 June 2006 The Royal Society, London.
- TEACH. 2007. U.S. EPA, Toxicity and Exposure Assessment for Children's Health [Online]. Available:

http://www.epa.gov/teach/chem\_summ/Nitrates\_summary.pdf.

- TEIR, S., KETTLE, J., HARLIN, A. & SARLIN, J. Production of silica and calcium carbonate particles from silica minerals for inkjet paper coating and filler purposes. Third International Conference on Accelerated Carbonation For Environmental and Materials Engineering (ACEME 10), November 29-December 1 2010 Turku, Finland. 63-74.
- TEIR, S., KUUSIK, R., FOGELHOLM, C.-J. & ZEVENHOVEN, R. 2007a. Production of magnesium carbonates from serpentinite for long-term storage of CO<sub>2</sub>. *International Journal of Mineral Processing*, 85, 1-15.

- TEIR, S., REVITZER, H., ELONEVA, S., FOGELHOLM, C.-J. & ZEVENHOVEN, R. 2007b. Dissolution of natural serpentinite in mineral and organic acids. *International Journal of Mineral Processing*, 83, 36-46.
- TERAMURA, S., ISU, N. & INAGAKI, K. 2000. New Building Material from Waste Concrete by Carbonation. *Journal of Materials in Civil Engineering*, 12, 288-293.
- TONG, Y., BOUTEILLER, V., MARIE-VICTOIRE, E. & JOIRET, S. 2012. Efficiency investigations of electrochemical realkalisation treatment applied to carbonated reinforced concrete — Part 1: Sacrificial anode process. *Cement and Concrete Research*, 42, 84-94.
- VAN GERVEN, T., VAN KEER, E., ARICKX, S., JASPERS, M., WAUTERS, G. & VANDECASTEELE, C. 2005. Carbonation of MSWI-bottom ash to decrease heavy metal leaching, in view of recycling. *Waste Management*, 25, 291-300.
- VAN GINNEKEN, L., DUTRÉ, V., ADRIANSENS, W. & WEYTEN, H. 2004. Effect of liquid and supercritical carbon dioxide treatments on the leaching performance of a cement-stabilised waste form. *The Journal of Supercritical Fluids*, 30, 175-188.
- VAN OSS, H. G. 2011. Minerals Yearbook / Cement. US Geological Survey.
- VITELLI, V. 2010. Attenuation of shear sound waves in jammed solids. *Soft Matter*, 6, 3007-3012.
- WAN HAMAD, W. N. F., TEH, P. L. & YEOH, C. K. 2013. Effect of Acetic Acid as Catalyst on the Properties of Epoxy Foam. *Polymer-Plastics Technology and Engineering*, 52, 754-760.
- WANG, X. & MAROTO-VALER, M. Integrated CO<sub>2</sub> capture and production of hydromagnesite from serpentine by using recyclable ammonium salts Third International Conference on Accelerated Carbonation For Environmental and Materials Engineering (ACEME 10), November 29- December 1 2010 Turku, Finland. 23-30.
- WEE, J.-H. 2013. A review on carbon dioxide capture and storage technology using coal fly ash. *Applied Energy*, 106, 143-151.
- WILSON, S. A., HARRISON, A. L., DIPPLE, G. M., POWER, I. M., BARKER, S. L. L., ULRICH MAYER, K., FALLON, S. J., RAUDSEPP, M. & SOUTHAM, G. 2014. Offsetting of CO<sub>2</sub> emissions by air capture in mine tailings at the Mount Keith Nickel Mine, Western Australia: Rates, controls and prospects for carbon neutral mining. *International Journal of Greenhouse Gas Control*, 25, 121-140.
- WORLDSTEEL ASSOCIATION 2010. Fact Sheet-Achieving the goal of zerowaste.
- YADAV, V. S., PRASAD, M., KHAN, J., AMRITPHALE, S. S., SINGH, M. & RAJU, C. B. 2010. Sequestration of carbon dioxide (CO<sub>2</sub>) using red mud. *Journal of Hazardous Materials*, 176, 1044-1050.
- YAMASAKI, A., IIZUKA, A., KAKIZAWA, M., KATSUYAMA, Y., NAKAGAWA, M., FUJII, M., KUMAGAI, K. & YANAGISAWA, Y. Development of a carbon sequestration process by the carbonation reaction of waste streams containing calcium or magnesium. Fifth Annual Conference on Carbon Capture & Sequestration, May 8-11 2006 Virginia, USA.
- YANG, C. & MENG, Z. Y. 1993. Bimolecular Condensation of Ethanol to 1-Butanol Catalyzed by Alkali Cation Zeolites. *Journal of Catalysis*, 142, 37-44.

- YANG, R., LIAO, W.-P. & WU, P.-H. 2012. Basic characteristics of leachate produced by various washing processes for MSWI ashes in Taiwan. *Journal of Environmental Management*, 104, 67-76.
- YAO, Z. T., JI, X. S., SARKER, P. K., TANG, J. H., GE, L. Q., XIA, M. S. & XI, Y. Q. 2015. A comprehensive review on the applications of coal fly ash. *Earth-Science Reviews*, 141, 105-121.
- ZEVENHOVEN, R., SIPILÄ, J. & TEIR, S. Motivations for carbonating magnesium silicates using a gas/solid process route. Second International Conference on Accelerated Carbonation For Environmental and Materials Engineering (ACEME 08) 1-3 October 2008a Rome, Italy. 45-54.
- ZEVENHOVEN, R., TEIR, S. & ELONEVA, S. 2008b. Heat optimisation of a staged gas-solid mineral carbonation process for long-term CO<sub>2</sub> storage. *Energy*, 33, 362-370.
- ZHANG, T., GAO, P., GAO, P., WEI, J. & YU, Q. 2013. Effectiveness of novel and traditional methods to incorporate industrial wastes in cementitious materials—An overview. *Resources, Conservation and Recycling*, 74, 134-143.
- ZHANG, Z., ZHENG, Y., NI, Y., LIU, Z., CHEN, J. & LIANG, X. 2006. Temperature- and pH-Dependent Morphology and FT–IR Analysis of Magnesium Carbonate Hydrates. *The Journal of Physical Chemistry B*, 110, 12969-12973.
- ZHAO, L., SANG, L., CHEN, J., JI, J. & TENG, H. H. 2009. Aqueous Carbonation of Natural Brucite: Relevance to CO<sub>2</sub> Sequestration. *Environmental Science* & *Technology*, 44, 406-411.
- ZHOU, G.-T., YU, J. C., WANG, X.-C. & ZHANG, L.-Z. 2004. Sonochemical synthesis of aragonite-type calcium carbonate with different morphologies. *New Journal of Chemistry*, 28, 1027-1031.